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PART I

Forward-Looking Statements 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains information that may constitute forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements as defined in 
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 relate to expectations, beliefs, projections, future plans and strategies, anticipated events or trends and 
similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts and are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to 
differ materially from those expressed or implied in our forward-looking statements. Many factors could cause actual results to differ materially from the 
Company’s forward-looking statements, such as the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and other current macroeconomic conditions, our prospects and 
strategies for future growth and the development and introduction of new products. In many cases you can identify forward-looking statements by terms 
such as “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “targets,” “estimates,” “intends,” “will,” “may” or “plans” and similar expressions.

Such statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control, and assumptions that could cause actual 
results of operations or performance to differ materially from expectations. These risks and uncertainties, are detailed in the “Risk Factors” section in Part 
I, Item 1A and the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Quantitative and Qualitative 
Disclosures About Market Risk” sections in Part II, Item 7 and Item 7A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We could also be affected by additional 
factors that apply to all companies operating globally and in the U.S., as well as other risks that are not presently known to the Company or that the 
Company currently considers to be immaterial. In addition, from time to time, we have entered into business combinations, acquisitions, divestitures, 
strategic investments and other significant transactions. Such forward-looking statements do not include the potential impact of any such transactions that 
may be completed after the date hereof, each of which may present material risks to the Company’s business and financial results. All forward-looking 
statements are qualified by these cautionary statements, reflect our current expectations and are based upon data available to us at the time the statements 
were made, and are made only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Any such forward-looking statements should be considered in context 
with the various disclosures made by us about our business. Unless required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-
looking statements to reflect new information or future events or otherwise. You should, however, review the factors and risks we describe in the reports we 
will file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) after the date of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K references to “Party City Holdco,” “Party City,” the “Company,” “we,” “our,” “ours” and “us” refer to 
Party City Holdco Inc. (“PCH”), a Delaware corporation formed in 2012, and its consolidated subsidiaries unless stated or the context otherwise requires. 

Item 1. Business 

Overview 

We are a global leader in the celebrations industry, with offerings spanning more than 70 countries around the world. We believe we are the largest 
vertically integrated designer, manufacturer, distributor, and retailer of party goods in North America. PCH operates across multiple businesses within its 
Retail Division and Consumer Products (Wholesale) Division. Our retail division is the leading omnichannel retailer in the celebrations category, operating 
approximately 800 company-operated and franchise specialty retail party supply stores operating under the names Party City (partycity.com), as well as 
Halloween City (halloweencity.com), which offer traditional in-store shopping, rapid, contactless, and same-day in-store and curbside pickup and same-day 
shipping options. Our Consumer Products (Wholesale) Division includes Amscan, an industry leader in designing and manufacturing celebration décor, 
tableware, costumes, and accessories, with items found in retail outlets worldwide, including independent party supply stores, mass merchants, grocery 
retailers, and e-commerce merchandisers. We combine state-of-the-art manufacturing and sourcing operations, sophisticated wholesale operations, and 
multi-channel retail and e-commerce retail operations to design, manufacture, source, and distribute party goods, including paper and plastic tableware, 
metallic and latex balloons, Halloween and other costumes, accessories, novelties, gifts, and stationery throughout the world.
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Chapter 11 Cases

On January 17, 2023 (the “PCHI Petition Date”), the Company and certain of its domestic subsidiaries (collectively, the “Debtors”) filed voluntary 
petitions (the “Chapter 11 Cases”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas (the “Bankruptcy Court”) seeking relief under 
Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”). The Company’s Anagram Holdings, LLC, (“Anagram”) subsidiary, Anagram’s 
subsidiaries (together with Anagram, the “Anagram Entities”), and the Company’s foreign subsidiaries were not included in the Chapter 11 Cases and 
continued to operate in the ordinary course of business throughout the duration of the Chapter 11 Cases. On January 18, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court 
granted the Debtors’ motion to jointly administer the Chapter 11 Cases for procedural purposes only under the caption In re: Party City Holdco Inc., et. al. 
(Case No. 23-90005). To ensure its ability to continue operating in the ordinary course of business, the Debtors also filed with the Bankruptcy Court a 
variety of motions seeking “first-day” relief, which were approved by the Bankruptcy Court and permitted the Debtors to operate in the ordinary course 
during the Chapter 11 Cases and included the interim approval of a debtor-in-possession term loan facility (the “DIP Facility”) as described below. The 
Debtors continued to operate their business and manage their properties as “debtors-in-possession” in accordance with the applicable provisions of the 
Bankruptcy Code and orders of the Bankruptcy Court throughout the duration of the Chapter 11 Cases.

On the PCHI Petition Date, the Debtors entered into a Restructuring Support Agreement (along with subsequent amendments made throughout the 
Chapter 11 Cases, the “RSA”) with certain holders (collectively, the “Initial Consenting Noteholders”) of the Secured Floating Rate 2025 Notes (as defined 
herein) and the Secured Fixed Rate 2026 Notes (as defined herein). Capitalized terms used in “Item 1. Business” but not otherwise defined herein shall 
have the meaning given to such terms in the RSA. The RSA contemplates a restructuring (the “Restructuring”) of the Debtors pursuant to a joint plan of 
reorganization (the “Plan,” as further described below). Among other things, the RSA provided for: 

• The entry into the DIP Facility, which was fully backstopped by the Initial Consenting Noteholders in the amount of $150 million, which was 
approved by the Bankruptcy Court on an interim basis on January 18, 2023 and on a final basis on March 3, 2023, as discussed below;

• The (a) equitization of the Secured Notes in exchange for the equity of the reorganized Company, subject to dilution by any Reorganized 
Securities issued pursuant to the Rights Offering to be consummated at emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases, the Management Incentive 
Plan, and, to the extent applicable, the Reorganized Securities issued to lenders who provide backstop commitments under the DIP Facility in 
consideration for their backstop commitments, as a result of the DIP Equitization or (b) such other treatment of the Secured Notes as agreed 
by the Initial Consenting Noteholders;

• Either repayment in cash upon emergence of the amounts outstanding under the Company’s ABL Facility and its FILO Facility (each as 
defined below) with proceeds from a third-party financing or, with the agreement of the holders thereof, the rolling of such outstanding 
amounts into a new asset-based lending exit facility, in each case as acceptable to the Debtors and the Initial Consenting Noteholders;

• The treatment of general unsecured claims to be governed by the terms of the Plan and to be acceptable to the Debtors and the Initial 
Consenting Noteholders; and 

• The cancellation, extinguishment, and discharge of the existing common stock of the Company and any other equity securities of the 
Company, with existing equity in the Company receiving no recovery or distribution.
 

On January 18, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court approved the Debtors’ proposed $150 million senior secured super priority priming DIP Facility on an 
interim basis. On January 19, 2023, certain of the Debtors entered into the credit agreement governing the DIP Facility along with certain financial 
institutions party thereto as lenders and Ankura Trust Company, LLC (the “DIP Credit Agreement”), as the administrative agent and collateral agent, and 
the closing of the DIP Facility occurred on the same day.

An initial draw of $75 million under the DIP Facility was made on January 19, 2023, and the proceeds were used in accordance with the DIP 
Facility budget to, among other things, (i) pay the administrative costs and 
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expenses of the Chapter 11 Cases and the DIP Facility and (ii) fund general corporate purposes. A second draw of $75 million was made following the 
Bankruptcy Court’s entry of the order approving the DIP Facility on a final basis on March 3, 2023. The second draw of borrowings for $75 million was 
used for the same purposes as the first draw.

The DIP Facility was secured by perfected senior security interests and liens having the priorities set forth in the DIP Credit Agreement on 
substantially all assets of the Debtors.

The DIP Facility terminated on October 12, 2023 as part of the Debtors' emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases, as discussed in more detail below.

The filing of the Chapter 11 Cases constituted an event of default that accelerated the Company’s following debt obligations: i) its asset-based 
revolving credit facility (the “Prepetition ABL Facility”); ii) its asset-based first-in, last-out revolving tranche (the “FILO Facility”); iii) its senior secured 
first lien floating rate notes due 2025 (the “Secured Floating Rate 2025 Notes”); iv) its 8.750% senior secured first lien notes due 2026 (the “Secured Fixed 
Rate 2026 Notes”); v) its 6.125% senior notes due 2023; and vi) its 6.625% senior notes due 2026. Any efforts to enforce payment obligations on the 
Debtors’ debt agreements were automatically stayed as a result of the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases and the holders’ rights of enforcement in respect of the 
Debtors’ debt agreements were subject to the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.

On April 4, 2023, the Company filed the initial version of its Plan and a related proposed form of Disclosure Statement (the “Disclosure Statement”) 
with the Bankruptcy Court. The Plan was since amended four times, with the last amendment of the Plan filed on August 31, 2023. The Plan intended to 
implement the previously disclosed Restructuring contemplated by the RSA. The Plan and the related Disclosure Statement describe, among other things, 
the Plan; the Restructuring contemplated by the RSA; the events leading to the Chapter 11 Cases; certain events that have occurred or were anticipated to 
occur during the Chapter 11 Cases, including the anticipated solicitation of votes to approve the Plan from certain of the Debtors’ creditors and certain 
other aspects of the Restructuring.

Subsequent Event - Emergence from Chapter 11 Cases

On September 6, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order confirming the Plan (the “Confirmation Order”).

On October 12, 2023 (the “Effective Date”), the Plan became effective in accordance with its terms, and the Debtors emerged from the Chapter 11 
Cases. The emergence events discussed below occurred subsequent to the December 31, 2022 date of the condensed consolidated balance sheet presented 
in this report and are, therefore, not reflected in the financial statements presented in this report.

On the Effective Date, in connection with the effectiveness of, and pursuant to the terms of, the Plan and the Confirmation Order, the Company’s 
common stock outstanding immediately before the Effective Date was canceled and is of no further force or effect, and the new organizational documents 
of the Company became effective, authorizing the issuance of shares of common stock representing 100% of the equity interests in the Company (the “New 
PCHI Shares”). In accordance with the foregoing, on the Effective Date, the Company, as reorganized on the Effective Date in accordance with the Plan, 
issued 13,374,519 New PCHI Shares and the 12.00% Senior Secured Second Lien PIK Toggle Notes (the “Second Lien Notes” and together with the New 
PCHI Shares, the “New Securities”). The New Securities issued pursuant to the Plan, including the New Securities issued upon the exercise of the 
Subscription Rights (as defined in the backstop commitment agreement (as amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time, together with all 
exhibits and schedules thereto, the “Backstop Agreement”) with the commitment parties thereto (collectively, the “Commitment Parties”)) in connection 
with the rights offering (the “Rights Offering”), consisting of a purchase price of $75 million aggregate principal amount (a portion of the $232.4 million 
aggregate principal amount of the Company’s Second Lien Notes) and 3,634,614 New PCHI Shares), all New Securities issued to the Commitment Parties 
in respect of their commitments under the Backstop Agreement and in connection with the Rights Offering was issued in reliance upon the exemption from 
the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) provided by section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code and, to the 
extent such exemption was unavailable, was issued in reliance on the exemption provided by section 4(a)(2) under the Securities Act or another applicable 
exemption.
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Equity Interests 

On the Effective Date, all interests in the Company that existed immediately prior to the Effective Date were cancelled, and the Company issued or 
caused to be issued the New PCHI Shares in accordance with the terms of the Plan. Pursuant to the Plan, each holder of an Allowed Secured Notes Claim 
(as defined in the Plan) received, among other things, its pro rata share of 100% of the New PCHI Shares, subject to dilution by the New PCHI Shares 
issued as DIP Reorganized Securities (as defined in the Plan), the New PCHI Shares issued in connection with the Rights Offering (including in partial 
satisfaction of the Backstop Commitment Premium (as defined in the Plan)), and the MIP Equity Pool (as defined in the Plan). 100% of the New PCHI 
Shares is less than 1% of all shares issued at emergence post-dilution. See “Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities” section later in this footnote.

Claims Treatment Under the Plan

In accordance with the Plan, holders of claims against and interests in the Debtors received (or shall receive, as soon as reasonably practicable 
following the date such holder’s claim or interest becomes an Allowed Claim or Interest (each as defined in the Plan)) the following treatment (capitalized 
terms used but not defined in this section have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan):

• Prepetition ABL Revolver Claims. Each holder of an Allowed Prepetition ABL Revolver Claim voted to accept the Plan and elected to 
participate in the ABL Exit Facility, and the ABL Exit Facility Trigger occurred, such that (i) each such holder’s Allowed Prepetition ABL 
Revolver Claims was deemed repaid and refinanced in full by such holder’s extension and receipt of its Pro Rata share of ABL Revolving 
Credit Loans and (ii) such holder assumed a commitment with respect to the ABL Exit Facility equal to its (or its predecessor in interest’s) 
commitment under the Prepetition ABL Facility immediately prior to the PCHI Petition Date.

• Prepetition ABL FILO Claims. Each holder of an Allowed Prepetition ABL FILO Claim voted to accept the Plan and elected to participate in 
its Pro Rata share of the ABL Exit Facility, and the ABL Exit Facility Trigger occurred, such that each such holder’s Allowed Prepetition 
ABL FILO Claims was deemed repaid and refinanced in full by such holder’s extension and receipt of its Pro Rata share of ABL FILO 
Loans.

• Secured Notes Claims. Each holder of an Allowed Secured Notes Claim received (i) its Pro Rata share of the New PCHI Shares issued on the 
Effective Date on account of the Allowed Secured Notes Claims, representing 100% of the New PCHI Shares outstanding on the Effective 
Date, subject to dilution by the New PCHI Shares issued as DIP Reorganized Securities, the New PCHI Shares issued in connection with the 
Rights Offering (including in partial satisfaction of the Backstop Commitment Premium), and the MIP Equity Pool and (ii) subscription 
rights to purchase up to its Pro Rata share of the securities comprising the Investment Package for an aggregate purchase price of $75 million 
offered in the Rights Offering in accordance with the Rights Offering Procedures.

• General Unsecured Claims. Each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim received its Pro Rata share of the General Unsecured 
Claim Recovery Pool.

• Interests in the Company. Holders of Interests in the Company, including the Company’s common stock prior to emergence, received no 
recovery or distribution on account of such Interests, and upon emergence from Chapter 11, all such Interests in the Company were canceled, 
released, extinguished, and discharged, and are of no further force or effect.

Debt Securities and Agreements

Except for the purpose of evidencing a right to a distribution under the Plan or as otherwise provided in the Plan, on the Effective Date, the 
obligations of the Debtors under the Prepetition ABL Facility, the Secured Notes Indentures (as defined in the Plan), the Unsecured Notes Indentures (as 
defined the Plan), stock certificates, book entries, and any other certificate, share, note, bond, indenture, purchase right, option, warrant, or other instrument 
or document, directly or indirectly, evidencing or creating any indebtedness or obligation of or ownership interest in the Debtors giving rise to any claim or 
interest (except such certificates, notes or other instruments or documents evidencing indebtedness or obligations of, or interests in, the Debtors that are 
specifically reinstated pursuant to the Plan) were cancelled, and the duties and obligations of all parties thereto were deemed satisfied in full, canceled, 
released, discharged, and of no force or effect.
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New ABL Credit Agreement

On the Effective Date, pursuant to the terms of the Plan, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an ABL credit agreement (the 
“New ABL Credit Agreement”), by and among the Company, as a parent guarantor, Party City Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation, as the parent 
borrower (the “Parent Borrower”), Party City Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and each other subsidiary of the Borrowers party thereto as a subsidiary 
borrower from time to time (collectively with the Parent Borrower, the “Borrowers”), PC Intermediate Holdings, Inc. a Delaware corporation, as a parent 
guarantor (“Holdings”), the other subsidiaries of the Borrowers party thereto from time to time as subsidiary guarantors, the lenders party thereto from time 
to time, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent (in such capacities, the “New ABL Agent”). The New ABL Credit 
Agreement provides for a $545 million senior secured asset-based revolving loan facility (with a $60 million sublimit for the issuance of letters of credit 
thereunder) (the “New ABL Revolving Facility” and the loans outstanding thereunder, the “New ABL Revolving Loans”) and a $17.1 million senior 
secured asset-based first-in last-out loan facility (the “New FILO Facility” and the loans outstanding thereunder, the “New FILO Loans”; the New FILO 
Facility together with the New ABL Revolving Facility, the “New ABL Facility”). The New ABL Facility is scheduled to mature on October 12, 2028.

All obligations of the Borrowers under the New ABL Credit Agreement, certain banking services obligations, and certain hedging obligations are 
unconditionally guaranteed, on a joint and several basis, by the Borrowers, Holdings, the Company, and the material domestic direct and indirect restricted 
subsidiaries of the Company, subject to certain exceptions and limitations described in the New ABL Credit Agreement (each a “New Loan Party” and 
collectively, the “New Loan Parties”). All such obligations, including the guarantees of the New ABL Facility, are secured by (i) first priority liens on 
substantially all assets of the New Loan Parties, and (ii) the equity interests in the New Loan Parties other than the Company, in each case, subject to 
certain exceptions and limitations described in the New ABL Credit Agreement.

The New ABL Revolving Loans and the New FILO Loans bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the applicable margin plus, at the Borrowers’ 
option, either: (i) an adjusted term SOFR rate, subject to a floor of 0.00% or (ii) a base rate, subject to a floor of 0.00%, determined as the greatest of (x) the 
prime loan rate as published in The Wall Street Journal, (y) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, and (z) adjusted term SOFR rate for a one-month 
tenor plus 1.00%. The margin applicable to the loans bearing interest based on the adjusted term SOFR rate equals to: (i) with respect to the New ABL 
Revolving Loans, 4.00% and (ii) with respect to the New FILO Loans, 6.00%. The margin applicable to the loans bearing interest based on the base rate 
equals to: (i) with respect to the New ABL Revolving Loans, 3.00% and (ii) with respect to the New FILO Loans, 5.00%. The applicable margins are 
subject to a 0.50% increase on March 31, 2024 and an incremental 0.50% increase on June 30, 2024 if the Parent Borrower has, as of such date, not yet 
delivered to the New ABL Agent an audited consolidated balance sheet and related statements of income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows of the 
Company and its subsidiaries as of the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022. The Borrowers are required to pay interest on overdue principal or 
interest at the rate equal to 2.00% per annum in excess of the applicable interest rate under the New ABL Facility to the extent lawful.

Outstanding loans under the New ABL Credit Agreement are subject to an intercreditor agreement by and among the New ABL Agent, as the First 
Priority Representative for the First Priority Secured Parties and Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as the Second Priority Representative for the 
Second Priority Secured Parties (in each case, as defined therein) (the “Intercreditor Agreement”). The Intercreditor Agreement provides, among other 
things, that the liens securing the obligations under the Second Lien Notes rank junior in priority to the liens securing the obligations under the New ABL 
Credit Agreement.

The Borrowers are required to pay a quarterly commitment fee to each ABL Revolving Lender (as defined in the New ABL Credit Agreement), 
which accrues at a rate per annum equal to 0.50% on the average daily unused portion of such ABL Revolving Lender’s commitments under the New ABL 
Revolving Facility. The Borrowers are also required to pay participation fees and fronting fees with respect to letters of credit participation and issuance.

Borrowings under the New ABL Credit Agreement may be used to (i) refinance indebtedness under the prepetition asset-based revolving credit 
facility and (ii) finance the working capital needs and other general corporate purposes of the Parent Borrower and its subsidiaries. Availability of 
borrowings of New ABL Revolving Loans under the New ABL Credit Agreement is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including, after giving 
effect to any such borrowings, aggregate credit exposure of lenders under the New ABL Credit Agreement 
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not exceeding the lesser of the aggregate unblocked commitments and the borrowing base at such time. Borrowings of the New FILO Loans are only 
available on the Effective Date and if repaid or prepaid may not be reborrowed.

Under the New ABL Credit Agreement, the borrowing base at any time equals (a) a percentage of eligible inventory, plus (b) a percentage of 
eligible trade receivables, plus (c) a percentage of eligible credit card receivables, less (d) certain reserves.

Mandatory prepayment of loans under the New ABL Credit Agreement is required if the aggregate credit exposure of lenders under the New ABL 
Credit Agreement exceeds the borrowing base at such time. Such a mandatory prepayment would be applied to eliminate the availability shortfall as 
follows: first, to prepay the New ABL Revolving Loans or cash collateralize, backstop or replace letters of credit under the New ABL Facility; and second, 
to prepay the New FILO Loans. The loans under the New ABL Facility may be voluntarily prepaid without premium or penalty, other than customary 
breakage costs. Voluntary prepayments of loans under the New ABL Credit Agreement are applied to satisfy New FILO Loan obligations only after other 
outstanding loan obligations and letter of credit reimbursement obligations under the New ABL Credit Agreement are satisfied. Voluntary prepayments of 
New FILO Loans are additionally subject to the satisfaction of the Payment Conditions discussed below.

The New ABL Credit Agreement requires the Borrowers to maintain, at all times, Excess Unadjusted Availability (as defined in the New ABL 
Credit Agreement) of at least the greater of (i) 10.0% of the Total Line Cap (as defined in the New ABL Credit Agreement) and (ii) $46 million.

The New ABL Credit Agreement contains negative covenants that limit, among other things, the Borrowers’ ability and the ability of their restricted 
subsidiaries to: (i) incur, assume, or guarantee additional indebtedness; (ii) create, incur, or assume liens; (iii) make investments; (iv) merge or consolidate 
with or into any other person or undergo certain other fundamental changes; (v) transfer or sell assets; (vi) pay dividends or distributions on capital stock or 
redeem or repurchase capital stock; (vii) enter into transactions with certain affiliates; (viii) repay or redeem certain indebtedness; (ix) sell stock of its 
subsidiaries; or (x) enter into certain burdensome agreements. These negative covenants are subject to a number of important limitations and exceptions. 
The Borrowers and their restricted subsidiaries can make certain acquisitions, restrictive payments, payments of certain indebtedness and investments if, 
after giving pro forma effect to such transactions, the “Payment Conditions” (as defined in the New ABL Credit Agreement) are met, which include, among 
other things: (i) 90-Day Excess Availability and Excess Availability (each as defined in the New ABL Credit Agreement) are equal to or greater than the 
greater of (x) 25.0% of the Total Line Cap and (y) $120 million and (ii) the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the New ABL Credit Agreement) is 
at least 1.00 to 1.00.

Additionally, the New ABL Credit Agreement contains other covenants, representations and warranties, and events of default that are customary for 
a financing of this type. Events of default include, among other things, nonpayment of principal or interest, breach of covenants, breach of representations 
and warranties, failure to pay final judgments in excess of a specified threshold, failure of a guarantee to remain in effect, failure of a collateral document to 
create an effective security interest in collateral, bankruptcy and insolvency events, cross-default to other material indebtedness, and a change of control. 
The occurrence of any event of default under the ABL Credit Agreement would permit all obligations under the New ABL Facility to be declared due and 
payable immediately and all commitments thereunder to be terminated.

Second Lien Notes

On the Effective Date, PCHI issued $232.4 million in aggregate principal amount of Second Lien Notes. The Second Lien Notes are scheduled to 
mature on January 11, 2029. Interest on the Second Lien Notes accrues at a rate of 12.00% per annum, payable, at the Company’s option, either in cash or 
by increasing the amount of the Second Lien Notes outstanding, on February 15, May 15, August 15, and November 15 of each year, commencing 
February 15, 2024.

The Second Lien Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture (the “Second Lien Notes Indenture”), by and among the Company, the guarantors party 
thereto, and Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as trustee, collateral agent, paying agent, and registrar.

The Second Lien Notes are jointly and severally irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior secured basis by certain subsidiaries of the 
Company, including all “New Loan Parties” (other than the Company) under the New ABL Credit Agreement. The Second Lien Notes and such guarantees 
are secured by second priority 
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liens on the assets subject to liens securing the New ABL Facility, including the equity interests of each guarantor of the Second Lien Notes, all assets 
owned by the Company as of the Effective Date or acquired thereafter, certain assets related thereto, and substantially all other assets of the Company and 
such guarantors, in each case, subject to certain exceptions and limitations. The outstanding Second Lien Notes are subject to the Intercreditor Agreement. 
The following is a brief description of the material provisions of the Second Lien Notes Indenture and the Second Lien Notes.

On or after April 11, 2025, the Company may redeem all of the Second Lien Notes at 100% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid 
interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. The Company may also redeem the Second Lien Notes, in whole or in part, at any time and from 
time to time prior to April 11, 2025 at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount, plus the Applicable Premium (as defined in the Second 
Lien Notes Indenture), plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the applicable redemption date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a 
Change of Control (as defined in the Second Lien Notes Indenture) occurs, then, within 60 days of such Change of Control, the Company must offer to 
purchase all outstanding Second Lien Notes at a redemption price equal to 101% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but 
excluding, the date of purchase.

The Second Lien Notes Indenture contains covenants that limit, among other things, the ability of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries to: (i) 
incur, assume, or guarantee additional indebtedness; (ii) pay dividends or distributions on capital stock or redeem or repurchase capital stock; (iii) make 
investments; (iv) repay or redeem junior debt; (v) sell stock of its subsidiaries; (vi) transfer or sell assets; (vii) create, incur, or assume liens; or (viii) enter 
into transactions with certain affiliates. These covenants are subject to a number of important limitations and exceptions.

The Second Lien Notes Indenture also provides for certain customary events of default, including, among other things, nonpayment of principal or 
interest, breach of covenants, failure to pay final judgments in excess of a specified threshold, failure of a guarantee to remain in effect, failure of a security 
document to create an effective security interest in collateral, bankruptcy and insolvency events, and cross acceleration, which would permit the principal, 
premium, if any, interest, and other monetary obligations on all the then outstanding Second Lien Notes to be declared due and payable immediately.

Registration Rights Agreement

On the Effective Date, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement (the “Registration Rights Agreement”) with certain parties who 
received New PCHI Shares under the Plan (“RRA Shareholders”). Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, following the completion of an initial 
public offering (as defined in the Registration Rights Agreement, an “IPO”), the Company will file a shelf registration statement promptly, no later than a 
date that is 30 days following the later of the IPO and the date of the expiration of the lockup agreement with the underwriters in such IPO. However, the 
Company is not required to file the shelf registration statement unless RRA Shareholders request the inclusion of Registrable Securities (as defined in the 
Registration Rights Agreement) constituting at least 25% of all Registrable Securities.

The RRA Shareholders also have demand registration rights, provided that such RRA Shareholders request the inclusion of Registrable Securities 
constituting at least 25% of all Registrable Securities or the gross proceeds of the offering are expected to be at least $50 million, and customary piggyback 
registration rights.

The Company will generally pay all registration expenses in connection with its obligations under the Registration Rights Agreement, regardless of 
whether a registration statement is filed or becomes effective. The registration rights granted in the Registration Rights Agreement are subject to customary 
indemnification and contribution provisions, as well as customary restrictions such as blackout periods.

Stockholders’ Agreement

On the Effective Date, the Company entered into a stockholders agreement (the “Stockholders Agreement”) with holders of common stock of the 
Company (the “Stockholders”), pursuant to which each of the Stockholders agreed to certain restrictions on the transfer of the common stock of the 
Company and the Company agreed (i) to provide to certain Stockholders the right to designate directors of the board, subject to certain limitations, (ii) to 
certain limitations and obligations on its operations without Stockholder approval and (iii) to provide certain information to the Stockholders. Pursuant to 
the Plan, each holder of common stock of the Company on the 
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Effective Date was deemed to be a party to, and bound by, the Stockholders Agreement, regardless of whether such holder executed a signature page 
thereto.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

On the Effective Date, pursuant to the Plan:

• 36,879 New PCHI Shares were issued pro rata to holders of Secured Notes Claims in partial exchange for the cancellation of the 
Secured Notes (as defined in the Plan), representing 0.3% of all shares issued at emergence;

• 3,516,079 New PCHI Shares were issued to holders of Secured Notes Claims (or their designees) in exchange for exercising 
Subscription Rights under the Rights Offering, representing 26.3% of all shares issued at emergence; 

• 118,535 New PCHI Shares were issued to certain holders of Secured Notes Claims that purchased in connection with their Backstop 
Commitments (as defined in the Backstop Agreement), the New PCHI Shares that were offered in the Rights Offering and not 
properly subscribed for, representing 0.9% of all shares issued at emergence;

• 363,462 New PCHI Shares were issued to certain holders of Secured Notes Claims in exchange for providing $75 million of Backstop 
Commitments to the Debtors in connection with the Rights Offering, representing 2.7% of all shares issued at emergence; and

• 9,339,564 New PCHI Shares were issued to holders of Allowed DIP Claims on account of such holders’ DIP Loans (each as defined 
in the Plan), representing 69.8% of all shares issued at emergence.

Subsequent Event - Anagram Bankruptcy

On November 8, 2023 (the “Anagram Petition Date”), the Anagram Entities (collectively, the “Anagram Debtors”) filed voluntary petitions (the 
“Anagram Chapter 11 Cases”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas (the “Anagram Bankruptcy Court”) seeking relief 
under the Bankruptcy Code. The Company and certain of its domestic subsidiaries were not included in the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases and continue to 
operate in the ordinary course of business throughout the duration of the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases. On November 8, 2023, the Anagram Bankruptcy 
Court granted the Anagram Debtors’ motion to jointly administer the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases for procedural purposes only under the caption In re: 
Anagram Holdings, LLC, et. al. (Case No. 23-90901). To ensure its ability to continue operating in the ordinary course of business, the Anagram Debtors 
also filed with the Anagram Bankruptcy Court a variety of motions seeking “first-day” relief, which were approved by the Anagram Bankruptcy Court and 
permitted the Anagram Debtors to operate in the ordinary course during the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases and included the interim approval of a debtor-in-
possession ABL facility (the “Anagram DIP ABL Facility”) and a debtor-in-possession note purchase agreement and notes indenture (the facility issued 
thereunder, the “Anagram DIP Notes Facility”). The Anagram Debtors continue to operate their business and manage their properties as “debtors-in-
possession” in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and orders of the Anagram Bankruptcy Court throughout the duration of 
the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases.

The Anagram Entities subsequently received final approval from the Anagram Bankruptcy Court for the Anagram DIP Notes ($22 million new 
money commitment), with the commitments coming from a group of their existing secured lenders, and the Anagram DIP ABL Facility ($15 million 
gradual roll-up of the Anagram Entities’ prepetition asset-based lending facility).

On November 8, 2023, the Anagram Entities filed certain documents with the Anagram Bankruptcy Court disclosing that an agreement was reached 
with a group of their lenders as the “Stalking Horse” bidder to acquire substantially all of Anagram’s assets through a credit bid with a value of at least  
$175 million in a Section 363 transaction under the Bankruptcy Code, subject to higher or otherwise better offers and court approval. As part of this 
agreement, the “Stalking Horse” bidder committed to hire all Anagram employees and assume all pre and post-petition trade payables. No other bids were 
received other than the Stalking Horse bid prior to the bid deadline of December 15, 2023. The sale hearing was held on December 22, 2023, during which 
the Anagram Bankruptcy Court approved the sale to the Stalking Horse bidder. The sale formally closed on December 29, 2023. 

10



 

The Anagram Chapter 11 Cases was a reconsideration event for PCHI to reevaluate whether consolidation of Anagram continues to be appropriate. 
We have concluded that the power to make material decisions for Anagram has been transferred to the Bankruptcy Court, and, therefore, PCHI no longer 
controls Anagram as of the Anagram Petition Date (November 8, 2023). Accordingly, we concluded that PCHI should deconsolidate Anagram effective on 
the Anagram Petition Date. As such, amounts presented in the Company’s future financial statements and notes thereto will exclude the operating results, 
cash flows, assets, liabilities, and equity of Anagram subsequent to November 8, 2023.

Industry Overview 

We operate in the broadly defined celebrations industry, which includes the retail party goods industry and the Halloween market. The party goods 
industry includes decorative paper and plastic tableware, costumes, decorations, accessories, and balloons, all of which are supported by a range of vendors 
from commodity paper goods producers to party goods manufacturers. The retail landscape for decorated party goods is comprised primarily of party 
superstores, mass merchants, e-commerce merchandisers, craft stores, grocery retailers, and dollar stores. Sales of party goods are fueled by everyday 
events such as backyard BBQs, graduations, birthdays, baby showers, weddings, and anniversaries, as well as seasonal events such as holidays and other 
special occasions.

Segments 

We have two reportable segments: retail and wholesale. In 2022, we generated 81.8% of our total revenues from our retail segment and 18.2% of our 
total revenues from our wholesale segment. 

Our retail segment generates revenue primarily through the sale of our party supplies through our Party City stores, Halloween City stores, and 
partycity.com. 

Our wholesale segment revenues are generated from the sale of decorated party goods, balloons, and costumes for all occasions. Our products are 
sold at wholesale to party superstores (including our company-operated retail stores and franchised stores operating principally as “Party City” and 
“Halloween City”), and unaffiliated specialty retailers, mass merchants, e-commerce merchandisers, craft stores, grocery retailers, drug, and convenience. 
Wholesale revenues are generated primarily by our Amscan business.

Financial information about our industry segments and geographic segments is provided in Note 16 of our consolidated financial statements in Part 
II, Item 8, for additional details.

Product Lines

Our enterprise-wide product lines span a wide variety of ways to celebrate everyday events including from birthdays to theme parties to sporting 
events. Additionally, we offer seasonal products throughout the year to decorate and dress up for holidays such as Halloween, Christmas, New Year’s Eve, 
and Mardi Gras. Our product offering is designed to provide everything needed to throw an amazing event and capture life’s special moments including a 
wide range of décor, tabletop, balloons, and wearable product formats.

 
Category   Items  
Tableware   Plastic plates, paper plates, plastic cups, paper cups, paper napkins, plastic cutlery, table covers  
Costumes & accessories   Costumes, other wearables, wigs  
Decorations

 
Latex balloons, piñatas, crepes, flags and banners, decorative tissues, stickers and confetti, scene 
setters, garland, centerpieces  

Balloons
 

Foil and latex, bouquets, standard 18-inch Sing-A-Tune, SuperShape, air-filled decorative, weights, 
accessories  

Favors, stationery & other   Party favors, gift bags, gift wrap, invitations, bows, stationery  

Retail Operations 

Overview

Party City has grown to become what we believe is the largest operator of company-operated and franchised party superstores by revenue in the 
United States. We provide a broad and deep product assortment at a compelling value with an average of 25,000 SKUs offered at any one time through our 
retail stores and 40,000 SKUs offered online through our e-commerce platform. We keep our assortment current by frequently introducing new products. 
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We organize our stores by events and themes to facilitate customer shopping while consistently presenting customers with additional product ideas that will 
enhance their events and our sales. With our product selection and convenient locations, we believe customers associate Party City with successful 
celebrations, and as a result, we believe our physical and online stores will continue to be seen as the favored destination for party supplies and related 
innovative ideas. 

Our websites, including partycity.com and halloweencity.com, offer a convenient, user-friendly, and secure online shopping option for our 
customers. In support of our website sales, we offer rapid, contactless, and same-day in-store and curbside pickup and same-day shipping options. In 
addition to the ability to order products, our websites provide a substantial amount of content about our party products, party planning ideas, and 
promotional offers. The websites are also one of our key marketing vehicles, specifically as they relate to social media marketing initiatives. 

Our Company-operated stores are located entirely in the United States. We have franchised stores throughout the United States and Puerto Rico, 
which are operated by franchisees utilizing our format, design specifications, methods, standards, operating procedures, systems, and trademarks. Our 
wholesale sales to franchised stores generally mirror, with respect to relative size, mix, and category, sales to our company-operated stores. We are not 
currently marketing, nor do we plan to market, franchises in the United States.

The following table (which excludes temporary Halloween City locations) shows the change in our company-operated Party City store network over 
the past three years: 
 

    2022     2021     2020  
Stores open at beginning of year     759       746       777  
Stores opened     11       10       5  
Stores acquired from franchisees/others     11       10       6  
Stores closed     (6 )     (7 )     (42 )
Stores open at end of year     775       759       746  

The following table shows the change in our franchise-operated store network over the past three years: 
 

    2022     2021     2020  
Stores open at beginning of year     72       85       98  
Stores sold to the Company     (11 )     (10 )     (6 )
Stores closed     (2 )     (3 )     (7 )
Stores open at end of year     59       72       85  

For a discussion regarding store lease negotiations as part of the Company’s bankruptcy reorganization plan, see Part I, Item 2, Properties below.

We receive revenue from our franchisees, consisting of an initial one-time fee and ongoing royalty fees, generally ranging from 4% to 6% of net 
sales. In exchange for these franchise fees, franchisees principally receive brand value and merchandising support with respect to planograms. Each 
franchisee has a mandated advertising budget, which consists of a minimum initial store opening promotion and ongoing local advertising and promotions. 
Additionally, franchisees must pay 2.25% of net sales to a group advertising fund to cover common advertising materials. Our franchise agreements 
provide us with a right of first refusal should any franchisee wish to dispose of its operations. 

Current franchise agreements provide for an assigned area or territory that typically equals a three or four-mile radius from the franchisee’s store 
location and the right to use the Party City® logo and trademark. In addition, certain agreements with our franchisees and other business partners contain 
geographic limitations on opening new stores. For most stores, the franchisee or the majority owner of a corporate franchisee devotes full time to the 
management, operation, and on-premises supervision of the stores or groups of stores. 

The number of franchisee stores have declined in recent years due in large part to strategic acquisitions of franchisee stores.

Retail Seasonality

Our retail operations are subject to significant seasonal variations. Historically, this segment has realized a significant portion of its revenues, cash 
flow, and net income in the fourth quarter of the year, principally due to our 
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Halloween sales in October and, to a lesser extent, year-end holiday sales. To maximize our seasonal opportunity, we may operate a chain of temporary 
Halloween stores or Halloween store-within-store concepts, under the Halloween City brand, from August through October of each year. See 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” section in Part III, Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for more information about our seasonality.

Wholesale Operations 

Overview 

We currently offer a wide array of products spanning tableware, accessories, novelties, balloons, decorations, and costumes. Our in-house design 
team introduces several thousand products annually, driving innovation in our licensed and unlicensed product offering and supporting increased sales 
across our channels. From time to time, we rationalize our existing product offerings to stay on trend. The breadth of these offerings enables our retail 
stores and third-party retailers to promote additional sales of related products for every occasion. To enhance our customers’ celebrations of life’s important 
events, we market party goods for a wide variety of occasions, including seasonal and religious holidays, special events, and themed celebrations. Our 
Amscan branded products are offered in retail outlets worldwide, ranging from party goods superstores (including our company-operated and franchise 
stores), other party goods retailers, mass merchants, independent card and gift stores, grocery and drug stores, and e-commerce merchandisers. We have 
long-term relationships with many of our wholesale customers. 

The table below shows the breakdown of our total wholesale sales by channel for the year ended December 31, 2022: 
 

Channel   Sales  
    (Dollars in millions)  

Company-operated stores and e-commerce   $ 789  
Party City franchised stores and other domestic retailers     173  
Domestic balloon distributors/retailers     82  
International     139  
Total wholesale sales   $ 1,183  

Wholesale Manufactured Products 

Our manufacturing facilities are highly automated and produce paper and plastic plates and cups, paper napkins, injection molded product, 
costumes, pinatas, and other party and novelty items at globally competitive costs. Printing, forming, folding, and packaging equipment support most of 
these manufacturing operations. In select cases, we use available capacity to manufacture products for third parties.

Complementing our manufacturing facilities, we have a diverse global network of third-party vendors that support our strategy of consistently 
offering a broad selection of high quality, innovative, and competitively priced products. We have relationships with many of our third-party vendors that 
exceed twenty years and often, our business represents a significant portion of their overall business. These third-party vendors are located in Asia and are 
managed by our sourcing office in Hong Kong. They generally produce items designed by and created specifically for us. We actively work with our third-
party vendors to ensure product cost, quality, and safety. 

The principal raw materials in our products or in manufacturing our products are cotton, paper, films, and petroleum-based resin. While we currently 
purchase raw materials from preferred vendors, we continue to evaluate the marketplace to expand our sources. We’re continuously looking at innovation 
and evolving market conditions and working on plans to mitigate any potential headwinds.

Wholesale Product Safety and Quality Assurance 

We are subject to regulatory requirements in the United States and internationally, and we believe that all products that we manufacture and source 
comply with the requirements in the markets in which they are sold. Third-party manufactured products are tested in accordance with our testing policies 
and procedures, both at the manufacturing site and upon arrival at our distribution centers. We have a full-time staff of professionals in the United States 
and Asia dedicated to product safety and quality assurance. 

Wholesale Distribution and Systems 
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We ship our products directly to retailers and distributors throughout the world from our main distribution facility, as well as directly from our 
factories. Our electronic order entry and information systems allow us to manage our inventory. 

Our main distribution facility for domestic party customers is located in Chester, New York, which is nearly 900,000 square feet. This facility serves 
as the main point of distribution for our products and utilizes a paperless, pick-by-light system, and a Goods-To-Person (OSR) picking system.

Wholesale Customers 

We have a fairly diverse third-party customer base in our wholesale segment. In 2022, one customer accounted for approximately 12% of total 
wholesale revenues.

Strategic Initiatives 

We continue to advance our strategic initiatives that underpin efforts to grow our retail and wholesale businesses and expand on our purpose of 
creating joy by making it easy to create unforgettable memories.

•	 Product Innovation. We continued to leverage consumer insights and sales data to drive review of our wholesale product offerings and retail 
assortment decisions. During 2021, we reset Party Favors, Girl’s Birthday, Boy’s Birthday, Candy, and Solid Tableware and approximately 1,000 new 
products driven by consumer-led innovation. In 2022, we reset several other categories in our portfolio and will launch a similar number of innovative 
items as well as significant quality improvements to complement the work in innovation.
 

•	 Enhance the in-store experiences. We continued to remodel or open “next generation” or NXTGEN stores, all of which are Company-operated, 
bringing our total to 172 as of December 31, 2022. The material changes to our stores include a new shop-in-shop store layout with improved product 
adjacencies, edited and more curated product assortments. A balloon shop and customer engagement center are the focal point of the store and add 
significant theater to the entire experience. Balloon sales growth in our NXTGEN stores is higher than the trend in the balance of our stores. We continue to 
be pleased with the customer feedback we are receiving on the NXTGEN stores as we enhance and refine the prototype. Customers have told us that they 
appreciate the decluttering of the stores due to the lower sightlines and the more curated assortment.

•	 Being celebration occasion-obsessed. In 2021, we were focused on our core categories and therefore, grew our relevancy with consumers to 
build trust and become their destination for all things celebrations. Additionally, our seasonal categories are generating improved sell-throughs resulting in 
improved inventory turns and gross margin returns on inventory. In 2022, we continued to focus on improvements in our core and seasonal categories, 
driven by greater focus on current trends, key items, and more curated assortments, which we believe will improve the shopping experience for the 
consumer and efficiency for store associates.
 

Information Systems

Our information systems are integral in supporting our long-term strategies, are key capabilities necessary to help support all levers of growth, and 
help us implement informed, data-driven decision making throughout our organization. We are continually working on enhancing our digital technology 
platforms and elevating our e-commerce capabilities through new functionalities to our retail and wholesale channels. In 2022, we continued to implement 
key security enhancements and completed information security projects on the ongoing IT roadmap. We also completed the planned migration of multiple 
systems to cloud-based technology infrastructure. 

We also maintain entity-wide information security and privacy compliance programs, comprised of risk management policies and procedures 
surrounding our information systems, cybersecurity practices, and protection of consumer and employee personal data and confidential information. Our 
Board of Directors (the “Board”) has ultimate oversight of our risk management policies and procedures and has delegated primary responsibility for 
monitoring the risks and programs in this area to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee receives regular updates on information security and privacy 
risk and compliance from management. The Board also receives periodic updates on these topics. As part of our compliance programs, all global 
employees are required to take annual training on information security, including cybersecurity, global data privacy requirements, and compliance 
measures. We also conduct periodic internal and third-party assessments to test our cybersecurity controls, perform cyber simulations, and continually 
evaluate our privacy notices, policies, and procedures surrounding our handling 
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and control of personal data and the systems we have in place to help protect us from cybersecurity or personal data breaches. Additionally, we maintain 
network security and cyber liability insurance in order to provide a level of financial protection in the event of certain covered cyber losses and data 
breaches. 

Refer to Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” for further information as it relates to our Information Systems.

Intellectual Property 

We own the copyrights in the designs we create and use on our products and various trademarks and service marks used on or in connection with our 
products. At our discretion, we may permit franchisees, licensees, and other parties to use our trademarks and service marks. It is our practice to register 
our copyrights with the United States Copyright Office and our trademarks and service marks with the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or with 
other foreign jurisdictions, to the extent we deem necessary. In addition, we rely on unregistered common law trademark rights and unregistered copyrights 
under applicable U.S. law to distinguish and/or protect our products, services, and branding. From time to time, we attain patent protection for novel 
inventions. We do not believe that the loss of any copyrights, trademarks, or patents with respect to any particular product or products would have a 
material adverse effect on our business. We hold numerous intellectual property licenses from third parties, allowing us to use various third-party cartoon 
and other characters and designs on our products, and the images on our metallic balloons and costumes are principally covered by these licenses. None of 
these license relationships are individually material to our aggregate business.

Competition

Our segment of the retail industry is highly competitive, and we expect competition to increase in the future. We operate in the party goods retail 
sector, which is currently and is expected to continue to be highly competitive with respect to price, store location, merchandise quality, assortment and 
presentation, and customer service, including merchandise delivery and checkout options. We believe we differentiate ourselves from other retailers by 
providing high-value, high-quality, low-cost merchandise in conveniently located stores. Our sales and profits could be reduced by increases in 
competition. There are no significant economic barriers for others to enter our retail sector.

Government Regulation 

We are subject to extensive federal, state, and local laws and regulations affecting our business, including product safety, consumer protection, 
privacy, truth-in-advertising, accessibility, customs, wage and hour laws and regulations, and zoning and occupancy ordinances that regulate manufacturers 
and retailers generally and govern the promotion and sale of merchandise and the operation of manufacturing facilities, distribution centers, retail stores, 
and e-commerce. We also are subject to similar international laws and regulations affecting our business. The Company maintains an internal global trade, 
customs, and product compliance organization to help manage its import/export compliance activities. Several state and local governments have been 
successful in regulating or prohibiting the sale of balloons filled with lighter than air gas and single-use plastic products. We have sought partnership with 
legislators and regulators to help protect and steward environmental goals and promote the responsible use of our products.
 

As a franchisor, we must comply with regulations adopted by the Federal Trade Commission, such as the Trade Regulation Rule on Franchising, 
which requires us, among other things, to furnish prospective franchisees with a franchise offering circular. We also must comply with several state laws 
that regulate the offer and sale of our franchises and certain substantive aspects of franchisor-franchisee relationships. These laws vary in their application 
and in their regulatory requirements. 

Human Capital Disclosure



People matter at Party City. In 2022, we employed approximately 5,700 full-time and 9,500 part-time team members, and an additional 14,500 seasonal 
team members, who play a critical role in delivering our company Purpose - to inspire joy by making it easy for our customers to create unforgettable 
memories. We seek to embed this Purpose and the principles that guide us in how we work every day (what we call our Promises) – Customer First, People 
Matter, It Can Be Done, and Celebrate – into the culture through enterprise-wide programs and initiatives, grounded in the retention and engagement of our 
team members.
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Attracting and Engaging Employees. We endeavor to make it easy to be a successful employee at Party City. We offer comprehensive onboarding 
programs as well as a variety of leadership, technical, and compliance training that enables our team members to contribute to the Company’s most 
important initiatives. We have advanced engagement by fostering two-way dialogue via employee surveys and communication forums as well as enhanced 
and simplified technology-enabled people operations support and access to employee information. We have an “open door” policy for team members to 
report concerns, and we also provide an anonymous reporting hotline available in multiple languages and managed by an independent third-party.

Diversity, Equity, Inclusion, and Belonging. Our diversity, equity, inclusion, and belonging (DEI&B) strategy continues with the work of an 
Enterprise Belonging Council as well as a Diversity Review Committee, our business resource groups that are both fueled by employee participation and 
leadership commitment. We endeavor to weave the key tenants of our DEI&B strategy into the fabric of our transformation and people programs and 
processes.

Total Rewards. Our total rewards and benefits programs have been harmonized across the enterprise to maximize effectiveness and accelerate 
eligibility for participation. We provide comprehensive benefits including medical, dental, and vision, as well as a healthcare concierge that partners with 
team members to more effectively and efficiently navigate the healthcare system. We offer reward programs tied to short and long-term priorities and 
performance. We believe that offering our team members access to comprehensive total rewards programs are important steps to drive employee retention 
and positive employee relations. 

Talent Attraction. Our talent attraction and succession management approach from the top down improves implementation of key strategies to 
address localized market conditions. We believe these targeted efforts meet immediate and long-term staffing needs and build capability to deliver our 
overall business strategy.

Safety. Safety is a priority, and we have invested in training and awareness campaigns to promote safe operating practices in our manufacturing 
plants and distribution centers, stores, and corporate offices. 

Environmental, Social and Governance Matters 

At the board level, our Nominating and ESG Committee (the “NESG Committee”) oversees our environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”) 
programs, policies, and practices. The NESG Committee’s duties include monitoring and evaluating the Company’s programs, policies, and practices 
relating to ESG issues and making recommendations to the Board regarding the Company’s overall ESG strategy. Managing and executing that ESG 
strategy is a cross functional, management-level ESG Steering Committee, which focuses on: (i) establishment of programs, policies, and practices relating 
to ESG matters: and (ii) assisting the NESG Committee in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to ESG matters. Our ESG efforts are guided 
by an ESG Priority Assessment that we completed in January 2022 to identify the ESG topics that are most relevant for our business and shareholders, as 
well as customers, business partners, team members, and communities. In an effort to enhance long-term value, we intend to use the results of the ESG 
Priority Assessment to guide our efforts as we further develop and advance our ESG strategy. In 2022, we successfully published our inaugural ESG Report 
for the year ending December 31, 2021. We believe our approach to ESG management will help enable us to create long-term value for our stockholders, 
through advancing interests of our other stakeholders. 

Available Information 

Our principal executive offices are located in Woodcliff Lake, NJ. Our website address is www.partycity.com. Information contained in, and that can 
be accessed through our website is not incorporated into and does not form a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

While subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and in accordance 
therewith, we have filed reports, proxy and information statements, and other information with the SEC. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly 
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and other information to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the 
Exchange Act are available at www.sec.gov. 
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Item 1A. Risk Factors 

The following risk factors may be important to understanding any statement in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or elsewhere. Our business, 
financial condition, operating results, and liquidity can be affected by a number of factors, whether currently known or unknown, including but not limited 
to those described below and elsewhere in this report. Any one or more of such factors could directly or indirectly materially and adversely affect our 
business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, and stock price. 

Risk Factor Summary

Risks Related to Bankruptcy Proceedings

• We are subject to risks and uncertainties associated with our recent bankruptcy.

• As a result of our bankruptcy, our financial results may be volatile and may not reflect historical trends.

• We may be subject to claims that were not discharged in the bankruptcy proceedings, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
financial condition and results of operations.

• Matters relating to our bankruptcy consumed a substantial portion of the time and attention of our management, which may have an adverse 
effect on our business, and we may experience increased levels of employee attrition.

• The plan of reorganization that we are implementing is based in large part upon assumptions and analyses developed by us. If these 
assumptions and analyses prove to be incorrect, our plan may be unsuccessful in its execution.

• We face significant risks and uncertainties associated with the bankruptcy filing of our Anagram subsidiaries.

 Risks Related to our Business

• We face risks related to our balloon sales and margins, including regulatory restrictions and prohibitions, potential shortages of helium gas, 
and changes in consumer preferences.

• The loss of, or disruption to, one of our distribution centers and other factors affecting the distribution of merchandise and our reliance on 
third parties for shipping could materially adversely affect our business.

• We operate in a competitive industry, and our failure to compete effectively could cause us to lose market share, revenues, and growth 
prospects.

• If we are unable to effectively manage our e-commerce business and digital marketing efforts, our reputation and operating results may be 
harmed.

• Our marketing programs, e-commerce initiatives, and use of consumer information are governed by an evolving set of laws and enforcement 
trends and unfavorable changes in those laws or trends, or our failure to comply with existing or future laws, could substantially harm our 
business and results of operations.

• Unanticipated impacts to Halloween and seasonal sales for our retail business may adversely impact operating results.

• Our failure to appropriately respond to changing merchandise trends and consumer preferences, including regarding licensed and single-use 
products, could significantly harm our customer relationships and financial performance.

• Product recalls and/or product liability claims may adversely impact our business, merchandise offerings, reputation, results of operations, 
cash flows, and financial performance.

• Our business is sensitive to consumer spending and general economic conditions and other factors beyond our control.
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• Our business could be harmed if our existing franchisees do not conduct their business in accordance with agreed upon standards.

• Labor, product, supply, and inflationary risks have had and may continue to have an adverse effect on our operating results. 

 Risks Related to our Supply Chain and Third Parties

• Our business is dependent on maintaining an appropriate source of raw materials, and disruption to the transportation system or increases in 
the costs of raw materials or transportation may negatively affect our operating results.

• Our business may be adversely affected by the loss or actions of our third-party vendors.

• We depend on vendors for timely and effective sourcing of our merchandise, and we may not be able to acquire products in sufficient 
quantities and at acceptable prices to meet our needs, which could impact our operations and financial results.

 Information Security Risks

• Our information systems, order fulfillment, and distribution facilities may prove inadequate or may be disrupted. 

• We may fail to adequately maintain the security of our electronic and other confidential information. 

Talent

• Talent acquisition and retention could involve increases to labor costs, and if we are unable to attract and retain the talent required for our 
business, which depends in part on factors outside of our control, our operating results could suffer.

 Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property 

• Our intellectual property rights may be inadequate to protect our business. 

 Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

• Our substantial indebtedness and lease obligations could adversely affect our financial flexibility and our competitive position, and we may 
not be able to generate or distribute sufficient cash to service all our indebtedness.

• We may require additional capital to fund our business, which may not be available to us on satisfactory terms or at all.

• Significant interest rate changes could affect our profitability and financial performance.

• Our long-term liquidity requirements and the adequacy of our capital resources are difficult to predict at this time

Risks Related to Material Weaknesses

• We have identified material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting and may identify additional material weaknesses in 
the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, which may result in material misstatements of our 
consolidated financial statements or cause us to fail to meet our periodic reporting obligations.

General Risk Factors 

• Changes in laws, policies, or regulations related to taxes could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

• We may face risks associated with litigation and claims.
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Risk Related to Bankruptcy Proceedings

We are subject to risks and uncertainties associated with our recent bankruptcy.

On January 17, 2023, the Company and certain of its domestic subsidiaries filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the 
Southern District of Texas. On September 6, the bankruptcy court confirmed our plan of reorganization, and on October 12, 2023, the plan became 
effective in accordance with its terms, and we emerged from bankruptcy. Even with the approval of our plan of reorganization, we will continue to face a 
number of risks associated with our bankruptcy, including risks related to our ability to reduce expenses, implement any strategic initiatives, and generally 
maintain favorable relationships with, and secure the confidence of, our counterparties. For the duration of the bankruptcy proceedings, our senior 
management was required to spend a significant amount of time and effort dealing with the reorganization instead of focusing exclusively on our longer-
term business operations. In addition, our operating results may be adversely affected by the possible reluctance of prospective lenders and other 
counterparties to do business with a company that recently emerged from bankruptcy.

As a result of our bankruptcy, our financial results may be volatile and may not reflect historical trends.

During the pendency of the bankruptcy proceedings, our financial results were volatile as restructuring activities and expenses, contract terminations 
and rejections, and claims assessments will significantly impact our consolidated financial statements. Upon our emergence from Chapter 11, the amounts 
reported in subsequent consolidated financial statements may have materially changed relative to historical consolidated financial statements, including as a 
result of revisions to our operating plans pursuant to a plan of reorganization. We are also required to adopt fresh-start reporting, at the emergence date, 
with our assets and liabilities being recorded at fair value as of the fresh-start reporting date, which may differ materially from the recorded values of assets 
and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. Our financial results after the application of fresh-start reporting also may be different from historical 
trends. 
We may be subject to claims that were not discharged in the bankruptcy proceedings, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition and results of operations.

The Bankruptcy Code provides that the confirmation of a plan of reorganization discharges a debtor from substantially all debts arising prior to 
confirmation. With few exceptions, all claims that arose prior to January 17, 2023, were subject to compromise and/or treatment under the plan of 
reorganization and/or discharged in accordance with the terms of the plan of reorganization. Any claims not discharged through the plan of reorganization 
could be asserted against the reorganized entities and may have a material adverse effect on our business, operational results, financial position, and cash 
flows on a post-reorganization basis.

Matters relating to our bankruptcy consumed a substantial portion of the time and attention of our management, which may have an adverse effect on 
our business, and we may experience increased levels of employee attrition.

For the duration of the bankruptcy proceedings, our management was required to spend a significant amount of time and effort focusing on the 
cases. This diversion of attention may have a material adverse effect on business, operational results, financial position, and cash flows. Additionally, as a 
result of our bankruptcy, we may experience increased levels of employee attrition, and our employees likely faced considerable distraction and 
uncertainty. A loss of key personnel or material erosion of employee morale could adversely affect our business and results of operations. Our ability to 
engage, motivate, and retain key employees or take other measures intended to motivate and incentivize key employees to remain with us through the 
pendency of the bankruptcy proceedings was limited by restrictions on implementation of incentive programs under the Bankruptcy Code. The loss of 
services of members of our senior management team or material erosion of employee morale could impair our ability to execute our strategy and 
implement operational initiatives, which would be likely to have a material adverse effect on business, financial position, cash flows, and results of 
operations. The failure to retain or attract members of our management team and other key personnel could impair our ability to execute our strategy and 
implement operational initiatives, thereby having a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

The plan of reorganization that we are implementing is based in large part upon assumptions and analyses developed by us. If these assumptions and 
analyses prove to be incorrect, our plan may be unsuccessful in its execution.

 The plan of reorganization we are implementing affects both our capital structure and ownership structure and operation of our businesses and will 
reflect assumptions and analyses based on our experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions, and expected future developments, as well 
as other factors that we consider 

19



 

appropriate under the circumstances. Whether actual future results and developments will be consistent with our expectations and assumptions depends on 
a number of factors, including but not limited to: (i) our ability to implement changes to our capital structure; (ii) our ability to obtain adequate liquidity 
and financing sources; (iii) our ability to maintain customers’ confidence in our viability as a continuing entity and to attract and retain sufficient business 
from them; (iv) our ability to obtain merchandise, including from non-debtor affiliates; (v) our ability to retain key employees; and (vi) the overall strength 
and stability of general economic conditions. Any failure to adequately meet or account for any of these factors could materially adversely affect the 
successful reorganization of our businesses. 

In addition, our plan of reorganization relies upon financial projections, including with respect to revenues, EBITDA, capital expenditures, debt 
service, and cash flow. Financial forecasts are necessarily speculative, and it is likely that one or more of the assumptions and estimates that are the basis of 
these financial forecasts will not be accurate. In our case, the forecasts will be even more speculative than normal, because they may involve fundamental 
changes in the nature of our capital structure. Accordingly, we expect that our actual financial condition and results of operations will differ, perhaps 
materially, from what we have anticipated. Consequently, there can be no assurance that the results or developments contemplated by any plan of
reorganization we may implement will occur or, even if they do occur, that they will have the anticipated effects on us and our subsidiaries or our 
businesses or operations. The failure of any such results or developments to materialize as anticipated could materially adversely affect the successful 
execution of any plan of reorganization. 

We face significant risks and uncertainties associated with the bankruptcy filing of our Anagram subsidiaries. 

On November 8, 2023 (the “Anagram Petition Date”), the Anagram Entities (collectively, the “Anagram Debtors”) filed voluntary petitions (the 
“Anagram Chapter 11 Cases”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas (the “Anagram Bankruptcy Court”) seeking relief 
under the Bankruptcy Code. The Company and certain of its domestic subsidiaries were not included in the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases and continue to 
operate in the ordinary course of business throughout the duration of the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases. On November 8, 2023, the Anagram Bankruptcy 
Court granted the Anagram Debtors’ motion to jointly administer the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases for procedural purposes only under the caption In re: 
Anagram Holdings, LLC, et. al. (Case No. 23-90901). To ensure its ability to continue operating in the ordinary course of business, the Anagram Debtors 
also filed with the Anagram Bankruptcy Court a variety of motions seeking “first-day” relief, which were approved by the Anagram Bankruptcy Court and 
permitted the Anagram Debtors to operate in the ordinary course during the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases and included the interim approval of a debtor-in-
possession ABL facility (the “Anagram DIP ABL Facility”) and a debtor-in-possession note purchase agreement and notes indenture (the facility issued 
thereunder, the “Anagram DIP Notes Facility”). The Anagram Debtors continue to operate their business and manage their properties as “debtors-in-
possession” in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and orders of the Anagram Bankruptcy Court throughout the duration of 
the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases.

On November 8, 2023, the Anagram Entities filed certain documents with the Anagram Bankruptcy Court disclosing that an agreement was reached 
with a group of their lenders as the “Stalking Horse” bidder to acquire substantially all of Anagram’s assets through a credit bit with a value of at least $175 
million in a Section 363 transaction under the Bankruptcy Code, subject to higher or otherwise better offers and court approval. As part of this agreement, 
the “Stalking Horse” bidder committed to hire all Anagram employees and assume all pre and post-petition trade payables. No other bids were received 
other than the Stalking Horse bid prior to the bid deadline of December 15, 2023. The sale hearing was held on December 22, 2023, during which the 
Anagram Bankruptcy Court approved the sale to the Stalking Horse bidder. The sale formally closed on December 29, 2023. 

PCHI plans to continue business with Anagram subsequent to the sale, including purchasing balloons for sale in PCHI’s retail stores, and any 
interruption of the business relationship between PCHI and Anagram, or its other subsidiaries, could have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Risks Related to Our Business

We face risks related to our balloon sales and margins, including regulatory restrictions and prohibitions, potential shortages of helium gas, and 
changes in consumer preferences.

Balloons are a focal point of our growth strategy and are a key driver of our differentiated brand experience. Our margins on balloon sales may be 
affected by several factors. For example, some local governments have implemented or considered implementing rules, ordinances, or regulations 
prohibiting the sale of balloons filled with a gas lighter than air. We sell latex and foil balloons in our retail stores. Widespread adoption of such 
prohibitions would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

20



 

We use helium gas, a natural resource, to inflate most of the foil balloons and a portion of the latex balloons we sell to consumers through our retail 
stores and online. The float of a helium filled balloon is particularly attractive to many consumers and contributes to our ability to sell balloons. 

Although we believe we have taken appropriate steps to maintain enough helium to keep pace with the demand, we cannot offer assurance that 
events beyond our control, such as a global shortage of helium or supply chain disruptions impacting the ability of helium refineries, distributors, or 
resellers to provide us or our balloon customers with enough helium gas to satisfy demand, will not impact our ability to maintain sales levels of balloons. 
We have experienced, are operating within an environment that currently experiences, and expect to continue to experience, periodic helium shortages and 
such other helium disruptions in the past, which have resulted in higher prices for such gas, and failure to fulfill consumer demand for helium inflated 
balloons. These shortages and disruptions have adversely impacted the financial performance of our retail and wholesale operations in the past and may 
have similar impacts in the future.

Changing consumer preferences, including with respect to environmental matters, whether we can anticipate, identify, and respond to them or not, 
could adversely impact our sales. Inventory levels for certain balloon styles no longer considered to be “on trend” may increase, leading to higher 
markdowns to sell through excess inventory and, therefore, lower than planned margins. Conversely, if we underestimate consumer demand for our 
balloons, or if we fail to supply quality products in a timely manner, we may experience inventory shortages, which may negatively impact customer 
relationships, diminish brand loyalty, and result in lost sales. In addition, our position or perceived lack of position on environmental, public policy, or other 
sensitive issues relating to our balloon business, and any perceived lack of transparency about those matters, could harm our reputation.

The loss of, or disruption in, our distribution center and other factors affecting the distribution of merchandise and our reliance on third parties for 
shipping could materially adversely affect our business. 

We rely heavily on our distribution center to manage the volume associated with a significant amount of our products. Most of our operations’ 
inventory is shipped directly from vendors to our distribution center where the inventory is then processed, sorted, and shipped to our stores, to our 
wholesale customers, or to our e-commerce customers. We depend on the orderly operation of this receiving and distribution process, which depends, in 
turn, on adherence to shipping schedules and effective management of the distribution center. We may not anticipate all of the changing demands that our 
expanding operations will impose on our receiving and distribution system, and events that we may not fully control, such as disruptions in operations due 
to fire or other catastrophic events, labor disagreements, or shipping problems (whether in our own or in our third party vendors’ or carriers’ businesses), 
may result in delays in the delivery of merchandise to our stores or to our wholesale customers or e-commerce/retail customers. Delays in receiving 
merchandise may also lead to incremental charges for shipping that are not contemplated in our normal operations. In addition, to the extent we need to add 
capacity to our distribution center by either leasing or building a new distribution center or adding capacity at our existing center or make changes in our 
distribution processes to improve efficiency and maximize capacity, such changes may result in significant capital expenditures as well as unanticipated 
delays or interruptions in distribution.

We also depend upon third parties for shipment of a significant amount of merchandise. Interruptions in the services provided by third parties may 
occasionally result from damage or destruction to our distribution center, weather-related events, natural disasters, pandemics (including COVID-19), trade 
policy changes or restrictions, tariffs or import-related taxes, third-party labor disruptions, shipping capacity constraints, third-party contract disputes, 
military conflicts, acts of terrorism, or other factors beyond our control. An interruption in service by third parties for any reason could cause temporary 
disruptions in our business, a loss of sales and profits, and other material adverse effects.

We operate in a competitive industry, and our failure to compete effectively could cause us to lose market share, revenues, and growth prospects.

Our wholesale segment competes with many other manufacturers and distributors, including smaller, independent manufacturers and distributors 
and divisions or subsidiaries of larger companies with greater financial and other resources than we have. Some of our competitors control licenses for 
widely recognized images and have broader access to mass market retailers that could provide them with a competitive advantage. 

Our retail stores compete with a variety of smaller and larger retailers including, but not limited to, independent party goods retailers, mass 
merchants, e-commerce merchandisers, craft stores, grocery retailers, and dollar stores. There are no significant economic barriers for others to enter our 
retail sector. Internet-based retailers 
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may have a significant collective online presence and may be able to offer similar products to those that we sell, which may result in increased price 
competition, and consumers may respond more positively to a competitor’s internet-based shopping experience compared to our e-commerce experience. 
We may not be able to continue to compete successfully against existing or future competitors in the retail space or do so without substantial capital 
expenditures. Expansion into markets served by our competitors and entry of new competitors or expansion of existing competitors into our markets could 
materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows, and financial performance. We believe remaining competitive in the areas of 
quality, price, breadth of selection, customer service, and convenience is critical to our success. Competing effectively may require us to reduce our prices 
or increase our costs, which could lower our margins and adversely affect our revenues and growth prospects. For more information about the competition 
in our industry, see Part I, Item 1, “Business - Competition” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

If we are unable to effectively manage our e-commerce business and digital marketing efforts, our reputation and operating results may be harmed.

Our e-commerce channel has been critical to our growth, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic. The success of our e-commerce business 
depends, in part, on third parties and factors over which we have limited control. There are certain critical risks and uncertainties associated with our e-
commerce and mobile websites and digital marketing efforts, including: changes in required technology interfaces; website downtime and other technical 
failures; internet connectivity issues; costs and technical issues as we upgrade our website software; computer viruses; vendor reliability; changes in 
applicable federal and state regulations, including the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”) and the California Privacy Rights Act of 2020 
(“CPRA”); and other state privacy laws, related compliance costs, and security breaches. We must keep up to date with competitive technology trends and 
opportunities that are emerging throughout the retail environment, including the use of new or improved technology, evolving creative user interfaces, and 
other e-commerce marketing trends as the proliferation of mobile usage continues. While we have operational safeguards in place and endeavor to predict 
and invest in technology that is most relevant and beneficial to our company, our initiatives may not prove to be successful, may increase our costs, or may 
not succeed in driving sales or attracting customers. Our failure to successfully respond to these risks and uncertainties may adversely affect the sales or 
margin in our e-commerce business, require us to impair certain assets, and damage our reputation and brands.

Our marketing programs, e-commerce initiatives, and use of consumer information are governed by an evolving set of laws and enforcement trends 
and unfavorable changes in those laws or trends, or our failure to comply with existing or future laws, could substantially harm our business and 
results of operations.

The successful operation of our online business as well as our ability to provide a positive shopping experience at our brick-and-mortar stores 
depend on efficient and uninterrupted operation of our order-taking and fulfillment operations as well as the success of our marketing programs. In 
furtherance thereof, we collect, maintain, and use data provided to us through our online activities and other customer interactions in our business. Our 
current and future marketing programs depend on our ability to collect, maintain, and use this information, and our ability to do so is subject to certain 
contractual restrictions in third-party contracts as well as evolving international, federal, and state laws and enforcement trends. We are subject to a variety 
of continuously evolving and developing laws and regulations in the U.S. regarding privacy, data protection, and data security, including those related to 
the collection, storage, handling, use, disclosure, transfer, and security of personal data. 

Likewise, we are subject to the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards (“PCI-DSS”), which are mandated by the card brands and 
administered through the Payment Card industry Security Standards Council. Failure to meet requirements and maintain compliance could result in a loss 
of credibility or reputation, and our inability to continue to accept credit cards as a tender type may materially impact our ability to sell our products. 
Failure to comply with these standards could lead to recurring and accumulating fines, and we may need to make significant investments to strengthen our 
PCI controls should we ever be deemed to be non-compliant.

We strive to comply with all applicable laws and other related legal obligations. It is possible, however, that these requirements may be interpreted 
and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another, may conflict with other rules, or may conflict with our practices. If so, we may 
suffer damage to our reputation and be subject to proceedings or actions against us by governmental entities or others. Any such proceeding or action could 
hurt our reputation, force us to spend significant amounts to defend our practices, distract our management, increase our costs of doing business, and result 
in monetary liability, all of which could substantially harm our 
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business and results of operations. 
 

Unanticipated impacts to Halloween and seasonal sales for our retail business may adversely impact operating results.

 Our retail business realizes a significant portion of its revenues, net income, and cash flows from holiday selling seasons, in particular, Halloween, 
as well as, New Year’s Eve, Valentine’s Day, Easter, Christmas, and from major celebratory seasons, such as graduation. In anticipation of increased 
seasonal sales activity, we incur certain significant incremental expenses prior to and during peak selling seasons, including costs associated with hiring a 
substantial number of temporary employees to supplement our existing workforce. Any unanticipated decrease in demand for our products could have a 
material adverse effect on our business and profitability. Failure to have lease suitable commercial space, on permanent or temporary bases, and adequately 
staff our retail stores could hurt our business, financial condition, and results of operations. For more information about how seasonality affects our results 
of operations, see Part I, Item 1, “Business” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our failure to appropriately respond to changing merchandise trends and consumer preferences, including regarding licensed and single-use products, 
could significantly harm our customer relationships and financial performance. 

Our products must appeal to a broad range of consumers whose preferences are constantly changing. In addition to products we manufacture, we 
also sell certain licensed products, with images such as cartoon or motion picture characters, which are in great demand for short time periods, making it 
difficult to project our inventory needs for these products. We may not be able to obtain the licenses for certain popular characters and could lose market 
share to competitors who are able to obtain those licenses. Additionally, if consumers’ demand for single-use, disposable party goods were to diminish in 
favor of reusable products for environmental or other reasons, our sales could decline. 

The success of our business depends upon many factors, such as our ability to accurately predict the market for our products and our customers’ 
purchasing habits, to identify product and merchandise trends, to innovate and develop new products, to manufacture and deliver our products in sufficient 
volumes and in a timely manner, and to differentiate our product offerings from those of our competitors. We may not be able to continue to offer 
assortments of products that appeal to our customers or respond appropriately to consumer demands. We could misinterpret or fail to identify trends on a 
timely basis. Our failure to anticipate, identify, or react appropriately to changes in consumer tastes could, among other things, lead to excess inventories 
and significant markdowns or a shortage of products and lost sales. Our failure to do so could harm our customer relationships and financial performance.

Product recalls and/or product liability claims may adversely impact our business, merchandise offerings, reputation, results of operations, cash flows, 
and financial performance. 

We may be subject to product recalls if any of the products that we manufacture or sell are believed to cause injury or illness. In addition, as a 
retailer of products manufactured by third parties, we may also be liable for various product liability claims for products we do not manufacture. 
Indemnification provisions that we may enter into are typically limited by their terms and depend on the creditworthiness of the indemnifying party and its 
insurer and the absence of significant defenses. We may be unable to obtain full recovery from the insurer or any indemnifying third-party in respect of any 
claims against us in connection with products manufactured by such third-party. Moreover, even if a product liability claim is unsuccessful, has no merit, or 
is not pursued, the negative publicity surrounding assertions against the products we sell could materially and adversely affect our business, reputation, and 
profitability. In addition, if our vendors fail to manufacture or import merchandise that adheres to our quality control standards or standards established by 
applicable law, our reputation and brands could be damaged, potentially leading to an increase in customer litigation against us. Furthermore, to the extent 
we are unable to replace any recalled products, we may have to reduce our merchandise offerings, resulting in a decrease in sales, especially if a recall 
occurs near or during a peak seasonal period. If our vendors are unable or unwilling to recall products failing to meet our quality standards, we may be 
required to recall those products at a substantial cost to us. 
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Our business is sensitive to consumer spending and general economic conditions and other factors beyond our control.

In general, our retail sales, and the retail sales of our business partners to whom we sell, represent discretionary spending by our customers and our 
business partners’ customers. Discretionary spending is affected by many factors, such as general business conditions, inflation, interest rates, availability 
of consumer credit, unemployment levels, taxation, public health crises, including the occurrence of a contagious disease or illness, such as the flu or 
COVID-19, and consumer confidence in future economic conditions. Our customers’ purchases and our business partners’ customers’ purchases of 
discretionary items, including our products, often decline during periods when disposable income is lower or during periods of actual or perceived 
unfavorable economic conditions or because of geopolitical events or widespread health emergencies. In such events, our revenues and profitability are at 
risk of decline. In addition, economic downturns may make it difficult for us to accurately forecast future demand trends, which could cause us to purchase 
excess inventories, resulting in increases in our inventory carrying cost, or insufficient inventories, resulting in our inability to satisfy our customer demand 
and potential loss of market share. 

Moreover, our business is susceptible to extreme weather conditions like hurricanes, flooding, wildfires, or significant snow events, and customer 
demand, consumer traffic, and shopping habits may become negatively impacted for periods extending beyond the individualized weather event itself. The 
occurrence of one or more natural disasters, or other disruptive geopolitical events, could also result in increases in fuel (or other energy) prices or a fuel 
shortage, the temporary or permanent closure of one or more of our manufacturing or distribution centers, the temporary lack of an adequate work force in 
a market, the temporary or long-term disruption in the supply of products from some local and overseas vendors, the temporary disruption in the transport 
of goods from overseas, or delays in the delivery of goods to our distribution centers or stores or to third parties who purchase from us. In addition, broader 
term changes in climate could cause significant changes in weather patterns where we conduct business and an increase in the frequency and severity of 
such extreme weather conditions. Public expectations for reductions in greenhouse gas emissions could result in increased energy, transportation, and raw 
material costs and may require us to make additional investments in facilities and equipment. As a result, the effects of climate change could have a long-
term adverse impact on our business and results of operations.

Our business could be harmed if our existing franchisees do not conduct their business in accordance with agreed upon standards. 

Our success depends, in part, upon the ability of our franchisees to operate their stores and promote and develop our store concept. Although our 
franchise agreements include certain operating standards, all franchisees operate independently, and their employees are not our employees. We provide 
certain training and support to our franchisees, but the quality of franchise store operations may be diminished by any number of factors beyond our 
control. Consequently, if franchisees do not successfully operate stores in a manner consistent with our standards and requirements or do not hire and train 
qualified managers and other store personnel, our image, brand, and reputation could suffer. 

Labor, product, supply, and inflationary risks have had and may continue to have an adverse effect on our operating results. 

We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, inflationary pressures, logistics constraints, and supply chain disruptions, including 
increased key raw material and helium costs, increased freight, shipping and transportation costs, increased labor wages, labor shortages, and delivery 
delays and associated charges. Failure to effectively manage these risks has and may continue to adversely impact our operating results.

Risks Related to Our Supply Chain and Third Parties

Our business is dependent on maintaining an appropriate source of raw materials, and disruption to the transportation system or increases in the costs 
of raw materials or transportation may negatively affect our operating results. 

Freight costs and the costs of our key raw materials (by way of example, paper or petroleum-based resin) fluctuate. In general, we absorb 
movements in freight and raw material costs that we consider temporary or insignificant. However, costs that we determine to not be temporary or 
insignificant may require that we increase prices to customers in an attempt to offset such cost increases. A significant increase in the freight costs and the 
price of raw materials that we cannot pass on to customers has had a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial performance.
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Moreover, because we rely heavily on our own manufacturing operations and those of our vendors, disruptions at manufacturing facilities in the 
United States or abroad, for any reason, including regulatory requirements, unstable labor relations, public health crises, including the occurrence of a 
contagious disease or illness, such as the flu or COVID-19, the loss of certifications, power interruptions, fires, hurricanes, war, or other forces of nature, 
could disrupt our supply of products, adversely affecting our business, results of operations, cash flows, and financial performance. 
 

Our business may be adversely affected by the loss or actions of our third-party vendors. 

Our ability to find new qualified vendors who meet our standards and supply products in a timely and efficient manner can be a significant 
challenge, especially for goods sourced from outside the United States. Many of our vendors currently provide us with incentives such as volume 
purchasing allowances and trade discounts. If our vendors were to reduce or discontinue these incentives, costs would increase.

Further, we rely on our vendors’ representations of product quality, safety, and compliance with applicable laws and standards. If our vendors violate 
our agreements, applicable laws or regulations, or implement practices regarded as unethical, unsafe, or hazardous to the environment, it could damage our 
reputation and negatively affect our operating results. Further, concerns regarding the safety and quality of products provided by our vendors could cause 
our customers to avoid purchasing those products from us, or avoid purchasing products from us altogether, even if the basis for the concern is outside our 
control. As such, any issue, or perceived issue, regarding the quality and safety of any items we sell, regardless of the cause, could adversely affect our 
brand, reputation, operations, and financial results.
 

We also are unable to predict whether any of the countries in which our vendors’ products are currently manufactured or may be manufactured in the 
future will be subject to new, different, or additional trade restrictions imposed by the U.S. or foreign governments or the likelihood, type, or effect of any 
such restrictions. Any event causing a disruption or delay of imports from vendors with international manufacturing operations, including the imposition of 
additional import restrictions, restrictions on the transfer of funds, or increased tariffs or quotas, could increase the cost or reduce the supply of merchandise 
available to our customers and materially adversely affect our financial performance as well as our reputation and brand. Furthermore, some or all of our 
vendors’ foreign operations may be adversely affected by political and financial instability, resulting in the disruption of trade from exporting countries, 
restrictions on the transfer of funds, or other trade disruptions.
 

In addition, our business with foreign vendors, particularly with respect to our international sites, may be affected by changes in the value of the 
U.S. dollar relative to other foreign currencies. For example, any movement by any other foreign currency against the U.S. dollar may result in higher costs 
for those goods. Declines in foreign currencies and currency exchange rates may negatively affect the profitability and business prospects of one or more of 
our foreign vendors. This, in turn, may cause such foreign vendors to demand higher prices for merchandise in their effort to offset any lost profits 
associated with any currency devaluation, delay merchandise shipments, or discontinue selling to us altogether, any of which could ultimately reduce our 
sales or increase our costs.
 

We source certain products in several foreign countries, including contracting with manufacturers and suppliers located outside of the United States. 
The labor, manufacturing safety, and other practices followed by the manufacturers of these products may differ from those generally accepted in the 
United States, as well as those with which we are required to comply under many of our image or character licenses. Although we require each of our 
vendors to sign a vendor agreement that requires adherence to accepted labor practices and compliance with labor, manufacturing safety, and other laws and
we test merchandise for product safety standards, we do not supervise or control our vendors or the manufacturers that produce the merchandise we sell to 
our customers. 

Moreover, we operate in a highly regulated environment in the U.S. and elsewhere. U.S. federal, state, and local governmental entities, and foreign 
governments regulate many aspects of our business, including products and the importation and exportation of thereof, and these laws and regulations can 
change frequently. The steps we take to comply with these laws and policies or regulations do not ensure that we will comply in the future.
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We depend on foreign vendors for timely and effective sourcing of our merchandise, and we may not be able to acquire products in sufficient quantities 
and at acceptable prices to meet our needs, which could impact our operations and financial results.

Our performance depends, in part, on our ability to purchase our merchandise in sufficient quantities at competitive prices. We purchase our 
merchandise from numerous foreign and domestic manufacturers and importers. We generally have no contractual assurances of continued supply, pricing, 
or access to new products, and any vendor could change the terms upon which it sells to us, discontinue selling to us, or go out of business at any time. We 
may not be able to acquire desired merchandise in sufficient quantities on terms acceptable to us.

Any inability to acquire suitable merchandise on acceptable terms or the loss of one or more of our foreign vendors or third-party agents could have 
a negative effect on our business and operating results because we would be missing products that we felt were important to our assortment, unless and 
until alternative supply arrangements are secured. We may not be able to develop relationships with new vendors or third-party agents, and products from 
alternative sources, if any, may be of a lesser quality and/or more expensive than those we currently purchase. 

In addition, we are subject to certain risks that could limit our vendors’ ability to provide us with quality merchandise on a timely basis and at prices 
that are commercially acceptable, including risks related to the availability of raw materials, labor disputes, work disruptions or stoppages, union 
organizing activities, vendor financial liquidity, inclement weather, natural disasters, public health issues, general economic and political conditions, and 
regulations to address climate change. 

Information Security Risks

Our information systems, order fulfillment, and distribution facilities may prove inadequate or may be disrupted. 

We depend on our management information systems for many aspects of our business. We may be materially adversely affected if our management 
information systems are disrupted, or we are unable to improve, upgrade, maintain, and expand our systems. We believe our perpetual inventory, automated 
replenishment, and stock ledger systems are necessary to properly forecast, manage, and analyze our inventory levels, margins, and merchandise ordering 
quantities. We may fail to properly optimize the effectiveness of these systems or to adequately support and maintain the systems. Moreover, we may not 
be successful in developing or acquiring technology that is competitive and responsive to our customers and might lack sufficient resources to make the 
necessary investments in technology needs and to compete with our competitors, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of 
operations, cash flows, and financial performance. 

In addition, we may not be able to prevent a significant interruption in the operation of our electronic order entry and information systems, e-
commerce platforms, or manufacturing and distribution facilities due to natural disasters, accidents, systems failures, or other events. Any significant 
interruption in the operation of these facilities, including an interruption caused by our failure to successfully expand or upgrade our systems or manage our 
transition to utilizing the expansions or upgrades, could reduce our ability to receive and process orders and provide products and services to our stores, 
third-party stores, and other customers, which could result in lost sales, cancelled sales, and a loss of loyalty to our brand.

We may fail to adequately maintain the security of our electronic and other confidential information. 

We have become increasingly centralized and dependent upon automated information technology processes. In addition, a portion of our business 
operations is conducted over the internet. We could experience operational problems with our information systems and e-commerce platforms because of 
system failures, viruses, computer hackers, or other causes. Any material disruption or slowdown of our systems could cause information, including data 
related to customer orders, to be lost or delayed, which could—especially if the disruption or slowdown occurred during a peak sales season—result in 
delays in the delivery of merchandise to our stores and customers or lost sales, which could reduce demand for our merchandise and cause our sales to 
decline. 

In addition, in the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store certain personal information from individuals, such as our customers and 
vendors, and our employees, and we process customer payment card and check information, including via our e-commerce platforms. Computer hackers 
may attempt to penetrate our computer system, payment card terminals, or other payment systems and, if successful, misappropriate personal information, 
payment card, or check information or confidential Company business information. In particular, the techniques used by criminals to obtain unauthorized 
access to sensitive data change frequently and often are not recognized until launched against a target; accordingly, we may be unable to anticipate these 
techniques or 
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implement adequate preventative measures. Any person who circumvents our security measures could destroy or steal valuable information or disrupt our 
operations. In addition, an employee, contractor, or other third-party with whom we do business may attempt to circumvent our security measures to obtain 
such information and may purposefully or inadvertently cause a breach involving such information. Any failure to maintain the security of our customers’ 
confidential information, or data belonging to us or our vendors, could put us at a competitive disadvantage, result in deterioration in our customers’ 
confidence in us, subject us to potential litigation and liability, and fines and penalties, resulting in a possible material adverse impact on our business, 
results of operations, cash flows, and financial performance. While we maintain insurance coverage that may, subject to policy terms and conditions, cover 
certain aspects of cyber risks, such insurance coverage may be insufficient to cover all losses and would not remedy damage to our reputation. There can be 
no assurance that we will not suffer a criminal attack in the future, that unauthorized parties will not gain access to personal information, or that any such 
incident will be discovered in a timely manner. 

Talent Risks

Talent acquisition and retention could involve increases to labor costs, and if we are unable to attract and retain the talent required for our 
business, which depends in part on factors outside of our control, our operating results could suffer. 

As our business expands, we believe that our future success will depend greatly on our continued ability to attract, motivate, and retain qualified 
personnel who are able to successfully meet the needs of our business. Although we generally have been able to meet our staffing requirements in the past, 
our ability to meet our labor needs while controlling costs is subject to external factors, such as unemployment levels, labor market conditions, minimum 
wage legislation, wage inflation, and changing demographics. Recently, various legislative movements have sought to increase the federal minimum wage 
in the United States, as well as the minimum wage in several individual states.
 

As federal or state minimum wage rates increase, or as labor market conditions require, we may need to increase the wage rates of our hourly 
employees. Our inability to meet our staffing requirements in the future at costs that are favorable to us, or at all, could impair our ability to increase 
revenue, and our customers could experience lower levels of customer service. In addition, if we fail to comply with applicable laws and regulations, 
including wage and hour laws, we could be subject to legal risk, including government enforcement action and class action civil litigation, which could 
adversely affect our results of operations.
 

In addition to minimum wage increases, other changes to employment and healthcare laws may increase our operating expenses. These increased 
costs could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial and competitive position.

Our future performance may depend on our ability to attract, retain, and motivate qualified employees, including store personnel and field 
management. If we are unable to do so, our ability to meet our operating goals may be compromised. If we are, for any reason, unable to maintain 
appropriate controls on store operations due to turnover or other reasons, our sales and operating margins may be adversely affected. There can be no 
assurance that we will be able to attract and retain the personnel we need in the future.
 

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property rights may be inadequate to protect our business. 

We hold a variety of United States trademarks, service marks, patents, copyrights, and registrations and applications therefor, as well as several 
foreign counterparts thereto and/or independent foreign intellectual property asset registrations. In some cases, we rely solely on unregistered common law 
trademark rights and unregistered copyrights under applicable United States law to distinguish and/or protect our products, services, and branding from the 
products, services, and branding of our competitors. If our intellectual property rights are successfully challenged, we could be forced to re-brand, re-
design, or discontinue the sale of certain of our products or services, which could result in loss of brand recognition and/or sales and could require us to 
devote resources to advertising and marketing new branding or re-designing our products. Further, we cannot assure you that competitors will not infringe 
our intellectual property rights, or that we will have adequate resources to enforce these rights. We also 
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permit our franchisees to use several of our trademarks and service marks, including Party City and Halloween City. Our failure to properly control our 
franchisees’ use of such trademarks could adversely affect our ability to enforce them against third parties. A loss of any of our material intellectual 
property rights could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. 

We license from many third parties and do not own the intellectual property rights necessary to sell all products capturing many popular images, 
such as cartoon or motion picture characters. While none of these licenses is individually material to our aggregate business, a large portion of our business 
depends on the continued ability to license the intellectual property rights to these images in the aggregate and on the marketplace demand for these 
licensed properties, which could in turn lead to a decrease in licensed product sales. 

We also face the risk of claims that we have infringed third parties’ intellectual property rights, which could be expensive and time consuming to 
defend, cause us to cease using certain intellectual property rights, redesign certain products or packaging, or cease selling certain products or services, 
result in our being required to pay significant damages or require us to enter into costly royalty or licensing agreements in order to obtain the rights to use 
third parties’ intellectual property rights, which royalty or licensing agreements may not be available at all, any of which could have a negative impact on 
our operating profits and harm our future prospects. 

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Our substantial indebtedness and lease obligations could adversely affect our financial flexibility and our competitive position, and we may not be able 
to generate or distribute sufficient cash to service all our indebtedness. 

Following our emergence from bankruptcy, we continue to have a substantial level of indebtedness (through our subsidiaries), and such level of debt 
may adversely impact our operations and financial results and increases the possibility that we may be unable to generate cash sufficient to pay, when due, 
the principal of, interest on, or other amounts due in respect of our indebtedness. Our substantial indebtedness could, among other things: 

• Inhibit our ability to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness, which could result in an event of default under the agreements 
governing such other indebtedness; 

• Require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing funds 
available for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, selling and marketing efforts, product development, and other purposes; 

• Increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions and limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our 
business; 

• Expose us to the risk of increasing interest rates, as certain of our borrowings, including under the New ABL Facility, are at variable interest 
rates; and

• Restrict us from making strategic acquisitions or cause us to make non-strategic divestitures and limit our ability to borrow additional funds, or 
to dispose of assets to raise funds, if needed, for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, product development, and other corporate 
purposes. 

Moreover, our ability to make scheduled payments on or to refinance such obligations depends on our financial condition and operating 
performance, which is subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial, business, and other factors beyond our control. If 
our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital 
expenditures, or to sell assets, seek additional capital, or restructure or refinance our indebtedness. Any refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest 
rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. The credit facilities and the 
indentures governing the notes restrict our ability to dispose of assets and use the proceeds from the disposition. We may not be able to consummate those 
dispositions or obtain the proceeds that we could realize from them, and the proceeds may not be adequate to meet any debt service obligations then due.

Our subsidiaries own substantially all our assets and conduct substantially all our operations. Accordingly, repayment of our indebtedness will be 
dependent on the generation of cash flow by our subsidiaries and their ability to make such cash available to us, by dividend, debt repayment, or otherwise. 
Each subsidiary is a distinct legal 
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entity, and, under certain circumstances, legal and contractual restrictions may limit our ability to obtain cash from our subsidiaries.

We and/or any of these subsidiaries could become insolvent or be restricted from making dividends in the future due to compliance with these 
restrictions from our debt or otherwise, and, therefore, we may be unable to service our indebtedness. 

The occurrence of any one of these events could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, 
prospects, and ability to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness. 

We may require additional capital to fund our business, which may not be available to us on satisfactory terms or at all. 

We currently rely on cash generated by operations and borrowings available under our New ABL Facility to meet our working capital needs. 
However, if we are unable to generate sufficient cash from operations or if borrowings available under the New ABL Facility are insufficient, we may be 
required to adopt one or more alternatives to raise cash, such as incurring additional indebtedness, selling our assets, seeking to raise additional equity 
capital, or restructuring, which alternatives may not be available to us on satisfactory terms or at all. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse 
effect on our business. 

Significant interest rate changes could affect our profitability and financial performance. 

Our earnings are affected by changes in interest rates because of our variable rate indebtedness under the New ABL Facility. 

Our long-term liquidity requirements and the adequacy of our capital resources are difficult to predict at this time. 

Our liquidity, including our ability to meet our ongoing operation obligations, is dependent upon, among other things: (i) our ability to comply with 
the terms, conditions, and covenants of the New ABL Facility and the Second Lien Notes; (ii) our ability to maintain adequate cash on hand; and (iii) our 
ability to generate cash flow from operations. In addition, the New ABL Facility requires us to, among other things, maintain certain minimum liquidity 
requirements. There is no certainty that we will be able to comply with the covenants of the New ABL Facility or that cash on hand and cash flow from 
operations will be sufficient to continue to fund our operations and allow us to satisfy our short and long-term obligations. 

Because of our financial condition, we will have heightened exposure to, and less ability to withstand, the operating risks that are customary in our 
industry, such as fluctuations in helium and other raw material prices and currency exchange rates. These factors could result in the need for substantial 
additional funding. A number of other factors, including the factors described herein related to our bankruptcy proceedings, our recent financial results, and 
the competitive environment we face, could adversely affect the availability and terms of funding that might be available to us subsequent to our emergence 
from bankruptcy. As such, we may not be able to source post-emergence capital at rates acceptable to us, or at all, to fund our current operations. The 
inability to obtain necessary additional funding on acceptable terms would have a material adverse impact on us and our ability to sustain our operations.

 

Risks Related to Material Weaknesses

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting and may identify additional material weaknesses in the future 
or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, which may result in material misstatements of our consolidated financial 
statements or cause us to fail to meet our periodic reporting obligations. 

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of a company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. We 
identified material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, related to: (i) internal controls in the financial 
reporting processes, including a lack of segregation of duties within the accounts payable process, lack of effective controls surrounding the proper review 
and timeliness of information used in account reconciliations, journal entry review, and vendor invoice processing; (ii) information technology general 
controls in the areas of user access 
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management and segregation of duties, within certain systems supporting the Company's accounting and reporting processes, were not designed or 
operating effectively; (iii) adequate documentation was not maintained to demonstrate management’s review supporting the assumptions used in our 
impairment testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets and long-lived assets; and (iv) inadequate identification and review procedures over debt covenant 
requirements and restrictions, which led to a failure to detect and timely report a covenant violation related to tax payments; and (v) inadequate processes 
and internal controls relating to management’s analysis under ASC Subtopic 205-40 of whether there were conditions or events giving rise to substantial 
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the financial statements were issued, which resulted in a material 
error in management’s assessment of the Company’s ability to remain a going concern in connection with filing its form 10-Q for the third quarter of 2022.

Our management, under the oversight of the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors, has begun evaluating and implementing measures designed 
to ensure that the control deficiencies contributing to the material weaknesses are remediated. In particular, we are taking steps to remediate our material 
weaknesses by: 

• Developing action plans to address control deficiencies identified within certain key financial processes; 

• Evaluating a new transactional accounting and enterprise resource planning software on a company-wide basis, which, if implemented, 
would potentially strengthen our control environment; 

• Ensuring compliance with policies for effective and timely review of journal entries and account reconciliations and other financial statement 
close analyses and processes; 

• Assessing and implementing further segregation of duties to reduce risks that could present a reasonable possibility of material 
misstatements;

• Updating our quarterly User Access Review and Privileged Access Review procedures to include employees, contractors, and vendor 
accounts; including warehouse user IDs. Additionally, the quarterly User Access Review and Privileged Access Review will be updated to 
include a formal lookback of user access including Administrator accounts; 

• Enhancement and retention of the documentation related to timely terminations of temporary distribution center employees; 

• Enhancement of the documentation demonstrating management’s review of key assumptions used in the development of subjective 
accounting conclusions and re-enforcing the need to maintain and retain such documentation;

• Improving the effectiveness of the monitoring and review of debt covenants to ensure the timely reporting of any covenant violations and 
augmenting staff with personnel having the appropriate experience and skill sets to support management’s debt covenant reviews; and

• Filling key open positions, including the Chief Accounting Officer, Chief Information Security Officer, Global Operations Controller, and 
Director of External Reporting and Technical Accounting roles.

 The material weaknesses will not be considered remediated until management completes the design and implementation of the measures described 
above and the controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are effective. We also may 
conclude that additional measures may be required to remediate the material weaknesses or determine to modify the remediation plans described above.

While we are designing and implementing new controls and measures to remediate these material weaknesses as noted above, we cannot assure you 
that the measures we are taking will be sufficient to remediate the material weakness or avoid the identification of additional material weaknesses in the 
future. Our failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could result in errors in our consolidated financial 
statements that could result in a restatement of our financial statements and could cause us to fail to meet our periodic reporting obligations, any of which 
could diminish investor confidence in us.
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General Risk Factors

Changes in laws, policies, or regulations related to taxes could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Laws and regulations associated with taxation requirements, including changes in applicable income tax rates, new tax laws, and revised tax law 
interpretations, may go through changes which are detrimental to our business, financial condition, or results of operations. In light of recent and potential 
future changes to the corporate income tax rate and corporate taxation more generally, we continually examine the long-term impact of tax changes at the 
federal, state, and local levels to our business and results of operations. See Note 14 of our consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8, for more 
information.
 

We are also subject to regular reviews, examinations, and audits by the Internal Revenue Service and other taxing authorities with respect to our 
taxes. There are uncertainties and ambiguities in the application of U.S. tax laws, and it is possible that the IRS could issue subsequent guidance or take 
positions on audits that differ from our interpretations and assumptions. There can be no assurance that payment of such additional amounts upon final 
adjudication of any disputes will not have a material impact on our results of operations and financial position.

We may face risks associated with litigation and claims. 

From time to time, we may become involved in other legal proceedings relating to the conduct of our business, including but not limited to, 
employee-related and consumer matters. Additionally, as a retailer and manufacturer of decorated party goods, we have been and may continue to be 
subject to product liability claims if the use of our products, whether manufactured by us or third-party manufacturers, is alleged to have resulted in injury 
or if our products include inadequate instructions or warnings. Such matters can be time-consuming, divert management’s attention and resources, and 
cause us to incur significant expenses. Due to the uncertainties of litigation, we can give no assurance that we will prevail on all claims made against us in 
the lawsuits that we currently face or that additional claims will not be made against us in the future. Furthermore, because litigation is inherently uncertain, 
the results of any current or future litigation, individually or in the aggregate, may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, or 
financial condition.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 

Not applicable. 
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 Item 2. Properties 

The table below summarizes our current facilities, which in large part support our wholesale segment:
 
Location   Principal Activity
Woodcliff Lake, New Jersey   Executive and other corporate offices, showrooms, design and art production for party products
East Providence, Rhode Island   Manufacture and distribution of plastic plates, cups and bowls
Newburgh, New York   Manufacture of paper napkins and cups
Tijuana, Mexico   Manufacture and distribution of plates and other party products
Chester, New York   Distribution of party products
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As of December 31, 2022, Company-operated and franchised permanent stores for our retail operations were located in the following states and 
Puerto Rico: 
 

State   Company-Operated     Franchise     Chain-Wide  
Alabama     10       —       10  
Alaska     1       —       1  
Arizona     14       —       14  
Arkansas     1       3       4  
California     90       17       107  
Colorado     13       —       13  
Connecticut     12       —       12  
Delaware     2       —       2  
Florida     64       4       68  
Georgia     29       1       30  
Iowa     7       —       7  
Illinois     42       —       42  
Indiana     20       —       20  
Kansas     5       —       5  
Kentucky     8       —       8  
Louisiana     10       —       10  
Massachusetts     21       —       21  
Maryland     22       —       22  
Maine     2       —       2  
Michigan     26       —       26  
Minnesota     12       —       12  
Missouri     17       1       18  
Mississippi     1       2       3  
Montana     —       —       —  
North Carolina     21       —       21  
North Dakota     4       —       4  
Nebraska     3       —       3  
New Hampshire     4       —       4  
New Jersey     27       1       28  
New Mexico     3       —       3  
Nevada     6       —       6  
New York     57       1       58  
Puerto Rico     —       4       4  
Ohio     26       —       26  
Oklahoma     10       —       10  
Oregon     3       1       4  
Pennsylvania     28       —       28  
Rhode Island     2       —       2  
South Carolina     10       1       11  
Tennessee     14       2       16  
Texas     77       13       90  
Virginia     20       2       22  
Vermont     1       —       1  
Washington     16       1       17  
Wisconsin     11       —       11  
West Virginia     3       —       3  

Total     775       54       829  

Additionally, at December 31, 2022, there were five franchise stores in Mexico. 

In 2022, we operated 149 temporary stores in the United States, principally under the Halloween City banner. We operate such stores under short-
term leases with terms of approximately three months. 

We lease the property for all of our company-operated stores, which generally range in size from approximately 10,000 square feet to 20,000 square 
feet. We do not believe that any individual store property is material to our financial condition or results of operations. 
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As part of its bankruptcy reorganization plan, the Company restructured the remaining term and economics of certain retail and non-retail properties 
within its lease portfolio, including permanent abandonment of certain leases. In particular, for its retail leases, management attempted to tailor such 
negotiations to a particular store’s current and future performance, location, and size to ensure economic stability and reduce future performance risk. 

Ultimately, the actions discussed above resulted in the abandonment of 68 unexpired store leases, as well as the renegotiation of a substantial portion 
of the Company’s remaining lease portfolio.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

From time to time, we are subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of our business activities. The Company 
does not believe that any pending proceedings of which it is aware will result, individually or in the aggregate, in a material adverse effect upon its 
financial condition or future results of operations and no material legal proceedings were terminated, settled or otherwise resolved during the fourth quarter 
of the year ended December 31, 2022.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 

Not applicable. 
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PART II 

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities  

 On January 18, 2023 as a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE” or the “Exchange”) commenced proceedings 
to delist the Company’s common stock from the NYSE. Under NYSE delisting procedures, the Company had the right to appeal this determination but did 
not exercise its right to do so. On February 3, 2023, the NYSE notified the SEC of its intention to remove the Company’s common stock from listing and 
registration on the Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Rule 12d2-2(b) beginning on February 14, 2023. In the opinion of the Exchange, the Company’s 
common stock was no longer suitable for continued listing and trading on the Exchange. Accordingly, as of February 14, 2023, the Company’s common 
stock is no longer listed on the NYSE. The Company’s common stock began trading on the OTC Pink Open Market on February 14, 2023, under the 
symbol “PRTYQ” and ceased trading on October 12, 2023 (the Effective Date of the Plan).

Dividend Policy 

The documents governing the Company’s indebtedness contain restrictions on the Company’s activities, including paying dividends on its capital 
stock and restricting dividends or other payments to the Company. See Note 9 of our consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8, for further 
discussion. Prior to the cancellation of the Company’s common stock on the Effective Date, the Company did not pay any cash dividends in 2022 or 2023. 
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Stock Performance Graph 

The stock performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by 
reference into any future filing by us under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate the graph by 
reference in such filing.

The line graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on the Company’s common stock with the S&P 500 Index and the Dow 
Jones U.S. Specialty Retailers Index for the period from the completion of our initial public offering on April 16, 2015 through December 31, 2022. The 
graph assumes an investment of $100 made at the closing of trading on April 16, 2015 in (i) the Company’s common stock, (ii) the stocks comprising the 
S&P 500 Index and (iii) the stocks comprising the Dow Jones U.S. Specialty Retailers Index. All values assume reinvestment of the full amount of all 
dividends, if any, into additional shares of the same class of equity securities at the frequency with which dividends were paid on such securities during the 
applicable time period. The stock price performance included in the line graph below is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance. The 
stock performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference 
into any future filing by us under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate the graph by reference in 
such filing. 

 

Item 6. [Reserved]
 

36



 

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

Business Overview 

Our Company

We are a leading party goods company by revenue in North America and, we believe, the largest vertically integrated supplier of decorated party 
goods globally by revenue. We are a popular one-stop shopping destination for party supplies, balloons, and costumes. In addition to being a great retail 
brand, we are a global organization that combines manufacturing and sourcing operations and wholesale operations with a multi-channel retailing strategy 
and e-commerce retail operations. We design, manufacture, source and distribute party goods, including paper and plastic tableware, metallic and latex 
balloons, Halloween and other costumes, accessories, novelties, gifts and stationery throughout the world. Our retail operations currently include 
approximately 770 specialty retail party supply stores, which includes franchise stores throughout North America operating under the names Party City and 
Halloween City, and e-commerce websites, which offer rapid, contactless, and same day shipping options (including in store and at curb side), principally 
through the domain name partycity.com.

In addition to our retail operations, we are global designers, manufacturers, and distributors of decorated consumer party products, with items found 
in retail outlets worldwide, including independent party supply stores, mass merchants, grocery retailers, e-commerce merchandisers and dollar stores.

Chapter 11 Cases and Emergence from Bankruptcy
 

See “Item 1 - Business - Chapter 11 Cases” and “Item 1 - Business - Subsequent Event - Emergence from Chapter 11 Cases” for information 
regarding the Company’s emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases on October 12, 2023.

Anagram Bankruptcy and Disposition

See “Item 1 - Business - Subsequent Event - Anagram Bankruptcy” for information regarding Anagram’s bankruptcy and disposition.

How We Assess the Performance of Our Company 

In assessing the performance of our company, we consider a variety of performance and financial measures for our two reportable operating 
segments, Retail and Wholesale. These key measures include revenues and gross profit, comparable retail same-store sales and operating expenses. We also 
review other metrics such as adjusted EBITDA. For a discussion of our use of these measures and a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net income 
(loss), please refer to “Financial Measures – Adjusted EBITDA” and “Results of Operations” below. 

Segments 

We have two reportable operating segments: Retail and Wholesale.

Our retail segment generates revenue primarily through the sale of our party supplies through Party City, Halloween City, and partycity.com. During 
2022, 79.8% of the product that was sold by our retail segment was supplied by our wholesale segment and 24.6% of the product that was sold by our retail 
segment was self-manufactured. 

Our retail operations are subject to significant seasonal variations. Historically, this segment has realized a significant portion of its revenues, cash 
flow and net income in the fourth quarter of the year, principally due to our Halloween sales in October and, to a lesser extent, year-end holiday sales. To 
maximize our seasonal opportunity, we operate a chain of temporary Halloween stores, under the Halloween City banner, from August through October of 
each year.

Our wholesale revenues are generated from the sale of decorated party goods for all occasions, including paper and plastic tableware, accessories 
and novelties, costumes, metallic and latex balloons, and stationery. Our products are sold at wholesale to party goods superstores (including our franchise 
stores), other party goods retailers, mass merchants, independent card and gift stores, dollar stores, and e-commerce merchandisers. 
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Intercompany sales between the wholesale and the retail segments are eliminated, and the wholesale profits on intercompany sales are deferred and 
realized at the time the merchandise is sold to the retail consumer. For operating segment reporting purposes, certain general and administrative expenses 
and art and development costs are allocated based on total revenues. 

 Financial Measures

Revenues. Revenue from retail store operations is recognized at the point of sale as control of the product is transferred to the customer at such time. 
Retail e-commerce sales are recognized when the consumer receives the product as control transfers upon delivery. We estimate future retail sales returns 
and record a provision in the period in which the related sales are recorded based on historical information. Retail sales are reported net of taxes collected. 

Under the terms of our agreements with our franchisees, we provide both brand value (via significant advertising spend) and support with respect to 
planograms, in exchange for a royalty fee that ranges from 4% to 6% of the franchisees’ sales. The Company records the royalty fees at the time that the 
franchisees’ sales are recorded. 

For most of our wholesale sales, control transfers upon the shipment of the product as legal title transfers at that date and at that time we have a 
present right to payment. Wholesale sales returns are not significant as we generally only accept the return of goods that were shipped to the customer in 
error or that were damaged when received by the customer. Additionally, we use the expected value method to reasonably estimate future sales returns, 
which considers our extensive documented historical experience operating as a party goods wholesaler. 

Intercompany sales from our wholesale segment to our retail segment are eliminated in our consolidated total revenues.

Comparable Retail Same-Store Sales. The growth or decline in same-store sales represents the percentage change in same-store sales in the period 
presented compared to the prior year. Our presentation of same-store sales excludes the net sales of a store if that store was not open during the same period 
of the prior year. Additionally, acquired stores are excluded from same-store sales until they are converted to the Party City format and included in our sales 
for the comparable period of the prior year. Comparable sales are calculated based upon stores that were open at least thirteen full months as of the end of 
the applicable reporting period and do not exclude stores closed due to state regulations regarding COVID-19. When a store is reconfigured or relocated 
within the same general territory, the store continues to be treated as the same store. If, during the period presented, a store was closed, sales from that store 
up to and including the closing day are included as same-store sales, provided the store was open during the same period of the prior year. Same-store sales 
for the Party City brand include North American retail e-commerce sales.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales at wholesale reflects the production costs (i.e., raw materials, labor and overhead) of manufactured goods and the direct 
cost of purchased goods, inventory shrinkage, inventory adjustments, inbound freight to our manufacturing and distribution facilities, distribution costs, and 
outbound freight to deliver goods to our wholesale customers. Retail cost of sales reflects the direct cost of goods purchased from third parties and the 
production or purchase costs of goods acquired from our wholesale segment. Retail cost of sales also includes inventory shrinkage, inventory adjustments, 
inbound freight, occupancy costs related to store operations (such as rent and common area maintenance, utilities, and depreciation on assets) and all 
logistics costs associated with our retail e-commerce business. 

Our cost of sales increases in higher volume periods as the direct costs of manufactured and purchased goods, inventory shrinkage, and freight are 
generally tied to net sales. However, other costs are largely fixed or vary based on other factors and do not necessarily increase as sales volume increases. 
Changes in the mix of our products may also impact our overall cost of sales. The direct costs of manufactured and purchased goods are influenced by raw 
material costs (principally paper, petroleum-based resins, and cotton), domestic and international labor costs in the countries where our goods are purchased 
or manufactured, and logistics costs associated with transporting our goods. We monitor our inventory levels on an on-going basis to identify slow-moving 
goods. 

Cost of sales related to sales from our wholesale segment to our retail segment are eliminated in our consolidated financial statements. 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses (“SG&A”). Selling, general and administrative expenses include wholesale selling expenses, retail 
operating expenses, art and development costs, and other operating 
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expenses. Wholesale selling expenses include the costs associated with our wholesale sales and marketing efforts, including merchandising and customer 
service. Such costs include the salaries and benefits of the related work force, including sales-based bonuses and commissions, as well as catalog and 
showroom expenses, travel, and other operating costs. Certain selling expenses, such as sales-based bonuses and commissions, vary in proportion to sales, 
while other costs vary based on other factors, such as our marketing efforts, or are largely fixed and do not necessarily increase as sales volumes increase. 

Retail operating expenses include all of the costs associated with retail store operations, excluding occupancy-related costs included in cost of sales. 
Costs include store payroll and benefits, advertising, supplies, and credit card costs. Retail expenses are largely variable but do not necessarily vary in 
proportion to net sales. 

Art and development costs include the costs associated with art production, creative development, and product management. Costs include the 
salaries and benefits of the related work force. These expenses generally do not vary proportionally with net sales. 

SG&A expenses also include all operating costs and franchise expenses not included elsewhere in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive (loss) income. These expenses include payroll and other expenses related to operations at our corporate offices, including occupancy costs, 
related depreciation and amortization, legal and professional fees, stock and equity-based compensation and data-processing costs. These expenses 
generally do not vary proportionally with net sales.

Store and Other Long-Lived Asset Impairments. Store and other long-lived asset impairments include impairment charges for vacated retail stores 
and office space, as well as impairment charges for active stores for which the carrying value of store assets exceed its projected discounted cash flows. In 
addition, in 2022, Store and Other Long-Lived Asset Impairments also include impairment charges related to abandoned information system projects.

In 2021 and 2020, Store and Other Long-Lived Asset Impairments included impairment and other charges related to the facility closures and the 
Company’s store optimization program, respectively, as discussed in more detail in Note 3 of our consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets Impairments. Goodwill impairment is recognized when the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value. 
Impairment is recognized for the Company’s indefinite-lived trade names when the estimated fair value of the trade name is less than its carrying amount. 
Impairment for finite-lived intangible assets is recognized when is more likely than not that those long-lived assets will be disposed of significantly before 
the end of their previously estimated useful lives or when events occur that indicate the asset is not recoverable.

Loss on Disposal of Assets in International Operations. In January 2021, the Company sold a substantial portion of its international operations. As 
of December 31, 2020, the assets and liabilities of the international operations were considered held for sale, and the loss reserve on the assets was recorded 
to this line item in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income.

Adjusted EBITDA. We define EBITDA as net income (loss) before interest expense, net, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. We define 
Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA, further adjusted to eliminate the impact of certain items that we do not consider indicative of our core operating 
performance. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is an appropriate measure of operating performance in addition to EBITDA because we believe it assists 
investors in comparing our performance across reporting periods on a consistent basis by eliminating the impact of items that we do not believe are 
indicative of our core operating performance. In addition, we use Adjusted EBITDA: (i) as a factor in determining incentive compensation, (ii) to evaluate 
the effectiveness of our business strategies, and (iii) because the credit facilities use Adjusted EBITDA to measure compliance with certain covenants. 

The Company presents Adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental non-GAAP measure of its operating performance. You are encouraged to evaluate 
Adjusted EBITDA and the reasons the Company considers it appropriate for supplemental analysis. In evaluating Adjusted EBITDA, you should be aware 
that in the future, the Company may incur expenses that are the same as, or similar to, some of the adjustments in this presentation. The Company’s 
presentation of Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that the Company’s future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring 
items. Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool. Because of these limitations, Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or as a 
substitute for performance measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. The Company compensates for these limitations by 
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relying primarily on its GAAP results and using Adjusted EBITDA on a supplemental basis, and a reconciliation of the most comparable GAAP financial 
measure to Adjusted EBITDA is provided. Some of the limitations of these Adjusted EBITDA are:

• it does not reflect the Company’s cash expenditures or future requirements for capital expenditures or contractual commitments; 

• it does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, the Company’s working capital needs;

• it does not reflect the significant interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments, on the 
Company’s indebtedness;

• although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the 
future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements;

• non-cash compensation is a key element of the Company’s overall long-term incentive compensation package, although the Company 
excludes it as an expense when evaluating its core operating performance for a particular period;

• it does not reflect the impact of certain cash charges resulting from matters the Company considers not to be indicative of its ongoing 
operations; and

• other companies in the Company’s industry may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently than the Company does, which could limit its 
usefulness as a comparative measure.

Results of Operations 

Overview

Impact of Macro and Consumer Environment on Our Business

In recent years, our business was impacted by many of the macroeconomic inflationary headwinds affecting other businesses, which have resulted in 
higher input costs including higher costs associated with: (i) freight and transportation; (ii) commodities such as helium; (iii) raw materials and finished 
goods; and (iv) wage rates for talent. These factors and the Company’s responses to them, including raising product prices, have impacted consumer 
discretionary spending and purchasing behavior, leading to continued pressure on margins and overall profitability, and some of these headwinds have 
continued into 2023 while some have abated. As such, our forward-looking projections of revenues, earnings, and cash flow may be adversely impacted if 
the macroeconomic environment continues or further deteriorates.

While we navigate this near-term turbulence in costs, we are being thoughtful with our mitigating actions on pricing and are reassessing all vendor 
relationships. Further, given the continued broader macro pressures, we are operating the business with even more discipline from an expense and capital 
standpoint. We are also continuing to focus on our strategic priorities of enhancements to customer engagement as well as digital, information technology, 
and supply chain. 

We will continue on the path of progressing our transformation strategy, focusing on fewer initiatives, addressing structural costs (including 
workforce reductions already enacted), and increasing operating efficiencies given the challenging environment. Also, as part the reorganization we are 
undertaking as a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, we are assessing further cost savings opportunities for 2023 and beyond.

Freight and Transportation

While we saw freight and transportation costs increase in 2021 and 2022 as a result of global supply chain bottlenecks and elevated energy price 
pressures, such cost increases have eased in 2023, and we have experienced lower freight and transportation costs.

Talent Constraints 

In recent years prior to 2023, our operations were impacted by labor availability and, in response, we increased wage rates throughout 2021 and 
2022 to attract and retain talent at our retail stores and in our distribution facilities. However, management has enacted certain store staffing initiatives in an 
attempt to mitigate rising labor 
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costs and minimum wage increases anticipated in certain state and local municipalities in 2024.

Helium Constraints

Beginning in late 2021 and continuing into 2022, we saw both supply limitations and price increases for helium, which impacted consumer demand 
for balloons, pressuring both our retail and wholesale business segments. In response, the Company diversified its base of suppliers that provide products 
and materials to our retail stores, sought direct sourcing of helium, and refined retail pricing. Further, as a reaction to such market conditions, we have seen 
pressure on third-party wholesale balloon purchases. Although the industry continues to face increased costs, which impact consumer demand, we believe 
that our mitigation measures have significantly offset the pressures faced due to global helium capacity constraints. From a cost perspective, our Retail 
segment experienced material increases in the cost of helium in 2022, with costs holding relatively consistent in 2023. We are continuing to diversify our 
source base of suppliers to mitigate future supply constraints. 

For additional details, see Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

OPERATING METRICS

We believe our financial results and growth model will continue to be driven by store count, wholesale share of shelf, manufacturing share of shelf 
management, and comparable sales. We believe these key operating metrics shown below as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are 
useful to investors because management uses these metrics to assess the growth of our business and the effectiveness of our marketing and operational 
strategies.
 

    Year ended December 31,  
    2022     2021  

Store Count            
Corporate Stores:            

Beginning of period     759       746  
New stores opened     11       10  
Acquired     11       10  
Closed     (6 )     (7 )
End of period     775       759  

Franchise Stores:            
Beginning of period     72       85  
Sold to Party City     (11 )     (10 )
Closed     (2 )     (3 )
End of period     59       72  

Grand Total     834       831  
 

    Year ended December 31,
    2022   2021

Wholesale Share of Shelf (a)   79.8%   81.1%

Manufacturing Share of Shelf (b)   24.6%   26.7%
    Year ended December 31,
    2022   2021

Brand comparable sales (c)   -1.4%   34.2%

(a) Wholesale share of shelf represents the percentage of our retail product cost of sales supplied by our wholesale operations.
(b) Manufacturing share of shelf represents the percentage of our retail product cost of sales manufactured by the Company.
(c) Party City brand comparable sales include North American e-commerce sales. Comparable store sales growth represents the percentage change in sales in one period 

from the same prior year period for Company-operated stores open for 13 months or longer.

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared To Year Ended December 31, 2021

The following tables set forth selected historical consolidated financial data for the periods and as of the dates indicated below. The tables include 
our operating results and operating results as a percentage of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
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For a detailed discussion of our consolidated results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2020, see Part II, Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation” under “Results of Operations” in our 
annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.
 
 

    Year ended December 31,
    2022       2021
    (Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Net sales   $ 2,169,878       100.0   %   $ 2,171,060       100.0   %
Cost of sales     1,437,077       66.2         1,403,004       64.6    

Gross profit     732,801       33.8         768,056       35.4    
Selling, general and administrative expenses     707,246       32.6         671,165       30.9    
Store and other long-lived asset impairments     23,277       1.1         9,048       0.4    
Loss on disposal of assets in international operations     —       —         3,211       0.1    
Goodwill and intangible asset impairments     862,544       39.8         —       —    

(Loss) income from operations     (860,266 )     (39.6 )       84,632       3.9    
Interest expense, net     102,647       4.7         87,226       4.0    
Other (income) expense, net     (3,789 )     (0.2 )       (614 )     —    
Gain on debt repayment/refinancing     —       —         (1,106 )     (0.1 )  

Loss before income taxes     (959,124 )     (44.2 )       (874 )     —    
Income tax (benefit) expense     (16,494 )     (0.8 )       5,708       0.3    

Net loss     (942,630 )     (43.4 ) %     (6,582 )     (0.3 ) %
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests     —       —         (54 )     —    

Net loss attributable to common shareholders of
   Party City Holdco Inc.   $ (942,630 )     (43.4 ) %   $ (6,528 )     (0.3 ) %

Net loss per share attributable to common shareholders of Party City Holdco Inc.—basic and 
diluted   $ (8.35 )           $ (0.06 )        
 
    Year ended December 31,    
    2022     2021    
Statement of Cash Flow Data:              
Net cash (used in) provided by              

Operating activities   $ (151,935 )   $ 51,935    
Investing activities     (96,062 )     (65,395 )  
Financing activities     259,538       (89,125 )  

Per Share Data:              
Basic and diluted   $ (8.35 )   $ (0.06 )  

Weighted Average              
Outstanding basic and diluted     112,911,368       110,980,934    

Other Financial Data:              
Adjusted EBITDA   $ 127,652     $ 185,981    
Number of company-operated Party City stores     775       759    
Capital expenditures   $ 97,539     $ 79,222    
Party City brand comp sales     (1.4 ) %   34.2   %
Wholesale Share of shelf (a)     79.8   %   81.1   %
Balance Sheet Data (at end of period):              
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 59,421     $ 47,914    
Working capital     (1,318,211 )     128,424    
Total assets     2,019,997       2,711,900    
Total debt     1,702,882       1,436,743    
Total equity     (857,827 )     82,714    

(a) Represents the percentage of product costs included in cost of goods sold by our Party City stores and North American retail e-commerce operations which relate to 
products supplied by our wholesale operations. 
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Revenues 

Total revenues for 2022 were $2,169.9 million, a decrease of $1.2 million, or 0.1% lower than 2021. The following table sets forth the Company’s 
total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
 

    Year ended December 31,
    2022       2021
 

  Dollars in Thousands    
Percentage of Total 

Revenues   Dollars in Thousands    
Percentage of Total 

Revenues
Net Sales:                            
Wholesale   $ 1,182,917       54.5   %   $ 990,636       45.6   %
Eliminations     (788,665 )     (36.3 )       (589,562 )     (27.2 )  

Net wholesale     394,252       18.2         401,074       18.5    
Retail     1,775,626       81.8         1,769,986       81.5    

Total revenues   $ 2,169,878       100.0   %   $ 2,171,060       100.0   %

Retail 

Retail net sales during 2022 were $1,775.6 million, an increase of $5.6 million, or 0.3%, compared to 2021. The increase was primarily driven by 
our temporary Halloween stores (principally Halloween City), partially offset by our Party City stores. Sales at our temporary Halloween stores totaled 
$51.6 million and were $15.9 million, or 44%, higher than 2021 due to an increase in temporary store locations (149 stores in 2022 vs. 90 stores in 2021). 
Retail net sales at our Party City stores totaled $1,724 million and were $10.2 million, or 1%, lower than 2021. Same-store sales for the Party City brand 
(including North America retail e-commerce sales) decreased by 1.4% during 2022. The decrease was primarily due to lower sales of core products in 
everyday categories, partially offset by higher sales in our seasonal categories.

Wholesale 

Wholesale net sales during 2022 totaled $394.3 million and were $6.8 million, or 1.7%, lower than 2021. This decrease is principally due to a 
decline in Anagram sales and the prior year divestiture of a significant portion of our international operations, partially offset by higher sales within our 
Canadian business and to franchise and independent customers. Excluding the impact of the divestiture, wholesale sales increased by 1.6%. 

Intercompany sales to our retail affiliates totaled $788.7 million during 2022 and were $199.1 million higher than during the prior year. 
Intercompany sales represented 66.7% of total Wholesale sales during 2022, compared to 59.5% in 2021. The increase in 2022 intercompany sales was 
principally due to higher Halloween sales to stores as well as easing of supply chain constraints as we replenished store inventory. Intercompany sales from 
our wholesale segment to our retail segment are eliminated in our consolidated total revenues. Likewise, cost of sales related to sales from our wholesale 
segment to our retail segment are eliminated in our consolidated financial statements.

Gross Profit 

The following table sets forth the Company’s gross profit for the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021. 
 

    Year ended December 31,
    2022   2021
 

 
Dollars in
Thousands    

Percentage
of Net Sales      

Dollars in
Thousands    

Percentage
of Net Sales    

Retail Gross Profit   $ 647,553       36.5   %   $ 694,557       39.2   %
Wholesale Gross Profit     85,248       21.6   %     73,499       18.3   %
Total Gross Profit   $ 732,801       33.8   %   $ 768,056       35.4   %

The gross profit margin on net sales at retail during 2022 was 36.5% or 270 basis points lower than 39.2% during 2021. The change was primarily 
driven by higher freight, raw materials, helium, and occupancy costs during the period. Our wholesale share of shelf at our Party City stores and our North 
American retail e-commerce operations (i.e., the percentage of our retail product cost of sales supplied by our wholesale segment) was 79.8% during 2022 
compared to 81.1% during 2021. 

The gross profit on net sales at wholesale during 2022 and 2021 was 21.6% and 18.3%, respectively. The comparison of wholesale gross profit to 
the prior year is significantly impacted by a $68.7 million inventory disposal 
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reserve recorded in the prior year, which was partially offset by higher freight, material, and labor costs in the current year.

Operating expenses 

Selling, general and administrative expenses during 2022 totaled $707.2 million and were $36.1 million, or 5.4%, higher than in 2021. The increase 
was primarily driven by higher employee-related costs resulting from an increase in wages, predominately within our retail stores and corporate 
reorganization professional fees incurred in 2022 for which there were no comparable costs in the prior year. These were partially offset by lower incentive 
compensation in the current year and the international divestiture discussed above. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of total 
revenues were 32.6% and 30.9% during 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Store and Other Long-Lived Asset Impairment Charges

In 2022, the following developments led to the impairment of store-related and other long-lived assets:

• The Company vacated certain office space and retail stores;

• As discussed above, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 on January 17, 2023, which the 
Company began to contemplate in the fourth quarter of 2022. In connection with its contemplation of bankruptcy, the Company 
evaluated the recoverability of certain lease assets and property and equipment as of December 31, 2022; and

• The Company ceased certain information system projects. 

Based on these developments, the Company recorded impairment charges of $23.3 million on lease assets, property, plant, and equipment, and other 
assets in 2022. 

In December 2021, the Company recorded $9.0 million in impairment charges, substantially all of which were attributable to equipment impairment 
charges related to the closure of a manufacturing facility in New Mexico.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets Impairment Charges

For the year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized total non-cash pre-tax impairment charges related to goodwill, intangibles, and other long-
lived assets of $862.5 million as discussed in more detail below:

• Goodwill impairment charges of $568.6 million

• Indefinite-lived trade name impairment charges of $289.0 million

• Finite-lived customer relationship intangible asset impairment charges of $4.9 million

Goodwill Impairment – In the third quarter of 2022 and in preparation for the Company’s annual review of impairment of goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets, impairment indicators were identified that suggested the carrying values of the wholesale and retail reporting units could exceed 
their fair values. Such impairment indicators included the recent performance of the reporting units, revised projections of future cash flows, and a 
continuing decline in the Company’s market capitalization. To test for potential impairment of goodwill related to our wholesale and retail reporting units, 
we prepared an estimate of the fair value of these reporting units based on a combination of a market-based valuation technique (utilizing earnings 
multiples of similarly situated guideline public companies) and an income approach that uses projected discounted cash flows.

 Based on the valuation of the wholesale and retail reporting units, the Company recognized a non-cash pre-tax goodwill impairment charge of 
$288.4 million in the wholesale reporting unit in the third quarter of 2022.

In the fourth quarter of 2022, additional impairment indicators were identified that suggested the carrying values of the wholesale and retail 
reporting units could exceed their fair values, as the Company reduced its sales projections for 2023, continued to experience a decline in its market 
capitalization, and, most notably, began to contemplate filing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy. In light of these circumstances, we again tested the goodwill 
related to our wholesale and retail reporting units for impairment in the fourth quarter of 2022 using the market-based and income-based approaches 
consistent with the third quarter.
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Based on the valuation of the wholesale and retail reporting units, the Company recognized additional non-cash pre-tax goodwill impairment 
charges of $60.3 million in the wholesale reporting unit and $219.9 million in the retail reporting unit for a total goodwill impairment charge of $280.2 
million in the fourth quarter of 2022.

Trade Names Impairment – In light of the bankruptcy contemplation in the fourth quarter and the other fourth quarter developments discussed 
above, the Company also tested its indefinite-lived trade names for impairment in the fourth quarter of 2022. To test for potential impairment of our trade 
names, we prepared an estimate of the trade names using a discounted cash flow analysis based on the “relief from royalty” method, assuming that a third-
party would be willing to pay a royalty in lieu of ownership for this intangible asset. This approach is dependent on many factors, including estimates of 
royalty rates and discount rates.

Based on this valuation, the Company recognized non-cash pre-tax trade names impairment charges of $289.0 million in fourth quarter of 2022.

Finite-Lived Customer Relationship Impairment – In addition, the Company concluded that certain customer relationship assets were impaired, and 
as a result, additional impairment charges of $4.9 million were recorded in the fourth quarter of 2022. 

Although the Company believes the assumptions and estimates used in the valuations supporting its impairment tests are reasonable and appropriate, 
different assumptions and estimates could materially impact its reported financial results. Actual results may ultimately differ from certain key assumptions 
used in the Company’s impairment tests and certain other key assumptions may change in the future. Accordingly, we continue to closely monitor 
developments related to our business, as well as other global events and conditions, including continued inflation and rising interest rates. The future 
magnitude, duration, and effects of these events are difficult to predict at this time, and it is reasonably possible that future developments could have a 
negative effect on the estimates and assumptions utilized in our goodwill impairment assessments and could result in material impairment charges in future 
periods.

Loss on disposal of assets in international operations

In January 2021, the Company closed the sale of a substantial portion of its international operations. As a result, the company recorded a loss 
reserve of $73.9 million in 2020 for the assets that were disposed and an additional $3.2 million loss in 2021. The announced sale had a total transaction 
value of approximately $50.7 million. Refer to Note 5 of our consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8, for additional details.

Interest expense, net 

Interest expense, net, totaled $102.6 million during 2022, compared to $87.2 million during 2021. The increase primarily represents higher average 
debt outstanding and an increase in interest rates compared with 2021.

Other (income) expense, net 

Other (income) expense, net, totaled $(3.8) million during 2022 and $(0.6) million during 2021. The change is
primarily due to higher income from equity method investments and an increase in foreign currency gains.

Gain on debt repayment/refinancing 

In 2021, the Company recognized a gain of $1.1 million on debt refinancing transactions. Refer to Note 9 of our consolidated financial statements in 
Part II, Item 8, for further detail. 

Income tax expense

The effective income tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2022, a benefit of 1.7%, is different from the statutory rate, 21%, primarily due to the 
impact of non-cash goodwill impairment charges and the increase of the valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets. See Note 14 of our 
consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8, for further discussion.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures 

The tables below provide a reconciliation of the Company’s non-GAAP financial measures to the most comparable GAAP financial measure.
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The following is a reconciliation of net loss attributable to common shareholders of PCH to Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 
2022 and 2021:
 
    Year ended December 31,  
(Dollars in thousands)   2022 2021  
Net loss attributable to common shareholders of Party City Holdco Inc.   $ (942,630 )   $ (6,528 )

Interest expense, net     102,647       87,226  
Income tax (benefit) expense     (16,494 )     5,708  
Depreciation and amortization     63,031       65,611  

EBITDA     (793,446 )     152,017  
Deferred rent (a)     10,578       3,325  
Stock-based compensation - employee     6,112       6,727  
Other restructuring, retention, and severance (b)     4,659       2,346  
Goodwill, intangible and other long-lived assets impairment (c)     885,821       11,974  
Closed store and office expense (d)     7,510       4,743  
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment     —       2,784  
Corporate reorganization professional fees (e)     9,069       —  
Loss on sale of business     —       3,211  
Foreign currency gains, net     (2,040 )     (1,090 )
Net gain on debt repayment     —       (1,106 )
Undistributed earnings from equity method investments     (1,467 )     (220 )
Other (f)     856       1,270  

Adjusted EBITDA   $ 127,652     $ 185,981  

(a) The “deferred rent” adjustment reflects the difference between accounting for rent and landlord incentives in accordance with GAAP and the Company’s actual cash 
paid for rent.

(b) Amounts expensed attributable to one-time organizational changes and primarily composed of severance charges.
(c) See Note 3 - Store and Other Long-Lived Asset Impairment Charges, Note 4 - Goodwill, and Note 8 - Intangible Assets of our consolidated financial statements in 

Part II, Item 8.
(d) Charges incurred related to closing and relocating stores, as we do not undertake such closures or relocations on a predictable cycle and the charges can vary 

significantly.
(e) Professional fees associated with bankruptcy and other reorganization assistance.
(f) Includes one-time legal settlement of $0.4 million and note receivable of $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 and COVID-19 sanitation and cleaning 

expense of $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Overview

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 on January 17, 2023 and emerged from bankruptcy on October 
12, 2023. The discussion below provides a summary of our liquidity and capital resources before, during, and after the Chapter 11 Cases. For a discussion 
of the Chapter 11 Cases and our bankruptcy proceedings, see “Item 1 - Business - Chapter 11 Cases.” See “Item 1 - Business - Subsequent Event - 
Emergence from Chapter 11 Cases” for information regarding the Company’s emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases on October 12, 2023.

Liquidity Before Filing the Chapter 11 Cases

Historically, our primary sources of liquidity were cash on hand, cash flow from operations, and borrowings under our credit agreements to meet our 
working capital needs. As of December 31, 2022, we had $59.4 million of 
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cash and cash equivalents on our consolidated balance sheets, borrowing availability of $86.8 million under our credit agreements, and total liquidity of 
$146.2 million consisting of the following:

 

  Party City Credit Group    
Anagram Holdings, 

LLC     PCH Consolidated  
 (in Thousands) As of December 31, 2022  
Cash $ 57,499     $ 1,922     $ 59,421  
ABL Availability:                
Borrowing Base   475,013       14,427       489,440  

Less: Letters of Credit Outstanding   37,920       —       37,920  
Less: Borrowings under the ABL Facility   361,684       3,022       364,706  

Total ABL Availability   75,409       11,405       86,814  
Total Liquidity $ 132,908     $ 13,327     $ 146,235  

As of December 31, 2022, we had $1.7 billion of consolidated indebtedness, of which $1.4 billion was held by the Debtors. 
Cash Flow Data – Year Ended December 31, 2022, Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021 

Net cash used in operating activities totaled $151.9 million during 2022, as compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $51.9 million in 
2021. The decrease in operating cash performance was due to a significant increase in inventory purchases at higher costs due to freight and raw materials 
inflation, as well as a decline in operating income in 2022. This was partially offset by a decrease in lease payments in 2022, as the prior year reflected 
additional lease payments, resulting from the 2020 COVID payment deferrals.

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $96.1 million during 2022, as compared to $65.4 million used in 2021. The increase in cash used in 
investing activities is primarily due to higher capital expenditures in the current year, due in part to the Company’s renovation of the new corporate 
headquarters which opened in the fourth quarter of 2022, as well as proceeds of $20.6 million from the sale of our international operations in the prior year, 
for which there was no comparable event in 2022.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $259.5 million during 2022, as compared to net cash used in financing activities of $89.1 million in 
2021. The variance was principally due to higher borrowings under the ABL Facility in the current year and the impact of the prior year debt refinancing 
transactions as discussed in Note 9 of our consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8.

Liquidity After Filing the Chapter 11 Cases and Before Emergence From the Chapter 11 Cases

For a discussion of the Chapter 11 Cases and our bankruptcy proceedings, see “Item 1 - Business - Chapter 11 Cases.” See “Item 1 - Business - 
Subsequent Event - Emergence from Chapter 11 Cases” for information regarding the Company’s emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases on October 12, 
2023.

The filing of the Chapter 11 Cases constituted an event of default that accelerated the Company’s following debt obligations: i) its Prepetition ABL 
Facility; ii) its FILO Facility; iii) its 8.750% senior secured first lien notes due 2026 (the “Fixed Rate Notes”); iv) its 6.125% senior notes due 2023; v) its 
6.625% senior notes due 2026, and vi) its senior secured first lien floating rate notes due 2025 (the “Secured Floating Rate 2025 Notes” and, together with 
the Fixed Rate Notes, the “Secured Notes”). Any efforts to enforce payment obligations on the Debtors’ debt agreements were automatically stayed as a 
result of the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases and the holders’ rights of enforcement in respect of the Debtors’ debt agreements were subject to the applicable 
provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. As a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, the remaining capacity under the Prepetition ABL Facility was terminated on 
January 17, 2023.

On January 18, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court approved the Debtors’ proposed $150.0 million senior secured super priority priming DIP Facility on an 
interim basis. On January 19, 2023, certain of the Debtors entered into the DIP Credit Agreement governing the DIP Facility along with certain financial 
institutions party thereto as lenders and Ankura Trust Company, LLC, as the administrative agent and collateral agent, and the closing of the DIP Facility 
occurred on the same day.

An initial draw of $75.0 million under the DIP Facility was made on January 19, 2023, and the proceeds were used in accordance with the DIP 
Facility budget to, among other things, (i) pay the administrative costs and expenses of the Chapter 11 Cases and the DIP Facility and (ii) fund general 
corporate purposes. A second draw of 
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$75.0 million was made following the Bankruptcy Court’s entry of the order approving the DIP Facility on a final basis on March 3, 2023 and was used for 
the same purposes as the first draw.

The DIP Facility was secured by perfected senior security interests and liens having the priorities set forth in the DIP Orders on substantially all 
assets of the Debtors, as further described in the DIP Orders.

On March 30, 2023, the Company became aware of the Specified DIP Defaults under the documents governing the DIP Credit Agreement as a 
result of the Company’s delayed delivery of certain financial reporting required under the DIP Credit Agreement. On April 5, 2023, the Company and the 
administrative agent under the DIP Facility, at the direction of the required lenders under the DIP Facility entered into the DIP Defaults Waiver to waive the 
Specified DIP Defaults, subject to certain conditions, including that the Company deliver such financial reporting at the times agreed in the DIP Default 
Waiver. The Company was in compliance with the requirements to deliver financial reporting under the DIP Default Waiver until the termination of the of 
the DIP Facility on October 12, 2023 as part of our emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases, as discussed in “Item 1 - Business - Subsequent Event - 
Emergence from Chapter 11 Cases.”

During the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company’s principal sources of liquidity were limited to cash flows from operations, cash on 
hand, and borrowings under the DIP Facility. Our ability to maintain adequate liquidity through the reorganization process and beyond was dependent on 
successful operation of our business and appropriate management of operating expenses and capital spending. Our liquidity needs were, and still are highly 
sensitive to changes in each of these and other factors.

The consolidated financial statements included herein in this Annual Report on Form 10-K have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 
contemplates continuity of operations, realization of assets, and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The consolidated financial 
statements do not reflect any adjustments that resulted from the outcome of the Chapter 11 Cases, which occurred after the balance sheet date of December 
31, 2022. We had significant indebtedness and reclassified all of the Debtor’s indebtedness to current liabilities as of December 31, 2022. Our level of 
indebtedness had adversely impacted our financial condition.

The Bankruptcy Court set a general Bar Date of April 3, 2023 and a Governmental Bar Date of July 17, 2023 as deadlines for filing proofs of claim 
against the Debtors. As of December 14, 2023, the Debtors have received approximately 2,500 proofs of claims for an amount of approximately $1.9 
billion. The claims will be reconciled to amounts recorded in the Company’s accounting records. Differences in amounts recorded and claims filed by 
creditors will be investigated and resolved, including through the filing of objections with the Bankruptcy Court, where appropriate. The Company may ask 
the Bankruptcy Court to disallow claims that the Company believes are duplicative, have been later amended or superseded, are without merit, are 
overstated, or should be disallowed for other reasons. In addition, as a result of this process, the Company may identify additional liabilities that will need 
to be recorded. In light of the substantial number of claims filed, and expected to be filed, the claims resolution process may take considerable time to 
complete and has continued since our emergence from bankruptcy.

Debt Obligations

As of December 31, 2022, we had $1.7 billion of consolidated indebtedness, of which $1.4 billion was held by the Debtors. The filing of the Chapter 
11 Cases constituted an event of default with respect to the Debtors obligations. As a result of the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, all of the indebtedness of 
the Debtors became immediately due and payable, but any efforts to enforce such payment obligations were automatically stayed as a result of the Chapter 
11 Cases. These debt obligations and substantially all pre-petition obligations of the Debtors were ultimately settled under the reorganization plan that was 
confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court. The Chapter 11 Cases did not trigger any default or event of default under the debt obligations of the Anagram 
Entities, which held $0.3 billion of debt as of December 31, 2022. However, other events led to the default of Anagram’s debt, as described below.

On or around March 23, 2023, the Company and the Anagram Entities became aware of the Specified Anagram Defaults under the documents 
governing the Anagram Notes Indentures as a result of, among other things, distributions of tax-related amounts from February 2021 to January 2023 that 
exceeded the limitations in the Anagram Financing Agreements. On or around March 30, 2023, the Anagram Entities notified the trustees under the 
Anagram Notes Indentures of the Specified Anagram Defaults by delivery of applicable notices of default.

On April 21, 2023, the Anagram Entities obtained the Anagram Notes Waivers, with the Anagram Notes Waivers being subject to the Anagram 
Entities obtaining, by May 19, 2023, an agreement on a new contract with a 
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supplier. Anagram did not enter into a new contract with the supplier prior to filing for bankruptcy on November 8, 2023. Concurrently, with the 
effectiveness of the Anagram Notes Waivers, the Anagram Entities entered into supplemental indentures pursuant to the Anagram Notes Indentures 
whereby, among other things, the Anagram Entities were required to make additional payments-in-kind to the holders of Anagram Notes in an amount 
equal to 0.5% of aggregate principal outstanding and thereby increasing the principal amount of the Anagram Notes. On May 9, 2023, payments in-kind of 
$0.6 million and $0.5 million were made on the First Lien Anagram Notes and Second Lien Anagram Notes, respectively.

On August 15, 2023, the Anagram Entities elected to not make the interest payment on the First Lien Anagram Notes. As provided in the indenture 
governing the First Lien Anagram Notes, the Anagram Entities entered the 30-day grace period to make the interest payment. The Anagram Entities did not 
make this interest payment within the grace period and did not make this interest payment prior to filing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy on November 8, 2023.

For information regarding a subsequent event related to Anagram’s Chapter 11 Cases and the developments related to the Stalking Horse bid to 
acquire the Anagram Entities, see “Note 1 - Description of Business - Subsequent Event - Anagram Bankruptcy.”

Liquidity After Emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases

For a discussion of the Company’s emergence from bankruptcy, see “Note 1 - Organization, Description of Business, and Basis of Presentation - 
Subsequent Event - Emergence from Chapter 11 Cases.” As a result of the financial restructuring set forth in its reorganization plan, the Company reduced 
its long-term debt obligations (excluding credit facility borrowings) from approximately $1.3 billion to $0.2 billion and emerged with a new ABL credit 
agreement with $562.1 million in borrowing capacity, and $232.4 million of Second Lien Notes (as defined herein). At the emergence date, our common 
stock shares were cancelled, and the Company issued or caused to be issued the New PCHI Shares in accordance with the terms of the Plan. Pursuant to the 
Plan, each holder of an Allowed Secured Notes Claim (as defined in the Plan) received, among other things, its pro rata share of 100% of the New PCHI 
Shares, subject to dilution by the New PCHI Shares issued as DIP Reorganized Securities (as defined in the Plan), the New PCHI Shares issued in 
connection with the Rights Offering (including in partial satisfaction of the Backstop Commitment Premium (as defined in the Plan)), and the MIP Equity 
Pool (as defined in the Plan). Net cash proceeds of $75 million were raised through the issuance of the New PCHI Shares at the emergence date.

For information regarding a subsequent event related to Anagram’s Chapter 11 Cases and the developments related to the Stalking Horse bid to 
acquire the Anagram Entities, see “Note 1 - Organization, Description of Business, and Basis of Presentation - Subsequent Event - Anagram Bankruptcy.”

Post-emergence Debt and Other Obligations

New ABL Credit Agreement

For a description of the New ABL Credit Agreement, see “Note 1 - Organization, Description of Business, and Basis of Presentation - Subsequent 
Event - Emergence from Chapter 11 Cases - Debt Securities and Agreements - New ABL Credit Agreement.”

Second Lien Notes

For a description of the Second Lien Notes, see “Note 1 - Organization, Description of Business, and Basis of Presentation - Subsequent Event - 
Emergence from Chapter 11 Cases - Debt Securities and Agreements - Second Lien Notes.”

Leases 

As part of its bankruptcy reorganization plan, the Company restructured the remaining term and economics of certain retail and non-retail properties 
within its lease portfolio, including permanent abandonment of certain leases. In particular, for its retail leases, management attempted to tailor such 
negotiations to a particular store’s current and future performance, location, and size to ensure economic stability and reduce future performance risk. In 
addition, on March 28, 2023, the Company executed an amendment to its Naperville, IL (“Naperville”) facility lease as part of a plan to consolidate its 
party goods distribution activities into its Chester, NY (“Chester”) facility. This amendment became effective upon our emergence from bankruptcy on 
October 12, 2023 and will allow the Company to exit its e-commerce distribution facility in Naperville by the end of April 2024, with the Chester facility 
assuming e-commerce distribution activities. 
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Ultimately, the actions discussed above resulted in the abandonment of 68 unexpired store leases, as well as the renegotiation of a substantial portion 
of the Company’s remaining lease portfolio, and are expected to result in cash savings of approximately $100 million to be recognized over the next 5 
years.

Sources and Uses of Cash

During the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company’s principal sources of liquidity were limited to cash flows from operations, cash on 
hand, and borrowings under the DIP Facility. Subsequent to our emergence from bankruptcy, our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from 
operations, cash on hand, and borrowings under our New ABL Facility to meet our working capital needs.

Based on our current operations and planned strategic initiatives (including new store and NXTGEN remodel growth plans and other capital 
expenditures), we expect to satisfy our short-term and long-term cash requirements through a combination of our existing cash and cash equivalents 
position, funds generated from operating activities, the borrowing capacity available under our New ABL Facility, and the net cash proceeds raised through 
the issuance of the New PCHI Shares at the emergence date. If cash generated from our operations and borrowings under our credit agreements are not 
sufficient or available to meet our liquidity requirements, then we will be required to obtain additional equity or debt financing in the future. There can be 
no assurance equity or debt financing will be available to us when we need it or, if available, the terms will be satisfactory to us and not dilutive to our 
then-current stockholders. Additionally, we may seek to take advantage of market opportunities to refinance our existing debt instruments with new debt 
instruments at interest rates, maturities, and terms we deem attractive.

Critical Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the appropriate application of certain accounting policies, many of which 
require estimates and assumptions about future events and their impact on amounts reported in the financial statements and related notes. Since future 
events and their impact cannot be determined with certainty, the actual results will inevitably differ from our estimates. Such differences could be material 
to the consolidated financial statements included herein. 

We believe our application of accounting policies, and the estimates inherently required, are reasonable. These estimates are constantly reevaluated 
and adjustments are made when facts and circumstances dictate. Historically, we have found the application of accounting policies to be reasonable, and 
actual results generally do not differ materially from those determined using necessary estimates. 

Due to the fact that the Chapter 11 filing occurred after the balance sheet date in this report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements as 
of and for the period ending December 31, 2022 have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the 
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The accompanying consolidated financial statements do not reflect any adjustments to liabilities 
and assets that resulted from the Bankruptcy Court’s confirmation of our reorganization plan on October 12, 2023. During the Chapter 11 Cases, the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern was contingent upon the Company’s ability to successfully implement the Company’s reorganization 
plan, among other factors. As a result of the effectiveness and ongoing implementation of the reorganization plan, management believes there is no longer 
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

For further detail refer to Note 2 of our consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8.

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue Transactions – Retail 

Revenue from retail store operations is recognized at the point of sale as control of the product is transferred to the customer at such time. Retail e-
commerce sales are recognized when the consumer receives the product as control transfers upon delivery. The Company has history with which to 
estimate future retail sales returns and it uses the expected value method to estimate such activity. 

The transaction price for the Company’s retail sales is based on either: the item’s stated price or the stated price adjusted for the impact of a coupon 
which can only be applied to such transaction. To the extent that the Company charges customers for freight costs on e-commerce sales, the Company 
records such amounts in revenue. The Company excludes all sales taxes and value-added taxes from revenue. 
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Revenue Transactions – Wholesale 

For most of the Company’s wholesale sales, control transfers upon the Company’s shipment of the product. Wholesale sales returns are not 
significant as the Company generally only accepts the return of goods that were shipped to the customer in error or that were damaged when received by 
the customer. The Company has history with which to estimate future sales returns. 

In most cases, the determination of the transaction price is fixed based on the contract and/or purchase order. To the extent that the Company charges 
customers for freight costs, the Company records such amounts in revenue. The Company excludes all sales taxes and value-added taxes from revenue. For 
the majority of these sales, payment is due within 30 to 120 days from the transfer of control of the product and substantially all of the sales are collected 
within a year from such transfer.

Judgments 

Although most of the Company’s revenue transactions consist of fixed transaction prices and the transfer of control at either the point of sale (for 
retail) or when the product is shipped (for wholesale), certain transactions involve a limited number of judgments. For transactions for which control 
transfers to the customer when the freight carrier delivers the product to the customer, the Company estimates the date of such receipt based on historical 
shipping times. Additionally, the Company utilizes historical data to estimate sales returns. Due to its extensive operating history, the Company has 
sufficient history with which to estimate such amounts. 

Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. In assessing the ultimate realization of inventories, we are required to make 
judgments regarding, among other things, future demand and market conditions, current inventory levels and the impact of the possible discontinuation of 
product designs. We principally determine the cost of inventory using the weighted average method. 

We estimate retail inventory shrinkage for the period between physical inventory dates on a store-by-store basis. Our inventory shrinkage estimate 
can be affected by changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual shortage trends. The shrinkage rate from the most recent physical inventory, in 
combination with historical experience, is the basis for estimating shrinkage. Should the actual shrinkage vary from estimates, inventory values may be 
affected.

Long-Lived and Intangible Assets (including Goodwill and Trade Names) 

We review the recoverability of our long-lived assets, including finite-lived intangible assets, whenever facts and circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be fully recoverable. For purposes of recognizing and measuring impairment, we evaluate long-lived assets/asset groups, other 
than goodwill, based upon the lowest level of independent cash flows ascertainable to evaluate impairment. If an impairment indicator exists, we compare 
the undiscounted future cash flows of the asset/asset group to the carrying value of the asset/asset group. If the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows is 
less than the carrying value of the asset/asset group, we would calculate discounted future cash flows based on market participant assumptions. If the sum 
of discounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of the asset/asset group, we would recognize an impairment loss. The impairment related to long-
lived assets is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset(s) exceeds the fair value of the asset(s). When fair values are not readily 
available, we estimate fair values using discounted expected future cash flows. Such estimates of fair value require significant judgment, and actual fair 
value could differ due to changes in the expectations of cash flows or other assumptions, including discount rates. 

In the evaluation of the fair value and future benefits of finite long-lived assets attached to retail stores, we perform our cash flow analysis generally 
on a store-by-store basis. Various factors including future sales growth and profit margins are included in this analysis. To the extent these future 
projections or strategies change, the conclusion regarding impairment may differ from the current estimates. 

Goodwill is reviewed for potential impairment annually on October 1st or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it may 
be impaired. For purposes of testing goodwill for impairment, reporting units are determined by identifying individual operating segments within our 
organization which constitute a business for which discrete financial information is available and is reviewed by management. Components within an 
operating segment are aggregated to the extent that they have similar economic characteristics. Based on this 
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evaluation, we have determined that our operating segments, wholesale and retail, represent our reporting units for the purposes of our goodwill impairment 
test. 

If it is concluded that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, we estimate the fair value of the 
reporting unit using a combination of a market approach and an income approach. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an 
impairment loss will be recognized in an amount equal to such excess. 

The fair value of our reporting units is based upon the best information available that incorporates assumptions marketplace participants would use 
in determining their estimates of fair value. Significant assumptions and estimates are required, including, but not limited to, projecting future cash flows, 
determining appropriate discount rates and terminal growth rates, market multiples, and other assumptions. To forecast a reporting unit’s future cash flows, 
the Company takes into consideration current and future economic conditions and trends, management’s and a market participant’s view of revenue and 
EBITDA growth rates, and risk-adjusted discount rates. Macroeconomic factors such as changes in economies, changes in the competitive landscape, and 
other changes beyond the Company’s control could have a positive or negative impact on achieving its growth rate targets.

Although the Company believes the assumptions and estimates made are reasonable and appropriate, different assumptions and estimates could 
materially impact its reported financial results. Actual results may ultimately differ from certain key assumptions used in the Company’s impairment tests, 
including, among others, revenue and EBITDA growth rates, discount rates, market multiples. Accordingly, we continue to closely monitor developments 
related to our business, as well as other global events and conditions, including continued inflation and rising interest rates. The future magnitude, duration, 
and effects of these events are difficult to predict at this time, and it is reasonably possible that future developments could have a negative effect on the 
estimates and assumptions utilized in our goodwill impairment assessments and could result in material impairment charges in future periods.

Our trade names are treated as indefinite-lived intangible assets and are tested for impairment annually on October 1st or more frequently if 
circumstances indicate a possible impairment. When performing a quantitative impairment assessment of our trade names, the fair value of the trade names 
is estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis based on the “relief from royalty” method, assuming that a third-party would be willing to pay a royalty 
in lieu of ownership for this intangible asset. This approach is primarily dependent on estimates of royalty rates and discount rates. Accordingly, the 
determination of fair value of our trade names is subjective, and actual fair value may differ from these estimates. An impairment loss is recognized when 
the estimated fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than its carrying amount.

Income Taxes 

Temporary differences arising from differing treatment of income and expense items for tax and financial reporting purposes result in deferred tax 
assets and liabilities that are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets. These balances, as well as income tax expense, are determined through 
management’s estimations, interpretation of tax law for multiple jurisdictions and tax planning. However, inherent in the measurement of deferred balances 
are certain judgments and interpretations of enacted tax laws and published guidance with respect to applicability to our operations. If our actual results 
differ from estimated results due to changes in tax laws or tax planning, our effective tax rate and tax balances could be affected. As such, these estimates 
may require adjustment in the future as additional facts become known or as circumstances change. A valuation allowance is established against deferred 
tax assets when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. 

During the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740 prescribes a comprehensive model of how a company should recognize, measure, present and disclose in its 
financial statements uncertain tax positions that the company has taken or expects to take on a tax return. In accordance with these requirements, we 
recognize a tax benefit when a tax position is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination, based solely on its technical merits. We measure the 
recognized tax benefit as the largest amount of tax benefit that has greater than a 50% likelihood of being realized upon the ultimate settlement with a 
taxing authority. We reverse previously recognized tax benefits if we determine that the tax position no longer meets the more-likely-than-not threshold of 
being sustained. We accrue interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. 
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

Refer to Note 2 of our consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 

Interest Rate Risk 

As a result of our variable rate Prepetition ABL Facility, Anagram’s ABL Facility, and the First Lien Party City Notes, our earnings are affected by 
changes in interest rates. 

The July 2022 ABL amendment replaced the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) as the interest rate benchmark under the Prepetition ABL 
Credit Agreement with the forward-looking term rate based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate, subject to a 0.10% credit spread adjustment 
(“Adjusted Term SOFR”). Pursuant to the July 2022 ABL amendment, outstanding loans under the Prepetition ABL Credit Agreement bear interest at a 
rate per annum equal to the applicable margin plus, at the borrowers’ option, either (a) an alternate base rate (“ABR”), which is the highest of (i) the 
Administrative Agent’s prime rate, (ii) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, and (iii) Adjusted Term SOFR for a one-month tenor plus 1.00%, or (b) 
Adjusted Term SOFR for the applicable interest period. Other than with respect to borrowings under the FILO Facility, the rates for the applicable margin 
for borrowings under the Prepetition ABL Facility remain unchanged, ranging from 0.50% to 0.75% with respect to ABR borrowings and from 1.50% to 
1.75% with respect to Adjusted Term SOFR borrowings. The applicable margin for borrowings under the FILO Facility is 1.75% with respect to ABR 
borrowings and 2.75% with respect to Adjusted Term SOFR borrowings. 

Anagram’s ABL Facility generally provided for the following pricing options: All revolving loans will bear interest, at the Anagram’s election, at a 
per annum rate equal to either (a) a base rate, which represents for any day a rate equal to the greater of (i) the prime rate on such day subject to a 0% floor, 
(ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.5% and (iii) one-half of one percent per annum, in each case, plus a margin of 1.5% or (b) the Daily One Month LIBOR 
subject to a 0.5% floor, plus a margin of 2.5%.

If market interest rates for our variable rate indebtedness had averaged 2% more than the actual market interest rates during the year ended 
December 31, 2022, our interest expense for the year would have increased by $8.5 million. 

This amount is determined by considering the impact of the hypothetical interest rates on our borrowings. This analysis does not consider the effects 
of the reduced level of overall economic activity that could exist in such an environment. Further, in the event of a change of such magnitude, management 
could potentially take action to mitigate our exposure to the change. However, due to the uncertainty of the specific actions that we would take and their 
possible effects, the sensitivity analysis assumes no changes in our financial structure. 
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All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission are not 
required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and, therefore, have been omitted. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Shareholders and Board of Directors
Party City Holdco Inc.
Woodcliff Lake, NJ

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Party City Holdco Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2022, the related 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the year then ended, and the 
related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, 
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the 
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework 
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) and our report dated March 28, 2024 expressed an 
adverse opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities 
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. 

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error 
or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was 
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated 
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not 
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, 
providing separate opinions on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Valuation of Goodwill related to the Retail Reporting Unit

As described in Notes 2 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s goodwill balance related to the retail reporting unit was 
$100.4 million as of December 31, 2022. The carrying value of goodwill is evaluated for impairment at the reporting unit level annually or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of goodwill might exceed its current fair value. The Company recorded an 
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impairment charge related to its retail reporting unit of $219.9 million in the fourth quarter of 2022. The fair value of the reporting unit was determined 
using a combination of income and market approaches. The income-based approach included assumptions such as the amount and timing of projected cash 
flows and the discount rate.

We identified the revenue, net income (loss) before interest expense, net, income taxes, depreciation, and amortization (“EBITDA”) growth rates 
and the discount rate used in the valuation of goodwill related to the retail reporting unit as a critical audit matter. The principal considerations for our 
determination are the significant and subjective judgments made by management to determine revenue and EBITDA growth rates and the discount rate 
when determining the fair value of the retail reporting unit. Auditing these elements involved especially challenging and subjective auditor judgment due to 
the nature and extent of audit effort required to address these matters, including the extent of specialized skills and knowledge needed.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:

• Obtaining an understanding of management's process related to the Company's goodwill impairment assessment and the determination of the 
fair value related to the retail reporting unit.

• Evaluating the reasonableness of revenue and EBITDA growth rates used in the determination of the fair value related to the retail reporting 
unit by comparing the revenue and EBITDA growth rates against historical financial results, guideline companies, and industry information. 

• Utilizing personnel with specialized knowledge and skills in valuation to evaluate the reasonableness of the discount rate used in the 
determination of the fair value related to the retail reporting unit.

(Signed BDO USA, P.C.)

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2023.

New York, NY 

March 28, 2024
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Shareholders and Board of Directors
Party City Holdco Inc.
Woodcliff Lake, New Jersey

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Party City Holdco’s (the “Company’s”) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the 
“COSO criteria”). In our opinion, the Company did not maintain, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2022, based on the COSO criteria. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the 
consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), 
stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes (collectively referred to as “the financial 
statements”) and our report dated March 28, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Item 9A, Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a 
public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal 
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and 
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. 
Material weaknesses relate to: (i) internal controls in the financial reporting processes, including a lack of segregation of duties within the accounts payable 
process, lack of effective controls surrounding the proper review and timeliness of information used in account reconciliations, journal entry review, and 
vendor invoice processing; (ii) information technology general controls in the areas of user access management and segregation of duties, within certain 
systems supporting the Company's accounting and reporting processes, were not designed or operating effectively; (iii) adequate documentation was not 
maintained to demonstrate management’s review supporting the assumptions used in our impairment testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets and long-
lived assets; (iv) inadequate identification and review procedures over debt covenant requirements and restrictions, which led to a failure to detect and 
timely report a covenant violation related to tax payments; and (v) inadequate processes and internal controls relating to management’s analysis under ASC 
Subtopic 205-40 of whether there were conditions or events giving rise to substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
within one year after the financial statements were issued, which resulted in a material error in management’s assessment of the Company’s ability to 
remain a going concern in connection with filing its form 10-Q for the third quarter of 2022. These material weaknesses were considered in determining the 
nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2022 financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 28, 2024 
on those financial statements.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s 
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures 
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree 
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

(Signed BDO USA, P.C.)

New York, NY

March 28, 2024
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Party City Holdco Inc. 

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Party City Holdco Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2021, 
the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the 
period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes and financial statement schedules listed in the index at item 15 (collectively referred to as the 
“consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Company at December 31, 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s 
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included 
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures 
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

We served as the Company’s auditor from 1998 to 2023. 
New York, New York
February 28, 2022
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PARTY CITY HOLDCO INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(In thousands, except share data) 
    2022     2021  
ASSETS            
Current assets:            

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 59,421     $ 47,914  
Accounts receivable, net     83,157       93,301  
Inventories, net     633,360       443,295  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     42,106       57,656  
Income tax receivable     14,464       56,317  

Total current assets     832,508       698,483  
Property, plant, and equipment, net     255,270       221,870  
Operating lease asset     707,047       693,875  
Goodwill     100,357       664,296  
Trade names     94,680       383,737  
Other intangible assets, net     13,304       23,687  
Other assets, net     16,831       25,952  

Total assets   $ 2,019,997     $ 2,711,900  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY  
Current liabilities:            

Loans and notes payable   $ 360,745     $ 84,181  
Accounts payable     157,474       161,736  
Accrued expenses     181,466       195,531  
Current portion of operating lease liability     119,605       116,437  
Income taxes payable     426       10,801  
Current portion of long-term obligations     1,331,003       1,373  

Total current liabilities     2,150,719       570,059  
Long-term obligations, excluding current portion     11,134       1,351,189  
Long-term portion of operating lease liability     685,120       655,875  
Deferred income tax liabilities     9,128       29,195  
Other long-term liabilities     21,723       22,868  

Total liabilities     2,877,824       2,629,186  
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)            
Stockholders’ (deficit) equity:            

Common stock (Par value $0.01; 113,509,223 and 112,170,944 shares outstanding and 126,787,094 and 
124,157,500 shares issued at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively)     1,385       1,384  
Additional paid-in capital     988,463       982,307  
Accumulated deficit     (1,514,615 )     (571,985 )
Accumulated other comprehensive income     1,855       3,541  

Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity before common stock held in treasury     (522,912 )     415,247  
Less: Common stock held in treasury, at cost (13,277,871 and 11,986,556 shares
   at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively)     (334,915 )     (332,533 )

Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity     (857,827 )     82,714  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ (deficit) equity   $ 2,019,997     $ 2,711,900  

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

60



 

PARTY CITY HOLDCO INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME 

(In thousands, except share and per share data) 
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2022     2021     2020  
Net sales $ 2,169,878     $ 2,171,060     $ 1,850,690  
Cost of sales   1,437,077       1,403,004       1,369,935  

Gross profit   732,801       768,056       480,755  
Selling, general and administrative expenses   707,246       671,165       680,479  
Store and other long-lived asset impairments   23,277       9,048       22,449  
Loss on disposal of assets in international operations   —       3,211       73,948  
Goodwill and intangible asset impairments   862,544       —       581,380  

(Loss) income from operations   (860,266 )     84,632       (877,501 )
Interest expense, net   102,647       87,226       77,043  
Other (income) expense, net   (3,789 )     (614 )     3,715  
Gain on debt repayment/refinancing   —       (1,106 )     (273,149 )

Loss before income taxes   (959,124 )     (874 )     (685,110 )
Income tax (benefit) expense   (16,494 )     5,708       (156,653 )

Net loss   (942,630 )     (6,582 )     (528,457 )
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests   —       (54 )     (219 )

Net loss attributable to common shareholders of Party City Holdco Inc. $ (942,630 )   $ (6,528 )   $ (528,238 )

Net loss per share attributable to common shareholders of Party City Holdco Inc.—basic and 
diluted $ (8.35 )   $ (0.06 )   $ (5.24 )
Weighted-average number of common shares—basic and diluted   112,911,368       110,980,934       100,804,944  
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:                

Foreign currency adjustments $ (1,686 )   $ 35,128     $ 6,143  
Cash flow hedges   —       (1,348 )     (352 )

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net   (1,686 )     33,780       5,791  
Comprehensive (loss) income   (944,316 )     27,198       (522,666 )

Less: Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests   —       269       (246 )
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to common shareholders of Party City Holdco 
Inc. $ (944,316 )   $ 26,929     $ (522,420 )

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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PARTY CITY HOLDCO INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2022 
(In thousands)

 

   
Common

Stock    

Additional
Paid-in
Capital    

Accumulate
d 

Deficit    

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensiv
e

(Loss) Income    

Total Party
City

Holdco Inc.
Stockholders’
Equity Before 

Common
Stock Held In

Treasury    

Common
Stock Held
In Treasury    

Total
Party City
Holdco Inc.

Stockholders’
Equity (Deficit)    

Non-
Controlling

Interests    

Total
Stockholders’

Equity  
Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 1,211     $ 928,573     $ (37,219 )   $ (35,734 )   $ 856,831     $ (327,086 )   $ 529,745     $ (24 )   $ 529,721  

Net loss                 (528,238 )           (528,238 )           (528,238 )     (219 )     (528,457 )
Stock-based compensation*           13,356                   13,356             13,356             13,356  
Exercise of stock options     2       146                   148             148             148  
Acquired non-controlling interest           2,316                   2,316             2,316       1       2,317  
Issuance of Stock for Debt exchange
   including costs     160       27,581                   27,741             27,741             27,741  
Foreign currency adjustments (see Note 19)                       6,170       6,170             6,170       (27 )     6,143  
Treasury stock purchases                             —       (96 )     (96 )           (96 )
Impact of foreign exchange
   contracts                       (352 )     (352 )           (352 )           (352 )

Balance at December 31, 2020   $ 1,373     $ 971,972     $ (565,457 )   $ (29,916 )   $ 377,972     $ (327,182 )   $ 50,790     $ (269 )   $ 50,521  
Net loss                 (6,528 )           (6,528 )           (6,528 )     (54 )     (6,582 )
Stock-based compensation*           6,685                   6,685             6,685             6,685  
Warrant exercise (see Note 21 – Kazzam, LLC)     4       (4 )                 —             —             —  
Exercise of stock options     7       3,673                   3,680             3,680             3,680  
Acquired non-controlling interest                             —             —             —  
Issuance of Stock for Debt exchange
   including costs                             —             —             —  
Foreign currency adjustments (see Note 19)                       34,805       34,805             34,805       323       35,128  
Treasury stock purchases                             —       (5,351 )     (5,351 )           (5,351 )
Impact of foreign exchange
   contracts           (19 )           (1,348 )     (1,367 )           (1,367 )           (1,367 )

Balance at December 31, 2021   $ 1,384     $ 982,307     $ (571,985 )   $ 3,541     $ 415,247     $ (332,533 )   $ 82,714     $ —     $ 82,714  
Net loss                 (942,630 )           (942,630 )           (942,630 )           (942,630 )
Stock-based compensation*     1       6,156                   6,157             6,157             6,157  
Foreign currency adjustments (see Note 19)                       (1,686 )     (1,686 )           (1,686 )           (1,686 )
Treasury stock purchases                             —       (2,382 )     (2,382 )           (2,382 )

Balance at December 31, 2022
  $ 1,385     $ 988,463     $

(1,514,6
15 )   $ 1,855     $ (522,912 )   $ (334,915 )   $ (857,827 )   $ —     $ (857,827 )

* Stock-based compensation consists of stock-option expense – time-based, restricted stock units – time-based, restricted stock units – performance-based, directors – non-cash compensation, warrant expense 
(see Note 21 - Kazzam, LLC), and other non-employee stock-based compensation, which were shown separately in prior years.
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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PARTY CITY HOLDCO INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(In thousands) 
 
    Year ended December 31,  
    2022     2021     2020  
Cash flows (used in) provided by operating activities:                  
Net loss   $ (942,630 )   $ (6,582 )   $ (528,457 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:                  

Depreciation and amortization expense     63,031       65,610       76,506  
Amortization of deferred financing costs and original issuance discounts     5,504       4,516       4,198  
Provision for doubtful accounts     3,659       2,569       6,321  
Deferred income tax benefit     (19,593 )     (5,155 )     (95,085 )
Undistributed (income) loss in equity method investments     (1,467 )     (220 )     333  
Change in operating lease liability/asset     5,545       (51,326 )     30,981  
Loss on disposal of assets     192       2,781       70  
Loss on disposal of assets in international operations     —       3,211       73,948  
Store and other long-lived asset impairment     23,277       —       17,585  
Goodwill and intangible asset impairments     862,544       11,974       581,380  
Stock-based compensation*     6,156       6,685       13,413  
Gain on debt repayment/refinancing     —       (1,106 )     (273,149 )
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquired
       businesses:                  

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable     (806 )     (10,673 )     22,396  
(Increase) decrease in inventories     (188,634 )     (34,236 )     184,924  
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other current assets, net     62,733       (21,419 )     (66,166 )
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and income
       taxes payable     (31,446 )     85,306       28,002  

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities     (151,935 )     51,935       77,200  
Cash flows used in investing activities:                  

Cash paid in connection with acquisitions, net of cash acquired     (157 )     (6,954 )     (3,305 )
Capital expenditures     (97,539 )     (79,222 )     (51,128 )
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment     1,634       225       162  
Proceeds from sale of international operations, net of cash disposed     —       20,556       —  

Net cash used in investing activities     (96,062 )     (65,395 )     (54,271 )
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities:                  

Repayment of loans, notes payable and long-term obligations     (135,312 )     (949,907 )     (254,438 )
Proceeds from loans, notes payable and long-term obligations     401,202       883,890       368,439  
Exercise of stock options     —       3,680       147  
Treasury stock purchases     (2,382 )     (5,351 )     (96 )
Debt issuance and modification costs     (3,970 )     (21,437 )     (20,348 )

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     259,538       (89,125 )     93,704  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents     (34 )     190       (500 )

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and 
       restricted cash     11,507       (102,395 )     116,133  
Less: net increase/decrease in cash classified within current assets held for sale     —       31,628       (31,628 )

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period     48,914       119,681       35,176  
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period**   $ 60,421     $ 48,914     $ 119,681  

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:                  
Cash (paid) received during the period:                  

Interest   $ (89,639 )   $ (57,971 )   $ (68,396 )
Income taxes, net of refunds   $ 40,190     $ (5,413 )   $ (26,867 )

 

* Stock-based compensation consists of stock-option expense – time-based, restricted stock units – time-based, restricted stock units – performance-based, directors – non-cash compensation, warrant expense 
(see Note 21 - Kazzam, LLC), and other non-employee stock-based compensation, which were shown separately in prior years.

**Includes $1.0 million, $1.0 million, and $0.1 million of restricted cash for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively. The Company recorded restricted cash in Other assets, net as 
presented in the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2022, and 2021.

For additional information regarding Goodwill, intangibles and long-lived assets impairment, refer to Note 4 – Goodwill, Note 5 – Disposition of Assets, and Note 8 – Intangible Assets.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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PARTY CITY HOLDCO INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Dollars in thousands, except per share) 
 
Note 1 — Organization, Description of Business, and Basis of Presentation 

Party City Holdco Inc. (the “Company,” “Party City Holdco” or “PCH”) is a leading party goods company by revenue in North America and, we 
believe, the largest vertically integrated supplier of decorated party goods globally by revenue. With hundreds of retail stores across the United States, we 
make it easy for our customers to find the perfect party solution through our assortment of party products, balloons, and costumes for their celebration 
aided by the support of our party experts both in-store and online. Our retail operations include approximately 770 specialty retail party supply stores 
(including franchise stores) throughout North America operating under the names Party City and Halloween City, and e-commerce websites which offer 
rapid, contactless, and same day shipping options (including in-store and at curbside), principally through the domain name partycity.com. In addition to 
our retail operations, we are also a global designer, manufacturer, and distributor of decorated consumer party products, with items found in retail outlets 
worldwide, including independent party supply stores, mass merchants, grocery retailers, e-commerce merchandisers and dollar stores.  

Party City Holdco is a holding company with no operating assets or operations. The Company owns 100% of PC Nextco Holdings, LLC (“PC 
Nextco”), which owns 100% of PC Intermediate Holdings, Inc. (“PC Intermediate”). PC Intermediate owns 100% of Party City Holdings Inc. (“PCHI”), 
which owns most of the Company’s operating subsidiaries.

Chapter 11 Cases

On January 17, 2023 (the “PCHI Petition Date”), the Company and certain of its domestic subsidiaries (collectively, the “Debtors”) filed voluntary 
petitions (the “Chapter 11 Cases”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas (the “Bankruptcy Court”) seeking relief under 
Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”). The Company’s Anagram Holdings, LLC, (“Anagram”) subsidiary, Anagram’s 
subsidiaries (together with Anagram, the “Anagram Entities”), and the Company’s foreign subsidiaries were not included in the Chapter 11 Cases and 
continued to operate in the ordinary course of business throughout the duration of the Chapter 11 Cases. On January 18, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court 
granted the Debtors’ motion to jointly administer the Chapter 11 Cases for procedural purposes only under the caption In re: Party City Holdco Inc., et. al. 
(Case No. 23-90005). To ensure its ability to continue operating in the ordinary course of business, the Debtors also filed with the Bankruptcy Court a 
variety of motions seeking “first-day” relief, which were approved by the Bankruptcy Court and permitted the Debtors to operate in the ordinary course 
during the Chapter 11 Cases and included the interim approval of a debtor-in-possession term loan facility (the “DIP Facility”) as described below. The 
Debtors continued to operate their business and manage their properties as “debtors-in-possession” in accordance with the applicable provisions of the 
Bankruptcy Code and orders of the Bankruptcy Court throughout the duration of the Chapter 11 Cases.

On the PCHI Petition Date, the Debtors entered into a Restructuring Support Agreement (along with subsequent amendments made throughout the 
Chapter 11 Cases, the “RSA”) with certain holders (collectively, the “Initial Consenting Noteholders”) of the Secured Floating Rate 2025 Notes (as defined 
herein) and the Secured Fixed Rate 2026 Notes (as defined herein). The RSA contemplates a restructuring (the “Restructuring”) of the Debtors pursuant to 
a joint plan of reorganization (the “Plan,” as further described below). Among other things, the RSA provided for: 

• The entry into the DIP Facility, which was fully backstopped by the Initial Consenting Noteholders in the amount of $150 million, which was 
approved by the Bankruptcy Court on an interim basis on January 18, 2023 and on a final basis on March 3, 2023, as discussed below;

• The (a) equitization of the Secured Notes in exchange for the equity of the reorganized Company, subject to dilution by any Reorganized 
Securities issued pursuant to the Rights Offering to be consummated at emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases, the Management Incentive 
Plan, and, to the extent applicable, the Reorganized Securities issued to lenders who provide backstop commitments under the DIP Facility in 
consideration for their backstop commitments, as a result of the DIP Equitization or (b) such other treatment of the Secured Notes as agreed 
by the Initial Consenting Noteholders;
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• Either repayment in cash upon emergence of the amounts outstanding under the Company’s ABL Facility and its FILO Facility (each as 
defined below) with proceeds from a third-party financing or, with the agreement of the holders thereof, the rolling of such outstanding 
amounts into a new asset-based lending exit facility, in each case as acceptable to the Debtors and the Initial Consenting Noteholders;

• The treatment of general unsecured claims to be governed by the terms of the Plan and to be acceptable to the Debtors and the Initial 
Consenting Noteholders; and 

• The cancellation, extinguishment, and discharge of the existing common stock of the Company and any other equity securities of the 
Company, with existing equity in the Company receiving no recovery or distribution.
 

On January 18, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court approved the Debtors’ proposed $150 million senior secured super priority priming DIP Facility on an 
interim basis. On January 19, 2023, certain of the Debtors entered into the credit agreement governing the DIP Facility along with certain financial 
institutions party thereto as lenders and Ankura Trust Company, LLC (the “DIP Credit Agreement”), as the administrative agent and collateral agent, and 
the closing of the DIP Facility occurred on the same day.

An initial draw of $75 million under the DIP Facility was made on January 19, 2023, and the proceeds were used in accordance with the DIP 
Facility budget to, among other things, (i) pay the administrative costs and expenses of the Chapter 11 Cases and the DIP Facility and (ii) fund general 
corporate purposes. A second draw of $75 million was made following the Bankruptcy Court’s entry of the order approving the DIP Facility on a final 
basis on March 3, 2023. The second draw of borrowings for $75 million was used for the same purposes as the first draw.

The DIP Facility was secured by perfected senior security interests and liens having the priorities set forth in the DIP Credit Agreement on 
substantially all assets of the Debtors.

The DIP Facility terminated on October 12, 2023 as part of the Debtors' emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases, as discussed in more detail below.

The filing of the Chapter 11 Cases constituted an event of default that accelerated the Company’s following debt obligations: i) its asset-based 
revolving credit facility (the “Prepetition ABL Facility”); ii) its asset-based first-in, last-out revolving tranche (the “FILO Facility”); iii) its senior secured 
first lien floating rate notes due 2025 (the “Secured Floating Rate 2025 Notes”); iv) its 8.750% senior secured first lien notes due 2026 (the “Secured Fixed 
Rate 2026 Notes”); v) its 6.125% senior notes due 2023; and vi) its 6.625% senior notes due 2026. Any efforts to enforce payment obligations on the 
Debtors’ debt agreements were automatically stayed as a result of the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases and the holders’ rights of enforcement in respect of the 
Debtors’ debt agreements were subject to the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.

On April 4, 2023, the Company filed the initial version of its Plan and a related proposed form of Disclosure Statement (the “Disclosure Statement”) 
with the Bankruptcy Court. The Plan was since amended four times, with the last amendment of the Plan filed on August 31, 2023. The Plan intended to 
implement the previously disclosed Restructuring contemplated by the RSA. The Plan and the related Disclosure Statement describe, among other things, 
the Plan; the Restructuring contemplated by the RSA; the events leading to the Chapter 11 Cases; certain events that have occurred or were anticipated to 
occur during the Chapter 11 Cases, including the anticipated solicitation of votes to approve the Plan from certain of the Debtors’ creditors and certain 
other aspects of the Restructuring.

Subsequent Event - Emergence from Chapter 11 Cases

On September 6, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order confirming the Plan (the “Confirmation Order”).

On October 12, 2023 (the “Effective Date”), the Plan became effective in accordance with its terms, and the Debtors emerged from the Chapter 11 
Cases. The emergence events discussed below occurred subsequent to the December 31, 2022 date of the consolidated balance sheet presented in this report 
and are, therefore, not reflected in the financial statements presented in this report.
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On the Effective Date, in connection with the effectiveness of, and pursuant to the terms of, the Plan and the Confirmation Order, the Company’s 
common stock outstanding immediately before the Effective Date was canceled and is of no further force or effect, and the new organizational documents 
of the Company became effective, authorizing the issuance of shares of common stock representing 100% of the equity interests in the Company (the “New 
PCHI Shares”). In accordance with the foregoing, on the Effective Date, the Company, as reorganized on the Effective Date in accordance with the Plan, 
issued 13,374,519 New PCHI Shares and the 12.00% Senior Secured Second Lien PIK Toggle Notes (the “Second Lien Notes” and together with the New 
PCHI Shares, the “New Securities”). The New Securities issued pursuant to the Plan, including the New Securities issued upon the exercise of the 
Subscription Rights (as defined in the backstop commitment agreement (as amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time, together with all 
exhibits and schedules thereto, the “Backstop Agreement”) with the commitment parties thereto (collectively, the “Commitment Parties”)) in connection 
with the rights offering ((the “Rights Offering,” consisting of a purchase price of $75 million aggregate principal amount (a portion of the $232.4 million 
aggregate principal amount of the Company’s Second Lien Notes) and 3,634,614 New PCHI Shares), all New Securities issued to the Commitment Parties 
in respect of their commitments under the Backstop Agreement and in connection with the Rights Offering was issued in reliance upon the exemption from 
the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) provided by section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code and, to the 
extent such exemption was unavailable, was issued in reliance on the exemption provided by section 4(a)(2) under the Securities Act or another applicable 
exemption.

Equity Interests 

On the Effective Date, all interests in the Company that existed immediately prior to the Effective Date were cancelled, and the Company issued or 
caused to be issued the New PCHI Shares in accordance with the terms of the Plan. Pursuant to the Plan, each holder of an Allowed Secured Notes Claim 
(as defined in the Plan) received, among other things, its pro rata share of 100% of the New PCHI Shares, subject to dilution by the New PCHI Shares 
issued as DIP Reorganized Securities (as defined in the Plan), the New PCHI Shares issued in connection with the Rights Offering (including in partial 
satisfaction of the Backstop Commitment Premium (as defined in the Plan)), and the MIP Equity Pool (as defined in the Plan). 100% of the New PCHI 
Shares is less than 1% of all shares issued at emergence post-dilution. See “Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities” section later in this footnote.

Claims Treatment Under the Plan

In accordance with the Plan, holders of claims against and interests in the Debtors received (or shall receive, as soon as reasonably practicable 
following the date such holder’s claim or interest becomes an Allowed Claim or Interest (each as defined in the Plan)) the following treatment (capitalized 
terms used but not defined in this section have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan):

• Prepetition ABL Revolver Claims. Each holder of an Allowed Prepetition ABL Revolver Claim voted to accept the Plan and elected to 
participate in the ABL Exit Facility, and the ABL Exit Facility Trigger occurred, such that (i) each such holder’s Allowed Prepetition ABL 
Revolver Claims was deemed repaid and refinanced in full by such holder’s extension and receipt of its Pro Rata share of ABL Revolving 
Credit Loans and (ii) such holder assumed a commitment with respect to the ABL Exit Facility equal to its (or its predecessor in interest’s) 
commitment under the Prepetition ABL Facility immediately prior to the PCHI Petition Date.

• Prepetition ABL FILO Claims. Each holder of an Allowed Prepetition ABL FILO Claim voted to accept the Plan and elected to participate in 
its Pro Rata share of the ABL Exit Facility, and the ABL Exit Facility Trigger occurred, such that each such holder’s Allowed Prepetition 
ABL FILO Claims was deemed repaid and refinanced in full by such holder’s extension and receipt of its Pro Rata share of ABL FILO 
Loans.

• Secured Notes Claims. Each holder of an Allowed Secured Notes Claim received (i) its Pro Rata share of the New PCHI Shares issued on the 
Effective Date on account of the Allowed Secured Notes Claims, representing 100% of the New PCHI Shares outstanding on the Effective 
Date, subject to dilution by the New PCHI Shares issued as DIP Reorganized Securities, the New PCHI Shares issued in connection with the 
Rights Offering (including in partial satisfaction of the Backstop Commitment Premium), and the MIP Equity Pool and (ii) subscription 
rights to purchase up to its Pro Rata share of the securities comprising the Investment Package for an aggregate purchase price of $75 million 
offered in the Rights Offering in accordance with the Rights Offering Procedures.
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• General Unsecured Claims. Each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim received its Pro Rata share of the General Unsecured 
Claim Recovery Pool.

• Interests in the Company. Holders of Interests in the Company, including the Company’s common stock prior to emergence, received no 
recovery or distribution on account of such Interests, and upon emergence from Chapter 11, all such Interests in the Company were canceled, 
released, extinguished, and discharged, and are of no further force or effect.

Debt Securities and Agreements

Except for the purpose of evidencing a right to a distribution under the Plan or as otherwise provided in the Plan, on the Effective Date, the 
obligations of the Debtors under the Prepetition ABL Facility, the Secured Notes Indentures (as defined in the Plan), the Unsecured Notes Indentures (as 
defined the Plan), stock certificates, book entries, and any other certificate, share, note, bond, indenture, purchase right, option, warrant, or other instrument 
or document, directly or indirectly, evidencing or creating any indebtedness or obligation of or ownership interest in the Debtors giving rise to any claim or 
interest (except such certificates, notes or other instruments or documents evidencing indebtedness or obligations of, or interests in, the Debtors that are 
specifically reinstated pursuant to the Plan) were cancelled, and the duties and obligations of all parties thereto were deemed satisfied in full, canceled, 
released, discharged, and of no force or effect.

New ABL Credit Agreement

On the Effective Date, pursuant to the terms of the Plan, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an ABL credit agreement (the 
“New ABL Credit Agreement”), by and among the Company, as a parent guarantor, Party City Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation, as the parent 
borrower (the “Parent Borrower”), Party City Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and each other subsidiary of the Borrowers party thereto as a subsidiary 
borrower from time to time (collectively with the Parent Borrower, the “Borrowers”), PC Intermediate Holdings, Inc. a Delaware corporation, as a parent 
guarantor (“Holdings”), the other subsidiaries of the Borrowers party thereto from time to time as subsidiary guarantors, the lenders party thereto from time 
to time, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent (in such capacities, the “New ABL Agent”). The New ABL Credit 
Agreement provides for a $545 million senior secured asset-based revolving loan facility (with a $60 million sublimit for the issuance of letters of credit 
thereunder) (the “New ABL Revolving Facility” and the loans outstanding thereunder, the “New ABL Revolving Loans”) and a $17.1 million senior 
secured asset-based first-in last-out loan facility (the “New FILO Facility” and the loans outstanding thereunder, the “New FILO Loans”; the New FILO 
Facility together with the New ABL Revolving Facility, the “New ABL Facility”). The New ABL Facility is scheduled to mature on October 12, 2028.

All obligations of the Borrowers under the New ABL Credit Agreement, certain banking services obligations, and certain hedging obligations are 
unconditionally guaranteed, on a joint and several basis, by the Borrowers, Holdings, the Company, and the material domestic direct and indirect restricted 
subsidiaries of the Company, subject to certain exceptions and limitations described in the New ABL Credit Agreement (each a “New Loan Party” and 
collectively, the “New Loan Parties”). All such obligations, including the guarantees of the New ABL Facility, are secured by (i) first priority liens on 
substantially all assets of the New Loan Parties, and (ii) the equity interests in the New Loan Parties other than the Company, in each case, subject to 
certain exceptions and limitations described in the New ABL Credit Agreement.

The New ABL Revolving Loans and the New FILO Loans bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the applicable margin plus, at the Borrowers’ 
option, either: (i) an adjusted term SOFR rate, subject to a floor of 0.00% or (ii) a base rate, subject to a floor of 0.00%, determined as the greatest of (x) the 
prime loan rate as published in The Wall Street Journal, (y) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, and (z) adjusted term SOFR rate for a one-month 
tenor plus 1.00%. The margin applicable to the loans bearing interest based on the adjusted term SOFR rate equals to: (i) with respect to the New ABL 
Revolving Loans, 4.00% and (ii) with respect to the New FILO Loans, 6.00%. The margin applicable to the loans bearing interest based on the base rate 
equals to: (i) with respect to the New ABL Revolving Loans, 3.00% and (ii) with respect to the New FILO Loans, 5.00%. The applicable margins are 
subject to a 0.50% increase on March 31, 2024 and an incremental 0.50% increase on June 30, 2024 if the Parent Borrower has, as of such date, not yet 
delivered to the New ABL Agent an audited consolidated balance sheet and related statements of income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows of the 
Company and its subsidiaries as of the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022. The Borrowers are required to pay interest on overdue principal or 
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interest at the rate equal to 2.00% per annum in excess of the applicable interest rate under the New ABL Facility to the extent lawful.

Outstanding loans under the New ABL Credit Agreement are subject to an intercreditor agreement by and among the New ABL Agent, as the First 
Priority Representative for the First Priority Secured Parties and Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as the Second Priority Representative for the 
Second Priority Secured Parties (in each case, as defined therein) (the “Intercreditor Agreement”). The Intercreditor Agreement provides, among other 
things, that the liens securing the obligations under the Second Lien Notes rank junior in priority to the liens securing the obligations under the New ABL 
Credit Agreement.

The Borrowers are required to pay a quarterly commitment fee to each ABL Revolving Lender (as defined in the New ABL Credit Agreement), 
which accrues at a rate per annum equal to 0.50% on the average daily unused portion of such ABL Revolving Lender’s commitments under the New ABL 
Revolving Facility. The Borrowers are also required to pay participation fees and fronting fees with respect to letters of credit participation and issuance.

Borrowings under the New ABL Credit Agreement may be used to (i) refinance indebtedness under the prepetition asset-based revolving credit 
facility and (ii) finance the working capital needs and other general corporate purposes of the Parent Borrower and its subsidiaries. Availability of 
borrowings of New ABL Revolving Loans under the New ABL Credit Agreement is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including, after giving 
effect to any such borrowings, aggregate credit exposure of lenders under the New ABL Credit Agreement not exceeding the lesser of the aggregate 
unblocked commitments and the borrowing base at such time. Borrowings of the New FILO Loans are only available on the Effective Date and if repaid or 
prepaid may not be reborrowed.

Under the New ABL Credit Agreement, the borrowing base at any time equals (a) a percentage of eligible inventory, plus (b) a percentage of 
eligible trade receivables, plus (c) a percentage of eligible credit card receivables, less (d) certain reserves.

Mandatory prepayment of loans under the New ABL Credit Agreement is required if the aggregate credit exposure of lenders under the New ABL 
Credit Agreement exceeds the borrowing base at such time. Such a mandatory prepayment would be applied to eliminate the availability shortfall as 
follows: first, to prepay the New ABL Revolving Loans or cash collateralize, backstop or replace letters of credit under the New ABL Facility; and second, 
to prepay the New FILO Loans. The loans under the New ABL Facility may be voluntarily prepaid without premium or penalty, other than customary 
breakage costs. Voluntary prepayments of loans under the New ABL Credit Agreement are applied to satisfy New FILO Loan obligations only after other 
outstanding loan obligations and letter of credit reimbursement obligations under the New ABL Credit Agreement are satisfied. Voluntary prepayments of 
New FILO Loans are additionally subject to the satisfaction of the Payment Conditions discussed below.

The New ABL Credit Agreement requires the Borrowers to maintain, at all times, Excess Unadjusted Availability (as defined in the New ABL 
Credit Agreement) of at least the greater of (i) 10.0% of the Total Line Cap (as defined in the New ABL Credit Agreement) and (ii) $46 million.

The New ABL Credit Agreement contains negative covenants that limit, among other things, the Borrowers’ ability and the ability of their restricted 
subsidiaries to: (i) incur, assume, or guarantee additional indebtedness; (ii) create, incur, or assume liens; (iii) make investments; (iv) merge or consolidate 
with or into any other person or undergo certain other fundamental changes; (v) transfer or sell assets; (vi) pay dividends or distributions on capital stock or 
redeem or repurchase capital stock; (vii) enter into transactions with certain affiliates; (viii) repay or redeem certain indebtedness; (ix) sell stock of its 
subsidiaries; or (x) enter into certain burdensome agreements. These negative covenants are subject to a number of important limitations and exceptions. 
The Borrowers and their restricted subsidiaries can make certain acquisitions, restrictive payments, payments of certain indebtedness and investments if, 
after giving pro forma effect to such transactions, the “Payment Conditions” (as defined in the New ABL Credit Agreement) are met, which include, among 
other things: (i) 90-Day Excess Availability and Excess Availability (each as defined in the New ABL Credit Agreement) are equal to or greater than the 
greater of (x) 25.0% of the Total Line Cap and (y) $120 million and (ii) the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the New ABL Credit Agreement) is 
at least 1.00 to 1.00.

Additionally, the New ABL Credit Agreement contains other covenants, representations and warranties, and events of default that are customary for 
a financing of this type. Events of default include, among other things, nonpayment of principal or interest, breach of covenants, breach of representations 
and warranties, failure to pay final judgments in excess of a specified threshold, failure of a guarantee to remain in effect, failure of a collateral 
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document to create an effective security interest in collateral, bankruptcy and insolvency events, cross-default to other material indebtedness, and a change 
of control. The occurrence of any event of default under the ABL Credit Agreement would permit all obligations under the New ABL Facility to be 
declared due and payable immediately and all commitments thereunder to be terminated.

Second Lien Notes

On the Effective Date, PCHI issued $232.4 million in aggregate principal amount of Second Lien Notes. The Second Lien Notes are scheduled to 
mature on January 11, 2029. Interest on the Second Lien Notes accrues at a rate of 12.00% per annum, payable, at the Company’s option, either in cash or 
by increasing the amount of the Second Lien Notes outstanding, on February 15, May 15, August 15, and November 15 of each year, commencing 
February 15, 2024.

The Second Lien Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture (the “Second Lien Notes Indenture”), by and among the Company, the guarantors party 
thereto, and Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as trustee, collateral agent, paying agent, and registrar.

The Second Lien Notes are jointly and severally irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior secured basis by certain subsidiaries of the 
Company, including all “New Loan Parties” (other than the Company) under the New ABL Credit Agreement. The Second Lien Notes and such guarantees 
are secured by second priority liens on the assets subject to liens securing the New ABL Facility, including the equity interests of each guarantor of the 
Second Lien Notes, all assets owned by the Company as of the Effective Date or acquired thereafter, certain assets related thereto, and substantially all 
other assets of the Company and such guarantors, in each case, subject to certain exceptions and limitations. The outstanding Second Lien Notes are subject 
to the Intercreditor Agreement. The following is a brief description of the material provisions of the Second Lien Notes Indenture and the Second Lien 
Notes.

On or after April 11, 2025, the Company may redeem all of the Second Lien Notes at 100% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid 
interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. The Company may also redeem the Second Lien Notes, in whole or in part, at any time and from 
time to time prior to April 11, 2025 at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount, plus the Applicable Premium (as defined in the Second 
Lien Notes Indenture), plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the applicable redemption date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a 
Change of Control (as defined in the Second Lien Notes Indenture) occurs, then, within 60 days of such Change of Control, the Company must offer to 
purchase all outstanding Second Lien Notes at a redemption price equal to 101% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but 
excluding, the date of purchase.

The Second Lien Notes Indenture contains covenants that limit, among other things, the ability of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries to: (i) 
incur, assume, or guarantee additional indebtedness; (ii) pay dividends or distributions on capital stock or redeem or repurchase capital stock; (iii) make 
investments; (iv) repay or redeem junior debt; (v) sell stock of its subsidiaries; (vi) transfer or sell assets; (vii) create, incur, or assume liens; or (viii) enter 
into transactions with certain affiliates. These covenants are subject to a number of important limitations and exceptions.

The Second Lien Notes Indenture also provides for certain customary events of default, including, among other things, nonpayment of principal or 
interest, breach of covenants, failure to pay final judgments in excess of a specified threshold, failure of a guarantee to remain in effect, failure of a security 
document to create an effective security interest in collateral, bankruptcy and insolvency events, and cross acceleration, which would permit the principal, 
premium, if any, interest, and other monetary obligations on all the then outstanding Second Lien Notes to be declared due and payable immediately.

Registration Rights Agreement

On the Effective Date, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement (the “Registration Rights Agreement”) with certain parties who 
received New PCHI Shares under the Plan (“RRA Shareholders”). Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, following the completion of an initial 
public offering (as defined in the Registration Rights Agreement, an “IPO”), the Company will file a shelf registration statement promptly, no later than a 
date that is 30 days following the later of the IPO and the date of the expiration of the lockup agreement with the underwriters in such IPO. However, the 
Company is not required to file the shelf registration statement unless 
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RRA Shareholders request the inclusion of Registrable Securities (as defined in the Registration Rights Agreement) constituting at least 25% of all 
Registrable Securities.

The RRA Shareholders also have demand registration rights, provided that such RRA Shareholders request the inclusion of Registrable Securities 
constituting at least 25% of all Registrable Securities or the gross proceeds of the offering are expected to be at least $50 million, and customary piggyback 
registration rights.

The Company will generally pay all registration expenses in connection with its obligations under the Registration Rights Agreement, regardless of 
whether a registration statement is filed or becomes effective. The registration rights granted in the Registration Rights Agreement are subject to customary 
indemnification and contribution provisions, as well as customary restrictions such as blackout periods.

Stockholders’ Agreement

On the Effective Date, the Company entered into a stockholders agreement (the “Stockholders Agreement”) with holders of common stock of the 
Company (the “Stockholders”), pursuant to which each of the Stockholders agreed to certain restrictions on the transfer of the common stock of the 
Company and the Company agreed (i) to provide to certain Stockholders the right to designate directors of the board, subject to certain limitations, (ii) to 
certain limitations and obligations on its operations without Stockholder approval and (iii) to provide certain information to the Stockholders. Pursuant to 
the Plan, each holder of common stock of the Company on the Effective Date was deemed to be a party to, and bound by, the Stockholders Agreement, 
regardless of whether such holder executed a signature page thereto.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

On the Effective Date, pursuant to the Plan:

• 36,879 New PCHI Shares were issued pro rata to holders of Secured Notes Claims in partial exchange for the cancellation of the 
Secured Notes (as defined in the Plan), representing 0.3% of all shares issued at emergence;

• 3,516,079 New PCHI Shares were issued to holders of Secured Notes Claims (or their designees) in exchange for exercising 
Subscription Rights under the Rights Offering, representing 26.3% of all shares issued at emergence; 

• 118,535 New PCHI Shares were issued to certain holders of Secured Notes Claims that purchased in connection with their Backstop 
Commitments (as defined in the Backstop Agreement), the New PCHI Shares that were offered in the Rights Offering and not 
properly subscribed for, representing 0.9% of all shares issued at emergence;

• 363,462 New PCHI Shares were issued to certain holders of Secured Notes Claims in exchange for providing $75 million of Backstop 
Commitments to the Debtors in connection with the Rights Offering, representing 2.7% of all shares issued at emergence; and

• 9,339,564 New PCHI Shares were issued to holders of Allowed DIP Claims on account of such holders’ DIP Loans (each as defined 
in the Plan), representing 69.8% of all shares issued at emergence.

Subsequent Event - Anagram Bankruptcy

On November 8, 2023 (the “Anagram Petition Date”), the Anagram Entities (collectively, the “Anagram Debtors”) filed voluntary petitions (the 
“Anagram Chapter 11 Cases”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas (the “Anagram Bankruptcy Court”) seeking relief 
under the Bankruptcy Code. The Company and certain of its domestic subsidiaries were not included in the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases and continue to 
operate in the ordinary course of business throughout the duration of the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases. On November 8, 2023, the Anagram Bankruptcy 
Court granted the Anagram Debtors’ motion to jointly administer the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases for procedural purposes only under the caption In re: 
Anagram Holdings, LLC, et. al. (Case No. 23-90901). To ensure its ability to continue operating in the ordinary course of business, the Anagram Debtors 
also filed with the Anagram Bankruptcy Court a variety of motions seeking “first-day” relief, which were approved by the Anagram Bankruptcy Court and 
permitted the Anagram Debtors to operate in the ordinary course during the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases and included the interim approval of a debtor-in-
possession ABL facility (the “Anagram DIP ABL Facility”) and a debtor-in-possession note purchase agreement and notes indenture (the facility 
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issued thereunder, the “Anagram DIP Notes Facility”). The Anagram Debtors continue to operate their business and manage their properties as “debtors-in-
possession” in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and orders of the Anagram Bankruptcy Court throughout the duration of 
the Anagram Chapter 11 Cases.

The Anagram Entities subsequently received final approval from the Anagram Bankruptcy Court for the Anagram DIP Notes Facility  ($22 million 
new money commitment) and the Anagram DIP ABL Facility ($15 million gradual roll-up of the Anagram Entities’ prepetition asset-based lending 
facility).

On November 8, 2023, the Anagram Entities filed certain documents with the Anagram Bankruptcy Court disclosing that an agreement was reached 
with a group of their lenders as the “Stalking Horse” bidder to acquire substantially all of Anagram’s assets through a credit bid with a value of at least 
$175 million in a Section 363 transaction under the Bankruptcy Code, subject to higher or otherwise better offers and court approval. As part of this 
agreement, the “Stalking Horse” bidder committed to hire all Anagram employees and assume all pre and post-petition trade payables. No other bids were 
received other than the Stalking Horse bid prior to the bid deadline of December 15, 2023. The sale hearing was held on December 22, 2023, during which 
the Anagram Bankruptcy Court approved  the sale to the Stalking Horse bidder. The sale formally closed on December 29, 2023.

The Anagram Chapter 11 Cases was a reconsideration event for PCHI to reevaluate whether consolidation of Anagram continues to be appropriate. 
We have concluded that the power to make material decisions for Anagram has been transferred to the Bankruptcy Court, and, therefore, PCHI no longer 
controls Anagram as of the Anagram Petition Date (November 8, 2023). Accordingly, we concluded that PCHI should deconsolidate Anagram effective on 
the Anagram Petition Date. As such, amounts presented in the Company’s future financial statements and notes thereto will exclude the operating results, 
cash flows, assets, liabilities, and equity of Anagram subsequent to November 8, 2023.

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of all majority-owned subsidiaries and controlled entities. All 
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

The Company’s retail operations define a fiscal year (“Fiscal Year”) as the 52-week period or 53-week period ended on the Saturday nearest 
December 31st of each year and define their fiscal quarters (“Fiscal Quarter”) as the four interim 13-week periods following the end of the previous Fiscal 
Year, except in the case of a 53-week Fiscal Year when the fourth Fiscal Quarter is extended to 14 weeks. Fiscal 2022 was a 52-week year for our retail 
operations. The consolidated financial statements of the Company combine the Fiscal Year and Fiscal Quarters of the Company’s retail operations with the 
calendar year and calendar quarters of the Company’s wholesale operations, as the differences are not significant. 

Due to the fact that the Chapter 11 filing occurred after the balance sheet date in this report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements as 
of and for the period ending December 31, 2022 have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the 
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The accompanying consolidated financial statements do not reflect any adjustments to liabilities 
and assets that resulted from the Bankruptcy Court’s confirmation of our reorganization plan on October 12, 2023. During the Chapter 11 Cases, the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern was contingent upon the Company’s ability to successfully implement the Company’s reorganization 
plan, among other factors. As a result of the effectiveness and ongoing implementation of the reorganization plan, management believes there is no longer 
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Management periodically evaluates estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements for continued reasonableness. Appropriate adjustments, if any, to the estimates used are made prospectively based on such periodic evaluations. 
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Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents. All credit card transactions 
that process in less than seven days are classified as cash and cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2022, cash and cash equivalents included credit card 
receivables of $33.4 million. 

The Company maintains the majority of its cash in accounts with major financial institutions within and outside of the United States. Deposits in 
these institutions may exceed the amounts of insurance provided, or deposits may not be covered by insurance. The Company has not experienced losses on 
its deposits of cash and cash equivalents. 

Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. In assessing the ultimate realization of inventories, the Company makes 
judgments regarding, among other things, future demand and market conditions, current inventory levels, and the impact of the possible discontinuation of 
product designs. 

The Company principally determines the cost of inventory using the weighted average method. 

The Company estimates retail inventory shrinkage for the period between physical inventory dates on a store-by-store basis. Inventory shrinkage 
estimates can be affected by changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual shortage trends. The shrinkage rate from the most recent physical inventory, 
in combination with historical experience, is the basis for estimating shrinkage. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

See Note 20 for details.

Long-Lived and Intangible Assets (including Goodwill and Trade Names) 

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation for Property, plant, and equipment is recorded using 
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. 

The Company reviews the recoverability of its finite long-lived assets, including finite-lived intangible assets, whenever facts and circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be fully recoverable. For purposes of recognizing and measuring impairment, the Company evaluates long-lived 
assets/asset groups, other than goodwill, based upon the lowest level of independent cash flows ascertainable to evaluate impairment. If an impairment 
indicator exists, we compare the undiscounted future cash flows of the asset/asset group to the carrying value of the asset/asset group. If the sum of the 
undiscounted future cash flows is less than or approximates the carrying value of the asset/asset group, we would then calculate discounted future cash 
flows based on market participant assumptions. If the sum of discounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of the asset/asset group, we would 
recognize an impairment loss. The impairment related to long-lived assets is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset(s) exceeds 
the fair value of the asset(s).

In the evaluation of the fair value and future benefits of finite long-lived assets attached to retail stores, the Company performs its cash flow analysis 
generally on a store-by-store basis. The fair values of store long-lived assets are determined based on estimated future discounted cash flows. Various 
factors, including future sales growth, profit margins, and store closure plans are included in this analysis. See Note 3 for further information regarding 
store and other long-lived asset impairments.

Goodwill is reviewed for potential impairment annually on October 1st or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying value of goodwill might exceed its current fair value. For purposes of testing goodwill for impairment, reporting units are determined by 
identifying operating segments within the Company’s organization which constitute a business for which discrete financial information is available and is 
reviewed by management. Components within an operating segment are aggregated to the extent that they have similar economic characteristics. Based on 
this evaluation, the Company has determined that its operating segments, wholesale and retail, represent reporting units for the purposes of its goodwill 
impairment test. 

If it is concluded that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, the Company estimates the fair 
value of the reporting unit using a combination of market and income approaches. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an 
impairment loss will be recognized in an amount equal to such excess.
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The fair value of the Company’s reporting units is based upon the best information available that incorporates assumptions marketplace participants 
would use in their estimates of fair value. Significant assumptions are used in determining appropriate discount rates and terminal growth rates, market 
multiples, and other assumptions. To forecast a reporting unit’s future cash flows, the Company takes into consideration current and future economic 
conditions and trends, management’s and a market participant’s view of revenue and EBITDA growth rates, and risk-adjusted discount rates. 
Macroeconomic factors such as changes in economies, changes in the competitive landscape, and other changes beyond the Company’s control could have 
a positive or negative impact on achieving its growth rate targets. See Note 4 for further information regarding goodwill impairments recorded in the 
periods covered by this report.

Our trade names are treated as indefinite-lived intangible assets and are tested for impairment annually on October 1st or more frequently if 
circumstances indicate a possible impairment. When performing a quantitative impairment assessment of our trade name indefinite-lived intangible assets, 
the fair value of the trade names is estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis based on the “relief from royalty” method, assuming that a third-party 
would be willing to pay a royalty in lieu of ownership for this intangible asset. This approach is dependent on many factors, including estimates of royalty 
rates and discount rates. Actual future results may differ from these estimates. An impairment loss is recognized when the estimated fair value of the 
indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than its carrying amount. See Note 8 for further information regarding trade name impairments recorded in the 
periods covered by this report.

Deferred Financing Costs 

Deferred financing costs are netted against amounts outstanding under the related debt instruments. They are amortized to interest expense over the 
terms of the instruments using the effective interest method. 

Equity Method Investments 

The Company has investments in Convergram Mexico, S. De R.L. De C.V., a joint venture distributing metallic balloons, principally in Mexico and 
Latin America and a joint venture for its costume sourcing and manufacturing business in Asia that are accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting. The Company concluded that it is not the primary beneficiary in either of these joint ventures and therefore accounts for these investments 
under the equity method. See Variable Interest Entities section below for additional information.

The Company’s investments are included in Other assets, net on the consolidated balance sheets, and its share of the results of the investees’ 
operations are included in Other (income) expense, net, in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income. See Note 11. 

Insurance Accruals 

The Company maintains certain self-insured workers’ compensation and general liability insurance plans. The Company estimates the required 
liability for claims under such plans based upon various assumptions, which include, but are not limited to, historical loss experience, projected loss 
development factors, actual payroll, and other data. The required liability is also subject to adjustment in the future based upon changes in claims 
experience, including changes in the frequency and/or severity of incidents.

Revenue Recognition 

Retail 

Revenue from retail store operations is recognized at the point of sale as control of the product is transferred to the customer at such time. Retail e-
commerce sales are recognized when the consumer receives the product as control transfers upon delivery. Due to its extensive history operating as a party 
goods retailer in North America, the Company has sufficient history with which to estimate future retail sales returns and it uses the expected value method 
to estimate such activity. 

The transaction price for the Company’s retail sales is based on either: 1) the item’s stated price or 2) the stated price adjusted for the impact of a 
coupon which can only be applied to such transaction. To the extent that the Company charges customers for freight costs on e-commerce sales, the 
Company records such amounts in revenue. The Company excludes all sales taxes and value-added taxes from revenue. 

Under the terms of its agreements with its franchisees, the Company provides both brand value (via significant advertising spend) and support with 
respect to planograms, in exchange for a royalty fee that ranges from 4% to 6% 
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of the franchisees’ sales. The Company records the royalty fees when the franchisees’ sales are recorded. Additionally, when a franchisee opens a new 
store, the Company receives and records a one-time fee which is earned by the Company for its assistance with site selection and development of the new 
location, though the Company anticipates that future franchise store openings will be limited. Both the sales-based royalty fee and the one-time fee are 
recorded in Net sales in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income. 

Wholesale 

For most of the Company’s wholesale sales, control transfers upon the Company’s shipment of the product. Wholesale sales returns are not 
significant as the Company generally only accepts the return of goods that were shipped to the customer in error or that were damaged when received by 
the customer. Additionally, due to its extensive history operating as a party goods wholesaler, the Company has sufficient history with which to estimate 
future sales returns. 

In most cases, the determination of the transaction price is fixed based on the contract and/or purchase order. To the extent that the Company charges 
customers for freight costs, the Company records such amounts in revenue. The Company excludes all sales taxes and value-added taxes from revenue. 

The majority of the sales for the Company’s wholesale business are due within 30 to 120 days from the transfer of control of the product, and 
substantially all sales are collected within a year from such transfer. For all transactions for which the Company expects to collect the transaction price 
within a year from the transfer of control, the Company does not adjust the consideration for the effects of a significant financing component. 

Cost of Sales 

Wholesale cost of sales include the production costs (i.e., raw materials, labor, and overhead) of manufactured goods and the direct cost of 
purchased goods, inventory shrinkage, inventory adjustments, inbound freight to the Company’s manufacturing and distribution facilities, distribution 
costs, and outbound freight to transfer goods to the Company’s wholesale customers. Retail cost of sales include the direct costs of goods purchased from 
third parties and the production costs/purchase costs of goods acquired from the Company’s wholesale operations. Retail cost of sales also includes 
inventory shrinkage, inventory adjustments, inbound freight, occupancy costs related to store operations (such as rent, utilities and common area 
maintenance), depreciation on assets, and all logistics costs (i.e., handling and distribution costs) associated with the Company’s e-commerce business. 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 

Selling, general and administrative expenses include wholesale selling expenses, retail operating expenses, art and development costs, and other 
operating expenses. 

Wholesale selling expenses include the costs associated with our wholesale sales and marketing efforts, including merchandising and customer 
service. Such costs include the salaries and benefits of the related work force, including sales-based bonuses and commissions, as well as catalog and 
showroom expenses, travel, and other operating costs. Certain selling expenses, such as sales-based bonuses and commissions, vary in proportion to sales, 
while other costs vary based on other factors, such as our marketing efforts, or are largely fixed and do not necessarily increase as sales volumes increase. 

Retail operating expenses include all of the costs associated with retail store operations, excluding occupancy-related costs included in cost of sales. 
Costs include store payroll and benefits, advertising, supplies, and credit card costs. Retail expenses are largely variable but do not necessarily vary in 
proportion to net sales. 

Art and development costs include the costs associated with art production, creative development, and product management, and all operating costs 
and franchise expenses not included elsewhere in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income. Costs include the salaries 
and benefits of the related work force. These expenses generally do not vary proportionally with net sales. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses also include all operating costs and franchise expenses not included elsewhere in the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income. These expenses include payroll and other expenses related to operations at our corporate 
offices, including occupancy costs, related depreciation and amortization, legal and professional fees, stock and equity-based compensation and data-
processing costs. These expenses generally do not vary proportionally with net sales.
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Shipping and Handling 

Outbound shipping costs billed to customers are included in net sales. The costs of shipping and handling incurred by the Company are included in 
cost of sales. 

Product Royalty Agreements 

The Company enters into product royalty agreements that allow the Company to use licensed designs on certain of its products. These contracts 
require the Company to pay royalties generally based on the sales of such products and may require guaranteed minimum royalties, a portion of which may 
be paid in advance. The Company matches royalty expense with revenue by recording royalties at the time of sale, at the greater of the contractual rate or 
an effective rate calculated based on the guaranteed minimum royalty and the Company’s estimate of sales during the contract period. If a portion of the 
guaranteed minimum royalty is determined to be unrecoverable, the unrecoverable portion is charged to expense at that time. Guaranteed minimum 
royalties paid in advance are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets in either prepaid expenses and other current assets or other assets, net, depending 
on the nature of the royalties. Product royalty is recorded within Cost of sales in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) 
income. 

Advertising 

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Retail advertising expenses for the years ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021, and December 
31, 2020 were $50.9 million, $55.3 million, and $61.0 million, respectively. 

Variable Interest Entities 

When determining whether a legal entity should be consolidated, the Company first determines whether it has a variable interest in the legal entity. 
If a variable interest exists, the Company determines whether the legal entity is a variable interest entity due to either: 1) a lack of sufficient equity to 
finance its activities; 2) the equity holders lacking the characteristics of a controlling financial interest; or 3) the legal entity being structured with non-
substantive voting rights. If the Company concludes that the legal entity is a variable interest entity, the Company next determines whether it is the primary 
beneficiary due to it possessing both: 1) the power to direct the activities of a variable interest entity that most significantly impact the variable interest 
entity’s economic performance; and 2) the obligation to absorb losses of the variable interest entity that potentially could be significant to the variable 
interest entity or the right to receive benefits from the variable interest entity which could be significant to the variable interest entity. If the Company 
concludes that it is the primary beneficiary, it consolidates the legal entity. See Equity Method Investments section above.

There were no variable interest entities as of December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020. Refer to Note 21 – Kazzam, LLC for additional information.

Derivative Financial Instruments 

ASC Topic 815, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” requires that all derivative financial instruments be recognized on 
the consolidated balance sheets at fair value and establishes criteria for both the designation and effectiveness of hedging activities. The Company uses 
derivatives in the management of interest rate and foreign currency exposure. ASC Topic 815 requires the Company to formally document the assets, 
liabilities or other transactions the Company designates as hedged items, the risk being hedged and the relationship between the hedged items and the 
hedging instruments. The Company must measure the effectiveness of the hedging relationship at the inception of the hedge and on an on-going basis. 

If derivative financial instruments qualify as fair value hedges, the gain or loss on the instrument and the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item 
attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in net income during the period of the change in fair values. For derivative financial instruments that qualify 
as cash flow hedges (i.e., hedging the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk), the effective portion of 
the gain or loss on the derivative instrument is reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income and reclassified into net income 
in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The ineffective portion of a cash flow hedge, if any, is determined based 
on the dollar-offset method (i.e., the gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument in excess of the cumulative change in the present value of future 
cash flows of the hedged item) and is recognized in net income during the period of change. 
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As long as hedge effectiveness is maintained, foreign currency exchange agreements qualify for hedge accounting as cash flow hedges. 

The company’s derivative financial instruments expired in 2021, and the Company did not enter into any derivative financial instruments in 2022.

Income Taxes 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities (and 
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards) applying enacted statutory tax rates in effect for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. 
Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the judgment of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the 
deferred tax assets will not be realized. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

The Company measures the cost for all stock-based awards at the grant date fair value and recognizes the related compensation expense over the 
requisite service period based on the amount of awards expected to vest. Stock-based compensation expense is recorded net of estimated forfeitures based 
on historical experience.

In 2022, the Company granted performance-based restricted stock units (“PRSUs”) to certain executive officers and other employees that vest only 
if certain annual and cumulative cash flow and earnings per share targets are met over a 3-year period. For such awards, management must assess the 
likelihood and extent to which such targets will be met to determine the amount of compensation expense to be recorded each reporting period.

In 2020, the Company granted PRSUs and Restricted Cash awards with market conditions to certain executive officers and other employees. The 
performance period for such awards is three years from the grant date. The PRSUs and Restricted Cash awards become earned in a given period if the 
volume weighted average of the fair market value per share of the Common Stock meets or exceeds $2.50, $5.00, $7.50, and $10.00, respectively, for a 
period of not less than 90 consecutive trading days on the New York Stock Exchange and are subject to up to 2 years of service-vesting after the 
achievement of these thresholds. The PRSUs and Restricted Cash awards are measured at fair value based on Monte Carlo simulation models. The PRSUs 
are settled in Party City common stock and are accounted for as equity awards, and the Restricted Cash awards are settled in cash and are accounted for as 
liability awards. 

See Note 13 for further details regarding the Company’s stock-based compensation.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consists of the Company’s foreign currency adjustments. See Note 19. 

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation 

For the Company’s foreign operations, the functional currency is the local currency in which they operate. Foreign currency exchange gains or 
losses resulting from receivables or payables in currencies other than the functional currencies generally are recognized in the Company’s consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income. The balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates 
in effect on the balance sheet date. The results of operations of foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rates effective 
for the periods presented. The differences from historical exchange rates are recorded as comprehensive (loss) income and are included as a component of 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). 

Loss Per Share 

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common shareholders of Party City Holdco Inc. by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding for the period. In reporting periods with net income attributable to common shareholders of Party City Holdco Inc., 
diluted earnings per share are calculated based on the weighted average number of outstanding common shares plus the dilutive effect of stock options and 
warrants, as if they were exercised, and restricted stock units and PRSU’s, as if they vested. 
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The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is as follows: 
 
    Year ended December 31,  
    2022     2021     2020  
Net loss attributable to common shareholders of
   Party City Holdco Inc.:   $ (942,630 )   $ (6,528 )   $ (528,238 )

Weighted average shares — Basic and Diluted:     112,911,368       110,980,934       100,804,944  
Net loss per share attributable to common
   shareholders of Party City Holdco Inc. — 
   Basic and Diluted:   $ (8.35 )   $ (0.06 )   $ (5.24 )

During the year ended December 31, 2022, 3,129,830 restricted stock units, 3,274,913 performance restricted stock units and 885,862 stock options 
were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common shareholders of Party City Holdco Inc. – diluted as they were anti-
dilutive. During the year ended December 31, 2021, 1,514,010 restricted stock units, 4,653,373 performance restricted stock units and 1,032,219 stock 
options were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common shareholders of Party City Holdco Inc. – diluted as they 
were anti-dilutive. During the year ended December 31, 2020, 3,240,461 stock options, 1,000,000 warrants, 787,313 restricted stock units, and 1,206,723 
performance restricted stock units were excluded from the calculations of net loss per share attributable to common shareholders of Party City Holdco Inc. 
– diluted as they were anti-dilutive. 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

In November 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-10, Government Assistance (Topic 832), Disclosures by Business Entities About Government 
Assistance, which requires entities to provide disclosures on material government assistance transactions for annual reporting periods. The disclosures 
include information around the nature of the assistance, the related accounting policies used to account for government assistance, the effect of government 
assistance on the entity’s financial statements, and any significant terms and conditions of the agreements, including commitments and contingencies. The 
new standard was effective for the Company on January 1, 2022 and only impacts annual financial statement footnote disclosures. The adoption did not 
have any effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Scope, which clarified the scope and application of ASU 
2020-04. In December 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-06, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848, which defers 
the sunset date of the reference rate reform guidance to December 31, 2024. This guidance may be elected over time, through December 31, 2024, as 
reference rate reform activities occur. Once ASU 2020-04 is elected, the guidance must be applied prospectively for all eligible contract modifications. In 
July 2022, the Company amended its asset-based revolving credit facility to use the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) as a reference rate rather 
than London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). The Company elected to apply this guidance which preserves the presentation of the loan consistent with 
the presentation prior to the modification.

Note 3 — Store and Other Long-Lived Asset Impairments

During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, the Company recorded the impairment charges reported in Store and other long-lived 
asset impairments in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income as follows:

2022 Impairment Charges: During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company performed an impairment assessment of store and other long-
lived assets as a result of a decline in financial performance, its contemplation of bankruptcy and related store closure plans, and the cessation of certain 
information system projects. The Company also vacated certain office space in 2022. Based on these developments, the Company 
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recorded $23.3 million of impairment charges on lease assets, property, plant, and equipment, and other assets for the year ended December 31, 2022 as 
follows:

• Store assets impairment ($9.6 million, of which $8.4 million related to lease assets and $1.2 million related to property, plant, and 
equipment)

• Vacated office space ($6.8 million, of which $5.0 million related to lease assets and $1.8 million related to property, plant, and 
equipment)

• Cessation of information system projects ($6.8 million, of which $1.9 million related to property, plant, and equipment and $4.9 
million related to other assets)

2021 Impairment Charges: During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized property, plant, and equipment impairment charges 
of $9.0 million primarily related to the closure of a manufacturing facility in New Mexico discussed within Note 5.

2020 Impairment Charges: During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company performed a comprehensive review of its store locations aimed 
at improving the overall productivity of such locations (“store optimization program”) and, after careful consideration and evaluation of the store locations, 
the Company made the decision to accelerate the optimization of its store portfolio. In 2020, 21 stores were identified for closure in the first quarter of 2020 
and were closed in the third quarter. These closings provided the Company with capital flexibility to expand into underserved markets. In addition, the 
Company evaluated the recoverability of long-lived assets at the open stores and recorded an impairment charge associated with the operating lease asset 
and property, plant, and equipment for open stores where sales were affected due to the outbreak of, and local, state, and federal governmental responses to, 
COVID-19. As a result of these actions, the Company recorded $22.4 million in store and other long-lived asset impairment charges for the year ended 
December 31, 2020.

Note 4 – Goodwill

As of December 31, 2022, the Company's goodwill balance was $100.4 million, all of which was related to the retail reporting unit. As of December 
31, 2021, the Company’s goodwill balance was $664.3 million, of which $331.7 million and $332.6 million was for the wholesale and retail reporting units, 
respectively. The decrease in goodwill was attributable to impairments recorded in the third and fourth quarters of 2022, as discussed in more detail below.

In the third quarter of 2022, impairment indicators were identified that suggested the carrying values of the wholesale and retail reporting units 
could exceed their fair values. Such impairment indicators included the recent performance of the reporting units, revised projections of future cash flows 
that were lower than previous projections, and a continuing decline in the Company’s market capitalization. To test for potential impairment of goodwill 
related to our wholesale and retail reporting units, we prepared an estimate of the fair value of these reporting units based on a combination of a market-
based valuation method (utilizing earnings multiples of similarly situated guideline public companies) and an income approach that uses projected 
discounted cash flows.

 Based on these valuations of the wholesale and retail reporting units, the Company recognized a non-cash pre-tax goodwill impairment charge of 
$288.4 million in the wholesale reporting unit in the third quarter of 2022.

In the fourth quarter of 2022, additional impairment indicators were identified that suggested the carrying values of the wholesale and retail 
reporting units could exceed their fair values, as the Company reduced its sales projections for 2023, continued to experience a decline in its market 
capitalization, and, most notably, began to contemplate filing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy for the Company and certain of its subsidiaries. Subsequent to 
December 31, 2022, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 on January 17, 2023 (see Note 1). In light of these 
circumstances, we tested the goodwill related to our wholesale and retail reporting units for impairment in the fourth quarter of 2022 using the same 
market-based and income-based approach utilized in the third quarter.

Based on these valuations of the wholesale and retail reporting units, the Company recognized a non-cash pre-tax goodwill impairment charge of 
$60.3 million in the wholesale reporting unit and $219.9 million in the retail reporting unit for a total goodwill impairment charge of $280.2 million 
recognized in the fourth quarter of 2022.
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For the year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized pre-tax goodwill impairment charges of $348.7 million in the wholesale reporting unit and 
$219.9 million in the retail reporting unit for a total goodwill impairment charge of $568.6 million recognized in 2022, which is included within Goodwill 
and intangible asset impairments in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income.

There were no goodwill impairments recorded in 2021. However, goodwill did decrease in 2021 by $1.5 million within the wholesale reporting unit 
due to the divestiture of our international business and foreign currency translation. In addition, the retail reporting unit had an increase in goodwill of $4.5 
million in 2021 due to store acquisitions.

In the first quarter of 2020, the Company identified intangible assets’ impairment indicators associated with its market capitalization and 
significantly reduced customer demand for its products due to COVID-19. As a result, the Company performed interim impairment tests on the goodwill at 
its retail and wholesale reporting units and its other indefinite lived intangible assets as of March 31, 2020. The interim impairment tests were performed 
using an income approach. The Company recognized non-cash pre-tax goodwill impairment charges at March 31, 2020 of $253.1 million and $148.3 
million against the goodwill associated with its retail and wholesale reporting units, respectively.

Note 5 – Disposition of Assets

In December 2021, the Company announced the closure of a manufacturing facility in New Mexico. The facility ceased operations in February 
2022. In December 2021, the Company recorded charges of $11.6 million consisting primarily of equipment and inventory impairments of $8.7 million and 
$2.4 million, respectively, and severance and other costs of $0.5 million. The equipment impairment is reflected within store and other long-lived assets 
impairment, the inventory impairment charge is reflected within Cost of sales and the remaining charges are reflected within Selling, general and 
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income and are included in the Wholesale segment.

In January 2021, the Company closed the previously disclosed sale of a substantial portion of its international operations. As a result, the company 
recorded a loss reserve of $73.9 million in 2020 for the assets that were disposed. The announced sale had a total transaction value of approximately $50.7 
million. The Company used the net proceeds to pay down debt.

Note 6 — Inventories, Net 

Inventories consisted of the following: 
 

    December 31,  
    2022     2021  

Finished goods   $ 585,656     $ 393,609  
Raw materials     28,572       25,624  
Work in process     19,132       24,062  
Inventories, net   $ 633,360     $ 443,295  

Inventories, net are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The Company principally determines the cost of inventory using the weighted 
average method.

The Company estimates retail inventory shrinkage for the period between physical inventory dates on a store-by-store basis. Inventory shrinkage 
estimates can be affected by changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual shortage trends. The shrinkage rate from the most recent physical inventory, 
in combination with historical experience, is the basis for estimating shrinkage.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the $190.1 million increase in inventory was primarily due to an increase in seasonal purchases coming off 
low in stock levels in 2021, an increase in raw material and freight costs, and inventory purchases that assumed a higher sales volume in 2022. The 
comparison of inventory to the prior year is also impacted by a reserve for future disposals of $68.7 million recorded in 2021 for inventory that was deemed 
not to be sold in future seasons, and for which there was no comparable reserve recorded in 2022.

See Note 2 for a discussion of the Company’s accounting policies for inventories.
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Note 7 — Property, Plant, and Equipment, Net 

Property, plant, and equipment, net consisted of the following: 
 

    December 31,      
    2022     2021     Useful lives
Machinery and equipment   $ 239,386     $ 245,983     3-15 years
Buildings     6,287       6,277     40 years
Data processing equipment     136,906       131,989     3-5 years
Leasehold improvements     235,115       203,503     1-10 years
Furniture and fixtures     249,508       228,818     5-10 years
Land     180       180      
Property, plant, and equipment, gross     867,382       816,750      
Less: accumulated depreciation     (612,112 )     (594,880 )    
Property, plant, and equipment, net   $ 255,270     $ 221,870      

Depreciation expense related to property, plant and equipment, including assets under finance leases, was $56.9 million, $56.2 million, and $65.1 
million, for the years ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, respectively. Assets under finance leases are principally 
included in buildings and machinery and equipment in the table above. See Notes 3 and 5 for details regarding property, plant, and equipment impairments.

Note 8 — Intangible Assets 

Finite-Lived Intangible Assets: The Company has the following identifiable finite-lived intangible assets, the net carrying value of which is reported 
in other intangible assets, net in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets:

 
    December 31, 2022
 

  Cost    
Accumulated
Amortization    

Net
Carrying

Value     Useful lives
Franchise-related intangible assets   $ 73,225     $ 62,936     $ 10,289     4-19 years
Customer lists and relationships     22,437       19,436       3,001     2-20 years
Copyrights and designs     29,030       29,016       14     5-7 years
Other intangible assets, net   $ 124,692     $ 111,388     $ 13,304      

 
    December 31, 2021

    Cost    
Accumulated
Amortization    

Net
Carrying

Value     Useful lives
Franchise-related intangible assets   $ 73,225     $ 59,311     $ 13,914     4-19 years
Customer lists and relationships     58,911       49,154       9,757     2-20 years
Copyrights and designs     29,030       29,014       16     5-7 years
Other intangibles assets, net   $ 161,166     $ 137,479     $ 23,687      

The Company is amortizing its intangible assets on a straight-line basis over its estimate of the useful lives of the assets. The amortization expense 
for finite-lived intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020 was $6.1 million, $9.1 million, and 
$11.4 million, respectively. Estimated amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets for each of the next five years will be approximately $2.9 
million, $2.5 million, $2.1 million, $1.8 million, and $1.6 million, respectively. 

In consideration of the Company’s contemplation of bankruptcy in the fourth quarter of 2022, it was concluded that certain customer relationship 
assets in the wholesale segment were impaired, and as a result, impairment charges on such assets of $4.9 million were recorded and are included within 
Goodwill and intangible asset impairments on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income in the fourth quarter of 2022.

In the third quarter of 2020, as a result of decreased customer demand for the Company’s products due to COVID-19, it was concluded that certain 
finite-lived intangible assets were impaired. As a result, an impairment 
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charge of $2.4 million was recorded and is included within Goodwill and intangible asset impairments on the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive (loss) income.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets (Trade Names): In addition to the Company’s finite-lived intangible assets, the Company has indefinite-lived 
intangible assets, most notably for the Party City and Amscan trade names. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the carrying values of the Company’s trade 
names were $94.7 million and $383.8 million, respectively.

In the fourth quarter of 2022, impairment indicators were identified that suggested the carrying values of the Company’s trade names could exceed 
their fair values, as the management began to contemplate filing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy for the Company and certain of its subsidiaries. Subsequent to 
December 31, 2022, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 on January 17, 2023. In light of these circumstances, 
the Company tested its indefinite-lived trade names for impairment as of December 31, 2022. To test for potential impairment of our trade names, we 
prepared an estimate of the trade names using a discounted cash flow analysis based on the “relief from royalty” method, assuming that a third-party would 
be willing to pay a royalty in lieu of ownership for this intangible asset. This approach is dependent on many factors, including estimates of royalty rates 
and discount rates.

Based on this valuation, the Company recognized non-cash pre-tax trade name impairment charges of $289.0 million in fourth quarter of 2022, 
which includes a $262.0 million impairment charge against the Party City trade name, and a full impairment of the Amscan trade name and a trade name 
related to ancillary business ($26.0 million and $0.9 million, respectively). These charges are included within Goodwill and intangible asset impairments on 
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income.

In the third and first quarters of 2020, the Company identified impairment indicators associated with the Company’s market capitalization and 
significantly reduced customer demand for its products due to COVID-19 and inevitably concluded that the fair value of certain of its trade names were 
lower than the related book values. As a result, impairment charges of $11.0 million and $135.2 million were recognized during the three months ended 
September 30, 2020 and March 31, 2020, respectively. These charges are included within Goodwill and intangible asset impairments on the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income.

Note 9 — Current and Long-Term Debt Obligations

Presentational Note

Due to the fact that the Chapter 11 Cases occurred after the balance sheet date in this report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements as 
of and for the period ending December 31, 2022 have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the 
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The amount of indebtedness disclosed in this footnote has been prepared on this basis and do not 
reflect any adjustments to liabilities and assets that resulted from the Bankruptcy Court’s confirmation of our reorganization plan on October 12, 2023. 

On January 17, 2023, the Company and certain of its direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries, excluding the Anagram Entities and the Company’s 
foreign subsidiaries, filed voluntary petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code, in the United States Bankruptcy Court for 
the Southern District of Texas, Houston Division. The filing of the voluntary petitions triggered an event of default that accelerated the Company’s 
following debt obligations: a) its 8.750% senior secured first lien notes due 2026 (the “Fixed Rate Notes”); b) its 6.125% senior notes due 2023; c) its 
6.625% senior notes due 2026, and d) its senior secured first lien floating rate notes due 2025 (the “Secured Floating Rate 2025 Notes” and, together with 
the Fixed Rate Notes, the “Secured Notes”). See Note 1 for a further discussion of the Chapter 11 Cases. 

On March 30, 2023, the Anagram Entities notified the agents and trustees under the documents governing its (a) asset-backed revolving credit 
facility (the “Anagram ABL Credit Agreement”), (b) 15.00% senior secured first lien notes due 2025 (the “First Lien Anagram Notes Indenture”), and (c) 
10.00% senior secured second lien notes due 2026 (collectively with the First Lien Anagram Notes Indenture, the “Anagram Notes Indentures,” and 
collectively with the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement, the “Anagram Financing Agreements”) of certain defaults or potential defaults that existed or could 
exist (the “Specified Anagram Defaults”) as a result of, among other things, Anagram International, Inc. making certain tax-related advances to the 
Company from February 2021 to January 2023 that exceeded the limitations in the Anagram Financing Agreements.
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On April 4, 2023, the Anagram Entities and the agent under the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement entered into an agreement pursuant to which the 
required lenders under the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement and the agent waived the Specified Anagram Defaults retroactive to March 1, 2023, and the 
delivery of the Anagram Entities’ 2022 annual audited financial statements without qualification as to “going concern” or scope, and further amended the 
Anagram ABL Credit Agreement and the related security agreement.

On April 21, 2023, the Anagram Entities obtained the Anagram Notes Waivers (as defined herein), with the Anagram Notes Waivers being subject 
to the Anagram Entities obtaining, by May 19, 2023, an agreement on a new contract with a supplier. Anagram did not enter into a new contract with the 
supplier prior to filing for bankruptcy on November 8, 2023. Concurrently, with the effectiveness of the Anagram Notes Waivers, the Anagram Entities 
entered into supplemental indentures pursuant to the Anagram Notes Indentures whereby, among other things, the Anagram Entities were required to make 
additional payments-in-kind to the holders of Anagram Notes in an amount equal to 0.5% of aggregate principal outstanding and thereby increasing the 
principal amount of the Anagram Notes. On May 9, 2023, payments in-kind of $0.6 million and $0.5 million were made on the 15.00% PIK/Cash Senior 
Secured First Lien Notes due 2025 (the “First Lien Anagram Notes”) and the 10.00% PIK/Cash Senior Secured Second Lien Notes due 2026 (the “Second 
Lien Anagram Notes”), respectively.

On August 15, 2023, the Anagram Entities elected to not make the interest payment on the First Lien Anagram Notes. As provided in the indenture 
governing the First Lien Anagram Notes, the Anagram Entities entered the 30-day grace period to make the interest payment. The Anagram Entities did not 
make this interest payment within the grace period and did not make this interest payment prior to filing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy on November 8, 2023.

For information regarding a subsequent event related to Anagram’s Chapter 11 Cases and the developments related to the Stalking Horse bid to 
acquire the Anagram Entities, see “Note 1 - Organization, Description of Business, and Basis of Presentation - Subsequent Event - Anagram Bankruptcy.”

As a result of the Company’s bankruptcy declaration and the Specified Anagram Defaults, all of the Company’s long-term debt ($1.3 billion), with 
the exception of its finance lease obligations, has been classified as a current liability in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022. Any 
efforts to enforce payment obligations on the Debtors’ debt agreements were automatically stayed as a result of the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases and the 
holders’ rights of enforcement in respect of the Debtors’ debt agreements are subject to the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.

Pre-emergence Debt

Prepetition ABL Facility

In February 2021, in conjunction with the issuance of the Fixed Rate Notes, the Company amended its existing Prepetition ABL Facility by 
reducing the commitments from $640.0 million to $475.0 million and extending the maturity to February 2026, or earlier as provided for in the agreement. 
In conjunction with the amendment, the Company wrote off a portion of existing deferred financing costs. Such amount was recorded in Other expense, net 
in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income and included in Gain on debt repayment in the Company’s 
consolidated statements of cash flows. The remaining capitalized costs, and $2.4 million of new third-party costs incurred in conjunction with the 
amendment, were scheduled to be amortized over the revised term of the Prepetition ABL Facility.

The Prepetition ABL Facility was amended twice in 2022. On March 18, 2022, the Prepetition ABL Facility was amended to modify certain 
eligibility criteria with respect to the inventory component of the borrowing base. The changes lengthen the permitted in-transit time for eligible in-transit 
inventory being shipped from a location outside of the United States, subject to a cap on the aggregate amount of foreign in-transit inventory that is eligible 
to be reflected in the borrowing base. 

On July 19, 2022, the Prepetition ABL Facility was further amended (the “July 2022 ABL Amendment”) to increase the aggregate commitments 
under the facility from $475.0 million to $562.1 million. The increase included the establishment of a new $17.1 million asset-based first-in, last-out 
revolving tranche (the “FILO Facility”). Commencing in March 2023, scheduled quarterly payments of the loans under the FILO Facility were required 
equal to 5.55% of the original principal amount of the FILO Facility as in effect on the date of the July 2022 ABL Amendment (with a corresponding 
reduction to the aggregate commitments under the FILO Facility). The balance of the FILO Facility had the same final stated maturity date as the other 
loans under the Prepetition ABL Facility, 
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which was originally scheduled to occur in February 2026 (subject to a springing maturity at an earlier date, under certain circumstances, if the maturity 
date of certain other debt of Holdings had not been extended or refinanced). 

The July 2022 ABL Amendment also replaced the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) as the interest rate benchmark under the Prepetition 
ABL Facility with the forward-looking term rate based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (as defined in the Prepetition ABL Facility), subject to a 
0.10% credit spread adjustment (“Adjusted Term SOFR”). Pursuant to the July 2022 ABL Amendment, outstanding loans under the Prepetition ABL 
Facility bore interest at a rate per annum equal to the applicable margin plus, at the borrowers’ option, either (a) an alternate base rate (“ABR”), which was 
the highest of (i) the Administrative Agent’s prime rate, (ii) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, and (iii) Adjusted Term SOFR for a one-month 
tenor plus 1.00%, or (b) Adjusted Term SOFR for the applicable interest period. Other than with respect to borrowings under the FILO Facility, the rates 
for the applicable margin for borrowings under the Prepetition ABL Facility remained unchanged, ranging from 0.50% to 0.75% with respect to ABR 
borrowings and from 1.50% to 1.75% with respect to Adjusted Term SOFR borrowings. The applicable margin for borrowings under the FILO Facility was 
1.75% with respect to ABR borrowings and 2.75% with respect to Adjusted Term SOFR borrowings. 

Lastly, the July 2022 ABL Amendment also modified certain other provisions of the Prepetition ABL Facility, including, among other things, to 
make certain changes to the excess availability trigger for the springing fixed charge coverage ratio covenant in connection with the commitment increase 
under the Prepetition ABL Facility. Pursuant to the ABL Amendment, Holdings was to comply with such financial covenant if excess availability under the 
Prepetition ABL Facility on any day was less than the greater of: (a) $46.0 million (increased from $40.0 million) and (b) 10% of the Total Line Cap (as 
defined therein). The fixed charge coverage ratio was the ratio of (i) Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the facility) minus maintenance-related capital 
expenditures (as defined in the facility) to (ii) fixed charges (as defined in the facility). 

Under the Prepetition ABL Facility, the borrowing base at any time equaled (a) a percentage of eligible trade receivables, plus (b) a percentage of 
eligible inventory, plus (c) a percentage of eligible credit card receivables, less (d) certain reserves. 

In addition to paying interest on outstanding principal, the Company was required to pay a commitment fee of 0.25% per annum in respect of 
unutilized commitments. The Company was to also pay customary letter of credit fees. 

All obligations under the Prepetition ABL Facility were jointly and severally guaranteed by PC Intermediate, Holdings, and each existing and future 
domestic subsidiary of Holdings. Holdings and each guarantor had secured its obligations, subject to certain exceptions and limitations, including 
obligations under its guaranty, as applicable, by a first-priority lien on its accounts receivable, inventory, cash and certain related assets and a second-
priority lien on substantially all of its other assets. 

The facility contained negative covenants that, among other things and subject to certain exceptions, restricted the ability of Holdings to: 

• incur additional indebtedness; 

• pay dividends on capital stock or redeem, repurchase, or retire capital stock; 

• make certain investments, loans, advances, and acquisitions; 

• engage in transactions with affiliates; 

• create liens; and 

• transfer or sell certain assets.

The Prepetition ABL Facility also contained certain customary affirmative covenants and events of default. 

The filing of the Chapter 11 Cases discussed in Note 1 constitutes an event of default that accelerated the Company’s obligations under its 
Prepetition ABL Facility. Any efforts to enforce payment obligations on the Prepetition ABL Facility were automatically stayed as a result of the filing of 
the Chapter 11 Cases and the holders’ rights of enforcement in respect of the Debtors’ debt agreements are subject to the applicable provisions of the 
Bankruptcy Code.
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In connection with entering into and amending the Prepetition ABL Facility, the Company incurred and capitalized third-party costs. All capitalized 
costs were being amortized over the life of the Prepetition ABL Facility and netted against the outstanding borrowings within loans and notes payable in 
the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The balance of related unamortized financing costs at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 was $3.2 
million and $2.9 million, respectively. As a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company wrote off the remaining $3.1 million of unamortized financing 
costs upon filing of the Chapter 11 Cases in the first quarter of 2023.

Outstanding borrowings under the Prepetition ABL Facility totaled $361.7 million at December 31, 2022 and $87.1 million at December 31, 2021. 
The weighted average interest rate for such borrowings was 6.85% at December 31, 2022 and 2.64% at December 31, 2021. Outstanding standby letters of 
credit totaled $37.9 million at December 31, 2022 and $24.9 million at December 31, 2021. After considering borrowing base restrictions, at December 31, 
2022, Holdings had $75.4 million of available borrowing capacity under the terms of the facility and $192.4 million at December 31, 2021. Availability as 
of December 31, 2022 was based upon the borrowing base then in effect of $475.0 million, less $37.9 million of outstanding undrawn letters of credit and 
$361.7 million then drawn. As a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, the remaining capacity under the ABL was terminated on January 17, 2023.

As of the Effective Date of the Plan, Prepetition ABL Facility borrowings of $368.2 million were deemed repaid and refinanced in full by the New 
ABL Facility discussed below.

Anagram ABL Credit Agreement 

On May 7, 2021, Anagram entered into the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement, which provided for a $15 million asset based revolving credit facility 
scheduled to mature in May 2024. It provided for (a) revolving loans, subject to a borrowing base described below, and (b) under the Anagram ABL Credit 
Agreement, Borrowers would be entitled to request letters of credit (“Letters of Credit”). The aggregate amount of outstanding Letters of Credit would be 
reserved against the credit availability and subject to a $3.0 million cap.

Under the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement and through April 3, 2023, the borrowing base at any time equaled (a) a percentage of eligible trade 
receivables, plus (b) a percentage of eligible inventory, plus (c) a percentage of eligible credit card receivables, less (d) certain reserves. Through April 3, 
2023, the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement generally provided for the following pricing options: All revolving loans would bear interest, at Anagram’s 
election, at a per annum rate equal to either (a) a base rate, which represented for any day a rate equal to the greater of (i) the prime rate on such day subject 
to a 0% floor, (ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.5% and (iii) one-half of one percent per annum, in each case, plus a margin of 1.5% or (b) the Daily One 
Month LIBOR subject to a 0.5% floor, plus a margin of 2.5%.

In addition to paying interest on outstanding principal, Anagram was required to pay a commitment fee of 0.5% to 1% per annum in respect of 
unutilized commitments. Anagram was required to also pay customary letter of credit fees. 

All obligations under the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement were jointly and severally guaranteed by Anagram and its subsidiaries. The Anagram 
ABL Credit Agreement contained covenants and events of default customary for such credit facilities. In connection with entering into the Anagram ABL 
Credit Agreement, the Company incurred and capitalized third-party costs. All capitalized costs were being amortized over the life of the Anagram ABL 
Credit Agreement and netted against the outstanding borrowings within loans and notes payable in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. As of 
December 31, 2022, the balance of unamortized financing costs related to the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement was $0.8 million.

As of December 31, 2022, outstanding borrowings under the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement totaled $3.0 million and there was $11.4 million of 
availability under this facility. There were no amounts outstanding under the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2021. 

As discussed earlier in this footnote, on or around March 23, 2023, the Company and the Anagram Entities became aware of the Specified Anagram 
Defaults under the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement, as a result of, among other things, distributions of tax-related amounts from February 2021 to January 
2023 that exceeded the limitations in the Anagram Financing Agreements and in respect of the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement, certain other relief 
provided by the lenders thereunder. On or around March 30, 2023, the Anagram Entities notified the agent under the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement of 
the Specified Anagram Defaults by delivery of applicable notices of default.
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On or around April 4, 2023, the Anagram Issuers and the agent under the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement entered into an agreement pursuant to 
which the required lenders thereunder waived the Specified Anagram Defaults defined therein, and any potential qualification as to “going concern” or 
scope in respect of the Anagram Entities’ 2022 annual audited financial statements, and certain other amendments. Also on April 4, 2023, the parties to the 
Anagram ABL Credit Agreement amended the Anagram ABL Credit Agreement to implement the benchmark transition thereunder from LIBOR to SOFR. 

For information regarding a subsequent event related to Anagram’s Chapter 11 Cases and the developments related to the Stalking Horse bid to 
acquire the Anagram Entities, see “Note 1 - Organization, Description of Business, and Basis of Presentation - Subsequent Event - Anagram Bankruptcy.”

Long-Term Obligations

Long-term obligations at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 consisted of the following: 
 
    December 31, 2022     December 31, 2021  

    Principal Amount    
Gross Carrying 

Amount    
Deferred Financing 

Costs*    
Net Carrying 

Amount    
Net Carrying 

Amount  
8.75% Senior Secured First Lien Notes – due 2026   $ 750,000     $ 750,000     $ (13,494 )   $ 736,506     $ 732,957  
6.125% Senior Notes — due 2023     22,924       22,924       (35 )     22,889       22,834  
6.625% Senior Notes — due 2026     92,254       92,254       (519 )     91,735       91,591  
First Lien Party City Notes – due 2025     161,669       188,842       —       188,842       198,004  
First Lien Anagram Notes – due 2025     121,666       148,446       (1,574 )     146,872       149,569  
Second Lien Anagram Notes – due 2026     98,293       144,529       (824 )     143,705       144,619  
Finance lease obligations     11,588       11,588       —       11,588       12,988  
Total long-term obligations     1,258,394       1,358,583       (16,446 )     1,342,137       1,352,562  

Less: current portion     (1,247,260 )     (1,347,449 )     16,446       (1,331,003 )     (1,373 )
Long-term obligations, excluding current portion   $ 11,134     $ 11,134     $ —     $ 11,134     $ 1,351,189  

* The Company incurred and capitalized third-party costs as deferred financing, which were being amortized over the life of the debt. 

8.75% Senior Secured First Lien Notes – due 2026 (the “Fixed Rate Notes”)

In February 2021, Holdings issued $750 million of senior secured first lien notes at an interest rate of 8.750%. The Fixed Rate Notes were 
contractually scheduled to mature in February 2026. The Company used the proceeds from the Fixed Rate Notes to prepay the outstanding balance of 
$694.2 million under its existing Term Loan Credit Agreement, and the prepayment was made in accordance with the terms of such agreement.

In connection with the transaction, the Company wrote off a portion of the existing capitalized deferred financing costs and original issuance 
discounts. Additionally, the Company incurred $19 million of third-party fees, principally banker fees. The amounts expensed were recorded in Other 
expense, net in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income and included in Gain on debt repayment in the 
Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows. As a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company wrote off the remaining $13.3 million of unamortized 
financing costs, original issue discount, and call premium in the first quarter of 2023 to Reorganization items, net.

Interest on the Fixed Rate Notes was payable semi-annually in arrears on February 15th and August 15th of each year. The Fixed Rate Notes were 
guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior secured basis by each of Holdings’ existing and future domestic subsidiaries. The Fixed Rate Notes and 
related guarantees were secured by a first priority lien on substantially all assets of Holdings and the guarantors, except for the collateral that secures the 
senior credit facilities on a first lien basis, with respect to which the Fixed Rate Notes and related guarantees would have been secured by a second priority 
lien, in each case subject to permitted liens and certain exclusions and release provisions.

The indenture that governed the Fixed Rate Notes contained covenants that, among other things, limited Holdings’ ability and the ability of its 
restricted subsidiaries to:

• incur additional indebtedness or issue certain disqualified stock or preferred stock;

• create liens;
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• pay dividends or distributions, redeem, or repurchase equity;

• prepay junior lien indebtedness, unsecured pari passu indebtedness, or subordinated indebtedness or make certain investments;

• transfer or sell assets;

• engage in consolidation, amalgamation or merger, or sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of their assets; and

• enter into certain transactions with affiliates.

The indenture that governed the notes also contained certain customary affirmative covenants and events of default.

As of the Effective Date of the Plan, the entire outstanding principal balance of $750 million of the Fixed Rates Notes was cancelled, and the duties 
and obligations of all parties thereto were deemed satisfied in full, canceled, released, discharged, and of no force or effect. Each holder of an Allowed 
Secured Notes Claim received (i) its Pro Rata (as defined in the Plan) share of the New PCHI Shares issued on the Effective Date on account of the 
Allowed Secured Notes Claims, representing 100% of the New PCHI Shares outstanding on the Effective Date, subject to dilution by the New PCHI 
Shares issued as DIP Reorganized Securities (as defined in the Plan), the New PCHI Shares issued in connection with the Rights Offering (including in 
partial satisfaction of the Backstop Commitment Premium), and the MIP Equity Pool and (ii) subscription rights to purchase up to its Pro Rata (as defined 
in the Plan) share of the securities comprising the Investment Package (as defined in the Plan) for an aggregate purchase price of $75 million offered in the 
Rights Offering in accordance with the Rights Offering Procedures (as defined in the Plan).

6.125% Senior Notes — Due 2023 (“6.125% Senior Notes”) 

The 6.125% Senior Notes were contractually scheduled to mature on August 15, 2023. Interest on the notes was payable semi-annually in arrears on 
February 15 and August 15 of each year. 

The notes were guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior basis by each of Holdings’ existing and future wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries. 
The notes and the guarantees were general unsecured senior obligations and were effectively subordinated to all other secured debt to the extent of the 
assets securing such secured debt. 

The indenture that governed the notes contained certain covenants that limited, among other things and subject to certain exceptions, Holdings’ 
ability to: 

• incur additional indebtedness or issue certain disqualified stock and preferred stock; 

• pay dividends or distributions, redeem or repurchase equity; 

• prepay subordinated debt or make certain investments; 

• engage in transactions with affiliates; 

• consolidate, merge or transfer all or substantially all of Holdings’ assets; 

• create liens; and 

• transfer or sell certain assets. 

The indenture that governed the notes also contained certain customary affirmative covenants and events of default.

The Company had the ability to redeem the notes, in whole or in part, at par. 

In connection with issuing the notes, the Company incurred and capitalized third-party costs. Capitalized costs were being amortized over the life of 
the debt and were included in current portion of long-term obligations in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. As a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, 
the Company wrote off the remaining unamortized financing costs of less than $100 thousand in the first quarter of 2023.

As of the Effective Date of the Plan, the entire outstanding principal balance of the 6.125% Senior Notes of $22.9 million was cancelled and the 
duties and obligations of all parties thereto were deemed satisfied in full, 
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canceled, released, discharged, and of no force or effect. Holders of the 6.125% Senior Notes will receive a pro rata share of the general unsecured claim 
pool as per the General Unsecured Claims protocols set forth in the Plan.

6.625% Senior Notes — Due 2026 (“6.625% Senior Notes”) 

The 6.625% Senior Notes were contractually scheduled to mature on August 1, 2026. Interest on the notes was payable semi-annually in arrears on 
February 1st and August 1st of each year.

 The notes were guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior basis by each of Holdings’ existing and future wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries. 
The notes and the guarantees were general unsecured senior obligations and were effectively subordinated to all other secured debt to the extent of the 
assets securing such secured debt. 

The indenture that governed the notes contained certain covenants limiting, among other things and subject to certain exceptions, Holdings’ ability 
to: 

• incur additional indebtedness or issue certain disqualified stock and preferred stock; 

• pay dividends or distributions, redeem or repurchase equity; 

• prepay subordinated debt or make certain investments; 

• engage in transactions with affiliates; 

• consolidate, merge or transfer all or substantially all of Holdings’ assets; 

• create liens; and 

• transfer or sell certain assets. 

The indenture that governed the notes also contained certain customary affirmative covenants and events of default.
In connection with issuing the notes, the Company incurred and capitalized third-party costs. Capitalized costs were being amortized over the life of 

the debt and were included in current portion of long-term obligations in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. As a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, 
the Company wrote off the remaining $0.5 million of unamortized financing costs in the first quarter of 2023.

As of the Effective Date of the Plan, the entire outstanding principal balance of the 6.625% Senior Notes of $92.3 million was cancelled and the 
duties and obligations of all parties thereto were deemed satisfied in full, canceled, released, discharged, and of no force or effect. Holders of the 6.625% 
Senior Notes will receive a pro rata share of the general unsecured claim pool as per the General Unsecured Claims protocols set forth in the Plan.

First Lien Party City Notes, First Lien Anagram Notes, Second Lien Anagram Notes

On July 30, 2020 (the “Settlement Date”), the Company and certain of its direct or indirect subsidiaries, including Holdings, Anagram Holdings, 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and wholly owned direct subsidiary of Holdings (“Anagram Holdings”), and Anagram International, Inc., a 
Minnesota corporation and wholly owned direct subsidiary of Anagram Holdings, completed certain refinancing transactions, including, among other 
things: (i) the exchange of $327.1 million of 6.125% Senior Notes contractually due 2023 (the “2023 Notes”) and $392.7 million of 6.625% Senior Notes 
contractually due 2026 (the “2026 Notes” and, together with the 2023 Notes, the “Existing Notes”) issued by Holdings, in each case tendered in the 
Company’s offers to exchange pursuant to the terms described in a confidential offering memorandum, for (A) $156.7 million of Secured First Lien 
Floating Rate Notes contractually due 2025 (the “First Lien Party City Notes”) issued by Holdings; (B) $84.7 million of 10.00% PIK/Cash Senior Secured 
Second Lien Notes due 2026 (the “Second Lien Anagram Notes”) issued by Anagram Holdings and Anagram International (together, the “Anagram 
Issuers”); and (C) 15,942,551 shares of the Company’s common stock, $0.01 par value per share (the “Common Stock”); (ii) the issuance of $110 million 
in the aggregate of 15.00% PIK/Cash Senior Secured First Lien Notes due 2025 (the “First Lien Anagram Notes”) by the Anagram Issuers and an 
additional $5 million of First Lien Party City Notes in connection with a rights offering and a private placement, as applicable; and (iii) the solicitations of 
certain consents with respect to the indentures governing Existing Notes.

The First Lien Party City Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture, dated as of the Settlement Date, among Holdings, as issuer, certain guarantors 
party thereto (the “Party City Guarantors”) and Ankura Trust Company, LLC 
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(“Ankura”), as trustee and collateral trustee. The First Lien Party City Notes were issued in an aggregate amount of $161.7 million and were scheduled to 
contractually mature on July 15, 2025. Interest on the First Lien Party City Notes accrued from the Settlement Date at a floating rate equal to the 6-month 
LIBOR plus 500 basis points (with a floor of 75 basis points) per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and July 15 of each year, 
commencing January 15, 2021. The First Lien Party City Notes were senior secured obligations of Holdings and the Party City Guarantors. The First Lien 
Party City Notes were pari passu in right of payment with all of Holdings’ other senior indebtedness, including the existing senior secured term loan facility 
and the Prepetition ABL Facility, and were structurally subordinated to the First Lien Anagram Notes and the Second Lien Anagram Notes, to the extent of 
the value of the Anagram Collateral (as defined below). The First Lien Party City Notes were secured by a first priority lien on collateral that included liens 
on substantially all assets (other than certain accounts, inventory, deposit accounts, securities accounts, related assets, and general intangibles) of the Party 
City Guarantors, in each case subject to certain exceptions and permitted liens.

In the first quarter of 2023, we recorded a credit adjustment of $27.2 million to Reorganization items, net, to reduce the carrying amount of the First 
Lien Party City Notes to the notes’ allowed claim amount.

As of the Effective Date of the Plan, the entire outstanding principal balance of the First Lien Party City Notes of $161.7 million was cancelled, and 
the duties and obligations of all parties thereto were deemed satisfied in full, canceled, released, discharged, and of no force or effect. Each holder of an 
Allowed Secured Notes Claim received (i) its Pro Rata (as defined in the Plan) share of the New PCHI Shares issued on the Effective Date on account of 
the Allowed Secured Notes Claims, representing 100% of the New PCHI Shares outstanding on the Effective Date, subject to dilution by the New PCHI 
Shares issued as DIP Reorganized Securities (as defined in the Plan), the New PCHI Shares issued in connection with the Rights Offering (including in 
partial satisfaction of the Backstop Commitment Premium), and the MIP Equity Pool and (ii) subscription rights to purchase up to its Pro Rata (as defined 
in the Plan) share of the securities comprising the Investment Package (as defined in the Plan) for an aggregate purchase price of $75 million offered in the 
Rights Offering in accordance with the Rights Offering Procedures (as defined in the Plan).

The First Lien Anagram Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture, dated as of the Settlement Date, among Anagram Holdings, as issuer, Anagram 
International, as co-issuer, certain guarantors party thereto (the “Anagram Guarantors”) and Ankura, as trustee and collateral trustee. The First Lien 
Anagram Notes were issued in an aggregate amount of $110 million and were scheduled to mature on August 15, 2025. Interest on the First Lien Anagram 
Notes accrued from the Settlement Date at (i) a rate of 10.00% per annum, payable in cash; and (ii) a rate of 5.00% per annum payable by increasing the 
principal amount of the outstanding First Lien Anagram Notes or issuing additional First Lien Anagram Notes, as the case may be, in each case payable 
semi-annually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing February 15, 2021. The First Lien Anagram Notes were senior secured 
obligations of the Anagram Issuers and were pari passu in right of payment with all of the Anagram Issuers’ other senior indebtedness. The First Lien 
Anagram Notes were secured by a first priority lien on collateral that consists of substantially all assets and properties of the Anagram Issuers and the 
Anagram Guarantors, subject to certain exceptions and permitted liens (the “Anagram Collateral”). Such security interests were senior in priority to the 
security interests in such assets that secure the Second Lien Anagram Notes.

The Second Lien Anagram Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture, dated as of the Settlement Date, among Anagram Holdings, as issuer, 
Anagram International, as co-issuer, the Anagram Guarantors and Ankura, as trustee and collateral trustee. The Second Lien Anagram Notes were issued in 
an aggregate amount of $84.7 million and were scheduled to mature on August 15, 2026. Interest on the Second Lien Anagram Notes accrued from the 
Settlement Date at (i) a rate of 5.00% per annum, payable, at the Anagram Issuers’ option, entirely in cash or entirely by increasing the principal amount of 
the outstanding Second Lien Anagram Notes or issuing additional Second Lien Anagram Notes, as the case may be; and (ii) a rate of 5.00% per annum 
payable by increasing the principal amount of the outstanding Second Lien Anagram Notes or issuing additional Second Lien Anagram Notes, as the case 
may be, in each case payable semi-annually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing February 15, 2021; provided, however, that 
on August 15, 2025, interest was scheduled to be required to be paid by increasing the principal amount of the Second Lien Anagram Notes or issuing the 
principal amount of the Second Lien Anagram Notes or issuing additional Second Lien Anagram Notes. On February 15, 2026, the Anagram Issuers were 
scheduled to prepay in cash a portion of the Second Lien Anagram Notes then outstanding in an amount necessary such that the Second Lien Anagram 
Notes are not treated as “applicable high yield discount obligations” within the meaning of Section 163(i) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended. The Second Lien Anagram Notes were senior secured obligations of the Anagram Issuers and were pari passu in right of 

88



 

payment with all of the Anagram Issuers’ other senior indebtedness. The Second Lien Anagram Notes were secured by a second priority lien on the 
Anagram Collateral. Such security interests were junior to the security interests in such assets that secure the First Lien Anagram Notes.

The Company evaluated the refinancing transaction in accordance with ASC 470-60 Troubled Debt Restructuring. The exchange of the 2023 Notes 
and 2026 Notes for the First Lien Party City Notes, Second Lien Anagram Notes, and shares of Company Common Stock, as well as the concurrent 
purchase by the participants in the exchange of First Lien Anagram Notes represented a troubled debt restructuring (“TDR”). As the future undiscounted 
cash flows of the restructured debt were less than the net carrying value of the Existing Notes (including accrued interest and unamortized discount) 
adjusted for Common Stock issued to the participants in the exchange and such participants’ purchase of and lenders’ participation in the First Lien 
Anagram Notes, the Company recognized a gain of $273.1 million in 2020, which reflected $18.9 million of third-party fees incurred, and $27 million of 
Common Stock issued in the exchange. The Company received $39.5 million of cash from the participants in the exchange related to $44.5 million of 
principal amount of First Lien Anagram Notes with an undiscounted value of $82.2 million, which included interest expense. Interest expense was not 
recognized for this portion of the restructured debt. 

Another portion of the restructured debt related to one holder of Existing Notes that did not result in gain recognition as the undiscounted cash flows 
of the restructured debt was higher than the carrying value of the existing debt. The carrying amount of this portion of the restructured debt was $32.3 
million and the interest expense was recognized prospectively at a 3.5% effective interest rate. Amounts attributed to purchasers of the First Lien Anagram 
Notes who were not participants in the exchange (principal balance of $50.5 million) were recognized at consideration received less allocated transaction 
costs (netting to $45.7 million) and the effective interest method was used to recognize interest expense prospectively.

On August 15, 2022, 99.24% of holders of the First Lien Anagram Notes and 97.61% of holders of the Second Lien Anagram Notes (collectively, 
the “Anagram Notes”) had delivered their respective consents in connection with a previously announced solicitation of consents to certain waivers of 
compliance with the indentures governing the Anagram Notes. The total consent fee of $1.5 million for these waivers was paid on August 18, 2022. 
Anagram entered into supplemental indentures to affect these waivers (the “Anagram Notes Waivers”).

On or around March 23, 2023, the Company and the Anagram Entities became aware of the Specified Anagram Defaults under the documents 
governing the Anagram Notes Indentures as a result of, among other things, distributions of tax-related amounts from February 2021 to January 2023 that 
exceeded the limitations in the Anagram Financing Agreements. On or around March 30, 2023, the Anagram Entities notified the trustees under the 
Anagram Notes Indentures of the Specified Anagram Defaults by delivery of applicable notices of default.

On April 21, 2023, the Anagram Entities obtained the Anagram Notes Waivers, with the Anagram Notes Waivers being subject to the Anagram 
Entities obtaining, by May 19, 2023, an agreement on a new contract with a supplier. As of the date of this report, Anagram has not entered into a new 
contract with the supplier. Concurrently, with the effectiveness of the Anagram Notes Waivers, the Anagram Entities entered into supplemental indentures 
pursuant to the Anagram Notes Indentures whereby, among other things, the Anagram Entities were required to make additional payments-in-kind to the 
holders of Anagram Notes in an amount equal to 0.5% of aggregate principal outstanding and thereby increasing the principal amount of the Anagram 
Notes. On May 9, 2023, payments in-kind of $0.6 million and $0.5 million were made on the First Lien Anagram Notes and Second Lien Anagram Notes, 
respectively.

On August 15, 2023, the Anagram Entities elected to not make the interest payment on the First Lien Anagram Notes. As provided in the indenture 
governing the First Lien Anagram Notes, the Anagram Entities entered the 30-day grace period to make the interest payment. The Anagram Entities did not 
make this interest payment within the grace period and did not make this interest payment prior to filing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy on November 8, 2023.

The Anagram Entities entered into a forbearance agreement with both a majority of the holders of the First Lien Anagram Notes and a majority of 
the holders of the Second Lien Anagram Notes. 

For information regarding a subsequent event related to Anagram’s Chapter 11 Cases and the developments related to the Stalking Horse bid to 
acquire the Anagram Entities, see “Note 1 - Organization, Description of Business, and Basis of Presentation - Subsequent Event - Anagram Bankruptcy.”
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Subsequent Event - Entry into DIP Facility

On January 18, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court approved the Debtors proposed $150 million senior secured superpriority priming debtor-in-possession 
term loan credit facility (the “DIP Facility”) on an interim basis pursuant to the Interim Order for the DIP Facility. On January 19, 2023, certain of the 
Debtors entered into the credit agreement governing the DIP Facility along with certain financial institutions party thereto as lenders and Ankura Trust 
Company, LLC, as the administrative agent and collateral agent (the “DIP Credit Agreement”), and the closing of the DIP Facility occurred on the same 
day. 

An initial draw of $75 million under the DIP Facility was made on January 19, 2023, and the proceeds were used in accordance with the DIP 
Facility budget to, among other things, (i) pay the administrative costs and expenses of the Chapter 11 Cases and the DIP Facility and (ii) fund general 
corporate purposes. A second draw of $75 million was made following the Bankruptcy Court’s entry of the order approving the DIP Facility on a final 
basis on March 3, 2023. The second draw of borrowings for $75 million was used for the same purposes as the first draw.

The DIP Facility was secured by perfected senior security interests and liens having the priorities set forth in the DIP Orders on substantially all 
assets of the Debtors, as further described in the DIP Orders.

The DIP Facility terminated on October 12, 2023 as part of the Debtors' emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases, as discussed in Note 1.

Loans under the DIP Facility bore interest at an adjusted secured overnight financing rate with a one-month tenor rate plus 10.00% per annum or an 
adjusted base rate plus 9.00% per annum. In addition, the DIP Facility provided for the following premiums and fees, as further described in the DIP Credit 
Agreement: (i) an upfront commitment premium equal to 8.00% of the total commitments that is payable in cash or paid-in-kind, i.e., as additional loans, 
(ii) an undrawn commitment fee equal to 0.50% per annum that is payable in cash, and (iii) a backstop commitment premium payable, at the election of the 
backstopping lenders, in (a) equity (or equity-linked securities) or (b) cash in an amount equal to 10.00% of the outstanding term loans held by such as of 
the date the DIP Facility terminates.

On October 12, 2023, the outstanding borrowings of the DIP Facility of $138.8 million were settled via the issuance of 9,339,564 New PCHI 
Shares. Such New PCHI Shares were issued to holders of Allowed DIP Claims on account of such holders’ DIP Loans (each as defined in the Plan).

Finance Lease Obligations 

Additionally, the Company has entered into various finance leases for building, machinery, and equipment. At December 31, 2022 and December 
31, 2021, the balances of such leases were $11.6 million and $13.0 million, respectively. 

Other

Subject to certain exceptions, Holdings may not make certain payments, including the payment of dividends to its shareholders (“restricted 
payments”), unless certain conditions are met under the terms of the indentures governing the senior notes, the ABL Facility, and the Term Loan Credit 
Agreement. As of December 31, 2022, the most restrictive of these conditions existed in the Term Loan Credit Agreement, which limited restricted 
payments based on PCHI’s consolidated net income and leverage ratios. PCHI’s parent companies, PC Intermediate, PC Nextco and Party City Holdco, 
have no assets or operations other than their investments in their subsidiaries and income from those subsidiaries. 

At December 31, 2022, the maturities of our debt consisted of the following:
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Long-Term
Debt Obligations    

Finance Lease
Obligations     Totals  

2023   $ 1,346,995     $ 454     $ 1,347,449  
2024     —       449       449  
2025     —       365       365  
2026     —       407       407  
2027     —       451       451  
Thereafter     —       9,462       9,462  
Long-term obligations   $ 1,346,995     $ 11,588     $ 1,358,583  

Note: The table above is presented on a basis that is consistent with the balance sheet classification of the Company’s debt as of December 31, 2022. Accordingly, all debt 
with a stated maturity date within one year of December 31, 2022 or had an event of default resulting from the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases that accelerated the related debt 
obligation or that was impacted by the Specified Anagram Defaults is presented in the table above as maturing in 2023. A significant portion of this amount ($1.3 billion) 
has a stated contractual maturity date that is greater than twelve months from the December 31, 2022 balance sheet date. The amounts reflected in the Long-Term Debt 
Obligations column are presented as the gross principal payments owed and reduced for the impact of unamortized deferred financing costs.

Subsequent Event - Post-emergence Debt and Other Obligations

New ABL Credit Agreement

For a description of the New ABL Credit Agreement, see “Note 1 - Organization, Description of Business, and Basis of Presentation - Subsequent 
Event - Emergence from Chapter 11 Cases - Debt Securities and Agreements - New ABL Credit Agreement.”

Second Lien Notes

For a description of the Second Lien Notes, see “Note 1 - Organization, Description of Business, and Basis of Presentation - Subsequent Event - 
Emergence from Chapter 11 Cases - Debt Securities and Agreements - Second Lien Notes.”

Note 10 — Capital Stock

At December 31, 2022, the Company’s authorized capital stock consisted of 300,000,000 shares of $0.01 par value common stock and 15,000,000 
shares of $0.01 par value preferred stock. 

The changes in common shares outstanding during the three years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2022 were as 
follows: 
 

Common Shares Outstanding at December 31, 2019     94,461,576  
Issuance of stock as part of debt refinancing     15,942,551  
Vesting of shares to directors     81,843  
Treasury stock purchases     (21,685 )
Vesting of restricted stock and restricted stock units     203,328  
Exercise of stock options     114,000  
Common Shares Outstanding at December 31, 2020     110,781,613  
Vesting of shares to directors     353,911  
Treasury stock purchases     (706,458 )
Vesting of restricted stock and restricted stock units     1,670,995  
Exercise of warrants     366,503  
Cancellation of restricted stock awards     (986,420 )
Exercise of stock options     690,800  
Common Shares Outstanding at December 31, 2021     112,170,944  
Vesting of shares to directors     139,154  
Treasury stock purchases     (1,291,315 )
Vesting of restricted stock and restricted stock units     2,499,213  
Cancellation of restricted stock awards     (8,773 )
Common Shares Outstanding at December 31, 2022     113,509,223  
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During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company purchased 1,291,315 treasury shares for $2.4 million from its employees to cover federal 
and state and other tax withholdings associated with the vesting of restricted stock and restricted stock units. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the 
Company purchased 706,458 treasury shares for $5.4 million from its employees to cover federal and state and other tax withholdings associated with the 
vesting of restricted stock and restricted stock units. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company purchased 21,685 treasury 
shares for $0.1 million from its employees to cover federal and state and other tax withholdings associated with the vesting of restricted stock and restricted 
stock units. The shares are included in “common stock held in treasury” in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

Note 11 — Other (Income) Expense, Net 

Other (income) expense, net consists of the following: 
 

    Year ended December 31,    
    2022     2021     2020    

Undistributed (income) loss in equity method investments   $ (1,467 )   $ (220 )   $ 333    
Foreign currency gain     (1,962 )     (953 )     (1,058 )  
Corporate development expenses     —       561       2,185    
(Gain) loss on sale of assets     (157 )     143       95    
Other, net     (203 )     (145 )     2,160   *
Other (income) expense, net   $ (3,789 )   $ (614 )   $ 3,715    

 *2020 balance consists of expense related to Kazzam (see Note 21) and fees from international operations owned in 2020 (see Note 5).

Note 12 — Employee Benefit Plans

Prior to December 2021, certain subsidiaries of the Company maintained defined contribution plans for eligible employees. 

Beginning December 2021, the Company consolidated all subsidiary defined contribution plans for eligible employees into one Company plan (the 
“Party City Holdings Inc. 401(k) Plan” or “Plan”), which qualifies under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. The Plan is employee 
funded up to an elective annual deferral amount and also provides for Company matching contributions up to a certain percentage of the employee’s salary. 
The Company matches 100% of the first 3% of eligible employee contributions and 50% of the next 2% of eligible employee contributions, and the 
Company match contributions vest immediately. Expense for the plans for the years ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021, and December 31, 
2020 totaled $8.2 million, $9.5 million and $8.6 million, respectively. 

Note 13 — Equity Incentive Plans

Party City Holdco has adopted the Amended and Restated 2012 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2012 Plan”) under which it can grant incentive 
awards in the form of stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units and common stock options to certain directors, officers, employees 
and consultants of Party City Holdco and its affiliates. The maximum number of shares reserved under the 2012 Plan is 15,316,000 shares. 

Time-based options 

Party City Holdco grants time-based options to key eligible employees and outside directors. In conjunction with the time-based options, the 
Company recorded compensation expense of $0.2, million $0.4 million, and $0.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021, 
and December 31, 2020, respectively. 

There were no time-based options granted during the year ended December 31, 2022. 

The Company has based its estimated forfeiture rate on historical forfeitures for time-based options as the number of options given to each of the 
various levels of management is principally consistent with historical grants and forfeitures are expected to be materially consistent with past experience. 

The Company’s time-based options principally vest 20% on each anniversary date. The Company records compensation expense for such options on 
a straight-line basis. As of December 31, 2022, there was $0.1 million of 
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unrecognized compensation cost, which will be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 9 months. 

Performance-based options 

During 2013, Party City Holdco granted performance-based stock options to key employees and independent directors. For those performance-based 
options, vesting was contingent on Thomas H. Lee Partners, L.P. (“THL”) achieving specified investment returns when it sold its entire ownership stake in 
Party City Holdco. In June 2020, THL distributed its remaining shares. At the time of the THL distribution, there were 2,539,600 performance options 
outstanding with an average grant date fair value of $3.09. None of the performance-based options vested as the specified investment returns were not 
attained. The Company recorded compensation expense of $7.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 related to the performance-based options as 
per the accounting requirements for awards with market and performance conditions under ASC 718, "Compensation - Stock Compensation".

As Party City Holdco’s stock was not publicly traded when the performance-based options were granted, the Company determined volatility based 
on the average historical volatility of guideline companies. 

The following table summarizes the changes in outstanding stock options for the years ended December 31, 2022.
 

    Options    

Average
Exercise

Price    

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value    

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term
(Years)  

Outstanding at December 31, 2021     1,032,219     $ 10.18     $ (4,754 )     4.5  
Granted     —     $ -              
Exercised     —     $ -              
Forfeited     (146,357 )   $ 8.52              
Outstanding at December 31, 2022     885,862     $ 10.45     $ -       3.9  
Exercisable at December 31, 2022     851,582     $ 10.37     $ -       3.9  
Expected to vest at December 31, 2022 (excluding performance-based options)     34,280     $ 12.43     $ -       5.7  

The intrinsic value of options exercised was $1.3 million and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, 
respectively. The Company received cash proceeds of $3.7 million and $0.1 million from stock option exercises during the years ended December 31, 2021 
and 2020, respectively. There were no stock option exercises in 2022.

Restricted stock and Restricted Stock Units 

The Company granted restricted stock and restricted stock units to certain executives, senior leaders, and the Company’s independent directors. To 
the extent that the awards vest, the participants receive shares of the Company’s stock. 

The Company awarded restricted stock units based solely on service conditions. To the extent that such awards vest, one share of stock is issued for 
each award. These awards generally vest 1/3 per year over a 3-year period. In 2022, 2021, and 2020 2,602,529, 1,361,289, and 614,939 units were 
awarded, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, the Company recorded $5.2 million, $2.6 million, and $2.1 million of compensation 
expense related to the service-based awards, respectively.

The Company has based its estimated forfeiture rate for the restricted stock units and restricted stock on historical forfeitures for the Company’s 
time-based stock options as the number of awards given to each of the various levels of management is principally consistent with historical stock option 
grants and forfeitures are expected to be materially consistent with past experience. 

As of December 31, 2022 there was $8.0 million of unrecognized compensation cost for the service-based awards, which will be recognized over a 
weighted-average period of approximately 1.8 years.
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Performance-based restricted stock units (PRSUs)

On July 18, 2020, 6,448,276 performance-based restricted stock units (“PRSUs”) and Restricted Cash awards with market conditions were granted 
to certain executive officers and other employees. The performance period is three years from the grant date. The PRSUs and Restricted Cash become 
earned in a given period if the volume weighted average of the fair market value per share of the Common Stock meets or exceeds $2.50, $5.00, $7.50, and 
$10.00, respectively, for a period of not less than 90 consecutive days on the New York Stock Exchange and are subject to up to a two-year vesting period 
after the achievement of these thresholds. The PRSUs and Restricted Cash awards are measured at fair value based on Monte Carlo simulation models, 
based on the assumptions in the table below. The PRSUs will be settled in Party City common stock and are accounted for as equity awards and the 
Restricted Cash will be settled in cash and are accounted for as liability awards.

 
Expected dividend rate  —%  
Risk-free interest rate  0.30% to 2.99%  
Volatility  106.31% to 140.02%  
Weighted average grant date fair value  $ 1.02  

In 2022, the Company granted 1,443,692 of PRSUs that vest 1/3 per year over a 3-year period only if certain annual and cumulative cash flow and 
earnings per share targets are met. For the year ended December 31, 2022, no expense was recognized for these awards because management does not 
expect the Company to achieve the minimum performance target thresholds required.

During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, the Company recorded $1.3 million, $3.8 million, and $1.5 million of compensation 
expense, respectively, related to the grants of PRSUs and Restricted Cash awards made in 2020. At December 31, 2022, there was $0.3 million of total 
unrecognized compensation cost related to these awards, which is expected to be recognized over 0.7 years.

Note 14 — Income Taxes 

As outlined in Note 9 - Current and Long-Term Debt Obligations, on July 30, 2020, the Company and certain of its direct or indirect subsidiaries, 
completed certain refinancing transactions and as a result a substantial amount of the Company’s debt was extinguished. Absent an exception, a debtor 
recognizes cancellation of indebtedness income (CODI) upon discharge of its outstanding indebtedness for an amount of consideration that is less than its 
adjusted issue price. Since the Company was considered insolvent for tax purposes immediately before the exchange, CODI can be excluded from taxable 
income to the extent that the Company’s liabilities exceeded the fair market value of its gross assets at the date of the exchange. However, the Company 
must reduce certain of its tax attributes by the amount of any CODI excluded from taxable income, as limited by Section 1017(b)(2) of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The actual reduction in tax attributes occurs after the determination of tax for the year of the debt discharge and takes 
effect on the first day of the Company’s tax year subsequent to the date of the refinancing transactions, or January 1, 2021. As a result of the refinancing 
transactions, the Company realized CODI of $552.7 million, of which $501.0 million was excluded from taxable income because of the insolvency 
exception. After application of the Section 1017(b)(2) limitation, the Company reduced its tax attributes and related deferred taxes by $217.5 million ($47.7 
million, tax effected), with the balance of $283.5 million ($59.5 million, tax effected), treated as a permanent difference. The Company also has reduced its 
net operating loss carryforward by $0.5 million and its foreign tax credit carryforward by $4.1 million.

The following table summarizes domestic and foreign (loss) income before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 
(in thousands of dollars): 
 

    Year Ended December 31,  
    2022     2021     2020  

Domestic   $ (963,137 )   $ 193     $ (542,046 )
Foreign     4,013       (1,067 )     (143,064 )
Loss before income taxes   $ (959,124 )   $ (874 )   $ (685,110 )
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Income tax (benefit) expense for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 consisted of the following (in thousands of dollars):
 

    Year Ended December 31,  
    2022     2021     2020  

Current:                  
Federal   $ 2,032     $ 9,491     $ (61,528 )
State     864       911       (1,639 )
Foreign     203       461       1,599  

Total current income tax expense (benefit)     3,099       10,863       (61,568 )
Deferred:                  

Federal     (18,888 )     (6,707 )     (70,440 )
State     (443 )     1,356       (19,252 )
Foreign     (262 )     196       (5,393 )

Total deferred income tax benefit     (19,593 )     (5,155 )     (95,085 )
Income tax (benefit) expense   $ (16,494 )   $ 5,708     $ (156,653 )

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. 

 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following (in thousands of dollars):

 
    December 31,  
    2022     2021  

Deferred income tax assets:            
Inventory reserves and capitalization   $ 13,914     $ 20,007  
Allowance for doubtful accounts     2,246       1,884  
Accrued liabilities     9,863       9,624  
Equity-based compensation     4,456       4,316  
Federal tax loss carryforwards     6,560       —  
State tax loss carryforwards     13,486       8,433  
Foreign tax loss carryforwards     1,487       2,586  
Debt exchange basis difference     34,788       47,853  
Section 163(j) Interest Limitation     53,455       18,126  
Lease liabilities     213,445       198,332  
Amortization of goodwill and other assets     11,893       —  
Capitalized refinancing and other costs     2,662       4,692  
Other     2,326       3,129  

Deferred income tax assets before valuation allowances     370,581       318,982  
Less: valuation allowances     (120,417 )     (12,608 )

Deferred income tax assets, net   $ 250,164     $ 306,374  
Deferred income tax liabilities:            

Depreciation   $ 49,048     $ 42,548  
Trade name     24,507       99,039  
Amortization of goodwill and other assets     —       13,065  
Foreign earnings expected to be repatriated     933       969  
Lease right of use assets     182,487       175,942  
Other     2,317       4,006  

Deferred income tax liabilities   $ 259,292     $ 335,569  
Net deferred income tax liabilities   $ 9,128     $ 29,195  

The Company nets all of its deferred income tax assets and liabilities on a jurisdictional basis and classifies them as noncurrent on the consolidated 
balance sheets. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, net deferred income tax liabilities were reported as $9.1 million and $29.2 million, respectively, in the 
consolidated balance sheets.
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Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient taxable income will be generated to realize existing 
deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated was the cumulative loss incurred over the three-year period ended 
December 31, 2022. We perform scheduling exercises to determine if sufficient taxable income of the appropriate character exists in the periods required in 
order to realize our deferred tax assets with limited lives prior to their expiration. On the basis of this evaluation, a valuation allowance of $120.4 million, 
primarily due to additions of $108.9 million, was recorded as of December 31, 2022 to reduce the total deferred tax assets to an amount that will, more-
likely-than-not, be realized in the future.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had tax effected federal net operating losses of $6.6 million that may be carried forward indefinitely, and 
foreign tax-effected net operating loss carryforwards in Mexico of $1.5 million, which begin to expire in 2024. In addition, the U.S. state net operating loss 
carryforwards begin to expire in 2023, with the majority expiring in 15 to 20 years, or having no expiration date.

The difference between the Company’s effective income tax rate and the U.S. statutory income tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2022, 
2021, and 2020 is as follows: 
 

    Year ended December 31,
    2022   2021   2020

Tax provision at U.S. statutory income tax rate     21.0   %     21.0   %     21.0   %
State income tax, net of federal income tax     (0.1 )       (205.0 )       2.4    
Valuation allowances     (8.5 )       23.1         (2.7 )  
GILTI and foreign-derived intangible income     (0.1 )       83.8         —    
Foreign earnings     —         (37.5 )       1.3    
U.S. — foreign rate differential     —         (35.3 )       0.4    
CARES Act: 5-year NOL carryback     —         —         2.9    
Debt exchange – cancellation of debt     —         —         8.7    
Goodwill impairment     (10.3 )       —         (10.3 )  
Uncertain tax positions     (0.1 )       (560.2 )       (1.4 )  
Other     (0.2 )       57.0         0.6    
Effective income tax rate     1.7   %     (653.1 ) %     22.9   %

2022 Tax Rate: The effective income tax rate of 1.7% is different from the statutory rate of 21%, primarily due to the impact of non-cash goodwill 
impairment charges and the increase of the valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets.

CARES Act: On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act (“the CARES Act”) was signed into law. The 
CARES Act was a $2 trillion legislative package intended to provide economic relief to companies impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, and it included: 
5-year net operating loss carryback, temporary relaxation of the limitations on interest deductions, qualified improvement property eligible for bonus 
depreciation, employee retention tax credits, and deferral of payment of payroll tax. The carry back of the 2020 net operating loss to prior years when the 
federal statutory rate was 35% resulted in the 2.9% effective income tax rate benefit above.

Cancellation of Debt: As discussed above, in July 2020, the Company and certain of its direct or indirect subsidiaries completed certain refinancing 
transactions and as a result a substantial amount of the Company’s debt was extinguished. $59.5 million of the cancellation of debt income was excluded 
from income, which resulted in a tax benefit of 8.7% on the effective income tax rate.

Goodwill Impairment: During 2022 and 2020, the Company recognized non-cash goodwill impairment charges totaling $568.6 million and $401.4 
million, respectively. No tax benefit was recognized on $468.8 million and $336.2 million of the 2022 and 2020 charges, respectively, resulting in 
unfavorable impacts to the income tax rate of 10.3% and 10.3% for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2020, respectively.

Other: In 2021, the Other line includes reconciling items above 5% of the U.S. statutory income tax rate, and their impact to the effective income tax 
rate is significantly influenced by the small pretax loss. These items are not individually significant, with the largest item less than $1.0 million in tax. 
These Other differences between the effective income tax rate and the U.S. statutory income tax rate are composed primarily of compensation related items 
and the Work Opportunity Tax Credit.
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Transition Tax on Unremitted Foreign Earnings: The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Act”) significantly changed U.S. tax law, including 
lowering the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%, effective January 1, 2018, and implementing a one-time “deemed repatriation” tax on 
unremitted earnings accumulated in non-U.S. jurisdictions since 1986 (the “Transition Tax”). At December 31, 2022, $4.2 million of the Transition Tax 
remains unpaid and is recorded in “Other long-term liabilities” in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The Company has elected to pay the 
Transition Tax over eight annual installments without interest.

The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company’s gross unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, 
and 2020 (in thousands of dollars): 
 

    Year ended December 31,  
    2022     2021     2020  

Balance at beginning of year   $ 15,021     $ 13,890     $ 4,891  
Increases related to current period tax positions     485       3,759       8,186  
Increases related to prior period tax positions     735       3,885       1,061  
Decreases related to settlements     (1,675 )     (6,245 )     —  
Decreases related to lapsing of statutes of limitations     —       (268 )     (248 )

Balance at end of year   $ 14,566     $ 15,021     $ 13,890  

The Company’s total unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact the Company’s effective income tax rate are $11.1 million and 
$11.6 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. The Company has accrued $0.8 
million and $0.5 million for the potential payment of interest and penalties at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Such amounts are not included in 
the table above.

Tax years 2019 – 2022 are open for examination for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and the IRS is currently examining the 2021 Tentative 
Refund Claim filed by the Company. For U.S. state income tax purposes, tax years 2018-2022 generally remain open; for non-U.S. income tax purposes, 
tax years 2018-2022 generally remain open.

Note 15 — Commitments, Contingencies and Related Party Transactions 

Litigation 

The Company is a party to certain claims and litigation in the ordinary course of business. The Company does not believe that any of these 
proceedings will result, individually or in the aggregate, in a material adverse effect upon its financial condition or future results of operations.

Product Royalty Agreements

The Company has entered into product royalty agreements, with various licensors of copyrighted and trademarked characters and designs, which are 
used on the Company’s products, which require royalty payments based on sales of the Company’s products, and, in some cases, include annual minimum 
royalties. 

At December 31, 2022, the Company’s commitment to pay future minimum product royalties was as follows: 
 

   

Future Minimum
Royalty

Payments  
2023   $ 15,692  
2024     6,405  
2025     1,010  
Thereafter     —  
   $ 23,107  

Product royalty expense for the years ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020 was $36.9 million, $33.1 million, and 
$33.3 million, respectively. 
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Related Party Transactions 

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is involved in transactions with certain of its equity method investees, primarily for the purchase of 
finished goods inventory. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company purchased inventory of $82.2 million and $59.5 million, 
respectively, from one of its equity method investees. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, approximately $16.1 million and $30.4 million of these 
purchases are reflected in finished goods inventory, respectively. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had accounts payable of $17.1 million 
and $18.3 million, respectively, related to such transactions.

Note 16 — Segment Information 

Industry Segments 

The Company has two identifiable business segments. The Wholesale segment designs, manufactures, contracts for manufacture and distributes 
party goods, including paper and plastic tableware, metallic and latex balloons, Halloween and other costumes, accessories, novelties and stationery 
throughout the world. The Retail segment operates specialty retail party supply stores in the United States, principally under the names Party City and 
Halloween City, and it operates e-commerce websites, principally through the domain name partycity.com. 

The Company’s industry segment data for the years ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020 are as follows: 
 

    Wholesale     Retail     Consolidated  
Year ended December 31, 2022                  
Net sales before eliminations   $ 1,182,917     $ 1,775,626     $ 2,958,543  

Eliminations     (788,665 )     —       (788,665 )
Total revenues   $ 394,252     $ 1,775,626     $ 2,169,878  
Loss from operations   $ (405,989 )   $ (454,277 )   $ (860,266 )
Interest expense, net                 102,647  
Other income, net                 (3,789 )

Loss before income taxes               $ (959,124 )
Depreciation and amortization   $ 19,160     $ 43,871     $ 63,031  
Capital expenditures   $ (15,457 )   $ (82,082 )   $ (97,539 )
Total assets   $ 1,137,772     $ 882,225     $ 2,019,997  

For the year ended December 31, 2022, one customer accounted for approximately 12% of total wholesale segment revenues. 
 

    Wholesale     Retail     Consolidated  
Year ended December 31, 2021                  
Net sales before eliminations   $ 990,636     $ 1,769,986     $ 2,760,622  
Eliminations     (589,562 )     —       (589,562 )

Total revenues   $ 401,074     $ 1,769,986     $ 2,171,060  
(Loss) income from operations   $ (28,492 )   $ 113,124     $ 84,632  
Interest expense, net                 87,226  
Other income, net                 (614 )
Gain on debt refinancing                 (1,106 )

Loss before income taxes               $ (874 )
Depreciation and amortization   $ 21,778     $ 43,832     $ 65,610  
Capital expenditures   $ (22,572 )   $ (56,650 )   $ (79,222 )
Total assets   $ 1,355,010     $ 1,356,890     $ 2,711,900  
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    Wholesale     Retail     Consolidated  

Year ended December 31, 2020                  
Net sales before eliminations   $ 940,228     $ 1,382,325     $ 2,322,553  
Eliminations     (471,863 )     —       (471,863 )

Total revenues   $ 468,365     $ 1,382,325     $ 1,850,690  
Loss from operations   $ (303,663 )   $ (573,838 )   $ (877,501 )
Interest expense, net                 77,043  
Other expense, net                 3,715  
Gain on debt refinancing                 (273,149 )

Loss before income taxes               $ (685,110 )
Depreciation and amortization   $ 25,813     $ 50,693     $ 76,506  
Capital expenditures   $ (22,206 )   $ (28,922 )   $ (51,128 )
Total assets   $ 1,123,322     $ 1,683,133     $ 2,806,455  

Geographic Regions

Export sales of metallic balloons of $38.0 million, $55.8 million, and $19.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021, 
and December 31, 2020, respectively, are included in domestic sales to unaffiliated customers below. Intercompany sales between geographic areas 
primarily consist of sales of finished goods and are generally made at cost plus a share of operating profit. 

The Company’s geographic area data is as follows: 
 

    Domestic     Foreign     Eliminations     Consolidated  
Year ended December 31, 2022                        
Revenues:                        

Net sales to unaffiliated customers   $ 2,109,888     $ 59,990     $ —     $ 2,169,878  
Net sales between geographic areas     12,007       4,930       (16,937 )     —  

Total revenues   $ 2,121,895     $ 64,920     $ (16,937 )   $ 2,169,878  
(Loss) income from operations   $ (862,219 )   $ 1,954     $ —     $ (860,266 )
Interest expense, net                       102,647  
Other income, net                       (3,789 )

Loss before income taxes                     $ (959,124 )
Depreciation and amortization   $ 61,587     $ 1,444           $ 63,031  
Total long-lived assets (excluding goodwill,
    trade names and other intangible assets, net)   $ 266,830     $ 5,271           $ 272,101  
Total assets   $ 1,961,675     $ 58,322     $ —     $ 2,019,997  
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    Domestic     Foreign     Eliminations     Consolidated  

Year ended December 31, 2021                        
Revenues:                        

Net sales to unaffiliated customers   $ 2,095,849     $ 75,211     $ —     $ 2,171,060  
Net sales between geographic areas     17,798       10,067       (27,865 )     —  

Total revenues   $ 2,113,647     $ 85,278     $ (27,865 )   $ 2,171,060  
Income (loss) from operations   $ 86,095     $ (1,463 )   $ —     $ 84,632  
Interest expense, net                       87,226  
Other income, net                       (1,720 )

Loss before income taxes                     $ (874 )
Depreciation and amortization   $ 63,755     $ 1,855           $ 65,610  
Total long-lived assets (excluding goodwill,
    trade names and other intangible assets, net)   $ 242,396     $ 5,425           $ 247,821  
Total assets   $ 2,657,333     $ 54,567     $ —     $ 2,711,900  
 

    Domestic     Foreign     Eliminations     Consolidated  
Year ended December 31, 2020                        
Revenues:                        

Net sales to unaffiliated customers   $ 1,581,294     $ 269,396     $ —     $ 1,850,690  
Net sales between geographic areas     167,945       113,828       (281,773 )     —  

Total revenues   $ 1,749,239     $ 383,224     $ (281,773 )   $ 1,850,690  
(Loss) income from operations   $ (644,338 )   $ 14,189     $ (247,352 )   $ (877,501 )
Interest expense, net                       77,043  
Other income, net                       (269,434 )

Loss before income taxes                     $ (685,110 )
Depreciation and amortization   $ 70,586     $ 5,920           $ 76,506  
Total long-lived assets (excluding goodwill,
    trade names and other intangible assets, net)   $ 103,885     $ 24,746           $ 128,631  
Total assets   $ 2,518,490     $ 287,965     $ —     $ 2,806,455  
 

Note 17 — Leases 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases” (“ASU 2016-02”, which requires that companies recognize assets and liabilities for the 
rights and obligations created by the companies’ leases and was effective for the Company during the first quarter of 2019. Upon adoption of ASU 2016-
02, the Company elected the following practical expedients to be applied consistently to all leases: 

1. The Company did not reassess whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases. 

2. The Company did not reassess the lease classification for any expired or existing leases. 

3. The Company did not reassess initial direct costs for any existing leases. 

Under ASU 2016-02, an entity may also elect a practical expedient to use hindsight in determining the lease term and in assessing impairment of the 
entity’s right-of-use assets. The Company did not elect this practical expedient.

Additionally, under ASU 2016-02, lessees can make an accounting policy election (by class of underlying asset to which the right of use relates) to 
apply accounting similar to legacy accounting to leases that meet the standard’s definition of a “short-term lease” (a lease that, at the commencement date, 
has a lease term of twelve months or less and does not include an option to purchase the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise). 
The Company made this election for all classes of underlying assets.

Further, ASU 2016-02 provides a practical expedient that permits lessees to make an accounting policy election (by class of underlying asset) to 
account for each separate lease component of a contract and its associated 
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non-lease components as a single lease component. The Company has elected this expedient for all asset classes, with the exception of its real estate.

Lease Population

The Company’s lease portfolio is primarily comprised of real estate leases for its permanent Party City stores. The Company also leases 
manufacturing facilities, distribution facilities, warehouse space, and office space. Additionally, the Company enters into short leases (generally less than 
four months) in order to operate its temporary stores. Further, the Company enters into leases of equipment, copiers, printers, and automobiles.

Substantially all of the Company’s leases are operating leases.

The Company’s finance leases are immaterial. The right-of-use asset for the Company’s finance leases is included in Property, plant and equipment, 
net on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The liabilities for the Company’s finance leases are included in Current portion of long-term obligations 
and Long-term obligations, excluding current portion, on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

The Company’s sub-leases are also immaterial.

Additionally, for most store leases, the Company pays variable taxes and insurance.

Renewal Options

Many of the Company’s store leases, and certain of the Company’s other leases, contain renewal options. However, the renewal periods are 
generally not included in the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for such leases as exercise of the renewal options is not reasonably certain.

Discount Rates

The Company is unable to determine the discount rates that are implicit in its operating leases. Therefore, for such leases, the Company uses its 
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

For leases that existed as of January 1, 2019, the Company determined the applicable incremental borrowing rates for such leases based on the 
remaining lease terms for the leases as of such date.

Presentational Note

Due to the fact that the Chapter 11 Cases occurred after the balance sheet date in this report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements as 
of and for the period ending December 31, 2022 have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the 
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The amount of lease obligations disclosed in this footnote have been prepared on this basis and 
do not reflect any adjustments to liabilities and assets that resulted from the Bankruptcy Court’s confirmation of our reorganization plan on October 12, 
2023.

As part of its bankruptcy reorganization plan, the Company restructured the remaining term and economics of certain retail and non-retail properties 
within its lease portfolio, including permanent abandonment of certain leases. In particular, for its retail leases, management attempted to tailor such 
negotiations to a particular store’s current and future performance, location, and size to ensure economic stability and reduce future performance risk. In 
addition, on March 28, 2023, the Company executed an amendment to its Naperville, IL (“Naperville”) facility lease as part of a plan to consolidate its 
party goods distribution activities into its Chester, NY (“Chester”) facility. This amendment became effective upon our emergence from bankruptcy on 
October 12, 2023, and the Company exited its e-commerce distribution facility in Naperville at the end of 2023, with the Chester facility assuming e-
commerce distribution activities. 

Ultimately, the actions discussed above resulted in the abandonment of 68 unexpired store leases, as well as the renegotiation of a substantial portion 
of the Company’s remaining lease portfolio.

Quantitative Disclosures

During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, the Company’s operating lease cost was $175.7 million, $181.6 million, and $189.9 
million, respectively. Such amounts exclude any impairment charges recorded.

The Company’s variable lease cost during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 were $27.6 million, $27.1 million, and $27.4 
million, respectively.
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During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities was 
$163.3 million, $223.9 million, and $140.7 million, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities were $144.8 
million, $101.7 million and $70.5 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the weighted-average remaining lease term for operating leases was 8 years and 5 years, respectively, and the 
weighted-average discount rate for operating leases was 9.70% and 8.6%, respectively.

Set forth below is a summary of our contractual lease obligations as of December 31, 2022 (in thousands of dollars). As discussed above, as part of 
its bankruptcy reorganization plan, the Company restructured the remaining term and economics of certain retail and non-retail properties within its lease 
portfolio, including permanent abandonment of certain leases, in 2023. The obligations set forth in the table below reflect our lease contracts as of 
December 31, 2022 and do not reflect the impact of the lease restructurings and abandonments executed in 2023. 
 

   

Future Minimum
Operating Lease

Payments  
2023   $ 194,180  
2024     169,205  
2025     165,829  
2026     132,144  
2027     106,834  
Thereafter     414,668  
Total undiscounted cash flows     1,182,860  
Less: Interest     (378,135 )
Total operating lease liability     804,725  
Less: Current portion of operating lease liability     (119,605 )
Long-term portion of operating lease liability   $ 685,120  

 

Note 18 — Fair Value Measurements 

The provisions of ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurement”, define fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. ASC Topic 820 established a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. This hierarchy 
requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair 
value are as follows: 

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active 
markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can 
be corroborated by observable market data. 

• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or 
liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant 
unobservable inputs. 

The majority of the Company’s non-financial instruments, which include goodwill, intangible assets, inventories and property, plant, and equipment, 
are not required to be carried at fair value on a recurring basis. However, if certain triggering events occur (or at least annually for goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets), a non-financial instrument is required to be evaluated for impairment. If the Company determines that the non-financial instrument 
is impaired, the Company would be required to write down the non-financial instrument to its fair value. See Notes 3, 4, and 8 for further details on 
impairments recorded on goodwill, intangible assets, and other long-lived assets.
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The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable, accrued 
expenses and other current liabilities approximated fair value at December 31, 2022 because of the short-term maturities of the instruments and/or their 
variable rates of interest. 

The carrying amounts and fair values of borrowings under the Term Loan Credit Agreement and the senior notes as of December 31, 2022 are as 
follows: 
 

    Gross Carrying Amount     Fair Value  
8.75% Senior Secured First Lien Notes – due 2026   $ 750,000     $ 213,750  
6.125% Senior Notes — due 2023     22,924       1,146  
6.625% Senior Notes — due 2026     92,254       3,133  
First Lien Party City Notes – due 2025     188,842       50,778  
First Lien Anagram Notes – due 2025     148,446       141,165  
Second Lien Anagram Notes – due 2026     144,529       95,096  

The fair values of the Term Loan Credit Agreement and the senior notes represent Level 2 fair value measurements as the debt instruments trade in 
inactive markets. The carrying amounts for other long-term debt approximated fair value at December 31, 2022 based on the discounted future cash flows 
of each instrument at rates currently offered for similar debt instruments of comparable maturity. 

Note 19 — Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following: 
 
 

 
Foreign Currency 

Adjustments    

Impact of Foreign 
Exchange Contracts, 

Net of Taxes     Total, Net of Taxes  
Balance at December 31, 2021   $ 3,541     $ —     $ 3,541  
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax     (1,686 )     —       (1,686 )
Balance at December 31, 2022   $ 1,855     $ —     $ 1,855  

 

   
Foreign Currency 

Adjustments    

Impact of Foreign 
Exchange Contracts, 

Net of Taxes     Total, Net of Taxes  
Balance at December 31, 2020   $ (31,264 )   $ 1,348     $ (29,916 )
Other comprehensive loss before
    reclassifications, net of tax     (1,784 )     77       (1,707 )
Release of cumulative foreign currency translation
   adjustment to net loss as a result of
   disposition of international operations     36,589       (1,422 )     35,167  
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
   comprehensive income to the consolidated
   statements of operations and comprehensive
   income, net of tax     —       (3 )     (3 )
Other comprehensive income     34,805       (1,348 )     33,457  
Balance at December 31, 2021   $ 3,541     $ —     $ 3,541  
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Foreign
Currency

Adjustments    

Impact of
Foreign

Exchange
Contracts,

Net of Taxes    
Total, Net
of Taxes  

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ (37,434 )   $ 1,700     $ (35,734 )
Other comprehensive income before
   reclassifications, net of tax     6,170       (495 )     5,675  
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
   comprehensive loss to the consolidated
   statements of operations and comprehensive
   loss, net tax     —       143       143  
Other comprehensive income     6,170       (352 )     5,818  
Balance at December 31, 2020   $ (31,264 )   $ 1,348     $ (29,916 )

 

Note 20 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The Company recognizes revenue as per the five-step model in ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).” (“ASU 2014-
09”)

Revenue Transactions — Retail 

Revenue from retail store operations is recognized at the point of sale as control of the product is transferred to the customer at such time. Retail e-
commerce sales are recognized when the consumer receives the product as control transfers upon delivery. Due to its extensive history operating as the 
largest party goods retailer in North America, the Company has sufficient history with which to estimate future retail sales returns, and it uses the expected 
value method to estimate such activity. 

The transaction price for the Company’s retail sales is based on either: 1) the item’s stated price or 2) the stated price adjusted for the impact of a 
coupon, which can only be applied to such transaction. To the extent that the Company charges customers for freight costs on e-commerce sales, the 
Company records such amounts in revenue. Sales taxes and value-added taxes are excluded from revenue. 

Under the terms of its agreements with its franchisees, the Company provides both: 1) brand value (via significant advertising spend) and 2) support 
with respect to planograms, in exchange for a royalty fee that ranges from 4% to 6% of the franchisees’ sales. The Company records the royalty fees at the 
time that the franchisees’ sales are recorded. Additionally, although the Company anticipates that future franchise store openings will be limited, when a 
franchisee opens a new store, the Company receives and records a one-time fee that is earned by the Company for its assistance with site selection and 
development of the new location. Both the sales-based royalty fee and the one-time fee are recorded in royalties and franchise fees in the Company’s 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income. 

Revenue Transactions — Wholesale 

For most of the Company’s wholesale sales, control transfers upon the Company’s shipment of the product. Wholesale sales returns are not 
significant as the Company generally only accepts the return of goods that were shipped to the customer in error or that were damaged when received by 
the customer. Additionally, due to its extensive history operating as a leading party goods wholesaler, the Company has sufficient history with which to 
estimate future sales returns. 

In most cases, the determination of the transaction price is fixed based on the contract and/or purchase order. To the extent that the Company charges 
customers for freight costs, the Company records such amounts in revenue. Sales taxes and value-added taxes are excluded from revenue. 

The majority of the sales for the Company’s wholesale business are due within 30 to 120 days from the transfer of control of the product, and 
substantially all of the sales are collected within a year from such transfer. For all transactions for which the Company expects to collect the transaction 
price within a year from the transfer of 
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control, the Company does not adjust the consideration for the effects of a significant financing component as per the practical expedient set forth in ASU 
2014-09.

Judgments 

Although most of the Company’s revenue transactions consist of fixed transaction prices and the transfer of control at either the point of sale (for 
retail) or when the product is shipped (for wholesale), certain transactions involve a limited number of judgments. For transactions for which control 
transfers to the customer when the freight carrier delivers the product to the customer, the Company estimates the date of such receipt based on historical 
shipping times. Additionally, the Company utilizes historical data to estimate sales returns. Due to its extensive history operating as a leading party goods 
retailer, the Company has sufficient history with which to estimate such amounts. 

Other Revenue Topics 

During the years ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2020, impairment losses recognized on receivables arising from 
the Company’s contracts with customers were immaterial.

As a significant portion of the Company’s revenue is either: 1) part of a contract with an original expected duration of one year or less, or 2) related 
to sales-based royalties promised in exchange for licenses of intellectual property, the Company has elected to apply the optional exemptions in paragraphs 
ASC 606-10-50-14 through ASC 606-10-50-14A. 

Additionally, the Company has elected to apply the practical expedient that allows companies to recognize the incremental costs of obtaining a 
contract as an expense if the amortization period of the asset that the entity otherwise would have recognized would have been one year or less. 

Disaggregation of Revenue 

The following table summarizes revenue from contracts with customers for the years ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021, and December 
31, 2020: 
 

    Year ended December 31,  
    2022     2021     2020  
Retail Net Sales:                  

Party City Stores*   $ 1,724,044     $ 1,734,261     $ 1,374,680  
Temporary Stores     51,582       35,726       7,645  

Total Retail Revenues   $ 1,775,626     $ 1,769,987     $ 1,382,325  
Wholesale Net Sales:                  

Domestic   $ 255,369     $ 263,661     $ 238,936  
International     138,883       137,412       229,429  

Total Wholesale Net Sales   $ 394,252     $ 401,073     $ 468,365  
Total Consolidated Revenue   $ 2,169,878     $ 2,171,060     $ 1,850,690  

* 2022 and 2021 sales represent in person and online sales of product in stores

The Company maintains allowances for credit losses resulting from the inability of the Company’s customers to make required payments. Judgment 
is required in assessing the ultimate realization of these receivables, including consideration of the Company’s history of receivable write-offs, the level of 
past due accounts, and the economic status of the Company’s customers. In an effort to identify adverse trends relative to customer economic status, the 
Company assesses the financial health of the markets it operates in and performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers and ongoing reviews of 
account balances and aging of receivables. Amounts are considered past due when payment has not been received within the time frame of the credit terms 
extended. Write-offs are charged directly against the allowance for doubtful accounts and occur only after all collection efforts have been exhausted. At 
December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $9.2 million and $8.1 million, respectively.

105



 

Note 21 — Kazzam, LLC 

In 2017, the Company and Ampology, a subsidiary of Trivergence, reached an agreement to form a new legal entity, Kazzam, LLC (“Kazzam”), for 
the purpose of designing, developing, and launching an online exchange platform for party-related services. 

In January 2020, the Company and Ampology terminated certain services agreements and warrants that Ampology had in the Company stock. The 
parties concurrently entered into an interim transition agreement for which expenses are recorded as development stage expenses.

On March 23, 2020, the Company agreed to purchase Ampology’s interest in Kazzam in exchange for a three-year royalty on net service revenue 
and a warrant to purchase up to 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The acquisition of Ampology’s interest in Kazzam is an equity 
transaction and the difference between the fair value of the consideration transferred and the carrying value of Ampology’s interest in Kazzam is recorded 
within the consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity (deficit).

Note 22 — Subsequent Events

Emergence from Chapter 11 Cases

The Company evaluated subsequent events and transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date up to the date that the financial statements 
were issued. See Notes 1 and 9 for disclosure regarding the Company’s emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases on October 12, 2023.

Delisting of Our Common Stock from the NYSE

 On January 18, 2023 and as a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE” or the “Exchange”) commenced 
proceedings to delist the Company’s common stock from the NYSE. Under NYSE delisting procedures, the Company had the right to appeal this 
determination but did not exercise its right to do so. On February 3, 2023, the NYSE notified the SEC of its intention to remove the Company’s common 
stock from listing and registration on the Exchange on February 14, 2023, pursuant to the provisions of Rule 12d2-2(b) because, in the opinion of the 
Exchange, the Company’s common stock is no longer suitable for continued listing and trading on the Exchange. Accordingly, as of February 14, 2023, the 
Company’s common stock is no longer listed on the NYSE. The Company does not expect the NYSE delisting of its common stock to adversely affect the 
Company’s business operations or the pending restructuring under the Chapter 11 Cases, and the delisting of the Company’s common shares does not 
change the Company’s reporting requirements under SEC rules and regulations. The Company’s common stock began trading on the OTC Pink Open 
Market on February 14, 2023 under the symbol “PRTYQ” and ceased trading on the Effective Date (October 12, 2023) of the Plan.

Disposition of Assets

On March 31, 2023, the Debtors filed a motion with the Bankruptcy Court seeking the authority to sell, pursuant to section 363 of the Bankruptcy 
Code, their equity interests in Granmark, S.A. de C.V. (“Granmark”), a Non-Debtor Affiliate that is a party goods manufacturer located in Mexico, for $5.4 
million. On April 11, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court authorized the Debtors to proceed with this sale. This sale was consummated on April 18, 2023. 
Granmark was part of our wholesale segment, and its revenues and profitability were not material to the Company or the wholesale segment in current or 
previous years. 

On March 18, 2024, we sold the assets of Deco Paper Products, Inc. ("Deco"), a manufacturer and distributor of paper plates located in Louisville, 
Kentucky, for approximately $7 million. Deco was part of our wholesale segment, and its revenues and profitability were not material to the Company or 
the wholesale segment in current or previous years. 

In the first quarter of 2024, management approved the closure of Am-Source, Inc. ("Am-Source"), a manufacturer and distributor of plastic plates, 
cups, and bowls located in East Providence, Rhode Island. We expect to close Am-Source no later than the end of the fourth quarter of 2024, commensurate 
with the termination date of the lease of the East Providence facility. Am-Source is part of our wholesale segment, and its revenues and profitability have 
not been material to the Company or the wholesale segment in current or previous years. 
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SCHEDULE I—CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT 
PARTY CITY HOLDCO INC. 

(Parent company only) 

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS 
(Dollars in thousands) 

 
   

December 31,
2022    

December 31,
2021  

ASSETS            
Other assets (principally investment in and amounts due from wholly-
   owned subsidiaries)   $ —     $ 82,714  

Total assets   $ —     $ 82,714  
LIABILITIES AND
   STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

           

Other liabilities (principally amounts due from wholly-
   owned subsidiaries)   $ 857,827     $ —  

Total liabilities   $ 857,827     $ —  
Stockholders’ equity:            
Common stock (Par value $0.01; 113,509,223 and 112,170,944 shares outstanding and 
126,787,094 and 124,157,500 shares issued at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, 
respectively)     1,385       1,384  
Additional paid-in capital     988,463       982,307  
Retained deficit     (1,514,615 )     (571,985 )
Accumulated other comprehensive income     1,855       3,541  

Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity before common stock held in treasury     (522,912 )     415,247  
Less: Common stock held in treasury, at cost (13,277,871 and 11,986,556 shares
   at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively)     (334,915 )     (332,533 )

Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity     (857,827 )     82,714  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ (deficit) equity   $ —     $ 82,714  

 
See accompanying notes to these condensed financial statements. 
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PARTY CITY HOLDCO INC. 
(Parent company only)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME 
(Dollars in thousands) 

 
    Year ended December 31,  
    2022     2021     2020  
Equity in net loss of subsidiaries   $ (942,630 )   $ (6,528 )   $ (528,238 )

Net loss   $ (942,630 )   $ (6,528 )   $ (528,238 )
Add: Net income attributable to redeemable securities holder     —       —       —  

Net loss attributable to common shareholders of Party
   City Holdco Inc.   $ (942,630 )   $ (6,528 )   $ (528,238 )

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net     (1,686 )     33,457       5,818  
Comprehensive (loss) income     (944,316 )     26,929       (522,420 )

Comprehensive income attributable to redeemable securities
   holder     —       —       —  

Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to common shareholders of Party 
City Holdco Inc.   $ (944,316 )   $ 26,929     $ (522,420 )

 
See accompanying notes to these condensed financial statements. 
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PARTY CITY HOLDCO INC. 
(Parent company only)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(Dollars in thousands) 

 
    Year ended December 31,  
    2022     2021     2020  
Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities:                  

Net loss   $ (942,630 )   $ (6,528 )   $ (528,238 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided
   by (used in) operating activities:                  

Equity in net loss of subsidiaries     942,630       6,528       528,238  
Change in due to/from affiliates     2,382       1,678       (49 )

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities     2,382       1,678       (49 )
Cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities:                  

Treasury stock purchases     (2,382 )     (5,351 )     (96 )
Exercise of stock options     —       3,673       145  
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities     (2,382 )     (1,678 )     49  
Net change in cash and cash equivalents     —       —       —  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     —       —       —  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ —     $ —     $ —  

 
See accompanying notes to these condensed financial statements. 
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PARTY CITY HOLDCO INC. (Parent company only)

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Note 1 — Basis of Presentation and Description of Registrant 

Party City Holdco Inc. Schedule I, Condensed Financial Information of Registrant, provides all parent company information that is required to be 
presented in accordance with the SEC rules and regulations for financial statement schedules. The consolidated financial statements of Party City Holdco 
are included elsewhere. The parent-company financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes 
thereto. 

Party City Holdco does not conduct any separate operations and acts only as a holding company. Its share of the net income of its unconsolidated 
subsidiaries is included in its statements of income using the equity method. 

Since all material stock requirements, dividends and guarantees of the registrant have been disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, the 
information is not required to be repeated in this schedule. 

Note 2 — Dividends From Subsidiaries 

No cash dividends were paid to Party City Holdco by its subsidiaries during the years included in these financial statements. 
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SCHEDULE II

PARTY CITY HOLDCO INC. 
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 

The Years Ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2022 
(Dollars in thousands) 

 
  Beginning

Balance   Write-Offs   Additions  
Ending
Balance  

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:                
For the Year ended December 31, 2020 $ 4,786   $ 3,875   $ 6,321   $ 7,232  
For the Year ended December 31, 2021   7,232     1,744     2,569     8,057  
For the Year ended December 31, 2022   8,057     2,540     3,659     9,176  
Sales Returns and Allowances:                
For the Year ended December 31, 2020 $ 676   $ 61,935   $ 61,935   $ 676  
For the Year ended December 31, 2021   676     72,151     72,091     616  
For the Year ended December 31, 2022   616     76,552     76,620     684  
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

On June 5, 2023, the Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”) of the Board of Directors of the Company received a letter from Ernst & Young 
LLP (“EY”) stating that EY had resigned as the Company’s independent registered accounting firm for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The reports of EY on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 did not contain an adverse 
opinion or a disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principles.

EY's resignation, along with the Company's views thereof and EY's response, were disclosed on the Form 8-K dated June 9, 2023.

On October 21, 2023, the Company appointed a new accounting firm to serve as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm 
commencing with the audit of the Company’s financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. The Audit Committee previously 
approved the engagement of BDO USA, P.C. (“BDO”) on July 20, 2023 as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year 
ending December 31, 2022. The engagement of BDO became effective on October 21, 2023 following the execution of the Company’s engagement letter 
with BDO. 

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 and the subsequent interim period from January 1, 2023 through September 30, 2023, 
neither the Company nor anyone on its behalf consulted with BDO regarding either: (a) the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, 
either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on the Company’s financial statements, and no written report or oral 
advice was provided to the Company that BDO concluded was an important factor considered by the Company in reaching a decision as to any accounting, 
auditing or financial reporting issue; or (b) any matter that was either the subject of a “disagreement” or a “reportable event”, as such terms are defined in 
Items 304(a)(1)(iv) and (v), respectively, of Regulation S-K and the related instructions. 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and 
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2022. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) 
and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to 
ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, 
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, 
controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange 
Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons 
performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and 
procedures as of the quarter ended December 31, 2022, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our 
disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting as described below.

Notwithstanding the conclusion by our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer that our disclosure controls and procedures as of 
December 31, 2022 were not effective, and notwithstanding the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting described below, we 
believe the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly represent in all material respects the financial condition, 
results of operations, and cash flows of the Company for the periods presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, or U.S. GAAP.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial 
reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d - 15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act, as a process designed by, or under the supervision of a 
company’s chief executive officer and chief financial officer, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by a company’s board of directors, 
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management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that: 

• pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of 
the company; 

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and 

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

In designing and evaluating our internal control over financial reporting, we and our management recognize that any controls and procedures, no 
matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and our management was 
required to apply its judgment in evaluating and implementing possible controls and procedures. Our internal controls over financial reporting are designed 
to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their stated objectives. We review on an ongoing basis and document our disclosure controls and procedures, 
and our internal control over financial reporting, and we may from time to time make changes in an effort to enhance their effectiveness and ensure that our 
systems evolve with our business.

Under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management conducted an evaluation of our internal control over 
financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based upon this evaluation and the material weaknesses identified below, our management concluded that our internal 
control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2022. 

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. 

Material Weaknesses in Internal Control

In connection with our assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, control deficiencies 
were identified that, in the aggregate, represent material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. These material weaknesses relate to: (i) 
internal controls in the financial reporting processes, including a lack of segregation of duties within the accounts payable process, lack of effective controls 
surrounding the proper review and timeliness of information used in account reconciliations, journal entry review, and vendor invoice processing; (ii) 
information technology general controls in the areas of user access management and segregation of duties, within certain systems supporting the 
Company's accounting and reporting processes, were not designed or operating effectively; (iii) adequate documentation was not maintained to demonstrate 
management’s review supporting the assumptions used in our impairment testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets and long-lived assets; (iv) inadequate 
identification and review procedures over debt covenant requirements and restrictions, which led to a failure to detect and timely report a covenant 
violation related to tax payments; and (v) inadequate processes and internal controls relating to management’s analysis under ASC Subtopic 205-40 of 
whether there were conditions or events giving rise to substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after 
the financial statements were issued, which resulted in a material error in management’s assessment of the Company’s ability to remain a going concern in 
connection with filing its form 10-Q for the third quarter of 2022.

Remediation Plan for the Material Weaknesses

In response to the aforementioned material weaknesses, management has expended, and will continue to expend, a substantial amount of effort and 
resources for the remediation of material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting. 

113



 

 As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, management is reassessing the design of controls and modifying processes designed to improve 
our internal control over financial reporting and remediate the control deficiencies that led to the material weaknesses, including but not limited to:

• Developing action plans to address control deficiencies identified within certain key financial processes; 

• Evaluating a new transactional accounting and enterprise resource planning software on a company-wide basis, which, if implemented, 
would potentially strengthen our control environment; 

• Ensuring compliance with policies for effective and timely review of journal entries and account reconciliations and other financial statement 
close analyses and processes; 

• Assessing and implementing further segregation of duties to reduce risks that could present a reasonable possibility of material 
misstatements;

• Updating our quarterly User Access Review and Privileged Access Review procedures to include employees, contractors, and vendor 
accounts; including warehouse user IDs. Additionally, the quarterly User Access Review and Privileged Access Review will be updated to 
include a formal lookback of user access including Administrator accounts;

• Enhancement and retention of the documentation related to timely terminations of temporary distribution center employees; 

• Enhancement of the documentation demonstrating management’s review of key assumptions used in the development of subjective 
accounting conclusions and re-enforcing the need to maintain and retain such documentation;

• Improving the effectiveness of the monitoring and review of debt covenants to ensure the timely reporting of any covenant violations and 
augmenting staff with personnel having the appropriate experience and skill sets to support management’s debt covenant reviews; and

• Filling key open positions, including the Chief Accounting Officer, Chief Information Security Officer, Global Operations Controller, and 
Director of External Reporting and Technical Accounting roles.

The material weaknesses will not be considered remediated until management completes the design and implementation of the measures described 
above and the controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are effective. We also may 
conclude that additional measures may be required to remediate the material weaknesses or determine to modify the remediation plans described above. 
Management believes that the remediation measures described above will be implemented in a manner such that the controls can be tested, and the 
identified material weaknesses can be determined to be remediated, however, no assurance can be made that such remediation will occur or that additional 
material weaknesses will not be identified.

Based on additional procedures and post-closing review, management concluded that the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K present fairly, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows for the periods presented in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during 
the quarter ended December 31, 2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial 
reporting. 

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdiction that Prevent Inspections 

Not applicable. 
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PART III 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to all of our directors, officers, employees and representatives. This code is publicly available on our 
website at https://www.investor.partycity.com. Amendments to the code of ethics and any grant of a waiver from a provision of the code requiring 
disclosure under applicable SEC rules will be disclosed on our website. Our Corporate Governance Guidelines and the charters of our Board of Directors’ 
Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominating and ESG Committee are available on our website at https://www.investor.partycity.com. 
These materials may also be requested in print free of charge by writing to our Investor Relations Department at Party City HoldCo Inc., 1 Celebration 
Square, Woodcliff Lake, NJ 07677.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Executive Officers

Set forth below are the names, ages, and positions with the Company of the persons who served as executive officers of the Company (the “Named 
Executive Officers”) as of December 31, 2022.

 
Name Age Title

Bradley M. Weston…........................................ 58 Chief Executive Officer and Director
Todd E. Vogensen….......................................... 53 Chief Financial Officer
Sean C. Thompson…......................................... 48 President & Chief Commercial Officer
Peter R. Smith…............................................... 62 Chief Operations Officer
Denise M. Kulikowsky…................................. 54 Chief People & Administrative Officer
Reginald M. Rasch…........................................ 53 Former Chief Legal Officer
(1) Mr. Weston departed from the Company on November 3, 2023. 
(2) Mr. Vogensen departed from the Company on August 20, 2023.
(3) Mr. Smith joined the Company in his role as Chief Operations Officer on October 3, 2022 and departed from the Company on November 10, 2023.	
(4) Ms. Kulikowsky departed from the Company on October 20, 2023.
(5) Mr. Rasch departed from the Company and his role as Chief Legal Officer on November 18, 2022.
 

Named Executive Officers

• Bradley M. Weston became our President & Chief Executive Officer in April 2020 and has been a member of the Board since 
April 2020 due to his extensive experience in the retail industry and his roles as Chief Executive Officer here and at Petco. In July 
2019, Mr. Weston joined the Company as President and was also appointed Chief Executive Officer of Party City Retail Group. 
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Weston served as Chief Executive Officer at Petco (NASDAQ: WOOF) from January 2017 to 
June 2018. From October 2011 to December 2016, Mr. Weston served as the President and Chief Merchandising Officer of Petco. 
Before joining Petco, Mr. Weston held several senior executive positions at Dick’s Sporting Goods (NASDAQ: DKS) from 2006 to 
2011, including Chief Merchandising Officer. Mr. Weston earned a B.S. in business administration from the University of 
California, Berkeley. He also serves as a Director at Boot Barn (NYSE: BOOT), a retailer of western and work-related footwear, 
apparel, and accessories and was a member of both the Board of Directors of the National Retail Federation, the world’s largest 
retail trade association, and Petco.

• Todd E. Vogensen became our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in February 2020. Previously, Mr. Vogensen 
served as Executive Vice President – Chief Financial Officer at Chico’s FAS, Inc. (NYSE: CHS) from June 2015 through January 
2020. He joined Chico’s FAS in October 2009 and served in roles of increasing responsibility, including Senior Vice President – 
Finance, and Vice President – Investor Relations. Previously, Mr. Vogensen served in executive finance roles at Michaels Stores, 
Inc. (NASDAQ: MIK), 
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Gap, Inc. (NASDAQ: GPS), Hewlett Packard Company, and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. Mr. Vogensen graduated from Arizona 
State University and holds a B.S. in Accountancy.

• Sean C. Thompson became our President and Chief Commercial Officer in November 2022. Prior to that, he was named Chief 
Commercial Officer in September 2020 and Chief Merchandising Officer in November 2019. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. 
Thompson served at 7-Eleven, Inc. from 2012 to 2019, where he held several leadership positions of increasing responsibility, 
including SVP of Merchandising, SVP and Chief Customer Officer, and Vice President, Acquisition Integration. Previously, he 
served in merchandising and consulting roles with Target Corporation (NYSE: TGT) and The Farnsworth Group. Mr. Thompson 
holds a B.A. in Psychology and an MBA from Indiana University.

• Peter R. Smith became Chief Operations Officer in October 2022. Mr. Smith is the key architect of the Company’s supply chain 
strategy and has overall responsibility for Manufacturing, Transportation, Distribution, Logistics, Supply Chain Analytics, 
Sourcing, and Inventory Optimization, which includes Merchandise Planning, Inventory Operations, and Inventory Management. 
Mr. Smith has vast experience in end-to-end supply chain, designing and leading supply chain transformations that drove 
productivity, speed, and cost efficiency. Most recently, Mr. Smith was the Executive Vice President – Global Supply Chain for 
Carter’s Children Clothing Company, where he oversaw the development and execution of the company’s supply chain strategy. 
Prior to Carter’s, he was a senior executive at V.F. Corporation where he led supply chain teams in the U.S., Europe, and Asia. He 
holds a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration and Economics from Franklin and Marshall College.

• Denise M. Kulikowsky became our Chief People & Administrative Officer in November 2022; prior to that, she was named Chief 
Human Resources Officer in November 2018. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Kulikowsky served as the Vice President, Global 
Human Resources for The Estee Lauder Companies, Inc. (NYSE: EL) from 2015 to 2018. Before joining The Estee Lauder 
Companies Inc, Ms. Kulikowsky held several senior human resources positions of increasing responsibility at Gap Inc. (NYSE: 
GPS). Ms. Kulikowsky holds a B.S. in Psychology from Fordham University and a master’s degree in Counseling from the 
University of Pennsylvania.

• Reginald M. Rasch served as our Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary from May 2021 until his departure from the 
Company in November 2022. Mr. Rasch served at Rakuten (TSE: 4755) from 2005 to 2021, where he held positions of increasing 
responsibilities in Rakuten Americas including Head of Legal and Secretary. Prior to joining Rakuten, Mr. Rasch served in senior 
legal roles at LinkShare Corporation and in associate positions in several law firms. Mr. Rasch holds a B.S. in Business 
Administration from the State University of New York the College at New Paltz and a Juris Doctor from St. John’s School of Law. 
Mr. Rasch entered into a Separation Agreement with the Company effective as of November 18, 2022. While he is no longer 
serving as an executive officer, he was a Named Executive Officer for fiscal year 2022.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

This compensation discussion and analysis section provides context for the information contained in the tables following this discussion and is 
intended to provide information about our fiscal year 2022 compensation objectives, programs, and policies for our Named Executive Officers.

Executive Summary

Fiscal Year 2022 Overview and Executive Compensation Highlights

For a discussion of how the Chapter 11 Cases have affected our business, please refer to the “Chapter 11 Cases” section within Note 1 of the Notes 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Limited Salary Increases: Certain of our continuing NEOs received limited salary increases to reflect changes in roles and market practice and to 
fairly compensate them for their individual performance.
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Standard Long-Term Incentive ("LTI ")Program and Annual Incentive Plan in 2022: In March 2022, the Committee granted 50% of each NEO’s 
LTI target value in the form of PSUs with free cash flow and earnings per share performance goals measured over a three-year performance period and 
50% in the form of time-based RSUs, which vest in three equal annual installments, to balance the need to reward performance while also enabling 
retention. In addition, the Committee approved a 2022 annual cash incentive plan with adjusted EBITDA and net sales performance goals measured over a 
traditional one-year performance period.

Retention Bonuses to Named Executive Officers: In appreciation of the need to retain key personnel, the efforts of whom would be critical to our 
success during and following our Chapter 11 Cases, we, with the assistance of our compensation consultant, implemented a retention program in January 
2023 (the “January 2023 Retention Program”). The awards distributed to Company employees and executives pursuant to this program replaced all 
outstanding retention awards for participating individuals who had been eligible to receive an award under one of our then-existing retention programs and 
were broadly designed to mitigate retention risk with respect to certain employees, inclusive of the NEOs employed at the Company as of the date of the 
January 2023 Retention Program, except for Mr. Weston, who voluntarily declined to participate in the program. Cash retention awards granted under the 
January 2023 Retention Program were generally sized to partially replace the long-term incentive component of participants’ total annual compensation 
opportunity. Prior to our filing of voluntary petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code on January 17, 2023, we paid NEO participants 
approximately $3 million in aggregate and, subject to their continued employment with us, approximately $3 million was payable to these participants the 
earlier of within 30 days of i) the effective date of a Chapter 11 plan of reorganization ii) August 31, 2023. If a participant’s employment was terminated 
with cause or a participant resigned without good reason (both as defined in the underlying cash retention award agreement), the participant would forfeit 
the right to receive any unpaid portion of the cash retention bonus and would be obligated to repay us the entire gross amount of any portion of the cash 
retention bonus previously paid to such participant. As August 31, 2023, was earlier than the October 12, 2023 effective date of our Chapter 11 plan of 
reorganization, participants were paid the remaining $3 million in September 2023.

Stock Ownership Guidelines for Executive Officers: In July 2021, following input from our Compensation Consultant, to further align the interests 
of our executive officers with those of our stockholders, the Committee approved stock ownership guidelines for our NEOs and other key employees as set 
forth in the table below.

 
Covered Person Ownership Requirement

Chief Executive Officer Six-Times Annual Salary
Chief Financial Officer Three-Times Annual Salary
Chief Commercial Officer Three-Times Annual Salary
Chief Operations Officer Three-Times Annual Salary
Chief People & Administrative Officer Two-Times Annual Salary
Chief Legal Officer Two-Times Annual Salary

Shares and 50% of unvested RSUs count towards a covered employee’s ownership requirements, while unvested PSUs and unexercised options do 
not count for this purpose. All covered employees must hold 75% of the shares that they receive from the settlement of their stock awards (after taking into 
account any net settlement or share withholding to cover taxes) until they have met this requirement.

Executive Compensation Program Overview 

Compensation Philosophy

Our executive compensation program has been designed to:

• Attract, retain, and motivate executives who will contribute to our future success;

• Be competitive with the pay practices of other companies of comparable size, scope, and industry; and

• Create a strong linkage between pay and performance through the use of variable performance-based compensation.

The Compensation Committee believes that it has designed and implemented an executive compensation program in 2022 that appropriately 
balanced these considerations.
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Compensation Governance Policies

Our executive compensation program was overseen by the Compensation Committee with the advice and support of the Compensation Committee’s 
independent compensation consultant as well as our management team.

The following were key characteristics of our executive compensation program, which we believe promote good governance and best serve the 
interests of our stockholders:
 

What We Do What We Don't Do
Commit to oversight, evaluation, and continuous improvement of our executive pay 
design and administration by an independent Compensation Committee consisting 
entirely of independent directors.

Pay dividends or dividend equivalents on unearned performance 
shares.

Engage an independent compensation consultant to advise on appropriate pay 
practices for our executives and independent directors.

Re-price and cash out of stock options without stockholder approval.

Use a peer group to measure executive compensation levels and targets against other 
companies with similar industry relevance, business fit, valuation, and profitability.

Allow hedging or pledging of Company stock.

Employ a robust goal-setting process to align goals with Company strategy. Provide excessive perks to executive officers.
Target executive compensation mix to favor performance-based compensation tied to 
business and share price performance.

Provide for excise tax gross-ups to executives.

Maintain a “double trigger” requirement for vesting of outstanding equity awards 
upon a change of control.

Employ compensation practices which incentivize excessive risk 
taking.

Maintain a clawback policy which applies to any cash or equity-based bonus, award, 
or other incentive compensation received by current or former officers.

Provide for SERPs or executive pension plans.

Maintain share ownership requirements for our Board of Directors and senior 
executives.

Provide for problematic or excessive severance.

 
 2022 Compensation Program Elements

The Company’s executive compensation program consisted of base salary, annual incentive opportunity, long-term incentive compensation, and 
benefits. A breakdown of base salary, annual bonus, and long-term incentives is illustrated below:
 

Element
Fixed/

Variable Metrics What the Pay Element Rewards
Base Salary Fixed Fixed amount based on responsibilities, experience, 

and market data
Scope of responsibilities and the impact on the 
Company’s overall performance and operating results

Annual Incentive Plan Variable 50% Net Sales and 50% Adjusted EBITDA Achievement of key profitability and net sales metric 
which are critical metrics for a retail company like ours 
and are tracked closely by our stockholders

Long-term Incentive Plan Variable Equity-linked compensation with respect to 
Company common stock, which vests based on 
continued service with the Company and/or 
achievement of performance metrics

Shareholder value creation as the value of equity awards 
is tied to the Company’s stock price; and three-year cliff 
vesting incentivizes long-term retention

Under the Company’s compensation program, a significant portion of the compensation awarded to the CEO and other Named Executive Officers 
was generally subject to the achievement of pre-established short-term financial performance goals or is tied to the Company’s stock price.
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The Compensation Committee believed that executive compensation that is variable and tied to Company performance incentivizes superior 
business and financial performance and, by linking compensation with stock performance, aligns the interests of executives with those of our stockholders.

Fiscal Year 2022 Compensation

Base Salary

We pay our Named Executive Officers an annual base salary to provide them with a fixed, base level of compensation to help attract and retain 
them. In 2022, the Compensation Committee did not approve a salary increase for Messrs. Weston, Vogensen, or Rasch. The Compensation Committee did 
approve salary increases for Mr. Thompson and Ms. Kulikowsky based on their expanded roles in November 2022, individual performance, retention 
considerations, and market data. 

 

Executive Officer  
2022 Annual
Base Salary    

2021 Annual
Base Salary     % Change     Salary Effective Date

Bradley M. Weston   $ 1,050,000     $ 1,050,000     n/a     April 1, 2020
Todd E. Vogensen   $ 650,000     $ 650,000     n/a     April 26, 2021
Sean C. Thompson   $ 685,000     $ 650,000       5.4 %   November 7, 2022
Peter R. Smith   $ 600,000     n/a     n/a     October 3, 2022
Denise M. Kulikowsky   $ 475,000     $ 450,000       5.6 %   November 7, 2022
Reginald M. Rasch   $ 450,000     $ 450,000     n/a     May 7, 2021

(1) Mr. Smith joined the Company as the Chief Operations Officer on October 3, 2022. 
(2) Mr. Rasch departed from the Company and his role as Chief Legal Officer on November 18, 2022.

Annual Incentive Plan

Our Named Executive Officers were eligible to earn annual cash incentive awards under our Annual Incentive Plan (“AIP”), which was designed to 
incentivize annual financial performance. The Compensation Committee set the target annual cash bonus for each executive as a percentage of the 
executive’s annual base salary. Award opportunities were established at threshold, target, and maximum levels. For 2022, the Compensation Committee 
determined that the overall potential amount which may be earned by each Named Executive Officer would be capped at 200% of his or her target bonus 
amount, and the threshold payout amount would be 40% of his or her target bonus amount limit. The final amount of the cash-incentive award was 
determined based on the level of achievement of the performance criteria and the Named Executive Officer’s eligible base salary for the applicable 
performance period. For 2022, each Named Executive Officer’s base salary was used to determine his or her respective eligible base earnings for purposes 
of the AIP. 

2022 Target Bonus Amount

In late 2022, the target bonus percentage for Messrs. Weston, Vogensen, and Thompson and Ms. Kulikowsky was increased as set forth in the table 
below. In determining the increase for each of Messrs. Weston, Vogensen, and Thompson and Ms. Kulikowsky’s target bonus percentage, the 
Compensation Committee considered the Company’s significant year over year improvement in financial and operational performance from 2021, his or 
her bonus opportunities relative to the Company’s peer group, and the desire to further incentivize him or her to drive 2022 financial performance, as the 
Company continued to transform.

 

Executive Officer  
2022 Year

Target AIP %    
2021 Year

Target AIP %     Increase  

Bradley M. Weston     150 %    120 %    30 %
Todd E. Vogensen     80 %    75 %    5 %
Sean C. Thompson     90 %    80 %    10 %
Peter R. Smith     75 %  n/a     n/a  
Denise M. Kulikowsky     70 %    60 %    10 %
Reginald M. Rasch     60 %    50 %    10 %

(1) Mr. Smith joined the Company as the Chief Operations Officer on October 3, 2022.
(2) Mr. Rasch departed from the Company and his role as Chief Legal Officer on November 18, 2022.
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2022 Goals and Target Setting

For 2022, the Compensation Committee believed that it was appropriate to return to a more traditional and consistent incentive plan design as the 
Company was more than one year removed from the worst of the COVID-19 pandemic’s impact on our financial results and operations. The Committee 
approved a 2022 annual cash incentive plan with adjusted EBITDA and net sales performance goals measured over a traditional one-year performance 
period rather than the two six-month performance periods used in 2021. For this purpose, Adjusted EBITDA was defined to mean net income (loss) before 
interest expense, net, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, as further adjusted to eliminate the impact of certain items that we do not consider 
indicative of our core operating performance.

The following table shows the full year performance criteria under the AIP and our actual results for the Performance Period January 1, 2022 to December 
31, 2022:

 

Performance
Metric

Performance
Metric
Weight

Threshold   Target   Max   Actual   % of 
Target

Weighted 
Payout %

Net Sales 50% $ 2,177.5   $ 2,316.5   $ 2,455.5   $ 2,169.9   93.7% 0%
Adjusted EBITDA 50% $ 234.4   $ 293.0   $ 351.6   $ 133.3   45.5% 0%
Payout (as a % target annual bonus 
opportunity)

  40%   100%   200%          

(1) Amounts set forth in millions.
(2) All numbers are rounded for purposes of the amounts set forth in this column.

2022 Results and Payouts

The following table illustrates the target AIP and actual amounts earned for our Named Executive Officers:

 

Executive Officer   2022 Salary    
Full Year

Target AIP %    
Total Target Bonus

Amount $     Final Payout $  

Bradley M. Weston   $ 1,050,000       150 %   $ 1,575,000     $ 0  
Todd E. Vogensen   $ 650,000       80 %   $ 520,000     $ 0  
Sean C. Thompson   $ 685,000       90 %   $ 616,500     $ 0  
Peter R. Smith   $ 600,000       75 %  $ 450,000     $ 0  
Denise M. Kulikowsky   $ 475,000       70 %   $ 332,500     $ 0  
Reginald M. Rasch   $ 450,000       60 %   $ 270,000     $ 0  

(1) Reflects annual base salary rate as of December 31, 2022. 
(2) All numbers are rounded for purposes of the amounts set forth in this column.

Long-term Incentive Program

The Compensation Committee typically provided for annual grants of long-term, stock-based incentives. We believed that these long-term 
incentives helped retain key employees, align their financial interests with the interests of our stockholders, and rewarded the achievement of our long-term 
strategic goals. Our long-term incentive program was intended to emphasize our pay-for-performance philosophy, while incorporating an additional time-
based component that provided added retentive value.

Achievement of 2020 PSU Award Targets

In 2020, the annual 2020 long-term incentive awards for our Named Executive Officers were awarded 100% in the form of PSUs based on the 
achievement of the volume weighted average fair market value per share of Company common stock (“VWAP”) over a period of not less than ninety (90) 
consecutive calendar days during the three year performance period beginning on the date of grant.

The design of the 2020 PSU awards emphasized shareholder value creation while also incorporating a meaningful retentive component to ensure the 
continuity of our senior executive team during our turnaround. The performance component of the PSUs was contingent upon the Company achieving a 
VWAP at the following levels:
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Tranche  
% of Total Grant

 

Performance Conditions
Target Price

(90-Day VWAP)*
 

 

Percentage
Increase from Stock
Price on Grant Date

1   25%   $ 2.50     198%
2   25%   $ 5.00     397%
3   25%   $ 7.50     595%
4   25%   $ 10.00     794%

* Volume weighted average fair market value per share of Company common stock

Under the 2020 PSU awards, once a stock price hurdle is achieved, the respective PSU tranche would be earned and then vest ratably based on 
continued employment and be settled every six months over the following two years (i.e., four vesting dates). No PSUs were capable of vesting prior to one 
year from the grant date. The following timeline illustrates the structure of the PSUs:

 

 

 

Any PSUs not earned after three years from the grant date would be forfeited for no consideration. Despite the rigorous price targets that were set 
when such PSUs were first granted in 2020, the Committee certified that the price targets for tranches 1, 2, and 3 were achieved, and such tranches were 
subject to service-based vesting as set forth below.

 
Tranche Target Price


Achievement Date
Vesting


Date 1
Vesting


Date 2
Vesting


Date 3
Vesting


Date 4
Tranche 1 - $2.50 11/2/2020 7/18/2021 11/2/2021 5/2/2022 11/2/2022
Tranche 2 - $5.00 1/27/2021 7/27/2021 / 10/15/2021 1/27/2022 7/27/2022 1/27/2023
Tranche 3 - $7.50 7/27/2021 12/9/2021 6/9/2022 12/9/2022 6/9/2023
Tranche 4 - $10.00 Not achieved N/A N/A N/A N/A

(1) All vesting dates have already occurred as of the date hereof.
(2) On October 15, 2020, Mr. Thompson received a supplemental grant upon his promotion to Chief Commercial Officer, which consisted of the $5.00, $7.50, and $10.00 
tranches. The first vesting date following the achievement of the $5.00 tranche occurred on October 15, 2021, the one-year anniversary of the grant date.

For more information regarding each of our Named Executive Officer’s PSU holdings, including his or her unvested PSUs, as of December 31, 
2022, please see the Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End 2022 table below.
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2022 Target LTI Awards for NEOs

In March 2022, the Committee granted 50% of each NEO’s LTI target value in the form of PSUs with free cash flow and earnings per share 
performance goals measured over a three-year performance period and 50% in the form of time-based RSUs, which vest in three equal annual installments, 
to balance the need to reward performance while also enabling retention.

For fiscal year 2022, the Compensation Committee approved a fixed dollar target amount for each long-term incentive award for our Named 
Executive Officers. Award levels for each Named Executive Officer were generally set at lower levels from 2021 (except as otherwise contractually 
required) to reflect the number of shares which were awarded with respect to their 2020 PSU awards, which were granted based on a stock price of $1.50, 
and the fact that three of the four target price goals of such grant were achieved in the first year of performance. The Compensation Committee also 
considered each Named Executive Officer’s respective role and responsibilities as well as overall performance. The table below shows information 
regarding the target values awarded to each Named Executive Officer.

 

Executive  
Target

Award Value    
Number of

 PSUs Granted    

Actual Grant Date 
Value of PSUs

 Granted  
Bradley M. Weston   $ 4,305,000       498,888     $ 1,596,442  
Todd E. Vogensen   $ 1,160,000       128,888     $ 412,442  
Sean C. Thompson   $ 1,316,000       146,222     $ 467,910  
Peter R. Smith     -       -       -  
Denise M. Kulikowsky   $ 320,000       35,555     $ 113,776  

(1) The number of PSUs for each NEO was determined and approved by the Compensation Committee on March 14, 2022. The Compensation Committee used a share price 
of $4.50 to determine the number of PSUs each NEO would receive. The actual share price on the date of grant was $3.20.
(2) Mr. Smith did not participate in the LTI program in 2022 but received a sign-on award of 324,756 RSUs upon joining the Company in October 2022.
(3) Mr. Rasch received a LTI award that was forfeited upon his departure from the Company on November 18, 2022. As a result, no award is reflected in this table for Mr. 
Rasch.

Employment Agreements

Each of our Named Executive Officers had an employment agreement or offer letter that was effective during fiscal year 2022. The terms of these 
agreements, including any amendments thereto, are further described in “Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grant of Plan-Based 
Awards Table” below. These agreements are intended to provide our Named Executive Officers with security regarding the terms and conditions of their 
employment or other services with us and are intended to secure restrictive covenants and, under certain circumstances, releases of claims that provide 
protection for the Company. 

Severance and Change in Control Arrangements

We provide severance protection to our Named Executive Officers in their employment agreements and, in certain cases, through their stock option 
agreements and change in control severance agreements. The severance terms that apply to our Named Executive Officers are described below under 
“Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control.” Our severance protections are designed to retain the services of our Named Executive 
Officers and generally resulted from prior negotiations regarding their employment arrangements. We believe the level of severance payments we provide 
is appropriate and within the range of competitive practice.

Additionally, as also described below under “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control”, a change of control and/or an 
accompanying qualifying termination may result in acceleration of certain long-term incentive awards that we have granted.

Other Benefits and Perquisites

Each Named Executive Officer was eligible to participate in our broad-based employee benefit plans for U.S.-based employees in 2022, such as 
medical, dental, group life, disability, and accidental death and dismemberment insurance. Under our consolidated 401(k) plan, our Named Executive 
Officers and generally all domestic exempt and non-exempt employees who meet certain length-of-service, hours worked, and age requirements, as defined 
in such plans, were eligible to contribute a portion of their compensation to the plan on a pre and/or post-tax basis in 
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2022 with contributions ranging from 0 to 100% and receive an employer matching contribution ranging from 0 to 5% of the employee’s annual salary. In 
addition, participants in our 401(k) plan were also entitled to profit-sharing contributions from the Company in 2021, pursuant to the Company’s profit-
sharing program, which was discontinued at the end of 2021. Eligible compensation for the profit-sharing program was 2% of up to $43,750 in earnings per 
quarter. The annual value of the Company contributions to our tax-qualified defined contribution plans for each Named Executive Officer is reflected in the 
All Other Compensation and Summary Compensation tables below.

Each Named Executive Officer, except for Messrs. Thompson, Smith, and Rasch, also had the option to enroll in a supplemental disability plan 
which was discontinued in August 2021. These benefits were made available to a select group of employees earning above a specified salary threshold. The 
premium amounts were paid by the Company for these benefits and are included in the All Other Compensation and Summary Compensation tables below.

Each Named Executive Officer, except for Mr. Rasch, was eligible for an annual auto allowance. The annual values of the auto allowance were 
reported as taxable income to the executive and are reflected in the All Other Compensation and Summary Compensation tables below. The Compensation 
Committee believed that it was important to compensate our executive officers for all expenses incurred while traveling for work to allow our NEOs to 
concentrate on their responsibilities and our future success, and the cost of providing these automobile-related benefits was reasonable relative to its value 
to our Named Executive Officers.

Mr. Weston was also eligible for reimbursement of relocation expenses, plus reimbursements for the payment of associated income taxes, pursuant 
to the Company’s relocation policy and his employment agreement, the amounts of which is included in the All Other Compensation column of the 
Summary Compensation table below.

Compensation Decision Making Process

Compensation Committee and Compensation Consultants

The Compensation Committee was responsible for setting and administering our executive compensation policies and programs and determining the 
compensation of our executive officers, including our Named Executive Officers. The Compensation Committee also administered the Amended and 
Restated 2012 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. All decisions regarding compensation of our executive officers during 2022 were made solely by the 
Compensation Committee, in certain cases, after consultation with our Chief Executive Officer (other than with respect to his own compensation).

The Compensation Committee met at least quarterly, and at least annually evaluated the performance of our Named Executive Officers, to approve 
their annual base salaries, subject to the contractual commitments we had made with our Named Executive Officers (as described below), and to determine 
their annual cash incentive awards for the prior year’s performance and stock-based incentive compensation to be effective for the current year. In addition 
to its regularly scheduled meetings, the Compensation Committee could meet at interim dates during the year to review the compensation of a Named 
Executive Officer or other officer in the event of unforeseen organizational or responsibility changes, including new hires, which occur during the year.

In determining compensation components and levels for our Named Executive Officers, the Compensation Committee considered the scope and 
responsibility of the officer’s position, our overall financial and operating performance, and the officer’s overall performance and future potential. The 
Compensation Committee members apply their considerable experiences in serving as directors of other companies to devise compensation packages that 
they believe will attract, retain, and provide incentives to the executive talent necessary to manage the Company. When we last held a say-on-pay 
stockholder vote in 2019, our stockholders expressed broad support for our program, and our Compensation Committee continued to take that as support 
for the philosophy underlying our executive compensation practices, which continued to guide its decision making.

Additionally, the Compensation Committee was responsible for reviewing and assessing potential risk arising from the Company’s compensation 
policies and practices. The Compensation Committee was responsible for overseeing that there were not risks arising from the Company’s compensation 
policies and practices for the Company’s employees that were reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company.

The Compensation Committee had the sole authority to retain, at the Company’s expense, outside executive compensation consultants to assist it in 
the evaluation of executive officer compensation. This authority 
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encompassed the ability to terminate any such consultant and the authority to approve such consultant’s fees and other retention terms.

Compensation Consultant

In 2022, the Compensation Committee engaged Korn Ferry as its independent compensation consultant. Korn Ferry assisted the Compensation 
Committee in identifying an appropriate compensation peer group, conducting pay benchmarking, and reviewing our short-and long-term incentive 
programs and recommending design changes for our executive compensation program. After consideration of the independence assessment factors set forth 
under the listing rules of the NYSE, the Compensation Committee determined that Korn Ferry was independent and that the engagement did not raise any 
conflicts of interest.

Peer Group

The Compensation Committee identified the companies below as members of its peer group based on comparability to assist the Committee in 
making decisions affecting 2022 compensation. Specifically, the Compensation Committee looked at industry relevance, business fit favoring vertical 
integration, and scale, valuation, and profitability comparability through financial measures such as revenue and enterprise value. No changes were made to 
the companies in the peer group between 2022 and 2021. 
  
Company   Primary Industry
Williams-Sonoma, Inc.   Specialty Retail
Big Lots, Inc.   Multiline Retail
Mattel, Inc.   Leisure Products
Tempur Sealy International, Inc.   Household Durables
Urban Outfitters, Inc.   Specialty Retail
Sally Beauty Holdings, Inc.   Specialty Retail
Carter's, Inc.   Textiles, Apparel and Luxury Goods
Deckers Outdoor Corporation   Textiles, Apparel and Luxury Goods
Vista Outdoor Inc.   Leisure Products
Genesco Inc.   Specialty Retail
Wolverine World Wide, Inc.   Textiles, Apparel and Luxury Goods
Sleep Number Corporation   Specialty Retail
The Children's Place, Inc.   Specialty Retail
Steven Madden, Ltd.   Textiles, Apparel and Luxury Goods
Fossil Group, Inc.   Textiles, Apparel and Luxury Goods
Party City Holdings Inc.   Specialty Retail

Recoupment Policy (“Clawback”)

We maintained a recoupment (“clawback”) policy which provided that, in the event that we were required to prepare an accounting restatement, we 
could recover from current and former officers any cash- or equity-based bonus, award, or other incentive compensation erroneously paid or awarded (as 
well as reduce or cancel such bonuses, awards, or other compensation and compelling payment for any gains or other accessions to wealth realized in 
respect of equity or equity-based awards) in excess of what would have been paid under the accounting restatement. This policy covered the three-year 
period preceding the date on which we were required to prepare the accounting restatement.

Derivatives Trading, Hedging, and Pledging Policies

We maintained an insider trading policy that applied to all of our employees worldwide, including our Named Executive Officers, and members the 
Board, as well as their designees. The policy prohibited such employees and directors from (i) engaging (directly or indirectly) in hedging transactions or 
otherwise engaging in transactions that hedge or offset, or were designed to hedge or offset, any decrease in the market value of the Company’s securities 
or (ii) holding Company securities in a margin account or pledging Company securities as collateral for a loan. An exception could be granted where an 
employee wished to pledge Company securities as collateral for a loan (not including margin debt) and clearly demonstrates the financial capacity to repay 
the loan without resort to the pledged securities.
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Tax Considerations

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended limits the deductibility of compensation paid to certain current and former 
executive officers to $1.0 million per year. The Compensation Committee retains flexibility to approve compensation arrangements that promote the 
objectives of our compensation program, but which may not qualify for full or partial tax deductibility. In designing our compensation and benefits 
programs, the Compensation Committee considered the accounting implications of its decisions, including the accounting treatment of amounts awarded or 
paid to our executives.

Compensation Committee Report 

The Compensation Committee reviewed and discussed the compensation discussion and analysis set forth above with management. Based on these 
reviews and discussions, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board that the compensation discussion and analysis be included in this Form 
10-K filed with the SEC for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022.

Compensation Committee 

Steven J. Collins, Chair 
John Frascotti
Norman S. Matthews
Michelle Millstone-Shroff  

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation granted to or earned by our Named Executive Officers for fiscal years 2022, 
2021, and 2020 (or such shorter period as the individual was a Named Executive Officer of the Company):

 

Name and Principal   Salary   Bonus  
Stock

Awards  
Option
Awards  

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan

Compensation  
All Other

Compensation   Total  
Position Year ($)   ($)   ($)   ($)   ($)   ($)   ($)  
Bradley M. Weston 2022   1,050,000     -     4,305,000     -     1,575,000     8,810     6,938,810  
Chief Executive Officer 2021   1,050,000     -     -     -     1,561,368     46,966     2,658,334  
 2020   952,290     -     2,988,500     -     1,012,867     210,805     5,164,462  
Todd E. Vogensen 2022   650,000     -     1,160,000     -     520,000     21,310     2,351,310  
Chief Financial Officer 2021   641,346     -     519,998     -     599,206     21,219     1,781,769  
  2020   531,250     420,000     695,000     -     387,019     410,638     2,443,907  
Sean C. Thompson 2022   685,000     -     1,316,000     -     616,500     21,310     2,638,810  
President & Chief Commercial 
Officer

2021   649,038     -     1,104,996     -     644,374     18,882     2,417,290  

 2020   578,731     -     705,139     -     414,481     147,821     1,846,172  
Peter R. Smith
Chief Operations Officer

2022   600,000     500,000     500,000     -     -     336,228     1,936,228  

Denise M. Kulikowsky 2022   475,000     -     320,000     -     332,500     20,410     1,147,910  
Chief People & Administration 
Officer

2021   441,346     -     224,996     -     330,663     23,776     1,020,781  

 2020   407,981     -     260,625     -     212,500     20,069     901,175  
Reginald M. Rasch 2022   450,000     -     395,000     -     270,000     461,234     1,576,234  
Former Chief Legal Officer 2021   278,654     200,000     269,995     -     196,585     2,235     947,469  

(1) Salary amounts reflect the actual base salary payments earned by the Named Executive Officer.
(2) Mr. Smith received a cash sign-on bonus in 2022, pursuant to the terms of his offer letter, which would be forfeited in its entirety if he was terminated for cause within 24 
months of the start of his employment.
(3) Reflects the aggregate grant date fair value of all PSU and RSU awards granted in the applicable fiscal year, including the sign-on RSU award grant to Mr. Smith, 
calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 for stock-based compensation, disregarding 
the effect of estimated forfeitures. These amounts do not represent the actual value that would be received by each individual from the awards. The assumptions 
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used in determining the fair values of PSUs and RSUs granted in 2022 are disclosed in Notes 2 and 16 to our audited consolidated financial statements.
(4) Amounts represent annual bonuses earned under our annual cash incentive plan for such years. 
(5) “All Other Compensation” includes the following amounts for 2022 shown:
 

Name and Principal      
Transportation

 Benefit    

Company
Contribution to

Qualified Defined
Contribution

Plans    

Long-Term
Disability
Insurance
Premiums     Other  

Position   Year   ($)     ($)     ($)     ($)  
Bradley M. Weston - Chief Executive Officer   2022     7,800       -       1,010       -  
Todd E. Vogensen - Chief Financial Officer   2022     8,100       12,200       1,010       -  
Sean C. Thompson - President & Chief Commercial 
Officer

  2022     8,100       12,200       1,010       -  

Peter R. Smith - Chief Operations Officer   2022     -       2,077       233     333,919  
Denise M. Kulikowsky - Chief People & Administrative 
Officer

  2022     7,200       12,200       9,009       -  

Reginald M. Rasch - Former Chief Legal Officer   2022     -       10,308       168     450,000  

(a) Includes relocation expenses pursuant to the Company’s relocation policy and his relocation package.
(b) Represents a lump-sum cash severance payment equal to one-times Mr. Rasch’s base salary at the time of his separation.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The table below provides information on cash and equity-based performance awards granted to each of the Company’s Named Executive Officers 
during the fiscal year 2022.

 

     
Non-Equity

Incentive Plan Awards  

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Equity

Incentive Plan Awards  

All Other Stock 
Awards: 

Number of 
Shares or Units 

(#)

Exercise 
Price of 
Option 
Awards 
($/Share)

Grant Date 
Fair Value of 

Stock and 
Option 

Awards ($)  
Name and Principal Award Grant Threshold   Target   Maximum   Threshold   Target   Maximum          
Position Type Date ($)   ($)   ($)   (#)   (#)   (#)          
Bradley M. Weston Cash     630,000     1,575,000     2,362,500                      
Chief Executive Officer RSUs 3/14/2022                         498,888     1,596,442  
 PSUs 3/14/2022               0     498,888     498,888         1,596,442  
Todd E. Vogensen Cash     208,000     520,000     1,040,000                      
Chief Financial Officer RSUs 3/14/2022                         128,888     412,442  
  PSUs 3/14/2022               0     128,888     128,888         412,442  
Sean C. Thompson Cash     246,600     616,500     924,750                      
President & Chief 
Commercial Officer RSUs 3/14/2022                         146,222     467,910  

  PSUs 3/14/2022               0     146,221     146,221         467,910  
Peter R. Smith RSUs 10/3/2022                         324,675     500,000  
Chief Operations Officer                                    
Denise M. Kulikowsky Cash     133,000     332,500     498,750                      
Chief People & 
Administrative Officer RSUs 3/14/2022                         35,555     113,776  

  PSUs 3/14/2022               0     35,555     35,555         113,776  
Reginald M. Rasch RSUs 3/14/2022                         43,888     140,442  
Former Chief Legal Officer PSUs 3/14/2022               0     43,888     43,888         140,442  
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(1) “RSUs” indicates that the award was a time-based restricted stock unit award. “PSUs” indicates that the award was a performance-based restricted stock unit award.
(2) Represented annual bonus opportunities granted under our annual cash incentive plan. Mr. Thompson’s base salary increased from $650,000 to $685,000, and Ms. 
Kulikowsky’s base salary increased from $450,000 to $475,000, in each case, effective November 7, 2022. As a result, amounts set forth below for Mr. Vogensen and Ms. 
Kulikowsky are based on his or her prorated annual base salary. See “Annual Cash Incentive Plan” under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” above for a description 
of our annual cash incentive plan and each Named Executive Officer’s bonus opportunity for fiscal 2022.
(3) Represented the range of possible share payouts associated with pre-established levels of performance for PSUs granted. These awards were earned based on the 
achievement of certain free cash flow and earnings per share goals determined during the applicable three-year performance periods, generally subject to the Named 
Executive Officer’s continued employment by the Company through the applicable vesting date. See “Long-Term Incentive Program” under “Compensation Discussion and 
Analysis” above for further description of these PSUs.
(4) Time-based RSU awards were granted on March 14, 2022. This award vested in three substantially equal installments on January 1, 2023, January 1, 2024, and January 
1, 2025, subject to continued employment through the applicable vesting dates. Mr. Rasch forfeited his award in this table in its entirety upon his departure from the 
Company.
(5) Mr. Smith received an RSU sign-on bonus when he joined the Company on October 3, 2022.
(6) Amounts shown in this column reflect the fair value of the equity awards on the date of grant determined in accordance with ASC Topic 718.

Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grant of Plan-Based Awards Table

Important Events Subsequent to Year End

As described above in the  "Retention Bonuses to Named Executive Officers” section, all of our NEOs, except for Mr. Weston, participated in our 
January 2023 Retention Program, 50% of which was payable upon our voluntary petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, subject to 
their continued employment with us, and the remaining 50% payable the earlier of within 30 days of i) the effective date of a Chapter 11 plan of 
reorganization ii) August 31, 2023. The NEO’s eligibility to receive a cash retention bonus was subject to continued employment with us through the 
payment dates. If an NEO’s employment was terminated with cause or resigned without good reason (both as defined in the underlying cash retention 
award agreement), the NEO would forfeit the right to receive any unpaid portion of the cash retention bonus and would be obligated to repay us the entire 
gross amount of any portion of the cash retention bonus previously paid to them. If an NEO’s employment was terminated due to death or disability, the 
NEO would forfeit the right to receive any unpaid portion of the cash retention bonus but would not be obligated to repay any portion of the award 
previously paid to them. If an NEO’s employment was terminated by us without cause or the NEO resigned for good reason, the NEO would receive a 
prorated amount of the unpaid portion of the cash retention bonus based on the number of days elapsed since the effective date of the grant and the 
executive’s termination. If an NEO was terminated in connection with a change in control of the Company, the NEO would receive any unpaid portion of 
the cash retention bonus. The January 2023 Retention Program included a requirement that the NEO be bound by non-solicitation, non-disparagement, and 
confidentiality restrictive covenants.

On January 11, 2023, we entered into the second amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Weston, governing the terms of his 
continued employment as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company (the “Amended Weston Agreement”). The Amended Weston Agreement extended 
Mr. Weston’s employment with us on generally the same terms as existed under his prior employment agreement through December 31, 2023, unless 
terminated sooner pursuant to the terms of the Amended Weston Agreement. Under the Amended Weston Agreement, Mr. Weston would continue to 
receive a base salary of $1,050,000 per year and continued to be eligible for an annual bonus target of 150% of his base salary and a car allowance. The 
Amended Weston Agreement also included the provision of a cash retention bonus payment in the amount of $1,000,000, payable as soon as 
administratively practicable, but in no event later than 30 days, following the conclusion of the Chapter 11 Cases, subject to Mr. Weston’s continued 
employment through such date. In the event that Mr. Weston’s employment was terminated by us without cause or he resigned for good reason not in 
connection with a change in control, subject to his execution of a general release, he would receive two times’ the sum of his annual base salary and a 
prorated annual bonus for the year of termination based on actual performance. In the event Mr. Weston’s employment was terminated by us without cause 
or he resigned for good reason within the period that begins six months prior to a change in control and ends 24 months following a change in control, he 
would be entitled to two times’ the sum of his annual base salary plus his target annual bonus, a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination based on 
actual performance, subsidized COBRA benefits for 24 months, full vesting of any time-based equity awards he 
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may then hold, and his performance-based equity awards would generally be treated as earned at target levels and would vest prorated based on how much 
of the performance period has elapsed prior to the termination of employment. Mr. Weston would be bound by noncompetition, non-solicitation, and 
confidentiality provisions under the Amended Weston Agreement.

Employment Agreements and Change in Control Severance Agreements

Employment Agreement with Bradley M. Weston.

Commencing April 1, 2020, Mr. Weston had been party to an amended and restated employment agreement with the Company pursuant to which he 
served as our Chief Executive Officer. In 2022, Mr. Weston’s annual base salary was $1,050,000, and he was eligible for an annual cash incentive bonus 
with a target of 150% of annual base salary. Mr. Weston’s employment agreement also provided for other customary benefits, including savings and 
retirement plans, paid vacation, health care, life insurance plans, and expense reimbursement.

Employment Agreement with Todd E. Vogensen.

Commencing January 6, 2020, Mr. Vogensen had been party to an employment agreement with the Company, pursuant to which he served as our 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. In 2022, Mr. Vogensen’s annual base salary was $650,000, and he was eligible for an annual cash 
incentive bonus with a target of 80% of annual base salary. Mr. Vogensen’s employment agreement also provided for other customary benefits, including 
savings and retirement plans, paid vacation, health and welfare benefit plans, and expense reimbursement.

Employment Agreement with Sean C. Thompson.

Commencing November 7, 2022, Mr. Thompson has been party to an amended and restated employment agreement with the Company, pursuant to 
which he serves as our President and Chief Commercial Officer. In 2022, Mr. Thompson’s annual base salary was raised from $650,000 to $685,000, and 
he was eligible for an annual cash incentive bonus with a target raised from 80% to 90% of annual base salary. Mr. Thompson’s employment agreement 
also provides for other customary benefits, including savings and retirement plans, paid vacation, health and welfare plans, and expense reimbursement.

Offer Letter and Change in Control Severance Agreement with Mr. Smith. 

Commencing October 3, 2022, Mr. Smith had been party to an offer letter with the Company, pursuant to which he served as our Chief Operations 
Officer. In 2022, Mr. Smith’s base salary was $600,000, and he was eligible for an annual cash incentive bonus with a target of 75% of annual base salary. 
Mr. Smith received a $500,000 cash sign-on bonus and a sign-on equity grant valued at $500,000 in the form of RSUs. Mr. Smith’s offer letter also 
provided for other customary benefits, including savings and retirement plans, paid vacation, health and welfare plans, and expense reimbursement

Commencing October 3, 2022, Mr. Smith had been a party to a change in control severance agreement with the Company, pursuant to which Mr. 
Smith was entitled to receive severance payments and benefits upon certain terminations of employment in connection with a change in control.

 Employment Agreement with Denise M. Kulikowsky.

 Commencing November 7, 2022, Ms. Kulikowsky had been party to an amended and restated employment agreement with the Company, pursuant 
to which she served as our Chief People and Administrative Officer. In 2022, Ms. Kulikowsky’s annual base salary was raised from $450,000 to $475,000, 
and she was eligible for an annual cash incentive bonus with a target raised from 60% to 70% of annual base salary. Her employment agreement also 
provided for other customary benefits, including savings and retirement plans, paid vacation, health and welfare plans, and expense reimbursement.

Employment Agreement and Separation Agreement with Reginald M. Rasch.

Commencing March 29, 2021, Mr. Rasch had been party to an employment agreement with the Company, pursuant to which he served as our 
Executive Vice President, Chief Legal Officer, and Corporate Secretary until his departure in November 2022. In 2022, Mr. Rasch’s annual base salary was 
$450,000, and he was eligible for an annual cash incentive bonus with a target of 50% of annual base salary (prorated for 2021 based on his start date). He 
received a $200,000 cash sign-on bonus and a sign-on equity grant of $270,000 in the form of RSUs. Mr. Rasch’s employment agreement also provided for 
other customary benefits, including savings and retirement plans, paid vacation, health and welfare plans, and expense reimbursement.
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Upon his departure from the Company effective November 18, 2022, Mr. Rasch entered into a Separation Agreement and general release that 
provided: (i) 12 months of base salary continuation; (ii) annual incentive compensation for fiscal year 2022, prorated to the number of days employed in 
fiscal year 2022, and subject to the Company’s and Board’s determination of such annual incentive compensation for such period; (iii) accelerated vesting 
of certain time-based restricted stock units, which were awarded as a sign-on grant and which vested as of his last date of employment; and (iv) the 
employee portion of COBRA continuation coverage for the 12 month period following the Separation Date, all of which were provided for as severance 
benefits set forth in Mr. Rasch’s previously executed employment agreement, subject to him not revoking a release of claims and continuing to comply with 
certain non-competition and non-solicitation requirements.

For a description of the payments and benefits our Named Executive Officers may be entitled to in connection with a termination of employment or 
a change in control, and for a description of the restrictive covenants in our favor by which our Named Executive Officers are bound, see “—Potential 
Payments upon Termination or Change in Control.”

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End 2022

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to outstanding stock options and restricted stock units held by our Named Executive 
Officers on December 31, 2022.

129



 

Name and Principal Position
Option 

Grant Date

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 

Options 
Exercisable

 

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 

Options 
Unexercisable

 

Option 
Exercise 

Price 
($/Share)  

Option 
Expiration 

Date

Restricted 
Stock Unit 
Grant Date

Number of 
Shares or 

Units That 
Have Not 
Vested (#)

Market 
Value of 

Shares or 
Units That 
Have Not 

Vested ($)  

Equity 
Incentive 

Plan 
Awards: 

Number of 
Unearned 

Shares, 
Units, or 

Other Rights 
that Have 
Not Vested 

(#)

Equity 
Incentive Plan 

Awards: 
Market or 

Payout Value of 
Unearned 

Shares, Units, 
or Other Rights 
that Have Not 

Vested($)  
Bradley M. Weston 7/25/2019   300,000     -     6.21   7/25/2029              
Chief Executive Officer                 7/18/2020 179,167   65,575        
                 7/18/2020 179,167   65,575        
                 7/18/2020       716,666   262,300  
                 3/14/2022 498,888   182,593        
                 3/14/2022       199,555   73,037  
                 3/14/2022       299,333   109,556  
Todd E. Vogensen                 7/18/2020 41,677   15,250        
Chief Financial Officer                 7/18/2020 41,677   15,250        
                 7/18/2020       166,666   61,000  
                 8/9/2021 78,313   28,663        
                 3/14/2022 128,888   47,173        
                 3/14/2022       77,333   28,304  
                 3/14/2022       51,555   18,869  
Sean C. Thompson                 7/18/2020 39,587   14,489        
Chief Commercial Officer                 7/18/2020 39,587   14,489        
                 7/18/2020       158,345   57,954  
                 10/15/2020 4,167   1,525        
                 10/15/2020 4,167   1,525        
                 10/15/2020       16,666   6,100  
                 8/9/2021 166,415   60,908        
                 3/14/2022 146,222   53,517        
                 3/14/2022       87,733   32,110  
                 3/14/2022       58,488   21,407  
Peter R. Smith                 10/3/2022 324,675   118,831        
Chief Operations Officer                              
Denise M. Kulikowsky 11/14/2018   16,000     4,000     11.47   11/13/2028              
Chief Human Resources 
Officer                 7/18/2020 15,625   5,719        

                 7/18/2020 15,625   5,719        
                 7/18/2020       62,500   22,875  
                 8/9/2021 33,885   12,402        
                 3/14/2022 35,555   13,013        
                 3/14/2022       21,333   7,808  
                 3/14/2022       14,222   5,205  

(1) Mr. Weston’s time-based options were set to vest in three equal annual installments from the grant date, generally subject to Mr. Weston’s continued employment or other 
service through the applicable vesting date. Ms. Kulikowsky’s time-based options were set to vest in five equal annual installments commencing on November 14, 2019, 
generally subject to Ms. Kulikowsky’s continued employment or service through the applicable vesting date.
(2) Calculated using the 2022 year-end closing market price of $0.37 per share.
(3) This column displays the number of shares that could be earned subject to certain performance criteria at the end of the relevant performance period. Please see the 
“Long-Term Incentive Program” section within the Compensation Discussion & Analysis section of the proxy statement.
(4) PSU award that was earned based on achievement of a VWAP of $5.00 over a period of not less than ninety (90) consecutive calendar days during the three-year 
performance period beginning on the date of grant. On January 27, 2021, this performance condition was achieved, and 25% of the earned PSUs vested on July 27, 2021 
(October 15, 2021, in the case of Mr. Thompson’s 
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supplemental PSU grant), and the remaining earned PSUs were set to vest in equal installments on January 27, 2022, July 27, 2022, and January 27, 2023, subject to 
continued employment through the applicable vesting date.
(5) PSU award that was earned based on achievement of a VWAP of $7.50 over a period of not less than ninety (90) consecutive calendar days during the three-year 
performance period beginning on the date of grant. On June 9, 2021, this performance condition was achieved, and 25% of the earned PSUs vested on December 9, 2021, 
and the remaining earned PSUs were set to vest in equal installments on June 9, 2022, December 9, 2022, and June 9, 2023, subject to continued employment through the 
applicable vesting date.
(6) PSU award that could be earned subject to achievement of a VWAP of $10.00 over a period of not less than ninety (90) consecutive calendar days during the three-year 
performance period beginning on the date of grant, subject to continued employment through the applicable vesting date. As of December 31, 2022, the performance 
conditions were not achieved.
(7) Time-based RSU awards, which were set to vest in three substantially equal installments on the first, second, and third anniversaries of the grant date, subject to 
continued employment through the applicable vesting dates.
(8) PSU award that could be earned subject to achievement of 2022 free cash flow goal that would then vests 100% after three years.
(9) PSU award that could be earned subject to achievement of 2022 earnings per share goal that would then vests 100% after three years.
(10) Time-based RSU awards, which would 100% cliff vest on August 9, 2024, subject to continued employment through such date.
(11) Time-based RSU award, which would vest 50% on March 15, 2023 and 50% on March 15, 2024, subject to continued employment through such date.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2022
    Option Awards     Stock Awards  

Name and Principal Position  

Number
 of Shares Acquired

 on Exercise    

Value
 Realized on
 Exercise ($)    

Number of
 Shares

 Acquired on
Vesting    

Value
 Realized on
 Vesting  ($)  

Bradley M. Weston     -       -       1,075,022       2,190,155  
Chief Executive Officer                        
Todd E. Vogensen     -       -       250,002       509,342  
Chief Financial Officer                        
Sean C. Thompson     -       -       254,186       515,136  
President & Chief Commercial Officer                        
Peter R. Smith     -       -       -       -  
Chief Operations Officer                        
Denise M. Kulikowsky     -       -       95,354       199,936  
Chief People & Administrative Officer                        
Reginald M. Rasch     -       -     22,613       44,454  
Former Chief Legal Officer                        

(1) None of our Named Executive Officers exercised options during 2022.
(2) Represents the product of the number of PSUs and RSUs that vested and the market value of Party City Holdco Inc. common stock on the vesting date.
(3) For Mr. Rasch, this included stock that vested pursuant to his Separation Agreement in November 2022.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control for 2022

During 2022, the employment agreements of each Named Executive Officer provided for severance benefits upon a termination of employment 
under certain circumstances (including, in certain cases, in connection with a change in control). For a discussion regarding the benefits see “—Employment 
Agreement with Mr. Weston”, “—Employment Agreement with Mr. Vogensen”, “—Offer Letter and Change in Control Severance Agreement with Mr. 
Smith”, “—Employment Agreement with Mr. Thompson”, and “—Employment Agreement with Ms. Kulikowsky” below. Furthermore, a change in control (in 
some cases, only if accompanied by a qualifying termination of the Named Executive Officer’s employment) or a termination of employment would also, 
in certain cases, result in the accelerated vesting of our restricted stock units and time-based options and would have certain effects on our performance-
based options. See “—Effect of Change of Control and Qualifying Termination on Equity Awards” below.

131

(1) (2)

(3)



 

Potential Post Employment Severance and Bonus Payments

The following table presents the potential post-employment severance and bonus payments payable to each of our Named Executive Officers, other 
than Mr. Rasch, and the potential effect of a change in control on stock–based awards held by our Named Executive Officers, other than Mr. Rasch, in each 
case, as of December 31, 2022, the last business day of our fiscal year. The table also assumes that the triggering event took place on December 31, 2022. 
Amounts shown in the table do not include (i) accrued but unpaid salary, (ii) vested benefits, including the value of time-based restricted stock units that 
vested by their terms on December 31, 2022, or (iii) other benefits earned or accrued by the Named Executive Officer during his or her employment that 
are available to all salaried employees and that do not discriminate in scope, terms, or operations in favor of executive officers. For Mr. Rasch, the table 
presents amounts actually paid upon his termination in November 2022 pursuant to his Separation Agreement.

Under the terms of each Named Executive Officer’s employment agreement as in effect on December 31, 2022, each Named Executive Officer 
except for Mr. Rasch is entitled to receive a prorated bonus for the year of termination in the event of a termination of employment due to death or 
disability.
 

       

Termination of 
Employment Without 

Cause or for Good Reason    

Termination of Employment 
Without Cause or for Good 

Reason within six months 
prior to or 24 months 
following a Change in 

Control  
Name   Benefit   ($)     ($)  
Bradley M. Weston   Severance   2,100,000     5,268,017  
   Vesting of Time-Based Options     0       0  
   Vesting of Time-Based RSUs     0       313,743  
   Vesting of Performance-Based RSUs     0       345,781  
   TOTAL     2,100,000       5,927,541  

Todd E. Vogensen   Severance   650,000     2,374,354  
   Vesting of Time-Based RSUs     46,225       106,336  
   Vesting of Performance-Based RSUs     89,235       62,482  
   TOTAL     774,373       2,543,171  

Sean C. Thompson   Severance   685,000     2,629,546  
   Vesting of Time-Based RSUs     49,867       146,453  
   Vesting of Performance-Based RSUs     0       61,680  
   TOTAL     734,867       2,837,680  

Peter R. Smith   Severance   600,000     2,117,177  
   Vesting of Time-Based RSUs     0       118,831  
   TOTAL     600,000       2,236,008  

Denise M. Kulikowsky   Severance   475,000     1,633,017  
   Vesting of Time-Based Options     0       0  
   Vesting of Time-Based RSUs     0       36,853  
   Vesting of Performance-Based RSUs     0       22,185  
   TOTAL     475,000       1,692,055  

Reginald M. Rasch   Severance     450,000     Not Applicable  
   Vesting of Time-Based RSUs     0     Not Applicable  
   TOTAL     450,000     Not Applicable  

(1) Under the terms of each Named Executive Officer’s employment agreement, offer letter, or change in control severance agreement (as applicable) as in effect on 
December 31, 2022, each Named Executive Officer except for Mr. Rasch is entitled to the following cash severance payments in the event of a termination of employment 
without cause or resignation for good reason as follows: (i) Mr. Weston would be entitled to receive a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination, payable based on 
actual performance in the year of termination, and severance pay equal to two times his annual base salary, payable as salary continuation and (ii) Messrs. Vogensen, 
Thompson, and Smith and Ms. Kulikowsky would be entitled to receive a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination, payable based on actual performance in the year 
of termination, and severance pay equal to one times his or her annual base salary, payable as salary continuation.
(2) Under the terms of each Named Executive Officer’s employment agreement, offer letter, or change in control severance agreement (as applicable), as in effect on 
December 31, 2022, each Named Executive Officer except for Mr. Rasch is entitled to the following cash severance payments in the event of a Qualifying Termination (as 
defined below) consisting of: (i) a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination, payable based on actual performance in the year of termination, and (ii) severance pay 
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equal to two times the sum of his or her then-current annual base salary and then-current target annual bonus, payable as a lump sum. Under the terms of each Named 
Executive Officer’s employment agreement, offer letter or change in control severance agreement (as applicable), as in effect on December 31, 2022, each Named Executive 
Officer would be entitled to the Company portion of COBRA premiums for 24 months (12 months for Mr. Smith) following the date of a Qualifying Termination. The 
amounts attributable to COBRA continuations are as follows: Mr. Weston ($18,017), Mr. Vogensen ($34,354), Mr. Thompson ($26,546), Mr. Smith ($17,177), and Ms. 
Kulikowsky ($18,017).
(3) Under the terms of his employment agreement as in effect on December 31, 2022, if Mr. Weston’s employment had been terminated without cause or he resigned for 
good reason, his sign-on options would have accelerated by 24 months and, in connection with a Qualifying Termination, all of his sign-on options would have accelerated 
in full. However, no value is shown related to Mr. Weston’s sign-on options, as the exercise price exceeded the Company’s closing stock price on December 30, 2022, of 
$0.37. Similarly, under the terms of her employment agreement as in effect on December 31, 2022, if Ms. Kulikowsky’s employment had experienced a Qualifying 
Termination, her outstanding stock options would have accelerated in full. However, no value is shown related to Ms. Kulikowsky’s options, as the exercise price exceeded 
the Company’s closing stock price on December 30, 2022, of $0.37.
(4) Under the terms of their employment agreements as in effect on December 31, 2022, if Messrs. Vogensen or Thompson had been terminated without cause or resigned 
for good reason, their unvested time-based RSUs would have accelerated by 12 months. Further, under the terms of each Named Executive Officer’s employment 
agreement, as in effect on December 31, 2022, all unvested time-based RSUs held by each NEO as of December 31, 2022, would vest in full upon a Qualifying Termination. 
Amounts shown are based on the Company’s closing stock price on December 30, 2022, of $0.37.
(5) Under the terms of their employment agreements as in effect on December 31, 2022, in connection with a Qualifying Termination, all performance-based RSUs held by 
our current Named Executive Officers as of December 31, 2022, for which the performance period had not ended would be treated as earned at target levels and would vest 
prorated based on the elapsed portion of the performance period as of the date of the Qualifying Termination. Amounts shown are based on the closing price of the 
Company’s stock on December 30, 2022, of $0.37.
(6) Amount shown for Mr. Rasch reflect what was actually paid to him in accordance with his previously executed employment agreement and Separation Agreement, 
including that Mr. Rasch was entitled to retain his $200,000 sign-on bonus if he was terminated for any reason other than for cause within 24 months of his start date.

Amended & Restated Employment Agreement with Mr. Weston. 

Under Mr. Weston’s amended and restated employment agreement as in effect on December 31, 2022, if we had terminated Mr. Weston’s 
employment other than for cause (as defined in Mr. Weston’s employment agreement), or if Mr. Weston had terminated his employment for good reason (as 
defined in Mr. Weston’s employment agreement), we would have been obligated to pay Mr. Weston the following cash payments: (1) accrued unpaid salary, 
earned but unpaid annual bonus for any prior year and accrued but unpaid vacation pay (collectively, the “Accrued Obligations”); (2) a prorated annual 
bonus for the year of termination, payable based on actual performance in the year of termination; (3) severance pay equal to two times his annual base 
salary, payable as salary continuation; and (4) with respect to the stock options he received as a sign-on award, accelerated vesting of the portion of the 
stock options that would have vested in the 24 month period immediately following his termination of employment had he remained employed with the 
Company.

If such a termination had occurred within six months prior to, or 24 months following, a change in control (a “Qualifying Termination”), the 
severance payment described above would have instead been equal to an amount equal to two times the sum of Mr. Weston’s then-current annual base 
salary and then-current target annual bonus, payable as a lump sum. Additionally, assuming Mr. Weston’s timely election to continue his “COBRA” 
coverage under the Company’s group health plan, for a period of 24 months following termination, he would have received a monthly amount equal to the 
Company’s portion of the monthly health premiums for such coverage as paid prior to termination.

In addition, the stock options he received as a sign-on award would accelerate and vest in full and, Mr. Weston’s remaining incentive equity awards 
(other than the stock options received as a sign-on award) that vest solely based on his continued service with the Company would have fully vested 
immediately upon the occurrence of a Qualifying Termination. Any such awards that are subject to performance-based vesting would have been earned and 
vested as follows: (i) if the full performance period has elapsed as of the date of the Qualifying Termination, based on actual achievement of the applicable 
performance goals without proration and (ii) otherwise, based on assumed achievement of the applicable performance goals at 100% of the performance 
target, prorated based on the number of days of Mr. Weston’s actual employment with the Company prior to the Qualifying Termination during the full 
performance period.
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Upon termination of Mr. Weston’s employment by the Company for cause, or by Mr. Weston without good reason, Mr. Weston would have only 
been entitled to the Accrued Obligations, and upon his termination of employment due to death or disability, Mr. Weston would have been entitled to the 
Accrued Obligations and a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination.

Payment of the severance payments and benefits described above would be subject to Mr. Weston’s (or, in the case of his death, his beneficiary’s or 
estate’s) signing of a release of claims, except such a release would not be required with respect to the Accrued Obligations and, in the case of a Qualifying 
Termination, the accelerated vesting of equity awards other than the stock options he received as a sign-on award.

Mr. Weston’s employment agreement as in effect on December 31, 2022, also provided that during the term of the agreement and the Restriction 
Period (as defined below), Mr. Weston would be subject to certain non-competition and non-solicitation provisions, as described in the employment 
agreement. The Restriction Period is defined as the 24-month period immediately following a termination of employment other than a termination at the 
expiration of the employment period.

Employment Agreement with Mr. Vogensen.

Under Mr. Vogensen’s employment agreement as in effect on December 31, 2022, if we had terminated Mr. Vogensen’s employment other than for 
cause (as defined in Mr. Vogensen’s employment agreement), or if Mr. Vogensen had terminated his employment for good reason (as defined in Mr. 
Vogensen’s employment agreement), we would have been obligated to pay Mr. Vogensen the following cash payments: (1) the Accrued Obligations; (2) a 
prorated annual bonus for the year of termination, payable based on actual performance in the year of termination; and (3) severance pay equal to one times 
his annual base salary, payable as salary continuation. In addition, with respect to Mr. Vogensen’s incentive equity awards that vest solely based on his 
continued service with the Company, the portion of such awards that would have vested had he remained employed for the 364 days following the date of 
his termination of employment would accelerate and fully vest. Any of his outstanding awards that are subject to performance-based vesting would have 
been earned and vested as follows: (i) if the full performance period has elapsed as of the date of termination, based on actual achievement of the applicable 
performance goals without proration and (ii) otherwise, based on assumed achievement of the applicable performance goals at 100% of the performance 
target, prorated based on the date which is 364 days following the date of termination during the full performance period.

Upon a Qualifying Termination, the severance payment would have instead been equal to an amount equal to two times the sum of Mr. Vogensen’s 
then-current annual base salary and then-current target annual bonus, payable as a lump sum. Additionally, assuming Mr. Vogensen’s timely election to 
continue his “COBRA” coverage under the Company’s group health plan, for a period of 24 months following termination, he would have received a 
monthly amount equal to the Company’s portion of the monthly health premiums for such coverage as paid prior to termination. Further, Mr. Vogensen’s 
incentive equity awards that vest solely based on his continued service with the Company would accelerate and fully vest while such awards that vest upon 
the occurrence of specified performance metrics would have been earned and vested as follows: (i) if the full performance period has elapsed as of the date 
of the Qualifying Termination, based on actual achievement of the applicable performance goals without proration and (ii) otherwise, based on assumed 
achievement of the applicable performance goals at 100% of the performance target, prorated based on the number of days of Mr. Vogensen’s actual 
employment with the Company prior to the Qualifying Termination during the full performance period.

Upon termination of Mr. Vogensen’s employment by the Company for cause, or by Mr. Vogensen without good reason, Mr. Vogensen would have 
only been entitled to the Accrued Obligations, and upon his termination of employment due to death or disability, Mr. Vogensen would have been entitled 
to the Accrued Obligations and a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination.

Payment of the severance payments and benefits described above would be subject to Mr. Vogensen’s (or, in the case of his death, his beneficiary’s 
or estate’s) signing of a release of claims, except such a release would not be required with respect to the Accrued Obligations.

Mr. Vogensen’s employment agreement as in effect on December 31, 2022, also provided that during the term of the agreement and the Restriction 
Period (as defined below), Mr. Vogensen would be subject to certain non-competition and non-solicitation provisions, as described in the employment 
agreement. The Restriction Period is defined as the 12 month period immediately following a termination of employment (or the 24 month period 
following a Qualifying Termination) other than a termination at the expiration of the employment period.
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Amended & Restated Employment Agreement with Mr. Thompson. 

Under Mr. Thompson’s employment agreement in effect on December 31, 2022, if we had terminated Mr. Thompson’s employment other than for 
cause (as defined in Mr. Thompson’s employment agreement), or if Mr. Thompson had terminated his employment for good reason (as defined in Mr. 
Thompson’s employment agreement), we would have been obligated to pay Mr. Thompson the following cash payments: (1) the Accrued Obligations, and 
(2) severance pay equal to one times his annual base salary, payable as salary continuation. In addition, with respect to his sign-on incentive equity award, 
the portion of the RSUs that would have vested had he remained employed for the 12 months following the date of his termination would accelerate and 
fully vest, and his sign-on performance-based RSUs would remain outstanding and eligible to vest for 12 months following the date of his termination.

Upon a Qualifying Termination, the severance payment would have instead been equal to an amount equal to two times the sum of Mr. Thompson’s 
then-current annual base salary and then-current target annual bonus, payable as a lump sum, and Mr. Thompson would also be entitled to receive a 
prorated annual bonus for the year of termination, payable based on actual performance in the year of termination. Additionally, assuming Mr. Thompson’s 
timely election to continue his “COBRA” coverage under the Company’s group health plan, for a period of 24 months following termination, he would 
have received a monthly amount equal to the Company’s portion of the monthly health premiums for such coverage as paid prior to termination. With 
respect to Mr. Thompson’s sign-on incentive equity award, his RSUs would accelerate and fully vest as of the date of termination, and his performance-
based RSUs would have been earned and vested based on assumed achievement of the applicable performance goals at 100% of the performance target, 
prorated based on the number of days of Mr. Thompson’s actual employment with the Company prior to the Qualifying Termination during the full 
performance period. With respect to Mr. Thompson’s remaining incentive equity awards, such awards that vest solely based on his continued service with 
the Company would accelerate and fully vest. Any of his remaining outstanding awards that are subject to performance-based vesting would have been 
earned and vested as follows: (i) if the full performance period has elapsed as of the date of the Qualifying Termination, based on actual achievement of the 
applicable performance goals without proration and (ii) otherwise, based on assumed achievement of the applicable performance goals at 100% of the 
performance target, prorated based on the number of days of Mr. Thompson’s actual employment with the Company prior to the Qualifying Termination 
during the full performance period.

Upon termination of Mr. Thompson’s employment by the Company for cause, or by Mr. Thompson without good reason, Mr. Thompson would have 
been entitled to the Accrued Obligations, and upon his termination of employment due to death or disability, Mr. Thompson would have been entitled to the 
Accrued Obligations and a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination.

Payment of the severance payments and benefits described above would be subject to Mr. Thompson’s (or, in the case of his death, his beneficiary’s 
or estate’s) signing of a release of claims, except such a release would not be required with respect to the Accrued Obligations and, in the case of a 
Qualifying Termination, the accelerated vesting of equity awards other than the stock options he received as a sign-on award.

Mr. Thompson’s employment agreement as in effect on December 31, 2022 also provided that during the term of the agreement and the 12 month 
period immediately following a termination of employment (or the 24 month period following a Qualifying Termination) other than a termination at the 
expiration of the employment period, Mr. Thompson would be subject to certain non-competition and non-solicitation provisions, as described in the 
employment agreement.

Offer Letter and Change in Control Severance Agreement with Mr. Smith. 

Under Mr. Smith’s offer letter in effect on December 31, 2022, if we had terminated Mr. Smith’s employment other than for cause (as defined in Mr. 
Smith’s offer letter), we would have been obligated to pay Mr. Smith the following cash payments: (1) severance pay equal to one times his annual base 
salary, payable as salary continuation and (2) a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination based on actual performance and paid at the same time 
annual bonuses are paid to other senior executives of the Company. Payment of the severance payments under his offer letter would be subject to Mr. Smith 
entering into a severance agreement with customary restrictive covenant arrangements and signing of a release of claims.

Under Mr. Smith’s Change in Control Severance Agreement in effect on December 31, 2022, upon a Qualifying Termination, the severance payment 
would have instead been equal to an amount equal to two times the sum of Mr. Smith’s then-current annual base salary and then-current target annual 
bonus, payable as a lump sum. Mr. Smith would also receive a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination, determined based on actual 
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performance, payable as a lump sum. Additionally, assuming Mr. Smith’s timely election to continue his “COBRA” coverage under the Company’s group 
health plan, for a period of 12 months following termination, he would have received a monthly amount equal to the Company’s portion of the monthly 
health premiums for such coverage as paid prior to termination. With respect to any stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance stock 
units or similar equity awards, such awards that vest solely based on her continued service with the Company would accelerate and fully vest. Any of his 
remaining outstanding awards that are subject to performance-based vesting would have been earned and vested as follows: (i) if the full performance 
period has elapsed as of the date of the Qualifying Termination, based on actual achievement of the applicable performance goals without proration and (ii) 
otherwise, based on assumed achievement of the applicable performance goals at 100% of the performance target, without proration.

Payment of the severance payments and benefits described under his Change in Control Severance Agreement would be subject to Mr. Smith (or, in 
the case of his death, his beneficiary’s or estate’s) signing of a release of claims.

Mr. Smith’s Change in Control Severance Agreement as in effect on December 31, 2022 also provided that during the term of the agreement and the 
12 month period immediately following a Qualifying Termination, Mr. Smith would be subject to certain non-competition and non-solicitation provisions, 
as described in that agreement.

Amended & Restated Employment Agreement with Ms. Kulikowsky. 

Under Ms. Kulikowsky’s employment agreement in effect on December 31, 2022, if we had terminated Ms. Kulikowsky’s employment other than 
for cause (as defined in Ms. Kulikowsky’s employment agreement), or if Ms. Kulikowsky had terminated her employment for good reason (as defined in 
Ms. Kulikowsky’s employment agreement), we would have been obligated to pay Ms. Kulikowsky the following cash payments: (1) the Accrued 
Obligations; (2) a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination, payable based on actual performance in the year of termination; and (3) severance pay 
equal to one times her annual base salary, payable as salary continuation.

Upon a Qualifying Termination, the severance payment would have instead been equal to an amount equal to two times the sum of Ms. 
Kulikowsky’s then-current annual base salary and then-current target annual bonus, payable as a lump sum. Additionally, assuming Ms. Kulikowsky’s 
timely election to continue her “COBRA” coverage under the Company’s group health plan, for a period of 24 months following termination, she would 
have received a monthly amount equal to the Company’s portion of the monthly health premiums for such coverage as paid prior to termination. Further, 
Ms. Kulikowsky’s incentive equity awards and options that vest solely based on her continued service with the Company would accelerate and fully vest 
while such awards that vest upon the occurrence of specified performance metrics would have been earned and vested as follows: (i) if the full performance 
period has elapsed as of the date of the Qualifying Termination, based on actual achievement of the applicable performance goals without proration and (ii) 
otherwise, based on assumed achievement of the applicable performance goals at 100% of the performance target, prorated based on the number of days of 
Ms. Kulikowsky’s actual employment with the Company prior to the Qualifying Termination during the full performance period.

Upon termination of Ms. Kulikowsky employment by the Company for cause, or by Ms. Kulikowsky without good reason, Ms. Kulikowsky would 
have only been entitled to the Accrued Obligations, and upon her termination of employment due to death or disability, Ms. Kulikowsky would have been 
entitled to the Accrued Obligations and a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination under her employment agreement.

Payment of the severance payments and benefits described above would be subject to Ms. Kulikowsky (or, in the case of her death, her beneficiary’s 
or estate’s) signing of a release of claims, except such a release would not be required with respect to the Accrued Obligations.

Ms. Kulikowsky’s employment agreement as in effect on December 31, 2022, also provided that during the term of the agreement and the 12 month 
period immediately following a termination of employment (other than a termination at the expiration of the employment period and only if she was 
receiving severance), Ms. Kulikowsky would be subject to certain non-competition and non-solicitation provisions, as described in the employment 
agreement.

Separation Agreement with Mr. Reginald M. Rasch.

In connection with the departure, the Company will enter into a Separation Agreement and General Release with Mr. Rasch (the “Separation 
Agreement”). The Separation Agreement provided that Mr. Rasch received: (i) 12 months of base salary continuation; (ii) annual incentive compensation 
for fiscal year 2022, prorated to the number 
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of days employed in fiscal year 2022, and subject to the Company’s and Board’s determination of such annual incentive compensation for such period; (iii) 
accelerated vesting of certain time-based restricted stock units, which were awarded as a sign-on grant and which will vest as of his last date of 
employment; and (iv) the employee portion of COBRA continuation coverage for the twelve month period following the Separation Date, all of which 
provides for the severance benefits that are set forth in Mr. Rasch’s previously executed employment agreement, subject to him not revoking a release of 
claims and continuing to comply with certain non-competition and non-solicitation requirements. Upon the Company’s filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, Mr. 
Rasch’s salary continuation ceased.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

No member of the Compensation Committee was at any time during 2022 or at any other time an officer or employee of the Company, and no 
member of this committee had any relationship with the Company requiring disclosure under Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act. No 
executive officer of the Company has served on the board of directors or compensation committee of any other entity that has or has had one or more 
executive officers who served as a member of the Compensation Committee during 2022.

Chief Executive Officer Pay Ratio

As required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the following information explains the relationship of the annual 
total compensation of our median employee to the annual total compensation on an annualized basis of Mr. Weston, our CEO as of the determination date 
for our median employee.

For 2022, our last completed fiscal year:

• Our median employee was a part time sales associate working in one of our retail stores in the United States;

• The total annual compensation of our median employee was $10,176;

• The total annual compensation of Mr. Weston, on an annualized basis, was $2,659,398; and

• The ratio of the median employee’s pay to that of Mr. Weston was approximately 261 to 1.

The SEC rules allow us to identify our median employee once every three years unless there has been a change in our employee population or 
employee compensation arrangements that we reasonably believe would result in a significant change in our pay ratio disclosure. Since December 31, 
2020, there has been no change in our employee population or employee compensation arrangements that we believe would significantly impact the pay 
ratio disclosure. We therefore used the same median employee to calculate our 2022 pay ratio as was used for purposes of our 2020 pay ratio.

In calculating the CEO pay ratio, the SEC rules allow companies to adopt a variety of methodologies, apply certain exclusions, and make reasonable 
estimates and assumptions reflecting their unique employee populations. Therefore, our reported CEO pay ratio may not be comparable to CEO pay ratios 
reported by other companies due to differences in industries and geographical dispersion, as well as the different estimates, assumptions, and 
methodologies applied by other companies in calculating their CEO pay ratios.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Not applicable. The Company’s Common stock has been cancelled in connection with our emergence from bankruptcy.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions and Director Independence

Related Person Transactions Policy

In accordance with the charter of our Audit Committee and our policy with respect to related person transactions, our Audit Committee is 
responsible for reviewing and approving related person transactions.

The policy with respect to related person transactions applies to transactions, arrangements, and relationships (or any series of similar transactions, 
arrangements, or relationships) where the aggregate amount involved will or 
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may be expected to exceed $120,000 in any calendar year, and where we (or our subsidiaries) are a participant and in which a related person has or will 
have a direct or indirect material interest. A related person is:

• Any person who is, or at any time since the beginning of our fiscal year was, a director or executive officer of the Company, or a nominee for 
director or executive officer of the Company;

• Any person who is known to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of any class of our voting securities;

• Any immediate family member of the foregoing persons; and

• Any firm, corporation, or other entity in which any of the foregoing persons has a position or relationship, or in which such person, together 
with his or her immediate family members, has a 10% or greater beneficial ownership.

In the course of its review and approval of related person transactions, our Audit Committee considers the relevant facts and circumstances to decide 
whether to approve such transactions. In particular, our policy with respect to related person transactions requires our Audit Committee to consider, among 
other factors it deems appropriate:

• the benefits to the Company;

• the impact on a director’s independence in the event the related person is a director, an immediate family member of a director, or an entity in 
which a director has a position or relationship;

• the availability of other sources for comparable products or services;

• the terms of the transaction; and

• the terms available to unrelated third parties or to employees generally.

The Audit Committee may only approve those transactions that are in, or are not inconsistent with, our best interests and those of our stockholders, 
as the Audit Committee determines in good faith.

In addition, the Audit Committee has considered and adopted standing pre-approvals under the policy for limited transactions with related persons. 
Pre-approved transactions include:

• Employment as an executive officer, if the related compensation is approved (or recommended to the Board of Directors for approval) by the 
Compensation Committee;

• Any compensation paid to a director if the compensation is consistent with our director compensation policies and is required to be reported 
in our proxy statement under applicable compensation disclosure requirements;

• Any transaction with another company at which a related person’s only relationship is as an employee (other than an executive officer) or 
director or beneficial owner of less than 10% of that company’s equity, if the aggregate amount involved does not exceed the greater of 
$1,000,000 or 2% of that company’s total annual revenue;

• Any charitable contribution, grant, or endowment by us or a charitable foundation created by us to a charitable organization, foundation, or 
university at which a related person’s only relationship is as an employee (other than an executive officer) or director, if the aggregate amount 
involved does not exceed the lesser of $1,000,000 or 2% of such charitable organization’s total annual receipts;

• Any transaction where the related person’s interest arises solely from the ownership of our common stock and all holders of our common 
stock received the same benefit on a pro rata basis, such as dividends;

• Any transaction involving a related person where the rates or charges involved are determined by competitive bids; and

• Any service provided to any related person by us, provided that such service is in the ordinary course of business and on substantially the 
same terms as those prevailing at the time for comparable services provided to non-related persons.

138



 

Related Person Transactions

None.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The aggregate fees that we paid for professional services rendered by BDO and EY for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were 
(amounts in millions):

 
    2022     2021  
    BDO     EY  
Audit Fees   $ 4.6     $ 3.3  
Audit Related Fees     -       0.1  
Tax Fees     0.2       0.1  
All Other Fees     -       -  
Total   $ 4.8     $ 3.5  

(1) Audit fees in fiscal year 2022 include professional services rendered for the audits of our consolidated financial statements and review of documents filed with the SEC. 
Audit fees in fiscal year 2021 include professional services rendered for the audits of our consolidated financial statements (including reviews of all associated quarterly 
financial statements), assistance with documents filed with the SEC, audit fees related to financing transactions, and audits of statutory financial statements incremental to 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements.
 
(2) Audit related fees in 2021 principally include the audits of our employee benefit plans, due diligence services, and attestation services related to financial reporting that 
are not required by statute or regulation.
 
(3) Tax fees in 2022 and 2021 were for services related to tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning.

The Audit Committee pre-approved all audit services and all permitted non-audit services by EY and pre-approved all audit services by BDO, 
including engagement fees and terms.

The Audit Committee’s policies prohibited us from engaging EY and prohibit us from engaging BDO to provide any services relating to 
bookkeeping or other services related to accounting records or financial statements, financial information system design and implementation, appraisal or 
valuation services, fairness opinions or contribution-in-kind reports, actuarial services, internal audit outsourcing, any management function, legal services 
or expert services not related to the audit, broker-dealer, investment adviser or investment banking services, or human resource consulting. In addition, the 
Audit Committee evaluated whether our use of EY and evaluates whether our use of BDO for permitted non-audit services was compatible with 
maintaining EY’s independence and is compatible with maintaining BDO's independence. The Audit Committee concluded that EY’s provision of non-
audit services, all of which the Audit Committee approved in advance, was compatible with its independence. The Audit Committee concluded that BDO's 
provision of non-audit services, all of which the Audit Committee approved, was compatible with its independence.
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PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

The following documents are filed as part of this report. 

1. Financial Statements. The financial statements are set forth under Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedules. Schedule I, Condensed Financial Information of Registrant, and Schedule II, Valuation and Qualifying 
Accounts, is filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto 
contained in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” 

All other financial statements and financial statement schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are 
not required under the related instruction, are not material or are not applicable and, therefore, have been omitted. 

3. Exhibits.

Exhibit Index 
 

Exhibit
Number

 Description
 

     

  2.1  Fourth Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of Party City Holdco Inc. and Its Debtor Affiliates, dated August 31, 2023 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Party City Holdco Inc.'s Form 8-K dated September 6, 2023)

    

  2.2  Proposed Disclosure Statement for Debtors’ Proposed Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of Party City Holdco Inc. and its Debtor 
Affiliates, dated April 4, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated April 5, 2023)

    

  2.3  Confirmation Order, dated September 6, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Party City Holdco Inc.'s Form 8-K dated 
September 6, 2023)

    

  2.4  Supplement to Disclosure Statement for Third Amended Plan of Reorganization of Party City Holdco Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates, dated 
July 21, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated July 24, 2023)

    
  3.1  Certificate of Correction to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed on June 6, 2019, dated 

December 17, 2019 and corrected Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to 
Party City Holdco Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 12, 2020)

     

  3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated June 7, 2019) 
     

  3.3
  Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Party City Holdco Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Party City 

Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated October 12, 2023)
     

  3.4
  Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Party City Holdco Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 

8-K dated October 12, 2023)
     

  4.1  Indenture, dated as of August 19, 2015, among Party City Holdings Inc., as Issuer, and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on August 21, 2015) 

     

  4.2  First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 19, 2015, among the Guarantors named therein and Wilmington Trust, National 
Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Party 
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    City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 21, 2015) 
     

  4.3  Form of 6.125% Senior Notes due 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 21, 2015) 

     

  4.4  Second Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement among Party City Holdco Inc., THL PC Topco, L.P., and certain other stockholders 
of Party City Holdco Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2019)

     

  4.5  Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement among Party City Holdco Inc., THL PC Topco, L.P., Advent-Party City Acquisition 
Limited Partnership and certain other stockholders of Party City Holdco Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Party City Holdco 
Inc.’s Form 8-K dated April 21, 2015)

     

  4.6  Indenture, dated as of August 2, 2018, among Party City Holdings Inc., as Issuer, and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on August 6, 2018)

     

  4.7  First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 2, 2018, among the Guarantors named therein and Wilmington Trust, National Association, 
as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on August 6, 2018) 

     

  4.8  Form of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2026 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 6, 2018)

  

  4.9   Description of the Registrant's Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 4.10 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 12, 2020) 

     

    4.10   Indenture, dated as of July 30, 2020, among Party City Holdings Inc., as issuer, the guarantors party thereto and Ankura Trust Company, 
LLC, as trustee and collateral trustee, relating to Senior Secured First Lien Floating Rate Notes due 2025 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 3, 2020)

     

    4.11   Indenture, dated as of July 30, 2020, among Anagram Holdings LLC, as issuer, Anagram International, Inc., as co-issuer, the guarantors 
party thereto and Ankura Trust Company, LLC, as trustee and collateral trustee, relating to 15.00% PIK/Cash Senior Secured First Lien 
Notes due 2025 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on August 3, 2020)

     

   4.12   Indenture, dated as of July 30, 2020, among Anagram Holdings LLC, as issuer, Anagram International, Inc., as co-issuer, the guarantors 
party thereto and Ankura Trust Company, LLC, as trustee and collateral trustee, relating to 10.00% PIK/Cash Senior Secured Second Lien 
Notes due 2026 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on August 3, 2020)

    

   4.13  Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 30, 2020, among Party City Holdings Inc., the guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust 
National Association, as trustee, relating to 6.125% Senior Notes due 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 of Party City Holdco 
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 3, 2020)

     

   4.14   Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 30, 2020, among Party City Holdings Inc., the guarantors party thereto and Wilmington 
Trust National Association, as trustee, relating to 6.625% Senior Notes due 2026 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 of Party City 
Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 3, 2020)
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   4.15  Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 3, 2021, among Amscan Custom Injection Molding, LLC and Wilmington Trust National 
Association, as trustee, relating to 6.125% Senior Notes due 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.16 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s 
Current Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 12, 2021)

    

   4.16   Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 3, 2021, among Amscan Custom Injection Molding, LLC and Wilmington Trust National 
Association, as trustee, relating to 6.625% Senior Notes due 2026 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.17 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s 
Current Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 12, 2021)

    

  4.17  Indenture, dated as of February 19, 2021, among Party City Holdings Inc., as issuer, the guarantors party thereto, PC Intermediate Holdings, 
Inc. and Ankura Trust Company, LLC, as trustee and collateral trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s 
Form 8-K dated February 19, 2021)

    

  4.18  Form of 8.750% Senior Secured First Lien Notes due 2026 (attached as an exhibit to Exhibit 4.18) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 
to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated February 19, 2021)

    

  4.19  Indenture, dated as of October 12, 2023, among Party City Holdco Inc, the guarantors party thereto, Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, 
as trustee, collateral agent, paying agent and registrar (including the form of Global Note attached thereto) (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.1 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated October 12, 2023)

    

10.1†  Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2015, among PC Intermediate Holdings, Inc., Party City Holdings Inc., Party City 
Corporation, the subsidiaries of the borrowers from time to time party thereto, the financial institutions party thereto, as the Lenders, and 
Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 21, 2015) 

     

10.2  Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2015, among Party City Holdings Inc., Party City Corporation, PC Intermediate 
Holdings, Inc., the Subsidiary Parties from time to time party thereto and Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, in its capacity as 
administrative agent and collateral agent for the lenders party to the Term Loan Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 
of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 21, 2015) 

     

10.3  First Amendment to Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of October  20, 2016, by and among Party City Holdings Inc., Party City 
Corporation, PC Intermediate Holdings, Inc., Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch as administrative agent and the various lenders parties 
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on October 24, 2016) 

     

10.4  Second Amendment to Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of February 16, 2018, by and among Party City Holdings Inc., Party City 
Corporation, PC Intermediate Holdings, Inc., Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch as administrative agent and the various lenders parties 
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on February 20, 2018) 

     

10.5  Third Amendment to Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Party City 
Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 3, 2019) 

    

10.6  ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2015, among PC Intermediate Holdings, Inc., Party City Holdings Inc., Party City 
Corporation, the subsidiaries of the borrowers from time to time party thereto, the financial institutions party thereto, as the Lenders, and 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 21, 2015)

     

10.7  Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2015, among Party City Holdings Inc., Party City Corporation, PC Intermediate 
Holdings, Inc., the Subsidiary Parties from time to time party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as administrative 
agent and collateral agent for the lenders 
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    party to the ABL Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 21, 2015) 

     

10.8  Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2015, among PC Intermediate Holdings, Inc., Party City Holdings Inc., Party City 
Corporation, the other Grantors from time to time party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as ABL Facility Agent, and Deutsche Bank 
AG New York Branch, as Term Loan Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 
8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 21, 2015) 

    

10.9  First Amendment to ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of August 2, 2018, among PC Intermediate Holdings, Inc., Party City Holdings Inc., 
Party City Corporation, the subsidiaries of the borrowers from time to time party thereto, the financial institutions party thereto, as the 
Lenders, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 6, 2018) 

    

10.10  Second Amendment to ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of March  4, 2019, by and among Party City Holdings Inc., Party City Corporation, 
PC Intermediate Holdings, Inc., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and each of the Persons party thereto as ABL 
Revolving Lenders  (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2019)

    

10.11  Third Amendment to ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of April 8, 2019, by and among Party City Holdings Inc., Party City Corporation, PC 
Intermediate Holdings, Inc., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and each of the Persons party thereto as ABL Revolving 
Lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on April 11, 2019)

    

10.12  Fourth Amendment to ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Party City Holdco 
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 3, 2019)

    

10.13  Fifth Amendment to the ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of February 19, 2021, among PC Intermediate Holdings, Inc., Party City Holdings 
Inc., Party City Corporation, the subsidiaries of the borrowers from time to time party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as 
administrative agent, and the financial institutions party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 
8-K dated February 19, 2021)

    

10.14†  Party City Holdco Amended and Restated 2012 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Party City 
Holdco Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2019) 

     

10.15†  Party City Holdco Inc. Executive Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 dated March 26, 2015) 

     

10.16†
  Party City Holdco Amended and Restated 2012 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Party City 

Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 11, 2021) 
     

10.17†  Party City Holdco Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Party City Holdco 
Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 8, 2018) 

     

10.18†  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement (Non-Employee Directors) under the Party City Holdco Inc. Amended and Restated 
2012 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 
S-1 dated March 26, 2015)

     

10.19†  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement (Employees) under the Party City Holdco Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Omnibus 
Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated 
March 26, 2015)
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10.20†  Form of Unrestricted Stock Award Agreement (Non-Employee Directors) under the Party City Holdco Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 
Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 14, 2018) 

     

10.21†  Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Time and Performance-Based Vesting) under the Party City Holdco Inc. Amended and Restated 
2012 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2019)

     

10.22†  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Time and Performance-Based Vesting) under the Party City Holdco Inc. Amended and 
Restated 2012 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2019) 

     

10.23†  Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Party City Holdco Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Omnibus 
Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2019)

     

10.24†  Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated June 28, 2019, by and between Spirit Realty, L.P. and Amscan Inc., Anagram Eden Prairie Property 
Holdings LLC, and Amscan NM Land, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 
8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 3, 2019) 

     

10.26  Master Lease Agreement, dated June 28, 2019, by and between Spirit Realty, L.P. and Party City Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 3, 2019)

    
10.27†  Employment Agreement between Party City Holdings Inc., Party City Holdco Inc. and Todd Vogensen, dated February 3, 2020 (incorporated 

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
January 9, 2020)

     

10.28  Board Nomination Agreement, dated as of September 11, 2020, between the Company and the Nominating Parties (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
September 14, 2020)

    

10.29†  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement (Employees) under the Party City Holdco Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Omnibus 
Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 12, 2020)

    

10.32†*  Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Party City Holdco Inc. and Sean Thompson, effective November 7, 2022 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on March 28, 2024)

    

10.33†*  Third Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Party City Holdings Inc., Party City Holdco Inc., and Denise Kulikowsky, 
effective November 7, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 28, 2024)

    

10.34  Sixth Amendment to ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of March 18, 2022, among Party City Holdings Inc., Party City Corporation, PC 
Intermediate Holdings, Inc., the subsidiaries of the Borrowers party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and each 
of the Lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated March 22, 2022)

    

10.35  Seventh Amendment to ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of July 19, 2022, among Party City Holdings Inc., Party City Corporation, PC 
Intermediate Holdings, Inc., the subsidiaries of the Borrowers party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and 
collateral agent for the Lenders, and 
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    each of the Increasing ABL Lenders, FILO Lenders and other Lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Party City 
Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated July 22, 2022)

    

10.36†  Agreement between Party City Holdco Inc. and John Capela, effective December 5, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Party 
City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 2, 2022).

    

10.37  Restructuring Support Agreement made and entered into as of January 17, 2023, by Party City Holdco Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
January 18, 2023).

    

10.38  Senior Secured Superpriority Debtor-In-Possession Term Loan Credit Agreement dated January 19, 2023 by Party City Holdco Inc., and 
certain of its subsidiaries, and Ankura Trust Company, LLC as the Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Party 
City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 20, 2023).

    

10.39  Intellectual Property Cross-License Agreement, dated July 30, 2020, by and between Party City Holdings Inc. and Anagram International 
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
January 18, 2023).

    

10.40  Services Agreement, dated July 30, 2020, by and between Party City Holdings Inc. and Anagram International Inc. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 99.5 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 18, 2023).

    

10.41  Supply Agreement, dated July 30, 2020, by and between Anagram International Inc. and Amscan Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
99.6 of Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 18, 2023).

    

10.42†  Letter Agreement, dated November 18, 2023, by and between the Company and Dan Lamadrid (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated November 21, 2023)

    

10.43  ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2023, by and among the Company, as parent guarantor, Party City Holdings Inc., as parent 
borrower, Party City Corporation, and each other subsidiary of the Borrowers party thereto from time to time, PC Intermediate Holdings, 
Inc., the lenders party thereto and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated October 12, 2023)

    

10.44  Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2023, by and among JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as first priority representative for the 
first priority secured parties and Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as the second priority representative for the second priority secured 
parties (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated October 12, 2023)

    

10.45  Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2023, by and among Party City Holdco Inc. and the holders party thereto 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated October 12, 2023)

    

10.46  Stockholders’ Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2023, by and among Party City Holdco Inc. and the holders party thereto (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated October 12, 2023)

    

10.47  Backstop Commitment Agreement, dated September 1, 2023, by and among the Company and the parties thereto (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.1 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated September 1, 2023)

    

10.48†  Offer Letter, dated as of August 3, 2023, between the Company and Mr. Aguilar (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Party City 
Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated August 4, 2023)

    

10.49  Fourth Amendment to Restructuring Support Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Party City 
Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated July 24, 2023)

    

16.1  Letter from Ernst & Young LLP, dated June 9, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.1 to Party City Holdco Inc.’s Form 8-K dated 
June 9, 2023)
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21.1*  List of Subsidiaries of Party City Holdco Inc.
     

23.1*  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
     

31.1*  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended, as 
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

     

31.2*  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended, as 
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

     

32.1**  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002

     

32.2**  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002

     

101*  Interactive Data Files pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 
2021; (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 
2020; (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020; (iv) the 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020; and (v) the Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

 

104.1*   Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
 

†	 Management contract of compensatory plan or arrangement 
*	 Filed herewith.
**	 Furnished and not filed. 

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 

None. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
    PARTY CITY HOLDCO INC.

       
  By:   /s/ Daniel Lamadrid

      Daniel Lamadrid

      Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 28, 2024      

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 

registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
 

Signature   Title   Date
         

/s/ Sean Thompson
 

Sean Thompson

  Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

  March 28, 2024

         

/s/ Daniel Lamadrid
 

Daniel Lamadrid

  Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 

  March 28, 2024

         

/s/ John Capela   Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

 

March 28, 2024
John Capela    

         

/s/ Robert Hull
 

Robert Hull

  Chairman of the Board and Director   March 28, 2024

         

/s/ Neal Goldman
 

Neal Goldman

  Director   March 28, 2024

         

/s/ Mark King
 

Mark King

  Director   March 28, 2024

         

/s/ Anthony Truesdale
 

Anthony Truesdale

  Director   March 28, 2024

         

         
         

         

         

         

         

         
         

 

147



Exhibit 10.32  
Exhibit 10.32 

 
 

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

	 SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), dated as of November 7, 2022, 
by and between Party City Holdco Inc., a Delaware corporation, (“Holdco”) and Party City Holdings Inc., a Delaware 
corporation (“Holdings”) (collectively, the “Company”), a Delaware corporation, and Sean Thompson (the “Executive”) and 
effective as of the date hereof (the “Effective Date”). 

	 WHEREAS, the Executive previously served the Company as Chief Merchandising Officer pursuant to an Employment  
Agreement, effective November 4, 2019 (the “Initial Agreement”); and

	 WHEREAS, the Executive continued to serve the Company as Chief Merchandising Officer pursuant to an Amended and 
Restated Employment Agreement, effective November 4, 2020 (the “Amended Agreement”); and

	 WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire to set forth in this Agreement the terms and conditions under which the 
Executive will be employed as President and Chief Commercial Officer of Holdco and Holdings, effective as of the Effective 
Date.

	 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

1. 	 Employment Period.  The Company shall employ the Executive, and the Executive agrees to, and shall, serve the 
Company, on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, for the period beginning on the Effective Date and ending on 
November 3, 2025, unless sooner terminated as set forth hereinafter (the “Employment Period”).

2. 	 Position and Duties.

(a) 	 During the Employment Period, the Executive shall serve as President and Chief Commercial Officer 
of Holdco and of Holdings with such duties and responsibilities as are assigned to him by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) 
of Party City Holdco Inc. (“Holdco”) and the Chief Executive Officer of Holdco (the “CEO”) consistent with his position as 
President and Chief Commercial Officer, including, as the Board or the CEO may request, without additional compensation, to 
serve as an officer or director of certain of the subsidiaries and other affiliates of Holdco and/or the Company.  During the 
Employment Period, 
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Exhibit 10.32  
the Executive shall report to the CEO (or, if the CEO position is vacant, then to the executive appointed responsibility over 
Holdco on an interim basis).

(b) 	 During the Employment Period, and excluding any periods of vacation and sick leave to which the 
Executive is entitled, the Executive shall devote his full attention and time during normal business hours to the business and 
affairs of the Company and shall use his reasonable best efforts to carry out the responsibilities assigned to the Executive 
faithfully and efficiently.  It shall not be considered a violation of the foregoing for the Executive to (i) serve on civic or 
charitable boards or committees, (ii) deliver lectures, fulfill speaking engagements or teach at educational institutions, (iii) serve 
on the board of directors of other companies, so long as the Board approves such appointments (such approval not to be 
unreasonably withheld), or (iv) manage personal investments, so long as such activities do not compete with and are not provided 
to or for any entity that competes with or intends to compete with the Company, Holdco or any of their respective subsidiaries 
and affiliates and do not interfere with the performance of the Executive’s responsibilities as an employee of the Company or 
Holdco in accordance with this Agreement.

3.           Compensation and Expense Reimbursements.

(a) 	 Base Salary.  Beginning with the commencement of the next full payment period from and after the 
Effective Date, the Executive shall receive from the Company a base salary of $685,000.00 (per full fiscal year or otherwise on a 
pro rata basis), and as such amount may be otherwise increased from time to time, in the sole discretion of the Board or the 
Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Committee”), the “Annual Base Salary”), payable in regular intervals in 
accordance with the Company’s customary payroll practices in effect during the Employment Period.  

(b) 	 Annual Bonus.  

(i)   In addition to the Annual Base Salary, during the Employment Period, the Executive shall be eligible to 
receive annual bonus compensation (the “Annual Bonus”) consistent with the Company’s bonus plan for key executives 
as in effect from time to time (the “Bonus Plan”).  

(ii)  The Annual Bonus (including any pro rata portion thereof, to the extent payable pursuant to Section 5 of 
this Agreement), if any, shall be paid no later than two and one-half months following the end of the calendar year to 
which such Annual Bonus corresponds.  
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(iii)  For purposes of calculating the Annual Bonus applicable to the 2022 fiscal year, the target amount of the 

Annual Bonus shall be a pro rata amount equal to: 

(A) eighty per cent (80%) of the Annual Base Salary for the period January 1, 2022 through November 
6, 2022, plus 

(B) ninety per cent (90%) of the Annual Base Salary for the period commencing on the Effective Date 
through December 31, 2022. 

(iv)  For purposes of calculating the Annual Bonus applicable to the 2023 fiscal  year (and also to fiscal years 
during the Employment Period from and after 2023), the target amount of the Annual Bonus shall be ninety percent 
(90%) of the Annual Base Salary.

(v)  The target amounts as set forth in Sections 2(b)(iii) and (iv) are referred to herein as the “Target Bonus 
Amount”, as applicable, it being understood that the actual amount of the Annual Bonus, if any, to be determined by the 
Board or the Committee in accordance with the Bonus Plan.  

(vi)  Except as otherwise provided in Section 5(a) (Death or Permanent Disability) or Section 5(d) (Change in 
Control Termination) of this Agreement, eligibility for the Annual Bonus shall require Executive’s employment during 
the full fiscal year for which such Annual Bonus corresponds and through the applicable payout date.  For the fiscal year 
in which the Effective Date occurs, the Executive will receive an Annual Bonus, if any, calculated and weighted based 
on weeks worked at his annual base salary pre- and post-Effective Date and his target annual bonus amount (as a 
percentage of annual base salary) pre- and post-Effective Date.

 

(a)        Other Benefits; Car Allowance.  During the Employment Period: (i) the Executive shall be eligible to 
participate in all incentive, savings and retirement plans, practices, policies and programs of the Company and shall be entitled to 
paid vacation, to the same extent and on the same terms and conditions as peer executives; and (ii) the Executive and/or the 
Executive’s family, as the case may be, shall be eligible for participation in, and shall receive all benefits under, all other welfare 
benefit plans, practices, policies and programs provided by the Company (including, to the extent provided, without limitation, 
medical, prescription, dental, disability, employee life insurance, group life insurance, accidental death and travel accident 
insurance plans and programs) to the same extent and on the same terms and conditions as peer 

	 -3-



Exhibit 10.32  
executives.  The definition of the term “peer executives” shall be determined by the Board or the Committee in good faith.  
During the Employment Period, the Company will pay the Executive an annual car allowance equal to $8,100, which will be paid 
in equal bi-weekly installments.

(b) 	 Incentive Equity Grants.   During the Employment Term, at the discretion of the Board or the 
Committee, the Executive shall be eligible to receive incentive equity grants under Holdco’s equity compensation program for 
senior executives, subject to the terms of such program as in effect from time to time and with any grants under such program in 
the discretion of the Board or the Committee. It is acknowledged and agreed that the target value for such annual grant is 
expected to be equal to one million three hundred sixteen thousand dollars ($1,316,000.00), which value will be determined 
consistent with Holdco’s process for determining grants to other senior executives.

(c)        Other Expenses.  During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to receive 
reimbursement for all reasonable travel and other expenses incurred by the Executive in carrying out the Executive’s duties under 
this Agreement; provided that the Executive complies with the policies, practices and procedures of the Company for submission 
of expense reports, receipts, or similar documentation of such expenses. 

(d)        Indemnification.  During and after the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to all
rights to indemnification available under the by-laws or certificate of incorporation of Holdco and the Company, or to which he 
may otherwise be entitled, through the Company, Holdco and/or any of their respective subsidiaries and affiliates, in accordance 
with their respective terms. 

4. 	 Termination of Employment.

(a) 	 Death or Permanent Disability.  The Executive’s employment shall terminate automatically upon the 
Executive’s death during the Employment Period.  The Company shall be entitled to terminate the Executive’s employment 
because of the Executive’s Permanent Disability during the Employment Period.  “Permanent Disability” means that the 
Executive (i) is unable to perform his duties under this Agreement by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental 
impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) 
months; (ii) is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death 
or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months receiving income replacement benefits for a 
period of not less than three (3) months under an accident and health plan covering employees of the Company; or (iii) has been 
determined to be totally disabled by the Social Security Administration.  A termination of the Executive’s employment by the 
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Company for Permanent Disability shall be communicated to the Executive by written notice and shall be effective on the 30th 
day after receipt of such notice by the Executive (the “Disability Effective Date”), unless the Executive returns to full-time 
performance of the Executive’s duties in accordance with the provisions of Section 2 before such 30th day.  In the event of a 
dispute as to whether the Executive has suffered a Permanent Disability, the final determination shall be made by a licensed 
physician selected by the Board and acceptable to the Executive in the Executive’s reasonable judgment.

(b) 	 Other than Death or Disability.  The Company may terminate the Executive’s employment at any time 
during the Employment Period with or without Cause upon notice to the Executive. 

(c) 	 Good Reason.  The Executive may terminate his employment at any time during the Employment 
Period for Good Reason, upon prior written notice to the Company setting forth in reasonable detail the nature of such Good 
Reason, as set forth below.  For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” is defined as any one or more of the following: any 
attempt to relocate the Executive to a work location that is more than 100 miles from the Company’s offices in Woodcliff Lake, 
New Jersey; any material diminution in the nature or scope of the Executive’s responsibilities or duties as defined under this 
Agreement (provided that a change in reporting relationships resulting from the direct or indirect control of the Company or 
Holdco (or a successor corporation) by another corporation or other person(s) shall not be deemed to constitute “Good Reason”); 
any material breach by the Company or any affiliate of the Company of any provision of this Agreement or any other written 
agreement with the Executive; or any material failure of the Company to provide the Executive with at least the Annual Base 
Salary and/or any other compensation or benefits in accordance with the terms of Section 3 hereof, other than an inadvertent 
failure which is cured within ten (10) business days following written notice from the Executive specifying in reasonable detail 
the nature of such failure.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the appointment of an interim President and/or Chief Commercial 
Officer of the Company during and for any period of the Executive’s disability (which may potentially result in a Permanent 
Disability) will not be considered “Good Reason” (so long as the Executive continues to be compensated pursuant to the terms 
of this Agreement), until the occurrence of a Permanent Disability as defined in Section 4(a).  The Executive’s employment will 
only be deemed to have been terminated for Good Reason if he gives written notice to the Company setting forth in reasonable 
detail the nature of such Good Reason,  the Company is provided an opportunity to cure such Good Reason event (which cure 
period shall not be less than fifteen (15) days) and the Executive terminates employment within sixty (60) days of the date of the 
later of the first occurrence and the Executive’s knowledge of the circumstances giving rise to Good Reason (to the extent the 
Company has not previously cured the circumstances giving rise to Good Reason).
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(d) 	 Change in Control.  If there occurs a “Change in Control” (as hereinafter defined) during the 

Employment Period and the Executive is not offered employment on substantially similar terms by Holdco or one of its 
continuing affiliates immediately thereafter, then, for all purposes of this Agreement, the Executive’s employment shall be 
deemed to have been terminated by the Company in a manner qualifying as a “Change in Control Termination” effective as of 
the date of such Change in Control; provided, however, that neither the Company nor Holdco shall have any obligation to the 
Executive under this Section 4 if the Executive is hired or offered employment on substantially similar terms by the purchaser of 
the stock or assets of Holdco or the Company, if the Executive’s employment hereunder is continued by Holdco or one of its 
continuing affiliates, or if the Executive does not actually terminate employment. Further, if the Company terminates the 
Executive’s employment without Cause or the Executive terminates his employment for Good Reason, in either case, within six 
(6) months prior to or twenty-four (24) months following the consummation of such Change in Control (the “Change in Control 
Protection Period”), the Executive shall be deemed to have had a Change in Control Termination.  As used herein, a “Change in 
Control” shall be deemed to have occurred solely upon the occurrence of any of the following events:

(i) 	 a change in the ownership of Holdco within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-
3(i)(5)(v) as in effect on the date hereof; or

(ii) 	 a change in the ownership of all or substantially all of Holdco’s assets within the meaning of  
Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5)(vii) as in effect on the date hereof.

(e)	 Date of Termination.  The “Date of Termination” means the date of the Executive’s death, the Disability 
Effective Date or the date on which the termination of the Executive’s employment by the Company, or by the Executive, is 
effective, as the case may be, including by reason of the expiration of the Employment Period.

5. 	 Obligations of the Company Upon Termination.

(a) 	 By the Company Upon the Executive’s Death or Permanent Disability.  If the Executive dies during 
the Employment Period or the Company terminates the Executive’s employment due to the Executive’s Permanent Disability, the 
Company shall pay the Executive or his legal representative:

(iii)	 the Executive’s accrued but unpaid cash compensation (the “Accrued Obligations”), which shall 
equal the sum of (1) any portion of the Executive’s Annual Base Salary through the Date of Termination that has 
not yet 
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been paid; and (2) any unreimbursed expenses incurred prior to the Date of Termination; and   

(iv)      a pro-rata Annual Bonus for the year in which the Executive’s employment terminates based on 
actual performance in the year of termination, which pro-ration shall reflect the number of days the Executive 
was employed by the Company in the applicable year prior to the Date of Termination.

The Accrued Obligations shall be paid in cash within thirty (30) days of the Date of Termination. The Annual Bonus, if earned, 
shall be pro-rated as described above and otherwise calculated and paid in accordance with Section 3(b)).  Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Executive shall not be entitled to any payment pursuant to Section 5(a)(ii) unless the 
Executive (or the Executive’s beneficiary previously designated in writing to the Company or, if no such beneficiary has been so 
designated, the Executive’s estate or representative, as applicable) shall have, at the written request of the Company or Holdco, 
executed a release of any and all legal claims substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (which form may be modified 
by the Company to the extent necessary to reflect execution by a person other than the Executive and to include restrictive 
covenants that are consistent with those set forth herein) (the “Release”) no later than twenty-one (21) days (or, if so instructed 
by the Company, forty-five (45) days) following the Date of Termination and shall not have revoked the Release in accordance 
with its terms.  The Company shall provide the final Release promptly in connection with any termination of the Executive’s 
employment hereunder.

(b) 	 By the Company for Cause.  If the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company for 
“Cause” (as hereinafter defined), then the Executive shall be entitled to only the payment of the Accrued Obligations,  which 
shall be paid to the Executive in cash in a lump sum within thirty (30) days of the Date of Termination and neither the Company 
nor Holdco shall have any further obligation under this Agreement, except as expressly provided herein.  For the avoidance of 
doubt, if the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company for Cause, or if the Executive resigns at a time when the 
Executive’s acts or omissions constituted grounds to terminate the Executive’s employment for Cause without regard to 
applicable cure rights, any Sign-On Equity that is outstanding as of the Date of Termination, whether or not then vested, shall be 
forfeited automatically without consideration. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean (1) conviction of the 
Executive by a court of competent jurisdiction of a felony (excluding felonies under any state or local vehicle and traffic code); 
(2) any act of intentional fraud in connection with his duties under this Agreement; (3) any act of gross negligence or willful 
misconduct with respect to the Executive’s duties and/or performance under this Agreement and (4) any act of willful 
disobedience in violation of specific reasonable directions of the Board or either of the CEOs consistent with the Executive’s 
duties and responsibilities; provided, in the case 
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of clause (3) or (4), that the Executive has not cured the circumstances giving rise to “Cause” within fifteen (15) days of the date 
the Company gives notice to the Executive of its intent to terminate his employment on such basis.

(c) 	 By the Company for any reason other than Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason.  If the 
Executive’s employment is terminated during the Employment Period (i) by the Company other than for Cause, death or 
Permanent Disability or (ii) by the Executive for Good Reason, in each case, except if such termination is a Change in Control 
Termination, (A) the Company shall pay to the Executive the Accrued Obligations, paid in cash within thirty (30) days of the 
Date of Termination; (B) the Company shall pay to the Executive a severance payment (the “Severance Payment”), in an 
amount equal to one (1.0) times the Executive’s then current Annual Base Salary and (C) with respect to any portion of the Sign-
On Equity that remains outstanding as of the Date of Termination (I) the time-based restricted stock units will accelerate vesting 
by twelve (12) months, and (II) the performance-based restricted stock units will remain outstanding for twelve (12) months 
following the Date of Termination and eligible to vest, to the extent it would otherwise vest had the Executive’s employment 
continued during that period, based on actual Company performance.  Any portion of the Sign-On Equity that does not vest after 
application of the preceding sentence shall be immediately forfeited without payment due thereon. The Severance Payment shall 
be payable in cash in the form of salary continuation over the twelve (12) months following the Date of Termination, with the 
first payment(s) being payable in arrears on the date that is sixty (60) days following the Date of Termination.  Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Executive shall not be entitled to any payment or benefit pursuant to clauses (B), or 
(C) of this Section 5(c) unless the Executive shall have executed the Release not later than twenty-one (21) days (or, if so 
instructed by the Company, forty-five (45) days) following the Date of Termination and shall not have revoked the Release in 
accordance with its terms.  The Company shall provide the final Release promptly in connection with any termination of the 
Executive’s employment hereunder.

(d) 	 Change in Control Termination. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, in the event 
of a Change in Control Termination:

(v)  	 the Company shall pay to the Executive the Accrued Obligations; 

(vi) 	the Company shall pay to the Executive: 

(A) 	an amount equal to two (2.0) times the sum of (1) Executive’s then current Annual Base Salary  
and (2) then current Target Bonus Amount,
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(B) 	an amount equal to a pro rata Annual Bonus for the year of termination, calculated and paid in  

accordance with Section 3(b), which pro-ration shall reflect the number of days the Executive was employed by the Company in 
the applicable year prior to the Date of Termination, and 

(C) 	provided that the Executive timely elects to continue his coverage in the Company’s group health 
plan under the federal law known as “COBRA”, a monthly amount equal to that portion of the monthly health premiums for such 
coverage paid by the Company on behalf of the Executive prior to the date of the Change in Control Termination until the date 
that is twenty-four (24) months following the date of the Change in Control Termination (the “Health Continuation Benefits”); 

(vii) 	 with respect to the Sign-On Equity, (i) the time-based restricted stock units will fully  
accelerate as of the Date of Termination, and (ii) the performance-based restricted stock units shall be treated as 
earned at target levels (assuming the performance period had not yet ended) and shall vest on a pro rata basis 
based on the elapsed portion of the performance period prior to the Date of Termination; and

(viii)	 any stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance stock units or similar 
awards (or any awards or rights issued in exchange for such grants in connection with a Change in Control or 
otherwise) (other than the Sign-On Equity), shall be treated as follows: (A) such awards or rights that vest solely 
based on the Executive’s continued service over time shall immediately become fully vested as of the date of the 
Change in Control Termination and (B) such awards or rights that vest upon the occurrence of specified 
performance metrics, shall be treated as earned and vest as follows: (1) if the full performance period has 
elapsed as of the date of the Change in Control Termination, such awards and rights shall be earned based on 
actual achievement of the applicable performance goals, as provided in the applicable award agreement and 
shall immediately become vested without pro-ration and (2) otherwise, such awards and rights shall be earned 
based on assumed achievement of the applicable performance goals at 100% of the performance target, as 
provided in the applicable award agreement, and shall immediately vest as to a prorated portion of each such 
award or right based on the number of days of the Executive’s actual employment or other service with the 
Company prior to the Change in Control Termination during the applicable full performance period; provided, 
that, if the Executive does not experience a Change in Control Termination prior to the end of the applicable 
original performance period, such awards and rights shall be earned based on 
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assumed achievement of the applicable performance goals at 100% of the performance target, as provided in the
applicable award agreement, and shall be eligible to vest as of the last day of the applicable original 
performance period without pro-ration, subject to the terms of the applicable award agreement.  Any stock 
options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance stock units or similar awards (or any awards or 
rights issued in exchange for such grants in connection with a Change in Control or otherwise) that do not vest 
after application of the preceding sentence or clause (iii) hereof shall be immediately forfeited without payment 
due thereon.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that the Health Continuation Benefits would subject the Executive or the 
Company to any tax or penalty under the ACA or Section 105(h) of the Code (as defined below), or applicable subsequent 
regulations, guidance or successor statutes, the Executive and the Company agree to work together in good faith to restructure the 
Health Continuation Benefits in a manner that avoids such adverse consequences.  All amounts payable hereunder (except the pro 
rata Annual Bonus, which is payable in accordance with Section 3(b), the Accrued Obligations, which shall be calculated and 
paid in a lump sum in cash within thirty (30) days of the date of the Change in Control Termination and the Health Continuation 
Benefits, which shall be paid as described above in this Section 5(d)) shall be paid in cash in a lump sum on the date that is the 
later of  sixty (60) days following the date of the Change in Control Termination or sixty (60) days following the consummation 
of the Change in Control (except that, if the Change in Control Termination occurs due to a qualifying termination within six (6) 
months prior to a Change in Control, such payment will be made over the twenty-four (24) months following the Date of 
Termination, with the first payment(s) being payable in arrears on the date that is sixty (60) days following the Date of 
Termination).  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Executive shall not be entitled to any payment or 
benefit pursuant to clauses (ii) or (iii) of this Section 5(d) unless the Executive shall have, at the written request of the Company 
or Holdco, executed the Release no later than twenty-one (21) days (or, if so instructed by the Company, forty-five (45) days) 
following the date of the Change in Control Termination and shall not have revoked such release in accordance with its terms.

(e)  	 By the Executive other than for Good Reason.  If during the Employment Period the Executive 
terminates his employment with the Company other than for Good Reason, the Company shall pay the Accrued Obligations to 
the Executive in a lump sum in cash within thirty (30) days of the Date of Termination  and neither the Company nor Holdco 
shall have any further obligation under this Agreement except as expressly provided herein.

(f) 	 Expiration of the Term.  Unless otherwise terminated pursuant to any of the foregoing clauses of this 
Section 5, the Executive’s employment hereunder will 
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automatically terminate at the expiration of the Employment Period and the Company shall pay to the Executive the Accrued 
Obligations; provided, however, that if the Company allows the Executive’s employment to terminate due to an expiration of the 
Employment Period occurring during the Change in Control Protection Period, the Executive will be deemed to have had a 
Change in Control Termination and will be entitled to the payments and benefits described in Section 5(d) above and shall not 
otherwise receive payment under this Section 5(f).  The Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the Executive in a lump sum in cash 
within thirty (30) days of the Date of Termination.  Upon expiration of the Employment Period, no Severance Payment will be 
due and no further Restriction Period shall apply.

6. 	 Section 409A.  The parties intend for the compensation provided under this Agreement to comply with, or be 
exempt from, the provisions of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) (together with the 
regulations thereunder, “Section 409A”).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the Company, Holdco or any of their 
respective affiliates have any liability to the Executive or to any other person claiming rights under this Agreement relating to the 
failure or alleged failure of any payment or benefit under this Agreement to comply with, or be exempt from, the provisions of 
Section 409A.

(a) 	 Definitions.  For purposes of this Agreement, all references to “termination of employment” and 
similar or correlative phrases shall be construed to require a “separation from service” (as defined in Section 1.409A-1(h) of the 
Treasury regulations after giving effect to the presumptions contained therein), and the term “specified employee” means an 
individual determined by Holdco to be a specified employee under Treasury regulation Section 1.409A-1(i).

(b) 	 Certain Delayed Payments. If any payment or benefit hereunder constituting “nonqualified deferred 
compensation” subject to Section 409A would be subject to subsection (a)(2)(B)(i) of Section 409A (relating to payments made 
to “specified employees” of publicly-traded companies upon separation from service), any such payment or benefit to which the 
Executive would otherwise be entitled during the six (6) month period following the Executive’s separation from service will 
instead be provided or paid without interest on the first business day following the expiration of such six (6) month period, or if 
earlier, the date of the Executive’s death.

(c) 	 Separate Payments. Each payment made under this Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment.

(d) 	 Reimbursements.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any reimbursement 
that constitutes or could constitute nonqualified deferred 
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compensation subject to Section 409A will be subject to the following additional requirements: (i) the expenses eligible for 
reimbursement will have been incurred during the term of this Agreement, (ii) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement 
during any calendar year will not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement in any other taxable year; (iii) reimbursement 
will be made not later than December 31 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the expense was incurred; and 
(iv) the right to reimbursement will not be subject to liquidation or exchange for any other benefit.  Any tax gross-up payments 
payable by the Company under Section 3(f)(i) shall be paid not later than the time period provided in Section 1.409A-3(v).

7. 	 Full Settlement.  The Company’s obligations to make the payments provided for in, and otherwise to perform its 
obligations under, this Agreement shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right or 
action that the Company may have against the Executive or others.  In no event shall the Executive be obligated to seek other 
employment or take any other action by way of mitigation of the amounts payable to the Executive under any of the provisions of
this Agreement and such amounts shall not be reduced, regardless of whether the Executive obtains other employment.

8. 	 Confidential Information.  The Executive shall hold in a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of the Company and 
Holdco all secret or confidential information, knowledge or data relating to the Company, Holdco or any of their affiliates and 
their respective businesses that the Executive obtains during the Executive’s employment by the Company and Holdco (whether 
before, during or after the Employment Period) and that is not public knowledge (other than as a result of the Executive’s 
violation of this Section 8) (“Confidential Information”).  The Executive shall not communicate, divulge or disseminate 
Confidential Information at any time during or after the Executive’s employment with the Company and Holdco, except with the 
prior written consent of the Company or as otherwise required by law.  For the avoidance of doubt, (a) nothing contained in this 
Agreement or any other agreement containing confidentiality provisions or other restrictive covenants in favor of any of Holdco, 
the Company or any affiliate of either of them, shall be construed to limit, restrict or in any other way affect the Executive’s 
communicating with any governmental agency or entity, or communicating with any official or staff person of a governmental 
agency or entity, concerning matters relevant to the governmental agency or entity and (b) the Executive will not be held 
criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for disclosing a trade secret (i) in confidence to a federal, 
state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, solely for the purpose of reporting or 
investigating a suspected violation of law, or (ii) in a complaint or other document filed under seal in a lawsuit or other 
proceeding; provided that notwithstanding this immunity from liability, the Executive may be held liable if the Executive 
unlawfully accesses trade secrets by unauthorized means.
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9. 	 Noncompetition; Nonsolicitation.

(a) 	 Noncompetition.  During the Employment Period, and following termination of the Executive’s 
employment with the Company, Holdco and any of their affiliates, during the “Restriction Period” (as hereinafter defined), the 
Executive shall not directly or indirectly participate in or permit his name directly or indirectly to be used by or become 
associated with (including as an advisor, representative, agent, promoter, independent contractor, provider of personal services or 
otherwise) any person, corporation, partnership, firm, association or other enterprise or entity (a “person”) that is, or intends to 
be, engaged in any business which is in competition with any business of the Company, Holdco or any of their respective 
subsidiaries or affiliates in any geographic area in which the Company, Holdco or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates 
operate, compete or are engaged in such business or at such time intend so to operate, compete or become engaged in such 
business, as set forth more fully pursuant to Schedule A (a “Competitor”); provided, however, that the foregoing will not 
prohibit the Executive from participating in or becoming associated with a person if (i) less than 10% of the consolidated gross 
revenues of such person, together with its affiliates, derive from activities or businesses that are in competition with any business 
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates (a “Competitive Business”) and (ii) the Executive does not, directly or 
indirectly, participate in, become associated with, or otherwise have responsibilities that relate to the conduct or operations of, 
any Competitive Business that is conducted by such person or a division, group, or subsidiary or affiliate of such person.  For 
purposes of this Agreement, the term “participate” includes any direct or indirect interest, whether as an officer, director, 
employee, partner, sole proprietor, trustee, beneficiary, agent, representative, independent contractor, consultant, advisor, provider 
of personal services, creditor, or owner (other than by ownership of less than five percent of the stock of a publicly-held 
corporation whose stock is traded on a national securities exchange or in an over-the-counter market).

(b) 	 Nonsolicitation. During the Employment Period, and during the Restriction Period following 
termination of employment, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, encourage or solicit, or assist any other person or firm 
in encouraging or soliciting, any person or firm that during the three-year period preceding such termination of the Executive’s 
employment with the Company and Holdco (or, if such action occurs during the Employment Period, on the date such action was 
taken) is or was engaged in a business relationship with the Company or Holdco, any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates 
to terminate its relationship with the Company or Holdco or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates or, in the case of any 
such person, to engage in a business relationship with a Competitor.

(c) 	 No Hire.  During the Employment Period, and during the Restriction Period following termination of 
employment, the Executive will not, except with the prior written 
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consent of the Company, directly or indirectly, induce any employee of the Company, Holdco or any of their respective 
subsidiaries or affiliates to terminate employment with such entity, and will not, directly or indirectly, either individually or as 
owner, agent, employee, consultant or otherwise, employ, offer employment or cause employment to be offered to any person 
(including employment as an independent contractor) who is or was employed by the Company, Holdco or any of their respective 
subsidiaries or affiliates unless such person shall have ceased to be employed by such entity for a period of at least twelve (12) 
months; provided that the foregoing shall not apply to inducing any employee pursuant to a blanket solicitation not specifically 
targeted at that employee.  For purposes of this Section 9(c), “employment” shall be deemed to include rendering services as an 
independent contractor and “employees” shall be deemed to include independent contractors.

(d) 	 Restriction Period.  The term “Restriction Period” as used herein, shall mean the twelve (12)-month 
period (except in the case of a Change in Control Termination (or a deemed Change in Control Termination under Section 5(f)), 
in which case such period shall be the two-year period) immediately following the Date of Termination (other than a termination 
at the expiration of the Employment Period).

(e) 	 Return of Confidential Information.  Promptly following the Executive’s termination of employment, 
including due to expiration of the Employment Period, the Executive shall return to the Company all property of the Company, 
Holdco and their respective subsidiaries and affiliates, and all copies thereof, in the Executive’s possession or under his control, 
including, without limitation, all Confidential Information in whatever media such Confidential Information is maintained.

(f) 	 Injunctive Relief. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Restriction Period and the 
covenants and obligations of the Executive in Section 8 and this Section 9 with respect to noncompetition, nonsolicitation and 
confidentiality and with respect to the property of the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates, and the territories covered 
thereby, are fair and reasonable and the result of negotiation.  The Executive further acknowledges and agrees that the covenants 
and obligations of the Executive in Section 8 and this Section 9 with respect to noncompetition, nonsolicitation and 
confidentiality and with respect to the property of the Company, Holdco and their respective subsidiaries and affiliates, and the 
territories covered thereby, relate to special, unique and extraordinary matters and that a violation of any of the terms of such 
covenants and obligations will cause the Company, Holdco and their respective subsidiaries and affiliates irreparable injury for 
which adequate remedies are not available at law.  Therefore, the Executive agrees that the Company and Holdco shall be entitled 
to an injunction, restraining order or such other equitable relief as a court of competent jurisdiction may deem necessary or 
appropriate to restrain the Executive from committing any violation of such covenants 
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and obligations.  These injunctive remedies are cumulative and are in addition to any other rights and remedies the Company and 
Holdco may have at law or in equity.  If, at the time of enforcement of Section 8 and/or this Section 9, a court holds that any of 
the restrictions stated herein are unreasonable under circumstances then existing, the parties hereto agree that the maximum 
period, scope, and/or geographical area legally permissible under such circumstances will be substituted for the period, scope 
and/or area stated herein.

10.	 Successors.

(a) 	 This Agreement is personal to the Executive and shall not be assignable by the Executive.  This  
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the Executive’s legal representatives and heirs and successors.

(b) 	 This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon Holdco, the Company and their  
respective successors and assigns.

11.	 Section 280G.  In the event that the Company undergoes a change in control at a time when it (or any affiliate of the 
Company, including Holdco, that would be treated, together with the Company, as a single corporation under Section 280G of the 
Code and the regulations thereunder) has stock that is readily tradeable on an established securities market (within the meaning of 
Section 280G of the Code and the regulations thereunder), if all, or any portion, of the payments provided under this Agreement, 
either alone or together with other payments or benefits which the Executive receives or is entitled to receive from the Company 
or an affiliate, could constitute an “excess parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, then the 
Executive shall be entitled to receive (i) an amount limited so that no portion thereof shall fail to be tax deductible under Section 
280G of the Code (the “Limited Amount”), or (ii) if the amount otherwise payable hereunder, together with the other payments 
or benefits the Executive is so entitled to receive, (without regard to clause (i)) reduced by the excise tax imposed by Section 
4999 of the Code and all other applicable federal, state and local taxes (with income taxes all computed at the highest applicable 
marginal rate) is greater than the Limited Amount reduced by all taxes applicable thereto (with income taxes all computed at the 
highest marginal rate), the amount otherwise payable hereunder. If it is determined that the Limited Amount will maximize the 
Executive’s after-tax proceeds, payments and benefits shall be reduced to equal the Limited Amount in the following order: (i) 
first, by reducing cash severance payments, (ii) second, by reducing other payments and benefits to which Q&A 24(c) of Section 
1.280G-1 of the Treasury Regulations does not apply, and (iii) finally, by reducing all remaining payments and benefits, with all 
such reductions done on a pro rata basis. All determinations made pursuant this Section 11 will be made at the Company’s 
expense by the independent public accounting firm most recently 
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serving as the Company’s outside auditors or such other accounting or benefits consulting group or firm as the Company may 
designate.

12.       Miscellaneous.

(a) 	 This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New 
Jersey, without reference to principles of conflict of laws.  The captions of this Agreement are not part of the provisions hereof 
and shall have no force or effect.  This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by a written agreement executed by 
the parties hereto or their respective heirs, successors and legal representatives.

(b) 	 All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by
hand delivery to the other party or by overnight courier or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage 
prepaid, or by facsimile (with receipt confirmation), addressed as follows:

If to the Executive:		 	 Sean Thompson
	 	 At his most recent address
	 	 shown in the Company’s records  
 

 
 
If to the Company:	 	 	 Party City Corporation

c/o PCHI 
100 Tice Boulevard
Woodcliff Lake, New Jersey 07677

	 	 	 	 	 Attention:  Corporate Secretary
	 	 	 	 	
or to such other address as either party furnishes to the other in writing in accordance with this Section 12(b).  Notices and 
communications shall be effective when actually received by the addressee.

(c) 	 The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or 
enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement.

(d) 	 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company may withhold from amounts  
payable under this Agreement all federal, state, local and foreign taxes or other amounts that are required to be withheld by 
applicable laws or  regulations or otherwise. In addition, the obligations of the Company under this Agreement shall be 
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conditional on compliance with this Section 12(d), and the Company shall, to the extent permitted by law, have the right to 
deduct any such taxes from any payment otherwise due to the Executive.

(e) 	 Any party’s failure to insist upon strict compliance with any provision of, or to assert any right under, 
this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such provision or right or of any other provision of or right under this 
Agreement.

(f) 	 The Executive acknowledges that this Agreement, together with the Exhibit hereto and the other  
agreements referred to herein except as modified herein or therein, supersedes all other agreements and understandings, both 
written and oral, between the Executive, on one hand, and the Company and Holdco, on the other, with respect to the subject 
matter hereof, including, without limitation, the Initial Agreement.

(g) 	 This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but 
all of which shall together constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement shall be executed and returned to all parties 
using Company’s digital execution platform, DocuSign. By signing electronically, Executive agrees that: (a) the corresponding 
signature will be deemed to be authentic and have equal status and enforceability as if the document had been physically 
executed by Executive; and (c) the corresponding fully-executed document is fully enforceable, valid and binding immediately 
upon counter-signature and delivery by the Company.

(h) 	 Provisions of this Agreement shall survive any termination of employment if so provided herein or if 
necessary or desirable to accomplish the purposes of other surviving provisions, including, without limitation, the obligations of 
the Executive under Sections 8 and 9 hereof.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive has hereunto set the Executive’s hand and, pursuant to the authorization of 
their respective boards of directors, the Company have each caused this Agreement to be executed in its name on its behalf, all as 
of the day and year first above written.

	 	
 
	 	 PARTY CITY HOLDINGS INC.

	 	
 
 
	 	 By:	 	
	 	 	       Name:  Brad Weston
	 	 	       Title:    Chief Executive Officer
 
 
	 	 PARTY CITY HOLDCO INC.

	 	
 
 
	 	 By:	 	
	 	 	       Name:  Brad Weston
	 	 	       Title:    Chief Executive Officer
 
 
 
 
 
 
	 	 ___________________________
	 	 Sean Thompson

	 [Signature Page to Employment Agreement]
 



 

 
 

 



 

Schedule A
 

Competitors
 

1. Unique Industries; 

2. Creative Expressions Group;

3. Rubies Costume Company;

4. Five Below Inc.;

5. Spirit Halloween;

6. Any business for which Party Goods would constitute more than 10% of revenues; 

7. Any subsidiary or affiliate company of the foregoing.

 

 



 

 
 Exhibit A

 
FORM OF RELEASE OF CLAIMS

 
 

	 This Release of Claims is provided by me, __________________ (or by my designated beneficiary or estate, in the event of 
my death during my employment), pursuant to the Employment Agreement between me, Party City Corporation (the 
“Company”) and Party City Holdco Inc. (“Holdco”) dated as of __________________ (the “Employment Agreement”).
 
	 This Release of Claims is given in consideration of the severance benefits to be provided to me (or, in the event of my death 
during my employment, to my designated beneficiary) in connection with the termination of my employment under Section 5 of 
the Employment Agreement (the “Separation Payments”), which are conditioned on my signing this Release of Claims and to 
which I am not otherwise entitled, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 
acknowledged.  On my own behalf and that of my heirs, executors, administrators, beneficiaries, representatives and assigns, and 
all others connected with or claiming through me, I hereby release and forever discharge the Company from any and all causes of 
action, rights or claims of any type or description, known or unknown, which I have had in the past, now have or might have, 
through the date of my signing of this Release of Claims.  This includes, without limitation, any and all causes of action, rights or 
claims in any way resulting from, arising out of or connected with my employment by the Company or the termination of that 
employment or pursuant to any federal, state or local law, regulation or other requirement, including without limitation Title VII 
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the fair 
employment practices statutes of the state or states in which I have provided services to the Company or any other federal, state, 
local or foreign law, all as amended, any contracts of employment, any tort claims, or any agreements, plans or policies.  
 

For purposes of this Release of Claims, the word “Company” always includes the Company, Holdco the subsidiaries and 
affiliates of the Company or Holdco and all of their respective past, present and future officers, directors, trustees, shareholders, 
employees, employee benefit plans and any of the trustees or administrators thereof, agents, general and limited partners, 
members, managers, investors, joint venturers, representatives, predecessors, successors and assigns, and all others connected 
with any of them, both individually and in their official capacities.
 

Nothing in this Release of Claims shall be construed to prohibit me from filing a charge with or participating in any 
investigation or proceeding conducted by the federal Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or a comparable state or local 
agency, except that I hereby agree to waive my right to recover monetary damages or other individual relief in any charge, 
complaint or lawsuit filed by me or by anyone else on my behalf.  

 
Nothing in this Release of Claims is intended to or does waive or release any rights I may have with respect to (i) 

coverage under liability insurance or indemnification rights provided or 

 



 

maintained by the Company during, or applicable to, my employment with the Company, or under any other obligation or policy 
of insurance maintained by the Company in accordance with their respective terms; (ii) any other defense or indemnity right 
under applicable law; (iii) the enforcement of the right to any payment or benefits due upon the termination of my employment in 
accordance with the express terms of the Employment Agreement or (iv) any right or claim that cannot, by law, be waived or 
released through this Release of Claims. 
	
	 Also excluded from the scope of this Release of Claims is any right to benefits that were vested or eligible for continuation 
under the Company’s employee benefit plans on the date on which my employment with the Company terminated, in accordance 
with the terms of such plans.  
 
	 In signing this Release of Claims, I give the Company assurance that I have returned to the Company any and all documents, 
materials and information related to the business, whether present or otherwise, of the Company and all keys and other property 
of the Company that were in my possession or control, all as required by and consistent with Section 9(e) of the Employment 
Agreement.  I agree that I will not, for any purpose, attempt to access or use any computer or computer network or system of the 
Company, including without limitation their electronic mail systems.  I further acknowledge that I have disclosed to the Company 
all passwords necessary or desirable to enable the Company to access all information which I have password-protected on its 
computer network or system.
 
	 In signing this Release of Claims, I agree that I have been paid in full all compensation due to me, whether for services 
rendered by me to the Company or otherwise, through the date on which my employment with the Company terminated and that, 
exclusive only of the Separation Payments and the Accrued Obligations, as defined in the Employment Agreement, no further 
compensation of any kind shall be due to me by the Company, whether arising under the Employment Agreement or otherwise, in 
connection with my employment or the termination thereof.  I also agree that except for any right I and my eligible dependents 
may have to continue participation in the Company’s health and dental plans under the federal law commonly known as COBRA, 
my right to participate in any employee benefit plan of the Company will be determined in accordance with the terms of such 
plan.

 
	 I acknowledge that my eligibility for the Separation Payments is not only contingent on my signing and returning this 
Release of Claims to the Company in a timely manner and not revoking it thereafter, but also is subject to my compliance with 
the covenants contained in the Employment Agreement.  
 
	 In signing this Release of Claims, acknowledge that I have not relied on any promises or representations, express or implied, 
that are not set forth expressly in this Release of Claims.  I further acknowledge that I am waiving and releasing any rights I may 
have under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended (“ADEA”), and that this waiver and release is 
knowing and voluntary and is being done with a full understanding of its terms.  I agree that the consideration given for this 
wavier and release is in addition to anything of value to which I was already entitled.  I further acknowledge that I have been 
advised by this writing as required by the ADEA that:

 



 

 
1.	 I have the right to and am advised by the Company to consult with an attorney prior to executing this Release of 

Claims; and I acknowledge that I have had sufficient time to consider this Release of Claims and to consult with an attorney, if I 
wished to do so, or to consult with any other person of my choosing before signing;

 
2.	 I may not sign this Release of Claims prior to the termination of my employment, but that I may consider the terms 

of this Release of Claims for up to twenty-one (21) days (or, if the Company so instructs, forty-five (45) days) from the later of 
the date my employment with the Company terminates or the date I receive this Release of Claims;  

 
3.	   I have seven (7) days following my execution of this Release of Claims to revoke this Release of Claims; and 
 
4.	 This Release of Claims shall not be effective until the revocation period has expired.

 

 



 

 
	 Intending to be legally bound, I have signed this Release of Claims under seal as of the date written below.
 
 
Signature: ________________________________  Date signed: ___________________
 
 
 
Party City Corporation
 
 
	 	 	 	 	
Name:
Title:
 
 
Party City Holdco Inc.
 
 
	 	 	 	 	
Name:
Title:
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Exhibit 10.33

 
 

THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), dated as of November 7, 
2022 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Party City Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), Party City 
Holdco Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Holdco”), and Denise Kulikowsky (the “Executive”) and effective as of the Effective 
Date.

WHEREAS, the Executive has served the Company and Holdco as the Chief Human Resource Officer of the Company 
pursuant to an Employment Agreement, dated November 14, 2018, as amended by that Amended and Restated Employment 
Agreement dated April 5, 2020, and as further amended by that Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated 
April 18, 2022 (collectively, the “Prior Employment Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the Company, Holdco and the Executive desire to set forth in this new Agreement the terms and conditions 
under which the Executive will continue to be employed as the Chief Human Resource Officer of the Company and Holdco 
effective as of the Effective Date.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

1. Employment 

(a) Prior Agreements. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the parties acknowledge 
and agree that the Prior Employment Agreement are hereby replaced in their entirety by this Agreement.

(b) Employment Period. The Company and Holdco shall continue to employ the Executive, and the 
Executive agrees to, and shall, serve the Company and Holdco, on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, for the 
period beginning on the Effective Date and ending on March 31, 2024, unless sooner terminated as set forth hereinafter (the 
“Employment Period”).

2. Position and Duties.

(a) During the Employment Period, the Executive shall continue to serve as the Executive Vice-President & 
Chief People and Administrative Officer of the Company and Holdco with such duties and responsibilities as are assigned to her 
by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Holdco (the “CEO”) consistent with her position as the Executive Vice-
President & Chief People and Administrative Officer. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall report to the CEO.

(b) During the Employment Period, and excluding any periods of vacation and sick leave to which the 
Executive is entitled, the Executive shall devote her full attention and time during normal business hours to the business and 
affairs of the Company and Holdco and shall use her reasonable best efforts to carry out the responsibilities assigned to the 
Executive faithfully and efficiently. It shall not be considered a violation of the foregoing for the Executive to (i) serve on 
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civic or charitable boards or committees, (ii) deliver lectures, fulfill speaking engagements or teach at educational institutions, 
(iii) serve on the board of directors of other companies, so long as the Board approves such appointments (such approval not to 
be unreasonably withheld), or (iv) manage personal investments, so long as such activities do not compete with and are not 
provided to or for any entity that competes with or intends to compete with the Company or Holdco or any of their respective 
subsidiaries and affiliates and do not interfere with the performance of the Executive’s responsibilities as an employee of the 
Company or Holdco in accordance with this Agreement.

3. Compensation and Expense Reimbursements.

(a) Base Salary. Beginning with the commencement of the next full payment period from and after the 
Effective Date, the Executive shall receive from the Company an annual base salary of $475,000.00 (the “Annual Base Salary”) 
(as such amount may be increased from time to time in connection with applicable annual compensation review(s), in the sole 
discretion of the Board or the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Committee”), payable in regular intervals in 
accordance with the Company’s customary payroll practices in effect during the Employment Period.

(b) Annual Bonus. 

(i) In addition to the Annual Base Salary, during the Employment Period, the Executive shall be 
eligible to receive annual bonus compensation (the “Annual Bonus”) pursuant to the Company’s bonus plan for 
key executives as in effect from time to time (the “Bonus Plan”).  

(ii) The Annual Bonus (including any pro rata portion thereof, to the extent payable under this 
Agreement), if any, shall be paid no later than two and one-half months following the end of the calendar year to 
which such Annual Bonus corresponds. 

(iii)For purposes of calculating the Annual Bonus applicable to the 2022 fiscal year, the target amount 
of the Annual Bonus shall be a pro rata amount equal to: 

(1) sixty per cent (60%) of the Annual Base Salary for the period January 1, 2022 through November 6, 
2022, plus 

(2) seventy per cent (70%) of the Annual Base Salary for the period commencing on the Effective Date 
through December 31, 2022. 

(iv)For purposes of calculating the Annual Bonus applicable to the 2023 fiscal year (and also to fiscal 
years during the Employment Period from and after 2023), the target amount of the Annual Bonus shall be 
seventy percent (70%) of the Annual Base Salary.

(v) The target amounts as set forth in Sections 2(b)(iii) and (iv) are referred to herein as the “Target 
Bonus Amount”, as applicable, it being 
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understood that the actual amount of the Annual Bonus, if any, to be determined by the Board or the Committee 
in accordance with the Bonus Plan.  

(vi)Except as otherwise provided in Section 5(a) of this Agreement, (i) in order to receive the Annual 
Bonus, the Executive must remain continuously employed by the Company and Holdco through the applicable 
payment date for such bonus, and (ii) for any year during which the Executive is employed by the Company and 
Holdco for less than the entire calendar year, the Annual Bonus, if any, shall be determined based on actual 
performance, pro-rated for the period during which the Executive was employed during such calendar year 
(based on the number of days in such calendar year the Executive was so employed divided by 365), as 
determined in good faith by the Board or the Committee.

(c) Other Benefits; Car Allowance. During the Employment Period: (i) the Executive shall be eligible to 
participate in all incentive, savings and retirement plans, practices, policies and programs of the Company and shall be entitled to 
paid vacation, to the same extent and on the same terms and conditions as peer executives; and (ii) the Executive and/or the 
Executive’s family, as the case may be, shall be eligible for participation in, and shall receive all benefits under, all other welfare 
benefit plans, practices, policies and programs provided by the Company (including, to the extent provided, without limitation, 
medical, prescription, dental, disability, employee life insurance, group life insurance, accidental death and travel accident 
insurance plans and programs) to the same extent and on the same terms and conditions as peer executives. The term “peer 
executives” means the Executive Vice Presidents and Senior Vice Presidents of the Company or Holdco, if such positions exist, 
and if such positions do not exist, the definition of the term “peer executives” shall be determined by the Board or the Committee 
in good faith. During the Employment Period, the Company will pay the Executive a monthly car allowance equal to $600, which 
will be paid not later than thirty (30) days after the end of the month to which it relates.

(d) Incentive Equity Grants. During the Employment Term, at the discretion of the Board or the Committee, 
the Executive shall be eligible to receive incentive equity grants under Holdco’s equity compensation program for senior 
executives, subject to the terms of such program as in effect from time to time and with any grants under such program in the 
discretion of the Board or the Committee. It is acknowledged and agreed that the target value for such annual grant is expected to 
be equal to four hundred fifty thousand dollars ($450,000.00), which value will be determined consistent with Holdco’s process 
for determining grants to other senior executives.

(e) Other Expenses. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to receive reimbursement 
for all reasonable travel and other expenses incurred by the Executive in carrying out the Executive’s duties under this 
Agreement; provided that the Executive complies with the policies, practices and procedures of the Company for submission of 
expense reports, receipts, or similar documentation of such expenses.

(f) Indemnification. During and after the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to all rights to 
indemnification available under the by-laws or certificate of incorporation of the Company and Holdco, or to which she may 
otherwise be entitled, through the Company, Holdco and/or any of their respective subsidiaries and affiliates, in accordance with 
their respective terms.
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4. Termination of Employment.

(a) Death or Permanent Disability. The Executive’s employment shall terminate automatically upon the 
Executive’s death during the Employment Period. The Company or Holdco shall be entitled to terminate the Executive’s 
employment because of the Executive’s Permanent Disability during the Employment Period. “Permanent Disability” means 
that the Executive (i) is unable to perform her duties under this Agreement by reason of any medically determinable physical or 
mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 
months, during which time Executive shall continue to be covered by applicable executive benefits if provided for in such 
benefits plan documents; (ii) is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected 
to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months receiving income replacement 
benefits for a period of not less than three months under an accident and health plan covering employees of the Company, during 
which time Executive shall continue to be covered by applicable executive income replacement benefits if provided for in such 
benefits plan documents; or (iii) has been determined to be totally disabled by the Social Security Administration. A termination 
of the Executive’s employment by the Company or Holdco for Permanent Disability shall be communicated to the Executive by 
written notice and shall be effective on the 30th day after receipt of such notice by the Executive (the “Disability Effective 
Date”), unless the Executive returns to full-time performance of the Executive’s duties in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 2 before such 30th day. In the event of a dispute as to whether the Executive has suffered a Permanent Disability, the final 
determination shall be made by an independent licensed physician selected by the Board and acceptable to the Executive in the 
Executive’s reasonable judgment. If the Company or Holdco shall receive Executive’s protected health information, such 
protected health information shall be kept confidential in accordance with applicable law, and HIPAA, to the extent applicable to 
the Company or Holdco.

(b) Other than Death or Disability. The Company or Holdco may terminate the Executive’s employment at 
any time during the Employment Period with or without Cause upon thirty (30) days prior notice to the Executive.

(c) Good Reason. The Executive may terminate her employment at any time during the Employment Period 
for Good Reason, upon prior written notice to the Company setting forth in reasonable detail the nature of such Good Reason, as 
set forth below. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” is defined as any one or more of the following without the 
Executive’s consent: any attempt to relocate the Executive to a work location that is more than 75 miles from the Company’s 
offices in Woodcliff Lake, NJ; any material diminution in the nature or scope of the Executive’s responsibilities or duties as 
defined under this Agreement; any material breach by the Company or any affiliate of the Company of any provision of this 
Agreement or any other written agreement with the Executive, which breach is not cured within twenty (20) days following 
written notice by the Executive to the Company; or any material failure of the Company to provide the Executive with at least the 
Annual Base Salary and/or any other compensation or benefits in accordance with the terms of Section 3 hereof, other than an 
inadvertent failure which is cured within ten (10) business days following written notice from the Executive specifying in 
reasonable detail the nature of such failure; or a Change in Control as set forth in 4(d). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
appointment of an interim Chief People and Administrative Officer during and for any period of the Executive’s disability (which 
may potentially result in a Permanent Disability) will not be considered “Good Reason” (so long as the Executive continues 
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to be compensated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement), until the occurrence of a Permanent Disability as defined in Section 
4(a). The Executive’s employment will only be deemed to have been terminated for Good Reason if she gives written notice to 
the Company setting forth in reasonable detail the nature of such Good Reason, gives the Company an opportunity to cure such 
Good Reason event (which cure period shall not be less than fifteen (15) days) and terminates employment within sixty (60) days 
of the date of the later of the first occurrence and the Executive’s knowledge of the circumstances giving rise to Good Reason (to 
the extent the Company has not previously cured the circumstances giving rise to Good Reason).

(d) Change in Control. If there occurs a “Change in Control” (as hereinafter defined) during the 
Employment Period, and the Executive is not offered employment on substantially similar terms by the Company or Holdco or 
one of its continuing affiliates immediately thereafter, then, for all purposes of this Agreement, the Executive’s employment shall 
be deemed to have been terminated by the Company or Holdco other than for Cause effective as of the date of such Change in 
Control; provided, however, that the Company or Holdco shall not have any obligation to the Executive under this Section 4 if 
the Executive is hired or offered employment on substantially similar terms by the purchaser of the stock or assets of the 
Company or Holdco, if the Executive’s employment hereunder is continued by the Company or Holdco or one of its continuing 
affiliates or if the Executive does not actually terminate employment. As used herein, a “Change in Control” shall be deemed to 
have occurred solely upon the occurrence of any of the following events: 

(i) a change in the ownership of Holdco within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-
3(i)(5)(v) as in effect on the date hereof; or

(ii) a change in the ownership of all or substantially all of Holdco’s assets; or

(iii)the (A) acquisition of more than forty percent (40%) of the total value of Holdco capital stock in 
one transaction or a series of related transactions by a person or more than one person acting as a group, which 
(B) within 12 months thereafter results in the replacement of more than fifty percent (50%) of the make-up of 
the Board, as compared to its make-up immediately prior to such acquisition (or series of acquisitions), that is 
not endorsed by majority of the members of the Board as of immediately prior to such acquisition (or series of 
acquisitions).

(e) Date of Termination. The “Date of Termination” means the date of the Executive’s death, the Disability 
Effective Date or the date on which the termination of the Executive’s employment by the Company and Holdco, or by the 
Executive, is effective, as the case may be, including by reason of the expiration of the Employment Period.

5. Obligations of the Company Upon Termination.

(a) By the Company Upon the Executive’s Death or Permanent Disability. If the Executive dies during the 
Employment Period or the Company or Holdco terminates the Executive’s employment due to the Executive’s Permanent 
Disability, the Company shall pay the Executive or her legal representative:
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(i) One or more payments (the “Accrued Obligations”) equal (in the aggregate) to the sum of (1) any 

portion of the Executive’s Annual Base Salary through the Date of Termination that has not yet been paid; (2) 
any Annual Bonus that the Executive has earned for a prior full calendar year that has ended prior to the Date of 
Termination but which has not yet been calculated and paid (the “Prior Year’s Bonus”); and (3) any 
unreimbursed expenses incurred prior to the Date of Termination, including any then unreimbursed car 
allowance for each month or partial month of employment; and

(ii) a pro rata Annual Bonus for the year of termination, which pro-ration shall reflect the number of 
days the Executive was employed by Holdco and its affiliates in the applicable year prior to the Date of 
Termination.

The Accrued Obligations (other than Prior Year’s Bonus) shall be paid in cash within thirty (30) days of the Date of 
Termination. The Annual Bonus, if earned, shall be pro-rated as described above and both such pro-rated Annual Bonus and the 
Prior Year’s Bonus, if payable, shall otherwise be calculated and paid in accordance with Section 3(b)). Notwithstanding anything 
to the contrary set forth herein, the Executive shall not be entitled to the Prior Year’s Bonus or any payment pursuant to clause (ii) 
of this Section 5(a) unless the Executive (or her legal representative) shall have executed a release of any and all legal claims 
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (which form may be modified by the Company or Holdco to the extent 
necessary to reflect execution by a person other than the Executive) (the “Release”) no later than twenty-one (21) days (or, if so 
instructed by the Company or Holdco, forty-five (45) days) following the Date of Termination and shall not have revoked the 
Release in accordance with its terms. The Company or Holdco shall provide the final Release promptly in connection with any 
termination of the Executive’s employment hereunder.

(b) By the Company for Cause. If the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company or Holdco for 
“Cause” (as hereinafter defined), then the Executive shall be entitled to only the payment of the Accrued Obligations which shall 
be paid to the Executive in cash in a lump sum within thirty (30) days of the Date of Termination (other than the amount 
described in clause (2) of the definition of Accrued Obligations, which shall be paid in accordance with Section 3(b)) and the 
Company or Holdco shall not have any further obligation under this Agreement, except as expressly provided herein. For 
purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean (1) conviction of the Executive by a court of competent jurisdiction of a felony 
(excluding felonies under any state or local vehicle and traffic code); (2) any act of intentional fraud in connection with her duties 
under this Agreement; (3) any act of gross negligence or willful misconduct with respect to the Executive’s duties under this 
Agreement and (4) any act of willful disobedience in violation of specific reasonable directions of the Board or the CEO 
consistent with the Executive’s duties; provided, in the case of clause (3) or (4), that the Executive has not cured the 
circumstances giving rise to “Cause” within thirty (30) days of the date the Company or Holdco gives notice to the Executive of 
its intent to terminate her employment on such basis.

(c) By the Company for any reason other than Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason other than a 
Change of Control Termination. If the Executive’s employment is terminated during the Employment Period (i) by Holdco and its 
affiliates other than for Cause, death or Permanent Disability or (ii) by the Executive for Good Reason, in each case, except if 
such termination is a Change in Control Termination:
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(i) Holdco or one of its affiliates shall pay to the Executive the Accrued Obligations, paid in cash 

within thirty (30) days of the Date of Termination; provided that the Prior Year’s Bonus, if earned, shall be 
calculated and paid in accordance with Section 3(b); and

(ii) Holdco or one of its affiliates shall pay to the Executive the following:

(a) a severance payment (the “Severance Payment”), in an amount equal to twelve (12) 
months’ Annual Base Salary;

(b) an amount equal to a pro-rated Annual Bonus for the year of termination, calculated and 
paid in accordance with Section 3(b), which pro-ration shall reflect the number of days the Executive was 
employed by Holdco and its affiliates in the applicable year prior to the Date of Termination; and 

The Severance Payment shall be payable in cash in the form of salary continuation over the twelve (12) months 
following the Date of Termination, with the first payment(s) being payable in arrears on the date that is sixty (60) days following 
the Date of Termination. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Executive shall not be entitled to the Prior 
Year’s Bonus or any payment or benefit pursuant to clause (ii) of this Section 5(c) unless the Executive shall have, at the written 
request of Holdco or any its affiliates, executed the Release no later than twenty-one (21) days (or, if so instructed by Holdco and 
its affiliates, forty-five (45) days) following the Date of Termination and shall not have revoked such release in accordance with 
its terms. Holdco or the Company shall provide the final Release promptly in connection with any termination of the Executive’s 
employment hereunder.

(d) Change in Control Termination. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, in the event of 
a Change in Control Termination:

(i) Holdco or any of its affiliates shall pay to the Executive the Accrued Obligations;

(ii) Holdco or any of its affiliates shall pay to the Executive:

(a) an amount equal to two times the sum of (1) the Executive’s then current Annual Base 
Salary and (2) the target Annual Bonus,

(b) an amount equal to a pro rata Annual Bonus for the year of termination, calculated and 
paid in accordance with Section 3(b), which pro-ration shall reflect the number of days the Executive was 
employed by Holdco or any of its affiliates in the applicable year prior to the Date of Termination, and

(c) provided that the Executive timely elects to continue her coverage in the group health 
plan covering employees of the Company or Holdco under the federal law known as “COBRA”, a monthly 
amount equal to that portion of the monthly health premiums for such coverage paid by Holdco or the Company 
on behalf of the Executive prior to the Date of Termination until the date that is 
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twenty-four (24) months following the Date of Termination (the “Health Continuation Benefits”); and

(iii)any stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance stock units or similar awards 
(or any awards or rights issued in exchange for such grants in connection with a Change in Control or 
otherwise), including the Sign-On Award, shall be treated as follows: (A) such awards or rights that vest solely 
based on the Executive’s continued service over time shall immediately become fully vested as of the date of the 
Change in Control Termination, (B) restricted cash awards that vest solely based on Executive’s continued 
service over time shall immediately become fully vested as of the date of the Change in Control Termination, 
and (C) such awards or rights that vest upon the occurrence of specified performance metrics, shall be treated as 
earned and vest as follows: (1) if the full performance period has elapsed as of the date of the Change in Control 
Termination, such awards and rights shall be earned based on actual achievement of the applicable performance 
goals, as provided in the applicable award agreement and shall immediately become vested without pro-ration 
and (2) otherwise, such awards and rights shall be earned based on assumed achievement of the applicable 
performance goals at 100% of the performance target, as provided in the applicable award agreement, and shall 
immediately vest as to a prorated portion of each such award or right based on the number of days of the 
Executive’s actual employment or other service with Holdco or any of its affiliates prior to the Change in 
Control Termination during the applicable full performance period; provided, that, if the Executive does not 
experience a Change in Control Termination prior to the end of the applicable original performance period, such 
awards and rights shall be earned based on assumed achievement of the applicable performance goals at 100% 
of the performance target, as provided in the applicable award agreement, and shall be eligible to vest as of the 
last day of the applicable original performance period without pro-ration, subject to the terms of the applicable 
award agreement. Any stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance stock units, restricted 
cash or similar awards (or any awards or rights issued in exchange for such grants in connection with a Change 
in Control or otherwise) that do not vest after application of the preceding sentence or clause (iii) hereof shall be 
immediately forfeited without payment due thereon.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that the Health Continuation Benefits would subject the Executive or Holdco 
or any of its affiliates to any tax or penalty under the ACA or Section 105(h) of the Code (as defined below), or applicable 
subsequent regulations, guidance or successor statutes, the Executive and the Company agree to work together in good faith to 
restructure the Health Continuation Benefits in a manner that avoids such adverse consequences. All amounts payable hereunder 
(except the pro rata Annual Bonus and the Prior Year’s Bonus, which are each payable in accordance with Section 3(b), the 
Accrued Obligations (other than the Prior Year’s Bonus), which shall be calculated and paid in a lump sum in cash within thirty 
(30) days of the date of the Change in Control Termination and the Health Continuation Benefits, which shall be paid as 
described above in this Section 5(d)) shall be paid in cash in a lump sum on the date that is the later of sixty (60) days following 
the date of the Change in Control Termination or sixty (60) days following the consummation of the Change in Control (except 
that, if the Change in Control Termination occurs due to a qualifying termination within six (6) months prior to a 
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Change in Control, such payment will be made over the twenty four (24) months following the Date of Termination, with the first 
payment(s) being payable in arrears on the date that is sixty (60) days following the Date of Termination). Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Executive shall not be entitled to the Prior Year’s Bonus or any payment or benefit 
pursuant to clauses (ii) or (iii) of this Section 5(d) unless the Executive shall have, at the written request of Holdco or any its 
affiliates, executed the Release no later than twenty-one (21) days (or, if so instructed by Holdco and its affiliates, forty-five (45) 
days) following the date of the Change in Control Termination and shall not have revoked such release in accordance with its 
terms. Holdco or the Company shall provide the final Release promptly in connection with any termination of the Executive’s 
employment hereunder.

(e) By the Executive other than for Good Reason. If during the Employment Period the Executive terminates 
her employment with the Company or Holdco other than for Good Reason, the Company or Holdco shall pay the Accrued 
Obligations to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within thirty (30) days of the Date of Termination (other than the amount 
described in clause (2) of the definition of Accrued Obligations, which shall be paid in accordance with Section 3(b)) and neither 
the Company or Holdco shall have any further obligation under this Agreement except as expressly provided herein.

(f) Expiration of the Term. Unless otherwise terminated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, or, unless 
the Company or Holdco shall give Executive one hundred twenty (120) days’ notice of its intent to not renew, the Employment 
Period and the Executive’s employment hereunder will automatically renew for additional 12-month periods. If the Company or 
Holdco shall notify Executive of its intent to not renew, then the Executive’s employment may continue after expiration of the 
then-current Employment Period on an “at will” basis and no Severance Payment will be due.

6. Section 409A. The parties intend for the compensation provided under this Agreement to comply with, or be exempt 
from, the provisions of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) (together with the 
regulations thereunder, “Section 409A”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the Company, Holdco or any of their 
respective affiliates have any liability to the Executive or to any other person claiming rights under this Agreement relating to the 
failure or alleged failure of any payment or benefit under this Agreement to comply with, or be exempt from, the provisions of 
Section 409A.

(a) Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, all references to “termination of employment” and similar or 
correlative phrases shall be construed to require a “separation from service” (as defined in Section 1.409A-1(h) of the Treasury 
regulations after giving effect to the presumptions contained therein), and the term “specified employee” means an individual 
determined by the Company or Holdco to be a specified employee under Treasury regulation Section 1.409A-1(i).

(b) Certain Delayed Payments. If any payment or benefit hereunder constituting “nonqualified deferred 
compensation” subject to Section 409A would be subject to subsection (a)(2)(B)(i) of Section 409A (relating to payments made 
to “specified employees” of publicly-traded companies upon separation from service), any such payment or benefit to which the 
Executive would otherwise be entitled during the six (6) month period following the Executive’s separation from service will 
instead be provided or paid without interest on the first business day 
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following the expiration of such six (6) month period, or if earlier, the date of the Executive’s death.

(c) Separate Payments. Each payment made under this Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment.

(d) Reimbursements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any reimbursement that 
constitutes or could constitute nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A will be subject to the following 
additional requirements: (i) the expenses eligible for reimbursement will have been incurred during the term of this Agreement, 
(ii) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement during any calendar year will not affect the expenses eligible for 
reimbursement in any other taxable year; (iii) reimbursement will be made not later than December 31 of the calendar year 
following the calendar year in which the expense was incurred; and (iv) the right to reimbursement will not be subject to 
liquidation or exchange for any other benefit. 

7. Full Settlement. The Company or Holdco’s obligations to make the payments provided for in, and otherwise to 
perform its obligations under, this Agreement shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other 
claim, right or action that the Company or Holdco may have against the Executive or others. In no event shall the Executive be 
obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by way of mitigation of the amounts payable to the Executive under 
any of the provisions of this Agreement and such amounts shall not be reduced, regardless of whether the Executive obtains other 
employment.

8. Confidential Information. The Executive shall hold in a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of the Company and Holdco 
all secret or confidential information, knowledge or data relating to the Company and Holdco or any of their affiliates and their 
respective businesses that the Executive obtains during the Executive’s employment by the Company and Holdco (whether 
before, during or after the Employment Period) and that is not public knowledge (other than as a result of the Executive’s 
violation of this Section 8) (“Confidential Information”). The Executive shall not communicate, divulge or disseminate 
Confidential Information at any time during or after the Executive’s employment with the Company and Holdco, except with the 
prior written consent of the Company or Holdco or as otherwise required by law. For the avoidance of doubt, (a) nothing 
contained in this Agreement or any other agreement containing confidentiality provisions or other restrictive covenants in favor 
of the Company and Holdco or any affiliate, shall be construed to limit, restrict or in any other way affect the Executive’s 
communicating with any governmental agency or entity, or communicating with any official or staff person of a governmental 
agency or entity, concerning matters relevant to the governmental agency or entity and (b) the Executive will not be held 
criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for disclosing a trade secret (i) in confidence to a federal, 
state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, solely for the purpose of reporting or 
investigating a suspected violation of law, or (ii) in a complaint or other document filed under seal in a lawsuit or other 
proceeding; provided that notwithstanding this immunity from liability, the Executive may be held liable if the Executive 
unlawfully accesses trade secrets by unauthorized means.

9. Noncompetition; Nonsolicitation.

(a) Noncompetition. During (i) the Employment Period, and (ii) following termination of the Executive’s 
employment with the Company and Holdco and any of their 
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affiliates, during the “Restriction Period” (as hereinafter defined) and provided in such instance Company or Holdco is paying to 
Executive the Severance Payment as set forth in Article 5, then the Executive shall not directly or indirectly participate in or 
permit her name directly or indirectly to be used by or become associated with (including as an advisor, representative, agent, 
promoter, independent contractor, provider of personal services or otherwise) any person, corporation, partnership, firm, 
association or other enterprise or entity (a “person”) that is, or intends to be, engaged in any business which is in competition 
with any business of the Company or Holdco or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates in any geographic area in which 
the Company or Holdco or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates operate, compete or are engaged in such business or at 
such time intend so to operate, compete or become engaged in such business, as set forth more fully pursuant to Schedule A 
(each, a “Competitor”); provided, however, that the foregoing will not prohibit the Executive from participating in or becoming 
associated with a person if (i) less than 10% of the consolidated gross revenues of such person, together with its affiliates, derive 
from activities or businesses that are in competition with any business of the Company or Holdco or any of its subsidiaries or 
affiliates (a “Competitive Business”) and (ii) the Executive does not, directly or indirectly, participate in, become associated 
with, or otherwise have responsibilities that relate to the conduct or operations of, any Competitive Business that is conducted by 
such person or a division, group, or subsidiary or affiliate of such person. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “participate” 
includes any direct or indirect interest, whether as an officer, director, employee, partner, sole proprietor, trustee, beneficiary, 
agent, representative, independent contractor, consultant, advisor, provider of personal services, creditor, or owner (other than by 
ownership of less than five percent of the stock of a publicly-held corporation whose stock is traded on a national securities 
exchange or in an over-the-counter market).

(b) Nonsolicitation. During the Employment Period, and during the Restriction Period following termination 
of employment, the Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, encourage or solicit, or assist any other person or firm in 
encouraging or soliciting, any person or firm that during the three-year period preceding such termination of the Executive’s 
employment with the Company and Holdco (or, if such action occurs during the Employment Period, on the date such action was 
taken) is or was engaged in a business relationship with the Company or Holdco, any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates 
to terminate its relationship with the Company or Holdco or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates or, in the case of any 
such person, to engage in a business relationship with a Competitor.

(c) No Hire. During the Employment Period, and during the Restriction Period following termination of 
employment, the Executive will not, except with the prior written consent of the Company or Holdco, directly or indirectly, 
induce any employee of the Company or Holdco or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates to terminate employment with 
such entity, and will not, directly or indirectly, either individually or as owner, agent, employee, consultant or otherwise, employ, 
offer employment or cause employment to be offered to any person (including employment as an independent contractor) who is 
or was employed by the Company or Holdco or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates unless such person shall have 
ceased to be employed by such entity for a period of at least twelve months. For purposes of this Section 9(c), “employment” 
shall be deemed to include rendering services as an independent contractor and “employees” shall be deemed to include 
independent contractors.
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(d) Restriction Period. The term “Restriction Period” as used herein, shall mean the one-year period 

immediately following the Date of Termination (other than a termination at the expiration of the Employment Period).

(e) Return of Confidential Information. Promptly following the Executive’s termination of employment, 
including due to expiration of the Employment Period, the Executive shall return to the Company all property of the Company or 
Holdco and their respective subsidiaries and affiliates, and all copies thereof, in the Executive’s possession or under her control, 
including, without limitation, all Confidential Information in whatever media such Confidential Information is maintained.

(f) Injunctive Relief. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Restriction Period and the covenants 
and obligations of the Executive in Section 8 and this Section 9 with respect to noncompetition, nonsolicitation and 
confidentiality and with respect to the property of the Company or Holdco and its subsidiaries and affiliates, and the territories 
covered thereby, are fair and reasonable and the result of negotiation. The Executive further acknowledges and agrees that the 
covenants and obligations of the Executive in Section 8 and this Section 9 with respect to noncompetition, nonsolicitation and 
confidentiality and with respect to the property of the Company or Holdco and their respective subsidiaries and affiliates, and the 
territories covered thereby, relate to special, unique and extraordinary matters and that a violation of any of the terms of such 
covenants and obligations will cause the Company or Holdco and their respective subsidiaries and affiliates irreparable injury for 
which adequate remedies are not available at law. Therefore, the Executive agrees that the Company and Holdco shall be entitled 
to an injunction, restraining order or such other equitable relief as a court of competent jurisdiction may deem necessary or 
appropriate to restrain the Executive from committing any violation of such covenants and obligations. These injunctive remedies 
are cumulative and are in addition to any other rights and remedies the Company or Holdco may have at law or in equity. If, at 
the time of enforcement of Section 8 and/or this Section 9, a court holds that any of the restrictions stated herein are unreasonable 
under circumstances then existing, the parties hereto agree that the maximum period, scope, and/or geographical area legally 
permissible under such circumstances will be substituted for the period, scope and/or area stated herein.

10.Successors.

(a) This Agreement is personal to the Executive and shall not be assignable by the Executive. This 
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the Executive’s legal representatives and heirs and successors.

(b) This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company, Holdco and their 
respective successors and assigns.

11.Section 280G.  In the event that the Company undergoes a change in control at a time when it (or any affiliate of the 
Company, including Holdco, that would be treated, together with the Company, as a single corporation under Section 280G of the 
Code and the regulations thereunder) has stock that is readily tradeable on an established securities market (within the meaning of 
Section 280G of the Code and the regulations thereunder), if all, or any portion, of the payments provided under this Agreement, 
either alone or together with other payments or benefits which the Executive receives or is entitled to receive from the Company 
or an affiliate, could constitute an “excess parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, then 
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the Executive shall be entitled to receive (i) an amount limited so that no portion thereof shall fail to be tax deductible under 
Section 280G of the Code (the “Limited Amount”), or (ii) if the amount otherwise payable hereunder, together with the other 
payments or benefits the Executive is so entitled to receive, (without regard to clause (i)) reduced by the excise tax imposed by 
Section 4999 of the Code and all other applicable federal, state and local taxes (with income taxes all computed at the highest 
applicable marginal rate) is greater than the Limited Amount reduced by all taxes applicable thereto (with income taxes all 
computed at the highest marginal rate), the amount otherwise payable hereunder. If it is determined that the Limited Amount will 
maximize the Executive’s after-tax proceeds, payments and benefits shall be reduced to equal the Limited Amount in the 
following order: (i) first, by reducing cash severance payments, (ii) second, by reducing other payments and benefits to which 
Q&A 24(c) of Section 1.280G-1 of the Treasury Regulations does not apply, and (iii) finally, by reducing all remaining payments 
and benefits, with all such reductions done on a pro rata basis. All determinations made pursuant this Section 11 will be made at 
the Company’s expense by the independent public accounting firm most recently serving as the Company’s outside auditors or 
such other accounting or benefits consulting group or firm as the Company may designate.

12.Miscellaneous.

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New 
York, without reference to principles of conflict of laws. The captions of this Agreement are not part of the provisions hereof and 
shall have no force or effect. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by a written agreement executed by the 
parties hereto or their respective heirs, successors and legal representatives.

(b) All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by hand 
delivery to the other party or by overnight courier or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or 
by facsimile (with receipt confirmation), addressed as follows:

If to the Executive:	Denise Kulikowsky
	 At her most recent address 
	 shown in the Company’s records
 
If to the Company:	 Party City Holdings Inc.
	 80 Grasslands Road 
	 Elmsford, NY 10523 
	 Attention: Corporate Secretary
 
or to such other address as either party furnishes to the other in writing in accordance with this Section 12(b). Notices and 
communications shall be effective when actually received by the addressee.

(c) The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or 
enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement.

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company may withhold from amounts 
payable under this Agreement all federal, state, local and foreign taxes that are required to be withheld by applicable laws or 
regulations. In addition, the obligations of the 
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Company under this Agreement shall be conditional on compliance with this Section 12(d), and the Company shall, to the extent 
permitted by law, have the right to deduct any such taxes from any payment otherwise due to the Executive.

(e) Any party’s failure to insist upon strict compliance with any provision of, or to assert any right under, this 
Agreement shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such provision or right or of any other provision of or right under this 
Agreement.

(f) Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, all disagreements, disputes, controversies and claims 
arising out of this Agreement and the Executive’s employment hereunder, shall be submitted to and resolved by arbitration in 
accordance with and pursuant to the Employment Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association, as then in effect. 
The parties agree that any dispute will be heard by a single arbitrator. The arbitrator shall be selected by mutual agreement of the 
Parties, or if no agreement can be reached, the arbitrator shall be selected by the American Arbitration Association. All 
arbitration costs shall be shared equally by the parties and each party shall bear its own costs and expenses in the event of any 
dispute hereunder.

(g) The Executive acknowledges that this Agreement, together with the Schedule and Exhibit hereto and the 
other agreements referred to herein except as modified herein or therein, supersedes, as of the Effective Date, all other 
agreements and understandings, both written and oral, between the Executive, on one hand, and the Company and Holdco, on the 
other, with respect to the subject matter hereof, including, without limitation, the Prior Employment Agreement.  

(h) This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all 
of which shall together constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement shall be executed and returned to all parties 
using Company’s digital execution platform, DocuSign. By signing electronically, Executive agrees that: (a) the corresponding 
signature will be deemed to be authentic and have equal status and enforceability as if the document had been physically 
executed by Executive; and (c) the corresponding fully-executed document is fully enforceable, valid and binding immediately 
upon counter-signature and delivery by the Company.

(i) Provisions of this Agreement shall survive any termination of employment if so provided herein or if 
necessary or desirable to accomplish the purposes of other surviving provisions, including, without limitation, the obligations of 
the Executive under Sections 8 and 9 hereof.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive has hereunto set the Executive’s hand and, pursuant to the authorization of 
the board of directors, the Company and Holdco has caused this Agreement to be executed in its name on its behalf, all as of the 
day and year first above written.

 

 
PARTY CITY HOLDINGS INC.
 
 
By:________________________________
      Name:
      Title:
 
 
 
PARTY CITY HOLDCO INC.
 
 
By:________________________________
      Name:
      Title:
 
 
 

 
 
 

__________________________________
                                                           DENISE KULIKOWSKY

 

 

 



 

Schedule A Competitors
1.	 Uniques Industries;

2.	 Creative Expressions Group;

3.	 Rubies Costume Company;

4.	 Spirit Halloween;

5.	 Any business for which Party Goods would constitute more than 10% of revenues;

6.	 Any subsidiary or affiliate company of the foregoing.

 

 



 

Exhibit A

FORM OF RELEASE OF CLAIMS

This Release of Claims is provided by me, __________________ (or by my designated beneficiary or estate, in the event 
of my death during my employment), pursuant to the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between me, Party City 
Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) and Party City Holdco Inc. (“Holdco”) dated as of ____________________ (the “Employment 
Agreement”).

This Release of Claims is given in consideration of the severance benefits to be provided to me (or, in the event of my 
death during my employment, to my designated beneficiary) in connection with the termination of my employment under Section 
5 of the Employment Agreement (the “Separation Payments”), which are conditioned on my signing this Release of Claims and 
to which I am not otherwise entitled, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is 
hereby acknowledged. On my own behalf and that of my heirs, executors, administrators, beneficiaries, representatives and 
assigns, and all others connected with or claiming through me, I hereby release and forever discharge the Company from any and 
all causes of action, rights or claims of any type or description, known or unknown, which I have had in the past, now have or 
might have, through the date of my signing of this Release of Claims. This includes, without limitation, any and all causes of 
action, rights or claims in any way resulting from, arising out of or connected with my employment by the Company or the 
termination of that employment or pursuant to any federal, state or local law, regulation or other requirement, including without 
limitation Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment 
Act, the fair employment practices statutes of the state or states in which I have provided services to the Company or any other 
federal, state, local or foreign law, all as amended, any contracts of employment, any tort claims, or any agreements, plans or 
policies.

For purposes of this Release of Claims, the word “Company” always includes the Company, Holdco the subsidiaries and 
affiliates of the Company or Holdco and all of their respective past, present and future officers, directors, trustees, shareholders, 
employees, employee benefit plans and any of the trustees or administrators thereof, agents, general and limited partners, 
members, managers, investors, joint venturers, representatives, predecessors, successors and assigns, and all others connected 
with any of them, both individually and in their official capacities.

Nothing in this Release of Claims shall be construed to prohibit me from filing a charge with or participating in any 
investigation or proceeding conducted by the federal Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or a comparable state or local 
agency, except that I hereby agree to waive my right to recover monetary damages or other individual relief in any charge, 
complaint or lawsuit filed by me or by anyone else on my behalf.

Nothing in this Release of Claims is intended to or does waive or release any rights I may have with respect to (i) 
coverage under liability insurance or indemnification rights provided or maintained by the Company during, or applicable to, my 
employment with the Company, or under any other obligation or policy of insurance maintained by the Company in accordance 
with their respective terms; (ii) any other defense or indemnity right under applicable law; (iii) the 

 



 

enforcement of the right to any payment or benefits due upon the termination of my employment in accordance with the express 
terms of the Employment Agreement or (iv) any right or claim that cannot, by law, be waived or released through this Release of 
Claims.

Also excluded from the scope of this Release of Claims is any right to benefits that were vested or eligible for 
continuation under the Company’s employee benefit plans on the date on which my employment with the Company terminated, 
in accordance with the terms of such plans.

In signing this Release of Claims, I give the Company assurance that I have returned to the Company any and all 
documents, materials and information related to the business, whether present or otherwise, of the Company and all keys and 
other property of the Company that were in my possession or control, all as required by and consistent with Section 9(e) of the 
Employment Agreement. I agree that I will not, for any purpose, attempt to access or use any computer or computer network or 
system of the Company, including without limitation their electronic mail systems. I further acknowledge that I have disclosed to 
the Company all passwords necessary or desirable to enable the Company to access all information which I have password-
protected on its computer network or system.

In signing this Release of Claims, I agree that I have been paid in full all compensation due to me, whether for services 
rendered by me to the Company or otherwise, through the date on which my employment with the Company terminated and that, 
exclusive only of the Separation Payments and the Accrued Obligations, as defined in the Employment Agreement, no further 
compensation of any kind shall be due to me by the Company, whether arising under the Employment Agreement or otherwise, in 
connection with my employment or the termination thereof. I also agree that except for any right I and my eligible dependents 
may have to continue participation in the Company’s health and dental plans under the federal law commonly known as COBRA, 
my right to participate in any employee benefit plan of the Company will be determined in accordance with the terms of such 
plan.

I acknowledge that my eligibility for the Separation Payments is not only contingent on my signing and returning this 
Release of Claims to the Company in a timely manner and not revoking it thereafter, but also is subject to my compliance with 
the covenants contained in the Employment Agreement.

In signing this Release of Claims, acknowledge that I have not relied on any promises or representations, express or 
implied, that are not set forth expressly in this Release of Claims. I further acknowledge that I am waiving and releasing any 
rights I may have under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended (“ADEA”), and that this waiver and 
release is knowing and voluntary and is being done with a full understanding of its terms. I agree that the consideration given for 
this wavier and release is in addition to anything of value to which I was already entitled. I further acknowledge that I have been 
advised by this writing as required by the ADEA that:

1.	 I have the right to and am advised by the Company to consult with an attorney prior to executing this Release of 
Claims; and I acknowledge that I have had sufficient time to consider this Release of Claims and to consult with an attorney, if I 
wished to do so, or to consult with any other person of my choosing before signing;

 



 

2.	 I may not sign this Release of Claims prior to the termination of my employment, but that I may consider the terms 
of this Release of Claims for up to twenty-one (21) days (or, if the Company so instructs, forty-five (45) days) from the later of 
the date my employment with the Company terminates or the date I receive this Release of Claims;

3.	 I have seven (7) days following my execution of this Release of Claims to revoke this Release of Claims; and

4.	 This Release of Claims shall not be effective until the revocation period has expired.

Intending to be legally bound, I have signed this Release of Claims under seal as of the date written below.

 
 
Signature:____________________________
 
 
 

 
 
Date signed:_________________________

Party City Holdings Inc.
 
 
___________________________________
Name:
Title:
 
 
 

 

Party City Holdco Inc.
 
 
___________________________________
Name:
Title:
 
 
 

 

 

 

 



 

Exhibit 21.1 

List of Subsidiaries of Party City Holdco Inc. 

 

Name

 

State/Country of Organization or Incorporation

 

Amscan Asia Limited Hong Kong

Amscan Canada Inc. Ontario

Amscan Custom Injection Molding, LLC Delaware

Amscan de Mexico S.A. de C.V. Mexico

Amscan Inc. New York

Amscan Mauritius Company Limited Mauritius

Amscan Party Goods Pty. Limited Australia

Amscan Purple Sage, LLC Delaware

Amscan Summerhouse Holdings Limited (Joint Venture) Hong Kong

Am-Source, LLC Rhode Island

Anagram Holdings LLC Delaware

Anagram Eden Prairie Property Holdings LLC Delaware

Anagram International Holdings, Inc. Minnesota

Anagram International Inc. Minnesota

Baja Pacific Paper, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico

Convergram  Mexico S. de R.L. (49.9% owned) Mexico

Eastlake Manufacturing de Mexico S.A. de C.V.            Mexico

Festival S.A. Madagascar

Granmark S.A. de C.V. Mexico

Guangzhou Christy Trading Company Limited China

Party City Corporation Delaware

Party City Holdings Inc. Delaware

Party Horizon Inc. Delaware

PC Nextco Holdings, LLC Delaware

PC Nextco Finance, Inc. Delaware

PC Intermediate Holdings, Inc. Delaware

PCHI Asia Limited Hong Kong

Print Appeal, Inc. (70% owned) Texas

Trisar, Inc. California

 
 



 

Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements (Form S-3 No. 333-213492, Form S-3 No. 333-249095, S-8 No. 333-
203725, S-8 No. 333-239805) of Party City Holdco Inc. of our reports dated February 28, 2022, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of 
Party City Holdco Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Party City Holdco Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-
K) of Party City Holdco Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2022.

 

/S/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

New York, New York

March 15, 2023

 

 

 



 
Exhibit 31.1 

Section 302 Certification 

I, Sean Thompson, certify that: 

1.	 I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Party City Holdco Inc.; 

2.	 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report; 

3.	 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4.	 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a)	 Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b)	 Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c)	 Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d)	 Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5.	 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

(a)	 All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b)	 Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting. 

 
Date: March 28, 2024
 

/s/ Sean Thompson
Sean Thompson
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
 



 
Exhibit 31.2 

Section 302 Certification 

I, Daniel Lamadrid, certify that: 

1.	 I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Party City Holdco Inc.; 

2.	 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report; 

3.	 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4.	 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a)	 Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b)	 Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c)	 Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d)	 Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5.	 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

(a)	 All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b)	 Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting. 

 
Date: March 28, 2024
 

/s/ Daniel Lamadrid 
Daniel Lamadrid
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 
 



 
Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Annual Report of Party City Holdco Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Sean Thompson, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

(1)	 the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2)	 the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 
 

/s/ Sean Thompson
Sean Thompson
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
Date: March 28, 2024 

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be 
incorporated by reference into any filing of Party City Holdco Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing. 
 



 
Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Annual Report of Party City Holdco Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Daniel Lamadrid, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

(1)	 the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2)	 the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 
 

/s/ Daniel Lamadrid
Daniel Lamadrid
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 
Date: March 28, 2024

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be 
incorporated by reference into any filing of Party City Holdco Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing. 
 




